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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 40-F

[ ] Registration statement pursuant to Sect@mflthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or
[X] Annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) ord)5§f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the fiscal year endeAugust 31, 201. Commission File Numbe001-33562

Platinum Group Metals Ltd.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its cegrt

British Columbia 1099 Not Applicable
(Province or Other Jurisdiction ¢ (Primary Standard Industrial Classificatic (I.LR.S. Employe
Incorporation or Organization Code) Identification No.)

Bentall Tower 5
Suite 328 - 550 Burrard Street
Vancouver, BC
Canada V6C 2B5
(604) 899-5450
(Address and telephone number of registrant’s ppialcexecutive offices)

DL Services Inc.
Columbia Center, 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 6100
Seattle, WA 98104-7043
(206) 903-8800
(Name, address (including zip code) and telephameber (including area code) of agent for servicéhia United States)

Securities to be registered pursuant to Sectioh)X#(the Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange On Which Registe

Common Shares, no par valut NYSE MKT
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(ghe”ct:None

Securities for which there is a reporting obligatjpursuant to Section 15(d) of the Ablone For annual reports, indicate by check mark
information filed with this form:

[X] Annual Information Forn [X] Audited Annual Financial Statemer
At August 31, 2012 the Registrant had outstanding 177,584,542 conshares without par value.

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant bydfithe information contained in this Form is atbereby furnishing the information to -
Commission pursuant to Rule 128®) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Ewchange Act"). If "Yes" is marked, indicate tfikng
number assigned to the Registrant in connectiolm svith Rule.

[ 1Yes [X] No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant @k filed all reports required to be filed by Semtk8 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act during
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period the Registrant was required to file such repoat®) (2) has been subject to such fi
requirements for the past 90 days.

[X] Yes [ 1No






DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The annual information form (“AIF”) of Platinum Qup Metals Ltd. (the “Registrant” or the “Companyty the fiscal year ended August
2012 is incorporated herein by reference.

The audited consolidated financial statements efGompany as of August 31, 2012, August 31, 20HLSeptember 1, 2010 and for the y
ended August 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011, inctuthie report of the auditors with respect therate,incorporated herein by reference.

The Company’s management’s discussion and angl{i3&A") for the year ended August 31, 2012 is imporated herein by reference.
EXPLANATORY NOTE

The Company is a Canadian issuer eligible to fdeannual report pursuant to Section 13 of the Bmgk Act on Form 46~ The Company is
“foreign private issuer” as defined in Rule 3b-4danthe Exchange Act. Accordingly, the Compangquity securities are exempt from Seci
14(a), 14(b), 14(c), 14(f) and 16 of the Exchangé pursuant to Rule 3al12-3.

The Company is permitted, under a multi-jurisdictibdisclosure system adopted by the United Steagmepare this annual report on FormHO0-
in accordance with Canadian disclosure requiremeritich are different from those of the United Sgat

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statementsocepninganticipated developments in the operations of thm@any in future periods, planr
exploration and development activities, the adeguddhe Company financial resources and other events or condittbat may occur in tl
future. Forward-looking statements are frequerltlyt not always, identified by words such as “expgctanticipates,” “believes,” “intends,”
“estimates,” “potential,” “possible” and similar gressions, or statements that events, conditioresadts “will,” “may,” “could” or “should”
occur or be achieved. Information concerning therpretation of drill results and mineral resouoceeserve estimates also may be deemed
forwarddooking statements, as such information constitatpsediction of what mineralization might be foundbe present if and when a pro
is actually developed. Forwaldeking statements are statements about the fatmdeare inherently uncertain, and actual achievesnehthe
Company or other future events or conditions méfeidmaterially from those reflected in the forwdamking statements due to a variety of ri
uncertainties and other factors, including, withiomitation, those described in the AIF incorporht®y reference in this report.

The Company’s forwartboking statements are based on the beliefs, eafi@as and opinions of management on the datetélbensents are ma
and the Company assumes no obligation to updatefsmwardiooking statements in the future. For the reaset$osth above, investors sho
not place undue reliance on forward-looking statese

The Company prepares its financial statements aordance with International Financial Reportingn8irds, as issued by the Internati
Financial Accounting Boards, and they may be suhjecCanadian auditing and auditor independencedatals. Accordingly, the financ
statements of the Company incorporated by refergnttés report may not be comparable to finansfatements of United States companies.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The information provided under the heading “DisalesControls and Internal Control Over Financiap&¢ing” contained in the Comparsy’
MDG&A is incorporated by reference herein.




MANAGEMENT 'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTI NG

The information provided under the heading “DisalesControls and Internal Control Over Financiap&¢ing” contained in the Comparsy’
MDG&A is incorporated by reference herein.

ATTESTATION REPORT OF THE REGISTERED ACCOUNTING FIR M

The information provided under the heading “DisalesControls and Internal Control Over Financiap&#ing —Exemption from Section 404(
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act” contained in the CommMDG&A is incorporated by reference herein.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTIN G

The information provided under the heading “DisalesControls and Internal Control Over Financiap&#ng —Changes in Internal Contr
over Financial Reporting” contained in the CompanyD&A is incorporated by reference herein.

AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

The information provided under the heading “Auddn@nittee — Audit Committee Composition and Backgiiucontained in the Comparsy’
AIF is incorporated by reference herein.

CODE OF ETHICS

The information provided under the heading “Direstand Officers - Code of Ethics” contained in thempanys AIF is incorporated t
reference herein

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information provided under the headings “A@limmittee — Independent Auditor’'s Fees” and “Awhimmittee — Prépproval Policies ar
Procedures” contained in the Company’s AlF is ipooated by reference herein.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The information provided “Discussion of Operaticarsd Financial Condition — Off-Balance Sheet Arrangsets” contained in the Compasy’
MDG&A is incorporated by reference herein.

TABULAR DISCLOSURE OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The information provided under the heading “Diseus®f Operations and Financial Condition — Liqtydand Capital Resourcesbntained il
the Company’s MD&A is incorporated by referencedirer



IDENTIFICATION OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The information provided under the heading “Audin@nittee —Audit Committee Composition and Backgaiurontained in the Compars/AlF
is incorporated by reference herein. The Compasyatgeparately-designated standing audit comnatieblished in accordance with Section 3(a)
(58)(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934aasended.

UNDERTAKINGS

The Company undertakes to make available, in pessday telephone, representatives to respond toiieg made by the Commission staff,
to furnish promptly, when requested to do so byGbenmission staff, information relating to: the wéties registered pursuant to Form BQthe
securities in relation to which the obligation e fin annual report on Form 40-F arises; or tosaations in said securities.

CONSENT TO SERVICE OF PROCESS

The Company has previously filed with the Commissaowritten consent to service of process and pofvattorney on Form K. Any change t
the name or address of the Company’s agent foliceeshall be communicated promptly to the Commissiy amendment to the Form>3--
referencing the file number of the Company.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange AetRegistrant certifies that it meets all of thguieements for filing on Form 4B-and has du
caused this annual report to be signed on its bblpahe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PLATINUM GROUP METALS LTD.

[/Isigned//
R. Michael Jones
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Date: November 23, 2012




EXHIBIT INDEX

The following documents are being filed with then@oission as exhibits to this annual report on Féénat.
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Annual Information Forn

Audited Consolidated Financial StatementsHeryears ended August 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010gding the report of the auditors
with respect theret

Managemer's Discussion and Analysis for the year ended AuglisR01z2

Certification of Chief Executive Officer as Requirky Rule 13-14(a) under the Exchange #

Certification of Chief Financial Officer as Requdrby Rule 13-14(a) under the Exchange #

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Puasu to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted PurdoaBéction 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant¢td®e906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 200z

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers |

Consent of Coffey Mining Pty Ltc

Consent of Minxcon (Pty) Ltc

Consent of R. Michael Jon

Consent of Turnberry Projects (Pty) L

Consent of Wardrop Engineering It
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PRELIMINARY NOTES
Date of Information

All information in this Annual Information Form (AIF ") of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (Platinum Group " or the “Company ”) is as o
August 31, 2012 unless otherwise indicated.

List of Abbreviations and Glossary of Mining Tern
Schedule “B” attached hereto is a list of abbréetet and glossary of mining terms used in this AlF.
Financial Information

Reference is made in this AIF to the consolidateditad financial statements of the Company forybar ended August 31, 2012 (th&ithancial
Statements”), a copy of which may be obtained onlinenatw.sedar.com

All financial information in this AlIF is preparech iaccordance with International Financial ReportBtgndards (1FRS ") as issued by ti
International Accounting Standards Board.

Forward-Looking Statements

This AIF and the documents incorporated by refezdmerein contain “forward-looking statements” afmwWard-looking information’within the
meaning of applicable US and Canadian securitigssl&ion (collectively, “Forward-Looking Statements ”). All statements, other th
statements of historical fact, that address a@sjitevents or developments that the Company lesjeaxpects or anticipates will, may, coul
might occur in the future are Forward-Looking Stagats. The words “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimaté&may,” “could,” “might,” “will,”
“would,” “should,” “intend,” “believe,” “target,” ‘budget,” “plan,” “strategy,” “goals,” “objectives,projection” or the negative of any of the
words and similar expressions are intended to ifyeRorward-Looking Statements, although these womthy not be present in all Forward-
Looking Statements. Forwatdoking Statements included or incorporated byrefee in this AlF include, without limitation, statents witl
respect to:

e revenue, cash flow and cost estimates and assumaptio

e production estimates and assumptions, includindymtion rate, grade per tonne and smelter recovery;
e project economics;

e future metal prices and exchange rates;

e mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates; and

e production timing.

ForwardLooking Statements reflect the current expectatmmiseliefs of the Company based on informationmentty available to the Compal
ForwardLooking Statements in respect of capital costsraipey costs, production rate, grade per tonnesanelter recovery are based upor
estimates in the technical reports described heaxrthongoing cost estimation work, and the Forwaroking Statements in respect of m
prices and exchange rates are based upon theytmmeégrailing average prices and the assumptiontagted in such technical reports and ong
estimates.

ForwardLooking Statements are subject to a number of @sksuncertainties that may cause the actual eeemtsults to differ materially fro
those discussed in the Forward-Looking Statememtd, even if events or results discussed in the &mHooking Statements are realizec
substantially realized, there can be no assurdratethiey will have the expected consequences teffects on, the Company. Factors that c
cause actual results or events to differ materfadlgn current expectations include, among othergsi
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additional financing requirements;
history of losses and ability to continue as a gaancern;
no known mineral reserves on most of the Compamgperties and delays in, or inability to achiggl@nned commercial production;

discrepancies between actual and estimated mimesairves and mineral resources, between actualestmhated development &
operating costs, between actual and estimated Iongfighl recoveries and between estimated and Bgtaduction;

fluctuations in the relative values of the Canadiatiar as compared to the South African Rand &ed.nited States Dollar;
metals price volatility;

difficulty enforcing certain judgments involving ied States federal securities laws;

the Company’s potential guarantee obligations utfieproposed Project Loan Facility (as definecimr if consummated;

delays in the staup of the Project 1 (defined herein) platinum mimieich could result in a default under the Projeoah Facility, i
consummated;

the ability of the Company to retain its key mamagat employees; conflicts of interest;

any disputes or disagreements with the Compajaynt venture partners; failure of the Compangch joint venture partners to fund tl
obligations;

certain potential adverse Canadian tax consequefnce®reigncontrolled Canadian companies that acquire comni@mes of th
Company;

the Company’s designation as a “passive foreigestment companydnd potential adverse U.S. federal income tax apreseces for U.!
shareholders;

exploration, development and mining risks and titeeiently dangerous nature of the mining industrgiuding environmental hazar
industrial accidents, unusual or unexpected fornati safety stoppages (whether voluntary or reguylatpressures, mine collapses, ¢
ins or flooding and the risk of inadequate insueaocinability to obtain insurance to cover thasks and other risks and uncertainties;

property and mineral title risks including defeetiitle to mineral claims or property;

changes in national and local government legisiatiaxation, controls, regulations and politicalemonomic developments in Canz
South Africa or other countries in which the Comypdnes or may carry out business in the future;

equipment shortages and the ability of the Comparacquire the necessary access rights and infcaste for its mineral properties;
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e environmental regulations and the ability to obtial maintain necessary permits, including envirema authorizations;
e the mineral exploration industry is extremely cotitpes;
e risks of doing business in South Africa, includimgt not limited to, labour, economic and politigatability;

e no expectation of paying dividends, share priceatilitl, global financial conditions and dilutionud to future issuances of eqt
securities; and

e the other risks disclosed under the heading “Rabtdrs” in this AlF.

These factors should be considered carefully, amdsitors should not place undue reliance on thep@agis Forward-ooking Statements.
addition, although the Company has attempted tatiigemportant factors that could cause actuailcms or results to differ materially from the
described in Forward-Looking Statements, there beagther factors that cause actions or resultsonot as anticipated, estimated or intended.

The mineral resource and mineral reserve figurlssnel to in this AIF are estimates and no ass@sigan be given that the indicated leve
platinum (“Pt "), palladium (“Pd "), rhodium (“Rh ") and gold (“Au ") (collectively referred to as 4E ") will be produced. Such estimates
expressions of judgment based on knowledge, miexpgrience, analysis of drilling results and induptactices. Valid estimates made at a g
time may significantly change when new informatim@tomes available. While the Company believesttigamineral resource and mineral res
estimates included in this AIF are well establishadtheir nature, mineral resource and mineradmeas estimates are imprecise and depend
certain extent, upon statistical inferences whicymltimately prove unreliable. Any inaccuracy oture reduction in such estimates could he
material adverse impact on the Company.

Any Forwardtooking Statement speaks only as of the date orlwitiis made and, except as may be required blicapfe securities laws, t
Company disclaims any intent or obligation to updany Forward-ooking Statement, whether as a result of new mfdion, future events
results or otherwise.

Currency and Exchange

Unless stated otherwise or the context otherwigeires, all references to dollar amounts in thi§ Ake references to Canadian Dollars.
Company’s accounts are maintained in Canadian Bolkl references to “U.S. Dollars” or to “US$lte to United States Dollars. All referer
to “R” or to “Rand” are to South African Rand.

The following table sets forth the rate of exchafmgethe U.S. Dollar expressed in Canadian Dollarsffect at the end of each of the indic:
periods, the average of the exchange rates inteffedhe last day of each month during each ofpeods indicated, and the high and
exchange rates during each of the periods indida&seéd on the noon rate of exchange as reportéldebBank of Canada for the conversiol
U.S. Dollars into Canadian Dollars.

Year Ended August 31

U.S. Dollar to Canadian Dollars 2012 2011 2010

Rate at end of period $0.9863 $0.9784 $1.0639
Average rate for period $1.0092 $0.9892 $1.0447
High for period $1.0604 $1.0520 $1.1065
Low for period $0.9752 $0.9449 $0.9961
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The noon rate of exchange on November 22, 2012msted by the Bank of Canada for the conversidd.8f Dollars into Canadian Dollars v
US$1.00 equals $0.9974.

The following table sets forth the rate of exchafmethe South African Rand expressed in Canadiatlai® in effect at the end of each of
indicated periods, the average of the exchangs mteffect on the last day of each month durincheaf the periods indicated, and the high
low exchange rates during each of the periods atdicbased on the noon rate of exchange as refnyrthe Bank of Canada for the conversio
South African Rand into Canadian Dollars.

Year Ended August 31
South African Rand to Canadian Dollars 2012 2011 2010
Rate at end of period $0.1176 $0.1397 $0.1443
Average rate for period $0.1262 $0.1428 $0.1393
High for period $0.1393 $0.1510 $0.1474
Low for period $0.1170 $0.1352 $0.1333

The noon rate of exchange on November 22, 2012@sted by the Bank of Canada for the conversio8afth African Rand into Canad
Dollars was R1 equals $0.1116.

Metric Equivalents

For ease of reference, the following factors famaating Imperial measurements into metric equiviare provided:

To convert from Imperial To metric Multiply by
Acres Hectares 0.404686
Feet Metres 0.30480
Miles Kilometres 1.609344
Tons Tonnes 0.907185
Ounces (troy)/ton Grams/Tonne 34.2857

Terms used and not defined in this AIF that aréneéelfin National Instrument 51-102Continuous Disclosure Obligatior{s NI 51-102") shal
bear that definition. Other definitions are setioutlational Instrument 14-1Mefinitions.

Mineral Reserve and Mineral Resource Disclost

Due to the uncertainty that may be attached tatiefemineral resource estimates, it cannot be asduhat all or any part of an inferred min
resource estimate will be upgraded to an indicatectheasured mineral resource estimate as a resatintinued exploration. Confidence in
inferred mineral resource estimate is insufficienallow meaningful application of the technicatiaronomic parameters to enable an evalu
of economic viability sufficient for public discloee, except in certain limited circumstances seétfimiNational Instrument 43-101 Standards ¢
Disclosure for Mineral Project(* NI 43-101"). Inferred mineral resource estimates are excludma fstimates forming the basis of a feasit
study.

Mineral resources that are not mineral reservasothave demonstrated economic viability.
Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors

Estimates of mineralization and other technicabrimfation included or incorporated by reference inehas been prepared in accordance wit
43-101. The definitions of proven and probable mesgused in NI 4301 differ from the definitions in the United Stat®ecurities and Exchar
Commission (“SEC ") Industry Guide 7. Under SEC Industry Guide 7nsiards, a “final” or “bankablefeasibility study is required to rep
reserves, the thregear historical average price is used in any reservcash flow analysis to designate reserves lamgrtimary environment
analysis or report must be filed with the appraerigovernmental authority. As a result, the resereported by the Company in accordance
NI 43-101 may not qualify as “reserves” under SEC stedwldn addition, the terms “mineral resource”, @aered mineral resource’inticatec
mineral resource” and “inferred mineral resources’ defined in and required to be disclosed by NIL@3; however, these terms are not del
terms under SEC Industry Guide 7 and normally atepermitted to be used in reports and registrasimtements filed with the SEC. Mine
resources that are not mineral reserves do notd@wvenstrated economic viability. Investors ardioaed not to assume that any part or all o
mineral deposits in these categories will everdreverted into reserve“Inferred mineral resourc” have a great amount of uncertainty as to



existence, and great uncertainty as to their ecanamd legal feasibility. It cannot be assumed #ihor any part of an inferred mineral resol
will ever be upgraded to a higher category. Undandglian securities laws, estimates of inferred ralnesources may not form the basi
feasibility or pre-feasibility studies, except ere cases. Additionally, disclosure of “containeshaes”in a resource is permitted disclosure ul
Canadian securities laws; however, the SEC nornally permits issuers to report mineralization tbaes not constitute “reserveby SEC
standards as in place tonnage and grade withcererefe to unit measurements. Accordingly, inforaratontained in this AIF and the docum:
incorporated by reference herein containing desorip of the Compang’ mineral deposits may not be comparable to sinmfarmation mad
public by U.S. companies subject to the reporting disclosure requirements of United States federalirities laws and the rules and regula
thereunder.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

The Company is a British Columbia company amalgachah February 18, 2002 pursuant to an order oStimreme Court of British Columt
approving an amalgamation between Platinum Grougallétd. and New Millennium Metals Corporation. Qanuary 25, 2005, the Comp.
was transitioned under thHgusiness Corporations A¢British Columbia). On February 22, 2005, the Compsa shareholders passed a spi
resolution to: (a) amend the authorized share alafpitm 1,000,000,000 common shares without pamevab an unlimited number of comn
shares (‘Common Shares’) without par value; (b) remove the Pre-existingn@any Provisions; and (c) adopt new articles.

The Company’s head office is located at:

328 — 550 Burrard Street
Vancouver, British Columbia
Canada, V6C 2B5

The Company’s registered office is located at:

Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP
2300 - 550 Burrard Street
Vancouver, British Columbia
Canada, V6C 2B5

The Company is a platinum focused exploration aedetbpment company conducting work primarily on enal properties it has staked
acquired by way of option agreements in the RepudfliSouth Africa and in Canada.
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Platinum Group Metals Ltd. and its Principal Subsaties

The Company’s material subsidiaries are two whollyaed companies, one majoribyvned company, a 49.9% holding in fourth company &
37% holding in a fifth company, all of which arearporated under the company laws of the Republ@oath Africa.

Platinum Group Metals Lid.
Vancouver, Canada

Piatinum Group Matals (RSA)
[Py} Lid.
Johannesburg, RSA
(100% Cwnad)

Mazeve Investiments 11
[Py} Limitad.
Johannesburg, RBA
(T4% Owned)

Wildabeest Platinum {Pty)
Lirmutad
Johannasburg, RSA
13T5% Owned)

Weazplats Holdings (Pty)
Limitad
Johanhashburg, RSA
{100% Cwnad})

Mnombao Wathu
Consultants (Pty) Limited
Johannesburmg. RSA
{48 5% Cwned)

The Company conducts its South African exploratod development work through its whoblyvned direct subsidiary, Platinum Group Me
(RSA) (Proprietary) Limited (PTM RSA ). PTM RSA holds the Company’interests in Project 1 and Project 3 of what Veamerly the
Western Bushveld Joint Venture (th&VBJV ") through its 74% holdings in Maseve Investments(Rty) Limited (“Maseve”). See ‘Mineral
Property Interests — Projects 1 and 3 of the We®eshveld Complex” below.

PTM RSA also holds 100% of the shares of Wesplatslinlg (Proprietary) Limited (Wesplats”), a holding company set up to acquire sur
rights, and a 37% interest in Wildebeest Platingty) Limited (“ Wildebeest”), a company set up to hold prospecting rights foretkgloratiot
joint venture between the Company and Sable PlatiMining (Pty) Ltd. “ Sable”) and Umnotho NREF Joint Venture, a black econ:
empowerment (BEE ") group. The Company also owns 49.9% of Mnombo MieConsultants (Pty) Limited (Minombo "), a BEE compan’
which holds a 26% participating interest in the gvlaérg project (the Waterberg Project ).

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS

Since its formation in 2002, the Company has begaged in the acquisition, exploration and develapnof platinum properties. The Comp
currently holds interests in platinum propertieghie western and northern limbs of the Bushveld lemin South Africa and in Canada. -
Company’s business is conducted primarily in S@ftica, and to a lesser extent, in Ontario andMloethwest Territories in Canada.

Three Year History

The following is a timeline summarizing the Compargctivities over the last three years:

September 2009 [The Company was granted prospecting rights forakm® area named the Waterberg Project noitRage 47

of the known North Limb of the Bushveld Complex.

The Company entered into an agreement with Japlaie@s and Metals National Corporation (“
JOGMEC ") and Mnombo whereby JOGMEC may earn up to a 3ft&rést in the Waterberg
Project and Mnombo may earn a 26% interest.

The Company published the 2009 UFS (as definedrf)eard Project 1 Report (as defined herein).  Ra#ye

October 2009 Page 46

October 2009
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April 2010

The Company paid an equalization amount due to@Agherican Platinum Limited (Anglo ") of
R186.28 million (approximately $24.83 million atttime), as required under the terms of the
original WBJV Agreement (as defined herein).

Page 15

April 2010

On April 22, 2010, the Consolidation Transactios deafined herein) was completed and the WBPége 15

was dissolved. The mineral rights underlying Prigidcand 3 (as defined herein) were transferred
into the project operating company, Maseve. WesiRlaginum Limited (“Wesizwe”) received a

45.25% initial interest in Maseve in exchange far mineral rights it transferred to Maseve and fthe

Company owned the remaining 54.75%. Under the tefrtitsee Consolidation Transaction
agreements, the Company acquired the right to sblesior a further 19.25% interest in Maseve
(the “Maseve Subscription Right”), which it exercised in January 2011. See “Acdigs and
Reorganization — Projects 1 and 3”.

August 2010

The Company purchased surface rights covering lhét8ares overlaying the area of Project 1
R130 million (approximately $18.80 million at thee).

dtage 19

October 2010

The Company raised gross proceeds of $143.81 miliiothe issue of 70.15 million Common

Shares. The net proceeds were approximately $13lli6n after deducting the underwriters’ fee|8fage 9

$7.91 million and expenses of the offering of $@iBion.

December 2010

The Company appointed DRA Mining Pty Ltd. as engiireg, procurement, construction and
management contractor for surface infrastructuceuarderground development at Project 1.

Page 44

January 2011

On January 14, 2011, the Company exercised thewd&ebscription Right and acquired a furthéage 15

19.25% interest in Maseve for subscriptions inahmunt of approximately $59 million (R408.81
million at the time), thereby increasing its shalding to 74%.

March 2011

The Company received a positive record of decifiom the Department of Mineral Resources
the Government of South Africa PMR ") for the detailed underground development plamd a
EMP (as defined herein), including the taking @fuék sample at Project 1.

Page 44

May 2011

The Company commenced the Phase 1 civil construetark at Project 1.

Page 44

July 2011

The Company awarded the contract to develop thee?hainderground decline tunnels at Proje
to JIC Mining Services of Johannesburg, South Afric

:H;ige 44

August 2011

The Company entered into a mandate letter witmdisgte of lead arrangers including Barclays| Page 9

Bank plc, together with affiliated Absa Capital,eT8tandard Bank of South Africa Limited,
WestLB AG, London Branch and Caterpillar FinanG&aRL for a US$260 million project finance
loan to develop the Project 1 platinum mine.

September 2011

The Company acquired 100% ownership in the Prozidémke Copper (Cu)- Nickel (Ni) -Cobal{Page 57

(Co)-Platinum Group Metals property, in the Nortlstv€erritories, from Arctic Star Exploration
Corp.

November 2011

The Company made a new discovery at the Waterbejgd® extending the North Limb of the
Bushveld Complex. The Company agreed to acquir@24@f Mnombo which holds a 26%
participating interest in the Waterberg Project.

Page 46

April 2012

The Company was issued the Mining Right (as defimer@in) for the Project 1 platinum mine byl Page 18

N

the DMR. The Mining Right was notarially executedtbe commencement date of May 15, 201

July 2012

The Company adopted a shareholder rights plan.

Page 86

September 2012

The Company announced an initial 6.6 million ouplzinum, palladium and gold (collectively
referred to as 3E ") inferred mineral resource estimate for the nedigcovered deposit on the
Waterberg Project.

Page 50
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September 2012 Rustenburg Platinum Mines Ltd. RPM ”), a direct subsidiary of Anglo, exercised its @8y right [ Page 15
of first refusal to purchase the off-take of oreconcentrate produced from Project 1 and Project 3
of the former WBJV.

October 2012 The proposed US$260 million project finance loantfi@ construction of the WBJV Project 1 Page 8
platinum mine advanced through detailed technfoencial and legal due diligence in October
2012, with closing and draw down of the loan fagibeing subject to receipt of commitments, fipal
credit approval, the negotiation of the terms ambditions of the financing, the negotiation and
execution of final documentation and certain caondg precedent. Societe Generale, a major
European bank and financial services company, goihe lead arranger group.

November 2012 The Company announced the results of new drillitheWaterberg Project that doubled the |Page 50
known strike length of the Waterberg deposit totaltof 5.5km.

DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS
General

Currently, the Company considers two of its min@raijects to be material: the Project 1 platinumen(‘ Project 1”) and the Waterberg Proji
(as defined below). The Company’s most advance@maimproject is its 74% interest in Project 1 amel adjacent Project 3 Project 3”) minera
resource, a platinum exploration and developmeujept on combined mineral rights covering approxatyad 7km2 within the Western Bushve
Complex of South Africa (the WBC Project ). Wesizwe, through its subsidiary Africa Wide MineRabspecting and Exploration (Pty) Limi
(* Africa Wide "), owns the remaining 26% interest in Project @l 8noject 3. Africa Wide is the Company’s BEE partwith regard to Maseve’
Mining Right (as defined herein). The majority bétCompanys exploration and development activities to dateeHzeen focused on Project :
order to advance it to the feasibility stage arehtinto development. Project 3 hosts indicatediafatred mineral resources, but feasibility
development work are not expected to commence Braject 1 is producing. On July 7, 2008, the Camypennounced the results of a feasib
study on Project 1 (the 2008 Feasibility Study”). On October 8, 2009, the Company published the 2009 (as defined below) on Projec
See “Projects 1 and 3 of the Western Bushveld Cexiifidelow.

On April 4, 2012, Maseve was issued a letter ofigfar a formal mining right for Project 1 (theéMlining Right ) by the DMR. The Mining Rig|
was notarially executed on the commencement daléagf15, 2012 and registered on August 3, 2012irgu2012, the Company continued v
Phase 1 development of Project 1 budgeted at US#iilidn (of which the Companyg share is US$74 million). Phase 1 includes su
infrastructure, lay down areas, electrical and wat@nections, twin decline development and soreedhdevelopment. As of the date of this /
Phase 1 was approximately 80% complete with estichedmpletion in late March or early April 2013.

Phase 2 development of Project 1, which is expettiedost approximately US$406 million on a peakding amount basis (of which t
Companys share is approximately US$300.44 million), inelsdhe completion of an additional southern deciiceess into the deposit an
milling, concentrating and tailings facility. Defihancing, funding from equity sources and a cogrun facility will be required to commer
Phase 2 development. See “Recent and Planned Kigarielant and facility construction and commissioning @stimated to take up to two ye
to complete. Full commercial production is estirdatie occur after a two year ramp-up period subsagieethe commissioning of the plaiste¢
“Risk Factors”.

The Company has mandated a group of four major émlarrange the Project Loan Facility (as defibetbw) for Phase 2 of Project 1. 1
proposed debt financing has advanced through tteéletbtechnical, financial and legal due diligestages. Closing and draw down of the Pr
Loan Facility is now subject to lender commitmerfteal credit approval, the negotiation of the termnd conditions of the financing,
negotiation and execution of final documentation @ertain conditions precedent. The Company expecseek equity financing to fund -
balance of its portion of the estimated Phase &c8ge “Recent and Planned Financing” and “Rishdrs’.
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The Company’s second material mineral project ésWaterberg Project comprised of a contiguous tieearea of 137krAlocated on the Nor
Limb of the Bushveld Complex, approximately 70knrthoof the town of Mokopane (formerly PotgietergruShe Waterberg Project is
exploration project that came from a regional targiiative of PTM RSA conceived in 2007 and existliover the past three years, resultir
the discovery of several distinct 3.0 to 6.0 mefngek Platinum Group Element (PGE ") mineralized layers. Since November 2(
approximately 44 diamond drill boreholes with defiens have been completed or are in progressteoatathe southeastern portion of the prc
The first 16 of these holes formed the basis ofdbelaration by an independent qualified persoreutNl 43-101 (“Qualified Person”) of ar
inferred mineral resource estimate on the WaterPeoject area, which was published by the Compangeptember 4, 2012.

The Company also holds interests in various eddgeexploration projects located in Canada and in Sddtlta. The Company continues
evaluate exploration opportunities both on curgeatned properties and on new prospects. Detailsesfe projects may be found in thditieral
Property Interests” section below and in Note éhefFinancial Statements.

To conduct its exploration and development, the @amy is dependent on sgbntractors for certain construction, engineering geologice
services, drilling equipment and supplies. Theseganerally available but vary in price and immegiaf availability subject to demand. |
recent development regarding key personnel andaxiots for Project 1, see “Employees and Speeid/&kills and Knowledge”.

As at the date hereof, the Company has no debt tiha trade payables in the normal course. Thegaomholds its cash at a major Cana
chartered bank, a major London-based bank or witiappr South African bank in current accounts amdrestbearing deposits. The Comp:
currently owns no marketable securities.

Recent and Planned Financing

The Companys last equity financing was completed in Octobe2@f0 and raised gross proceeds of $143.81 mitliothe issue of 70.15 millic
Common Shares (theOctober 2010 Financing”). The net proceeds were approximately $135.6ionilafter deducting the underwritefg’e o
$7.91 million and expenses of the offering of $®iBion.

On August 1, 2011, the Company entered into aneageat mandating a syndicate of banks to arranga t#8%$260 million project finance loar
Maseve for the development of Phase 2 of Projefthd “ Project Loan Facility ”). Societe Generale, a major European bank and fial
services company, later joined the group of leadngfers consisting of Barclays Bank plc, togethigh its affiliate Absa Capital, The Stand
Bank of South Africa Limited and Caterpillar FingdcSARL (together, the Lenders”). The Lenders have a global presence and direchpla
industry experience and the syndicate includesaf®outh Africa’s major banks.

The completion of technical, financial and legaédliligence by the Lenders was announced by thep@ogynon October 12, 2012. As at the
of this AlIF, credit committee approval by the Lerglis not yet in place. If credit committee apptdsabtained, commitment from the Lendel
expected to follow, following which the Project Lro&acility may advance to negotiation of definitddlecumentation. The Company expects
when executed, if at all, the execution of finainadocumentation will be subject to certain condsi precedent, including, among other things
Company securing additional equity funding, thecexien of a concentrate oféke agreement, the acquisition and maintenanad oéquisite
permits and licences, the establishment of an dgretals hedging program and the completion of i@umentation.
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The Company expects that the first draw down onRt@ect Loan Facility, if consummated and secureitl, be subject to further conditio
precedent, including a minimum of US$100 milliorving been spent on Project 1 by Maseve and a balahMaseves share of forward proje
peak funding (referred to herein aseéguired additional equity ") being deposited into an equity account securedigeron Project 1. Of t
expected required additional equity amount, the amy must provide 74%, while Wesizwe will be resgble for 26%. The amount will inclu
a working capital requirement based on a “markessed pricing modeBpplied by the Lenders at US$1,100 for platinum$4® for palladiun
US$880 for gold and a significant discount to mafke other payable metals such as rhodium, coppdrnickel. Subject to the satisfaction o
conditions precedent, in the event that definiteeumentation is executed and all required additiequity amounts are deposited in a desig!
equity account, the Company expects that the Rrbgmm Facility will be available to be drawn upasrequired for construction of Project 1.

The requirement for the required additional eqaitydescribed above is in addition to the spendiagirement of US$100 million on Projec
currently in process, of which approximately $80lioni has been spent to date.

The Company will also be required by the Lenderprivide a cost overrun facility for Project 1,wlich the Company will be responsible
74%. A further condition precedent to the Projecah Facility is a guarantee from the Company ofdablgations of Maseve thereunder and
provision by the Company, indirectly, of a pleddét® 74% interest in the capital of Maseve. Se&skHFactors”.

There is no certainty that the Project Loan Faciltll reach financial close or that drawdown o tRroject Loan Facility will occur. Failure
the Company to satisfy one or more conditions ptect or an adverse material change or event, ¢esldt in the Project Loan Facility not be
consummated, or if consummated, later terminatedceordance with the proposed terms thereof. Inetrent the Project Loan Facility
consummated, the Project Loan Facility is expettedave a maximum available term of eight yearsp@®osed to a term of nine years in
original terms as announced by the Company on Augju2011. In addition to an arrangement fee andnamitment fee, interest is expected t
payable on the balance of the Project Loan Fagilithdrawn at a rate of LIBOR plus 5.0% pre-comiplet LIBOR plus 4.75% for two years post-
completion and LIBOR plus 5.25% from two years pasnpletion until maturity.

Platinum and Palladium Trends

e The platinum market experienced a small surplu0ihl. Overall demand was 7.36 million ounces. Tahhed platinum supply totall
7.4 million ounces, including 1.0 million ouncesretycled metal.

e The automobile industry accounted for 3.2 milliamoes of platinum demand as global automobile sat#eased to 81.8 million uni
Emerging markets (China, India, Brazil) continuesé® growth in auto sales while the European mask&truggling. Sales in the Unit
States remain strong.

e Jewellery accounted for 1.9 million ounces of plath demand in 2011 with Chinese consumption acoayifior close to 80% of glob
jewellery demand.

e The palladium market experienced a 560,000 oungausuin 2011. Total demand was 8.05 million oundesal refined palladium supg
totalled 8.61 million ounces including 1.70 millionnces of recycled metal.

e Total palladium demand from the automobile sectas w.91 million ounces, a 5.6% increase over 28p@esenting over 60% of ann
palladium demand.

e Investment demand via several exchange traded fUrelEF ") listed products continued to add volatility teetPlatinum Group Metals (*
PGM ") markets. Currently there are approximately 1.5iamlbunces of platinum and 2.0 million ounces dfgshum representing glok
physical ETF investment demand.

(Source: CPM Group)
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Synergies with Nearby Mines

In mid-2012, a joint engineering study on potensighergies with the Jinchudiesizwe platinum mine adjacent to the Project lensite wa
completed. The study indicated significant potérfoa savings in terms of capital and operationslidwing discussions on how the identif
synergies could be achieved, the Company and Wediawe cooperated with regard to bulk infrastriecand services such as local and reg
water supply and the establishment of substatinodglasigns with South African power utility compda$KOM (* ESKOM ") for electricity, an
are discussing ways to cooperate with regard toitig and site security. To date no action has laken on areas where larger synergies
identified.

During 2012, the Company also researched and disdugossible synergies with Royal Bafokeng PlatifurRBPIat "), which operates tt
adjacent Bafokeng Rasimone platinum mine and iygd&ft expansion project down dip from Project Areas of discussion include b
infrastructure and services such as water and p@sesell as training and site security. Other suadaliscussion include possible collaboratio
a joint tailings impoundment facility located onrfaice rights owned by the Company as well as ailplestoll mining agreement allowing t
Company access to minerals held by RBPlat. To dh$eussions and negotiations regarding the passiphergies between the Company
RBPlat continue, which could result in potentiahssgies being capitalized on within the next ydahe parties deem appropriate and/or deci
pursue them.

Employees and Specialized Skills and Knowledge

Project 1 is operated by the Company on an “owremaged-contractor” basis. As at August 31, 2012 Gbmpanys complement of manage
staff and consultants in Canada consisted of appairly 12 individuals and the Compasytomplement of managers, staff, consultants
casual workers in South Africa consisted of apprately 40 individuals. A further seven individulilsve been appointed as the owsé€am fa
the Project 1 platinum mine. As at August 31, 2Q&#jerground mining contractor JIC Mining Servi¢edIC ") had assigned approximately :
people to the project. At August 31, 2012, civihttactors had approximately 118 people working ite & Project 1 assigned to constructio
the South Box Cut, an ESKOM substation on sitefarineter security fencing. Of the approximatel$ pEople on site in South Africa at Auc
31, 2012, more than 40% were people from the logaimunities surrounding Project 1.

At October 31, 2012, the Project 1 site complenfienall staff, consultants and contractors was apipnately as follows:

JiC Underground Mining Services 170
Ellecon Contracted construction of ESKOM Substation 50
Scribante Contracted excavation and construction of South BGoix 50
Moyo Site Security 47
Ohms Rock Mechanics 1
Maseve Staff, Geology, Mining, etc. 24
RBS Human Resources 6
Fencing Perimeter Fence Installation 15
Emergency Rescue Services Emergency Responserahdidi 8
African Land Surveyors Surveyors 1

372
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The above table does not include the Company’snspgeson ownes team or 26 other Company persons working in eaptm on other projec
or at the Compang’ Johannesburg office. In addition to the currembglement of people working on site, engineeringcprement, constructir
and management EPCM ") contractor DRA Mining Pty Ltd. (DRA ") completed its initial engagement with the Compéor Phase 1 in mid-
2012 and will re-assign certain personnel to Pitdjagpon commencement of Phase 2.

Due to the specialized skills and knowledge reglufoe a company in the development phase movirmtim production phase, the Company
contracted the services of an experienced and gsiofeal HR company, Requisite Business Solutioi®BS "), to provide site and office hum
resources, organization design and planning sent@®roject 1. RBS specializes in the mining itgysnd their team of professional engine
psychologists and practitioners has an intimateerstdnding of organization design & developmentluiding knowledge of the appli
legislation, mining techniques and associated lalpoactices. RBS has assisted the Company in coimpla “Local Skills Assessmenth six
communities to help identify candidates for lealgrand staff positions as per Maseve’s Social laadabur Plan (the Social and Labour Plar
") and human resources development obligations. Communiynbers have already been hired and more are dyrramdergoing medic
examinations, training and induction.

The Social and Labour Plan was compiled pursuatiiedMR’s Guidelines for social and labour plans and subohin accordance with sect
46 of theMineral and Petroleum Resources Development Acgf 2002(* MPRDA ”). The objective of the Social and Labour Plan islignathe
Company’s social and labour principles with thextedl requirements established under the Broad-BaseidEconomic Empowerment Char
for the South African Mining Industry (theMining Charter ”). These requirements for Maseve include promotingleynpent, advancement
the social and economic welfare of all South Afngacontributing toward the transformation of thiming industry and contributing towards
socioeconomic development of the communities prekita the Project 1 mine. Contractors are requicedomply with the Social and Labc
Plan and policies, including commitment to emplopequity and BEE, proof of competence in termsegfulations, commitment to undert:
training programs, compliance with all Maseve peBcrelating to recruitment, training, health ardety, etc. In terms of human resoul
training, the Social and Labour Plan establishgsatives for adulbased education training, learnerships and devedapf skills required
mining industry, portable skills training for tratien into other industries than mining, educatimmrsaries and internships. The Social and Le
Plan also establishes local economic developmegattines for projects such as community centrertéslhment, high school refurbishment, w
and reticulation projects, housing developmengldishment of recreational parks and various dttlized programmes for small scale indu:
agriculture, entrepreneurship and health and etucat

Labour in South Africa

There has recently been significant labour unrast @&emands for higher wages by certain labour gragross the gold and platinum mir
industries in South Africa. lllegal or “unprotectestrikes have occurred at several mines since thamieg of August 2012. In limited cas
wage increases have been agreed to by the managehseme mining companies. To date, the Compasyskan no adverse labour action o
site at the Project 1 mine.

The Company has worked closely with local commasitaind human resource specialists RBS for seveeasyn order to create a databas
local persons interested in work at the Projectidemmincluding their skill and experience detailee Company has set a minimum target of
local employment for the mine, including personslemthe employ of contractors. At present approiiyad0% of the onsite workforce
comprised of local persons from the surrounding rooimities.

The primary union at Project 1 representing thekers of underground mining contractor JIC is theidteal Union of Mineworkers (NUM ).
The Company maintains an active dialogue with BIGM and its own employees. Should higher salaries\v@ages occur across the industry
Company will likely be required to comply with highpay bands, and an increase in labour coststhenefore operating costs, could occur.
“Risk Factors”.
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Competition

The global PGM mining industry has historically bemharacterised by long term rising demand fronbgl@utomotive and fabrication sectors
the one hand and constrained supply sources outliee. South Africa8 PGM mining sector has been the largest and fagtewing sector in tr
South African mining industry until recently, repeaiting approximately 80% of global supply. Sindd-2012 global economic uncertainty :
slow growth have created a weak market for PGMsvdranarket prices for PGMs combined with laboureshihas caused stoppages and clo
of some higher cost platinum mines and shafts intfs@dfrica. Almost all of the South African platimusupply comes from the geogray
constraints of the Western, Northern and Eastembkiof the BIC, resulting in a high degree of cotitipe for mineral rights and projects. So
Africa’s PGM mining sector remains beholden to economieldpments in the global automotive industry whadeounts for approximately 3:
of the total global demand for platinum. A prolodggownturn in global automobile and light truckesglresulting in depressed platinum pri
often results in declining production as unprofitalmines are shut down. Alternatively, strong auibite and light truck sales combined v
strong fabrication demand for platinum, most oftesults in a more robust industry, creating contipetifor resources, including funding, labc
technical experts, power, water, materials andpgent. The South African industry is dominated lseé or four producers, who also cor
smelting and refining facilities. As a result, thes general competition for access to these f@slon a contract basis. As the Company
towards production on Project 1, it will become @sgd to many of the risks of competition describeckin. See “Risk Factors”.

Environmental Compliance

The Companys current and future exploration and developmetivides, as well as future mining and processipegrations, if warranted, ¢
subject to various federal, state, provincial arahl laws and regulations in the countries in whiieh Company conducts its activities. These
and regulations govern the protection of the emvitent, prospecting, development, production, taeemur standards, occupational health, 1
safety, toxic substances and other matters. Compagryagement expects to be able to comply with thass and does not believe t
compliance will have a material adverse effect lem €Companys competitive position. The Company intends to iob&dll licences and perm
required by all applicable regulatory agenciesanreection with its mining operations and explonatixtivities. The Company intends to main
standards of compliance consistent with contemganatustry practice.

Foreign Operations

The Company conducts the majority of its businesSauth Africa. South Africa has a large and vdel«eloped mining industry, particularly
the area where the Project 1 is located. This, ghuther factors, means the infrastructure in tleaas well-established, with wethaintaine:
roads and highways as well as electricity distidoutnetworks, water supply and telephone systentectiital generating capacity has b
overwhelmed by demand in recent years in SouttcAftbut additional capacity is currently underwagiditional water infrastructure will also
required. See “Risk Factors”.

There is also access to materials and skilled laimothe region due to the existence of many platirand chrome mines in the immediate vici
Smelter complexes and refining facilities are ddsated in the area. South Africa has an estaldigiogernment, police force and judiciary as:
as financial, health care and social instituticeithough such institutions underwent significanaroge following the fall of apartheid and f
elections in 1994, and are continuing to be devadop he system of mineral tenure was overhauledely legislation in 2002. Since 1994, Sc
Africa has been considered an emerging democraey.'Bisk Factors”.
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MINERAL PROPERTY INTERESTS

Under IFRS, the Company defers all acquisition,l@gtion and development costs related to minerapgrties. The recoverability of the
amounts is dependent upon the existence of ecoabiyni@coverable mineral reserves, the ability loé tCompany to obtain the neces:
financing to complete the development of the progpemnd any future profitable production; or altively upon the Company’ability to dispos
of its interests on an advantageous basis.

Projects 1 and 3 of the Western Bushveld Complex

Project 1 and Project 3 are located on the Wedtienb of the BIC, North West Province, and are lechapproximately 110km west northwes
Pretoria and 120km from Johannesburg. All of thearal rights for the properties of the WBC Progeat now held by operating company Mas
under the Mining Right.

Readers are encouraged to read the following teahreports, from which certain of the disclosurdhiis AIF has been derived:

1. “Technical Report on Project 3 Resource Cut Estonatf the Western Bushveld Joint Venture (WBJV) éted on the Western Limb
the Bushveld Igneous Complex, South Af’ dated August 31, 2010 (tI* Project 3 Report”) prepared by Charles J. Mulle

2. “Updated Technical Report (Updated Feasibilitydg Western Bushveld Joint Venture Project 1 (B&iontein and Frischgewaagd)”
dated November 20, 2009 with an effective date ctfo@er 8, 2009 (the 2009 UFS”) prepared by Gordon |. Cunningham, Charlt
Muller, Timothy V. Spindler and Byron Stewa

3. “An Independent Technical Report on Project Areasd 1A of the Western Bushveld Joint Venture (WBI¥rated on the Weste
Limb of the Bushveld Igneous Complex, South Afrigttie “ Project 1 Report”) dated November 20, 2009 with an effective da
October 8, 2009 prepared by Charles J. Mu

(collectively, the* WBC Reports ™).

The WBC Reports are subject to certain assumptoprjfications and procedures described theregaders are directed to review the full te
the WBC Reports, available for review under the @any’s profile on SEDAR awww.sedar.comand on the SEG’ EDGAR website .
www.sec.gov, for additional information.

Where appropriate, information in this AIF relatitgyProjects 1 and 3 updates information derivedhfthe WBC Reports. R. Michael Jones
Eng., the Company’s President, CEO and directdhasion-independent Qualified Person that hasoapprsuch updated information.

Acquisition and Reorganizatio— Projects 1 and 3

On October 26, 2004, the Company entered intord ja@nture agreement (theA/BJV Agreement”) forming the WBJV among the Comps
(37% interest held through PTM RSA), Anglo (37%eneist held through its subsidiary RPM), and Afiale (26% interest held directly)
relation to a platinum exploration and developmaniect on combined mineral rights covering appmately 67km? on the Western Bushve
Complex of South Africa. The WBJV was divided ittitwee distinct project areas, namely Projectsdn@3. In April 2007, Anglo contributed
additional 5km? area of prospecting rights into the WBJV. This #ddal area was adjacent to the east of Projeetsdl3 and once contribu
into the WBJV, became a part of Project 2. Africad#was subsequently acquired by Wesizwe, a Josaong Stock Exchandéested company
in September 2007. PTM RSA was the operator ojoiné venture.
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Under the terms of the original WBJV Agreement, mpodecision to mine the respective deemed cagatatribution of each party would
credited a dollar amount based on their contrilbutb measured, indicated and inferred PGM ounaa® fthe contributed properties compris
the WBJV. The ounces contributed would be deterchibesed upon, and at the time of, the first bamkdédsibility study for the WBJIV
accordance with the South African Code for the Reémpp of Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (I SBAMREC Code”) and as to
agreed amongst the parties on a “Determination"Ratelefined in the WBJV Agreement.

On December 8, 2008, the Company entered into inesgreements to consolidate and rationalize th@eoship of the WBJV (the
Consolidation Transaction”).

On April 22, 2010, the Consolidation Transactiorsveampleted and the WBJV was dissolved. The panéesagreed that upon dissolution
equalization due under the original WBJV Agreementild be paid and settled between the parties. @l 22, 2010, the Company paid
equalization amount due to Anglo of R186.28 mill{@pproximately $24.83 million at the time), asuigd under the terms of the original WE
Agreement.

At the moment of dissolution, Wesizwe acquiredadlAnglo’s rights and interests to the mineral rights uryitegl the WBJV, Wesizwe retain
Anglo’s mineral rights to Project 2, and transfdriadl of Anglo’s mineral rights underlying Projects 1 and 3 intojgrt operating compar
Maseve. The Company also transferred its minegatsiunderlying Project 1 into Maseve, the reseihd that Wesizwe retained 100% of Prc
2 and Maseve obtained 100% of Projects 1 and 3.cbhabined area covered by the mineral rights fajeRts 1 and 3 held through Mas
comprises approximately 47kfof the original 72kn?.

The Company also received a 37% interest in Mageexchange for its share of Projects 1 and 3. Phis of the transaction was treated
transfer of a business interest between contrahedies and was transferred at cost for accourgingoses. Wesizwe received a 45.25% it
interest in Maseve in exchange for the mineraltsghtransferred to Maseve.

Although the Company did not hold any of the miheights comprising Project 2, the Company had &b% interest in Project 2 through
WBJV. In exchange for rescinding its 18.5% of Pcoj2, the Company effectively received an additidia75% interest in Maseve, bringing
holdings in Maseve to 54.75% . This was treated deemed sale of 18.5% of Project 2 and was vatiedtimated fair market value of $6&
million, resulting in an accounting gain of $45.6@lion. For accounting purposes, the Company alscrued a deferred income tax liability
$22.5 million in relation to the deemed sale. Tisis noneash accrual for accounting purposes only, as m®pany and its advisors he
determined the deemed transaction is not a taxeselet under the Income Tax Act of South Africa.

Under the terms of the Consolidation Transactiaragents, the Company acquired the Maseve SubsaoriRight entitling it to subscribe fol
further 19.25% interest in Maseve, from treasunyexchange for a subscription amount of R408.81ianilOn January 14, 2011, the Comp
exercised the Maseve Subscription Right in the athofiR408.81 million (approximately $59 million thte time), thereby increasing its effec
shareholding in Maseve to 74%. The subscriptiom$uwere placed in escrow for application towardsiiee’s 26% share of expenditures
Projects 1 and 3 (theEscrowed Maseve Funds$). As of August 31, 2012, approximately R273 millié&82.12 million) of the Escrowed Mast¢
Funds, including earned interest, remained in @&cro

Under the terms of the Consolidation Transactioeagents, RPM held a &y right of first refusal on the sale of ore oncentrate product
from Project 1, Project 2 and Project 3. On Septanat 2012, Maseve received notice from RPM regaréRPM’'s exercise of its right of fir
refusal to enter into an agreement with Maseveeong equivalent to terms agreed to by Maseve wititheer commercial offaker for the planne
sale of concentrate produced from Project 1.
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Project 1 and Project 3 of the WBC Proje

Project Description and Locatic

The approximately 47krfiof mineral rights comprising Projects 1 and 3 asmed 100% by project operating company Maseve. FRIBA own:
74% of Maseve while Wesizwe, through its subsididfyica Wide, owns the remaining 26%. Maseve igraped by PTM RSA in accordal
with the terms of a shareholders’ agreement (tidaseve Shareholder's Agreement) between Maseve, PTM RSA and Africa Wide.

property is divided into two distinct project areaamely Projects 1 and 3. Project “1A” as discddsglow is simply a subdivision of Project 1.

Projects 1 and 3 are located on the Western LimheBIC, 110km westorthwest of Pretoria and 120km from Johannesbiing. BIC is wel
known for its layering and continuity of economiartzons mined for platinum, palladium and other BGEhrome and vanadium.

Platinum Group Metals
Location of the WEBJV in the Bushveld Igneous Complex
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The total area includes portions of the Compamybperties, namely Elandsfontein 102JQ, MimoskX4nd Onderstepoort 98JQ, and also ce
portions of Elandsfontein 102JQ, Onderstepoort 983@chgewaagd 96JQ, Mimosa 81JQ and Koedoesfo#ilQ originally contributed |
RPM. These properties are centred on Longitude @y 00” (E) and Latitude 2% 20’ 00” (S) and the mineral rights now cover approxims
47kmZ2or 4,700ha.

Project Area 1 and 1A covers an area of 10.87kbm1,087ha in extent. Specifically, Project Areantl 1A consist of a section of PortionRtn ”)
18, the Remaining Extent Re”), Ptn 13, Ptn 8, Re of Ptn 2, Ptn 7, Ptn 15 and Ptof the farm Frischgewaagd 96JQ, sections of PRtr29 an
Ptn 12 of the farm Elandsfontein 102JQ and a ssealiion of the Re of the farm Mimosa 81JQ. Projeet 3 covers an area of 224.28ha in e
and is located on a section of the farm Koedoesfor&i4JQ.
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Platinum Group Metals
Location of the Project Areas
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The resources of Project Area 1 and 1A are locapgdoximately 1km to 6km along strike from the @etMerensky Reef (MR ”) mining face ¢
the operating Bafokeng Rasimone platinum minBRPM ”). BRPM completed opencast mining on the Upper Gro@h@mitite Layer or Re
(* UG2 ™) within 100m of the property boundary.

The mafic component of the BIC is collectively temnthe Rustenburg Layered SuiteRLS ") and can be divided into five zones, namely
Marginal, Lower, Critical (which hosts the MR and5R), Main and Upper Zones. The potential econoroiizbns in Project Area 1 and 1A
the MR and UG2 situated in the Critical ZoneGZ ") of the RLS of the BIC; these horizons are knowntlf@ir continuity. The MR and UG2 ¢
mined at the BRPM adjoining the property as welbasother contiguous platinumine properties. In general, the layered packapgs di les
than 20 degrees and local variations in the regfidé have been modeled. The MR and UG2 Chrons#tam, in the Project Area, dip betwer
and 42 degrees, with an average dip of 14 degrees.
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Drilling, in the form of diamond drilling, has beearried out over the Project Area and to datel882holes have been drilled for the purpos:
understanding the geology, structure and metallofghe ore body in the Project Area. PTM RSA hsislalished a site office to the south of
Project Area, and all core is stored in the coma ym site. All logging and sampling of the coreuredertaken at the site office core yard ant
samples have been sent to Genalysis (Perth), Alesn€k (South Africa) and currently samples are seftet Point Laboratories (South Afric
To the time of the 2009 UFS, a total of 32,020 dasypad been assayed and utilized in the estimafitime Mineral Resources over the Prc
Area.

Licences

The Consolidation Transaction was subject to menigk approval of the cession of various prospectights in accordance with the provision
section 11 of the MPRDA. On April 22, 2010, theuiegd cession of the prospecting rights was apptdsethe Minister of Mineral Resourc
and the Company announced the execution and caopleft the Consolidation Transaction. The resulth&f ministerial approval of the cessi
was that the prospecting rights would be groupégltimree projects, being Projects 1, 2 and 3.

As a result of the Consolidation Transaction, Maskeld nine separate new order prospecting righteed by the Regional Office of the DMF
Klerksdorp, North West Province. Licence specifmas for the prospecting rights may be found in WiIBC Reports. Under the MPRDA, |
holders of valid new order prospecting rights héheeexclusive right to apply for mining rights oube prospecting area.

In April 2011, Maseve applied for a mining rightriespect of the prospecting rights and was issuettea of grant in respect of the Mining Ri
on April 4, 2012. The granted Mining Right was ni@thy executed on the commencement date of May2032 and shall endure for a periot
30 years ending on May 14, 2042. The Mining Rigaswubsequently registered in the Mining Titlesg@fbn August 3, 2012 thereby secu
rights of tenure. The Mining Right can be renewadpieriods of up to 30 years at a time.

The granting of the Mining Right secured the Conypamineral rights for Project 1 and Project 3. Theseeral rights are recorded for platin
group metals, gold, silver, copper, chrome, niekel cobalt.

Rights to Surface and Minere

The Company has acquired all surface rights itelveb will be necessary to execute constructioncgadation of the Project 1 platinum mi
These surface rights are intended for purposesaitihgs placements, surface infrastructure, locatsd shaft infrastructure, mill facilitie
concentrator facilities and waste sites. Detailaarfuisition follow below:

PTM RSA acquired an option to purchase 100% oftivéace and mineral rights to portions of the f&tandsfontein 102 JQ in December 2(
The rights to Elandsfontein portions Re 1, 12 aedlR measure an aggregate 364.6357 Ha. By Dece2@bby PTM RSA had purchased tr
surface and mineral rights in exchange for totghpents of approximately $1.7 million. One half bistcost was applied to the surface rights
the other half was applied to the mineral rightse Bcquired mineral rights were then contributetheoWBJV under the terms of the origi
WBJV Agreement and were later transferred to Masenger the Consolidation Transaction. The acque@ti6357ha in surface rights at all tir
since December 2005 remained under legal titleTdl RSA. During the period from December 2005 utité Completion of the Consolidati
Transaction, the Company held these surface rightsist for the WBJV, an unincorporated entitylwito legal right or ability to own property
its own. Pursuant to the Consolidation Transactithe, Company made a payment to Wesizwe in settledfognits profrata share of tt
Elandsfontein 102JQ surface rights, thus extingogshany claim to the surface rights by Wesizwe. PR3A now holds 100% of the
364.6357ha in surface rights for its own accouhese surface rights are not held by Maseve andadneart of the Project 1 platinum mine.
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PTM RSA acquired its original interests in respaicthe mineral rights on portions of the farm Orsdepoort 4, 5 and 6; Onderstepoort 3 ar
and Onderstepoort 14 and 15 by way of option agee¢sn All of the Onderstepoort option agreementeveater bought out by way of settlem
agreements in 2007 and 2008. PTM RSA contributenhierests in these properties to the WBJV.

The remainder of the WBJV mineral properties, baeadain portions of Elandsfontein 102JQ, Ondestef@8JQ, Frischgewaagd 96JQ, Mir
81JQ and Koedoesfontein 94JQ, were contributebdamtiginal WBJV by Anglo.

During the year ended August 31, 2008, PTM RSA Ipased surface rights adjacent to the Project lgilepeea measuring 216.2703ha for Ri
million (approximately $1.09 million at the timehd also purchased surface rights directly overréiggoof the Project 1 deposit area meast
360.6676ha for R15.07 million (approximately $2r@illion at the time). During 2012 the surface rigkt these two properties were transferr
cost into Maseve in order to consolidate land mgdifor the Project 1 platinum mine at the opegatiompany level in advance of the propc
Project Loan Facility.

On April 22, 2010, the Consolidation Transactiorswampleted and the WBJV was dissolved. At the nrmiragdissolution, Wesizwe acquit
all of Anglo’s rights and interests to the mineiights underlying the WBJV. Wesizwe retained Anglaiineral rights to Project 2, and transfe
all of Anglo’s mineral rights underlying Projects 1 and 3 irite project operating company, Maseve. The Comployteansferred its minel
rights underlying Project 1 into Maseve, the rebelng that Wesizwe retained 100% of Project 2 adeve obtained 100% of Projects 1 ar
The combined area covered by the mineral right®fojects 1 and 3 held through Maseve, comprispoanately 47kn? . See Acquisition an
Reorganization — Project 1 and 3”.

On August 12, 2010, the Company acquired the righpurchase the Sundown Ranch surface rights aayeti713 hectares, includi
accommodation facilities and overlaying the are¢hefplanned Project 1 platinum mine for R130.0ianil (approximately $18.57 million at t
time). A deposit of R13.0 million (approximately.8% million at the time) was paid to the vendorfargust 26, 2010. The purchase price bal
of R117.0 million was paid in January 2011 (appmediely $17.03 million at that time). Title was sefgently transferred into Maseve at
Companys direction. The Company received credit for thechase price against its share of ongoing projestsc All business and operatior
the hotel and recreation facilities at the Sund&®amch have been contracted to a former managbeqifrbperty in exchange for a monthly re
fee and a small revenue participation amount payebMaseve, as this portion of the property isrequired directly for Project 1.

Mineralized Zone

The BIC in general is well known for containingade share of the worlsl’platinum and palladium resources. There are t@rg prominer
economic deposits within the BIC. Firstly, the MRdathe UG2, which together can be traced on sufilac800km in two separate areas
secondly, the Northern Limb Platreef”), which extends for over 120km in the area nafttvlokopane.

In the past, the platinum and palladium bearingsreéthe BIC have been estimated at about 770488dmillion ounces respectively (down t
depth of 2,000m). These estimates do not distilghitween the categories of Proven and ProbablerRes and Inferred Resource. Re
calculations suggest about 204 and 116 million esraf Proven and Probable Reserves of platinunrpat@dium respectively, and 939 and
million ounces of Inferred Resources. Mining iseally taking place at 2km depth in the BIC. Inferaed ultimately mineable ore resources
almost certainly be regarded as being greatertti@nalculations suggest. These figures representt 5% and 50% of the worklplatinum an
palladium resources respectively. Demand, and herice, will be the determining factor in miningtiaties on the BIC rather than availability
ore. Many mines on the BIC are getting deep, witmes at more than 1,000m vertical. At these deptistscand safety are factors. With lak
costs also rising, shallow mines with good gradeetesignificant cost advantage over the deepegsnin




-20 -

Platinum Group Metals Lt
2012 Annual Information For

Exploration drilling in the area has shown thathbetonomic reefs (MR and UG2) are present and ecimadly exploitable on the Weste
Bushveld properties. The separation between thesfis tends to increase from the subcrop environrfiess than five metres apart) to de
exceeding 650m (up to 50m apart) towards the nasthdhe subcrops of both reefs generally strikeh&ast to northwest and dip on averag
degrees to the northeast. The reefs locally exHip& from 4 to 42 degrees (average 14 degree)sesved from borehole information.

The most pronounced PGM mineralization along thstera limb of the BIC occurs within the MR and engrally associated with a 0.1 -1.2m -
thick pegmatoidal feldspathic pyroxenite unit. Begond important mineralized unit is the UG2, whghbn average 0.6 —2.0m thick.

Environmental Liabilities and Prospecting Pern
There are no known material environmental issulesimg to the Company’s or Maseve's properties.

Mining and exploration companies in South Africeemie with respect to environmental managementiptes and the applicable environme
management plan or programgMP ") more fully set out in section 39 of the MPRDAdhte regulations published in respect thereof.

The Mining Right for the Project 1 platinum minesuied by the DMR in April 2012 (and notarially exsmlin May 2012) is subject
environmental authorizations, water use licences @mpliance with applicable legislation on an dngobasis. Delays, or a failure to obt
required licences and permits, or a failure to dgmgth the terms of any such licences and permhizgg the Company has obtained, could he
material adverse impact on the Company. In relatmrits Mining Right for the WBJV the Company hakd an Environmental Impe
Assessment with the DMR. Some aspects of permiténgain outstanding, including the items detailetbty. The Company anticipates recei
all required regulatory approvals in due course darinot provide any assurances to such effect."Bis& Factors”. At the present state
advancement, all required permits for Project lgaamted.

In addition to the environmental requirements ef fPRDA, the principles as set out in section thef

National Environmental Management Act No. 107 &8I(* NEMA ") apply to all prospecting and mining operationsthascase may be, and :
matter relating to such operation.

In terms of the environmental regulations to theR@RA, the Company and Maseve as the holders of miaimd prospecting rights, amongst o
things, must as part of the general terms and tiondifor a prospecting right and in order to eestompliance with the EMP and to asses
continued appropriateness and adequacy of the E&JR:onduct monitoring on a continuous basis; @duct performance assessments o
EMP as required; and (c) compile and submit a perdmce assessment report to the Minister in whichptiance is demonstrated.

Regular site inspections are conducted on the Coy'pand Maseva' prospecting activities. The aim of these sitpéasions is to: (a) determi
the compliance with all legislation pertaining ke tenvironment; (b) advise on environmental manag¢émeasures to be undertaken during
prospecting phase; and (c) monitor site rehabiitat

In 2010, 2011 and 2012, independent complianceetigmns were conducted over each prospecting ktteedCompany and Maseve.
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Subsequent to the compliance inspections in 20idranmental compliance reports were issued on 9uB010 and July 18, 2010 for Maseve’
Project 1 prospecting rights and duly lodged wlith tespective Regional Manager’s offices of the DMR

The purpose of an Environmental Compliance Repotbiindicate the state of the prospecting whensorea against the commitments of
EMP. This Environmental Compliance Report is reggiiin terms of the environmental regulations toNHRRDA.

The Environmental Compliance Report reported thlabfathe drilling sites and the immediate areaattivere affected by prospecting
adequately complied with commitments as recordetiénrEMPs. It was further reported that all rehitdtibn of prospecting boreholes and rel;
infrastructure was completed and that no furthbabditation is necessary.

Independent rehabilitation certificates were issioe@ach borehole and are on record at the ditgesf

During 2011 the Scoping and Environmental Impacgessment phase for mining commenced and all agso@pecialist studies were finalis
In May 2011 the Waste Licence Application was sutedito the Department of Environmental Affairs ftg consideration in terms of 1
National Environmental Management: Waste Act NoofR2008(* Waste Act”) for waste activities during Phase 2 of the WHIMject 1.

In January 2012 the Final Environmental Impact Assent Report for Phase 2 of the WBJV Project 1 sudsnitted to the North We
Department of Economic Development, Environmentgeovation and Tourism for environmental authoidsatAn independent environmer
consultancy was tasked with the compilation of, apglication for, the Integrated Water Use LiceftédWUL ") for Phase 2 of the WB.
Project 1 which was submitted to the DepartmentVater Affairs (“DWA ") as required under section 40 of tRational Water Act No. 36
1998(“ NWA "). The application is currently advancing as expectéd IWUL for Phase 2 is not required before praumccommences and
delays are anticipated. Independent specialistsr@med with monthly surface and groundwater manigoduring July 2012. Certain requil
monitoring in terms of ambient air quality and wididections and noise is yet to commence.

Independent site visit reviews and reports of thBJW Project 1 site were conducted by an independewironmental consultancy during 2!
which included the inspection of the waste managerfaeilities on-site to ensure that the activitiaking place orsite adhere to all the relev.
environmental regulations and best practice stalsdarhese reviews and reports recommend changesrgndvements to a number of ar
related to environmental management, including evasanagement, oil spill prevention and responseerw@anagement, and housekee
practices. The Company has implemented most oétremmendations, and at this time, believesahginecessary changes and improven
that are still required can be made without maktegaital investments.

The Company anticipates receiving all required lsguy approvals in due course but cannot providg assurances to such effect. S&esk
Factors”.

Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastiue and Physiograph

South Africa has a large and wdikveloped mining industry in the area where thgeetd and 3 are located. This, among other factoean
that the infrastructure in the area is well estlitdd, with wellmaintained roads and highways as well as elegtratigtribution networks ar
telephone systems.

The project area is located on the southwesterb tifrthe BIC, some 35km northwest of the North Werstvince town of Rustenburg. The tc
of Boshoek is situated 10km t

o the south along the tar road that links Rustaphuith Sun City and crosses the project area. Thggt area adjoins the producing BRPM tc
southeast, operated by the Royal Bafokeng. A rgillivee linking BRPM to the national network passles project area immediately to the
with a railway siding at Boshoek. Projects 1 arar@readily accessible from Johannesburg by traydl20km northwest on Regional Road 2
the town of Rustenburg and then a further 35kmhBlbé BRPM to the south of the project area andtBfty a joint venture between the Ro
Bafokeng Nation and Anglo, which lies directly teeteast of the property, have modern access roadseavices. Numerous gravel roads cros
the properties provide easy access to all portions.
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The major population centre is the town of Rustegbabout 35km to the southeast of the projecttofieelies approximately 100km to the ¢
and Johannesburg about 120km to the southeastpAlgroand unusually large hotel and entertainmentre, Sun City, lies about 10km to
north of the project area. The Sundown Ranch Ha®lin close proximity to the project area anceadfrooms and chalets as accommodation
properties fall under the jurisdiction of the Moséstane Municipality. A paved provincial road cressthe property. Access across most o
property can be achieved by truck without the rfeedignificant road building.

With low rainfall (the area is considered sesmid with an annual rainfall of 520mm) and high soen temperatures, the area is typical o
Highveld Climatic Zone. The climate of the areasloet hinder the operating season and exploratiarcontinue all year long.

All project areas are close to major towns andrimf settlements as a potential source of laboth paved roads being the norm. Power |
(400kV) cross both project areas and water forllfaran use is, as a rule, drawn from boreholességeral platinum mines are located adjace
and within 50km of the property, there is excellaotess to materials and skilled labour. One ofthelter complexes of Anglo is located wit
60km of the property.

Topographically, the project area is located oreatral plateau characterized by extensive savamnithvegetation consisting of grasses
shrubs with a few trees. The total elevation rakefreater as prominent hills occur in the nomh@iost portions, but variations in topograpt
relief are minor and limited to low, gently slopkills. On Project 1, elevations range from 1,08(nwe mean sea level §msl”) towards th
Elands River in the north to 1,156m amsl towards fdbrm Onderstepoort in the southwest, with anagerof 1,100 amsl. The section of
Koedoesfontein property covered by Project 3 gedihys in a nortreasterly direction toward a tributary of the ElarRiser. On Project .
elevations range from 1,060m amsl towards the Sand<River in the north to 1,2100m amsl towards sbath eastern corner of the property.

History
Elandsfontein (PTM RSA), Onderstepoort (Portions dnd 6), Onderstepoort (Portions 3 ancand

Onderstepoort (Portions 14 and 1Wgre all privately owned. Previous work done orséhproperties has not been fully researched aladgesly
unpublished. Such academic work as has been dotleeb@ouncil for Geoscience (government agencgeiserally not of an economic natt
PTM RSA acquired these rights and then contribthech to the WBJV in 2004.

Elandsfontein (RPM), Frischgewaagd, Onderstepd@RN) andKoedoesfonteihave generally been in the hands of major minirogigs residel
in South Africa. Portions of Frischgewaagd previguseld by Impala Platinum Mines Limited were aggdi by Johannesburg Consolid:
Investment Company Limited, which in turn has siheen acquired by Anglo through RPM. RPM contritlutesse rights into the WBJV in 20l

Previous geological exploration and resource esiimaassessments were done by Anglo as the origiwaker of some of the mineral rigt
Anglo managed the exploration drilling programmetfe Elandsfontein and Frischgewaagd boreholesétithe area of interest on Project /
1, and for the Koedoesfontein borehole series énaifea of interest on Project Area 3. Geological sampling logs and an assay databas
available.
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Prior to the establishment of the WBJV and commererg of drilling for the prdeasibility study, PTM RSA had drilled 36 boreholas the
Elandsfontein property, of which the geological aadhpling logs and assay databases are available.

Previous drilling on the Project 3 area conductgddhbglo consisted of three boreholes (KD1, KD2 &id3). Boreholes KD1 and KD3 we
drilled beyond the MR and UG2 subcrop, and terneidah sediments of the Transvaal Supergroup. Dgilof borehole KD2 was stopped shol
the MR subcrop.

There has been no previous production from anfi@fdompany’s properties in the Western Bushveld ffexn
Geological Setting
Regional Geology of the Bl

The stable Kaapvaal and Zimbabwe Cratons in southéica are characterised by the presence of langéc-ultramafic layered complex¢
These include the Great Dyke of Zimbabwe, the MolBarms Complex in Botswana and the well-known BIC.

The BIC was intruded about 2,060 million years ago rocks of the Transvaal Supergroup along aroofemity between the Magaliesb
quartzites (Pretoria Group) and the overlying Redibfelsites (a dominantly felsic volcanic precuysdhe BIC is by far the most economici
important of these deposits as well as the largestrms of preserved lateral extent, covering @a af over 66,000k . It has a maximu
thickness of 8km, and is matched in size only eyWindimurra intrusion in Western Australia and Btélwater intrusion in the USA (Cawtho
1996). The mafic component of the Complex hostergyich in PGEs, nickel, copper, chromium and dama. The BIC is reported to cont
about 75% and 50% of the worddplatinum and palladium resources respectivelyrfdak, 1995). The mafic component of the BIC isdéuitlec
into several generally arcuate segments/limbs, essdociated with a pronounced gravity anomaly. &helude the western, eastt
northern/Potgietersrus, far western/Nietverdiert south eastern/Bethal limbs.

Local and Property Geoloc

Projects 1 and 3 are underlain by the lower portibthe RLS, the Critical Zone and the lower partif the Main Zone. The ultramafic Lov
Critical Zone and the Mafic Upper Critical Zone attié Main Zone weather to dark, black clays withyviittle topography. The underlyil
Transvaal Supergroup comprises shale and quadtithe Magaliesberg Formation, which creates a mordulating topography. Gravi
magnetic, LANDSAT, aerial photography and geochémibave been used to map out lithological unitsparts of the project area the |
outcrops, as does the UG2, beneath a relativetk t(2-5m) overburden of red Hutton to darker Swartland fevms. The sequence stril
northwest to southeast and dips between 4° andv“an average of 14° in the Project 1 and 1A ssread with an average dip of 10° in Prc
3. The top 32m of rock formation below the soilwuah is characterized by a highly weathered rockilpr@regolith) consisting mostly of gabt
within the Main Zone. Thicknesses of this profiteriease near intrusive dykes traversing the diea.Project area is bounded in the west by
Rustenburg Fault and one of its NW-SE orientateghdines can be seen to transect the central poitibie Property.

Stratigraphy

The RLS intruded into the rocks of the Transvagbe3group, largely along an unconformity betweenNagaliesberg quartzite of the Pret
Group and the overlying Rooiberg felsites, whictaidominantly felsic volcanic formation. The mafacks of the RLS are subdivided into
following five zones:

e Marginal Zone- comprising finer-grained gabbroic rocks with adbamt country-rock fragments.
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e Lower Zone-the overlying Lower Zone is dominated by darkeryenioon and magnesium bearing rocks (orthopyrorenith associate
olivine-rich cumulates (harzburgite, dunite)).

e Critical Zone— its commencement is marked by first appearaneestifdefined cumulus chromitite layers. Seven Lower @rolromitite
layers have been identified within the lower CatiZzone. Two further chromitite layers — Middle @po(* MG ") — mark the top of tt
lower Critical Zone. From this stratigraphic pasiti upwards, plagioclase becomes the dominant camiiase and lighter colou
(noritic) rocks predominate. The MG3 and MG4 chriitenilayers occur at the base of the upper Critt@aie, which is characterised fr
here upwards by a number of cyclical units. Thdesycommence in general with narrow, darker (pyniti@® horizons (with or withot
olivine and chromitite layers); these invariabl\spaip into norites, which in turn pass into neaiteviayers (leuconorites and anorthosit
The UGL1 - first of the two Upper Group chromitiggyérs —s a cyclical unit consisting of chromitite layesth overlying footwall unit
that are supported by an underlying anorthosite. dlerlying UG2 is of considerable importance bseaaf its economic concentration:
PGEs. The two uppermost cycles of the Critical Zor@ude the Merensky and Bastard cycles. The MRois\d at the base of t
Merensky cycle, which consists of a pyroxenite ppgmatoidal feldspathic pyroxenite assemblage asgociated thin chromitite lay:
that rarely exceed one metre in thickness. Thetopact of the Critical Zone is defined by a giamtttled anorthosite that forms the toj
the Bastard cyclic unit.

e Main Zone- consists of norites grading upwards into gabbrdesrilt includes several distinctive mottled anasite units towards the b
and a distinctive pyroxenite, the Pyroxenite Maykeio thirds of the way up. This markenit does not occur in the project area, b
evident in the adjacent BRPM. The middle to uppant pf the Main Zone is very resistant to erosiod gives rise to distinctive hil
which are currently being mined for dimension stéisiack granite).

e Upper Zone- the base is defined by the appearance of cumulgmetite above the Pyroxenite Marker. The Upper Zsrdivided int
Subzone A at the base; Subzone B, where cumulnsigb olivine appears; and Subzone C, where apapipears as an additional cumi
phase.

Local Geological Settin—-Western Bushveld Limb

Exposures of the BIC located on the western limtlugte the stratigraphic units of the RLS. The logablogy includes the classic laye
sequence of the RLS and the footwall rocks of tten3vaal Supergroup. The MR is believed to be ptesihin much of this lobe. The positi
of the MR is fairly closely defined by seismic eftors associated with the cyclic units of the ugritical Zone.

The sequence of the BIC within the project arezoitfined to the lower part of the Main Zone (Poniity Gabbro Marker) and the Critical Zc
(HW5-1 and Bastard Reef to UG1 footwall sequence). Dok sequence thins towards the southwest (subanofiding the marker horizo
with concomitant middling of the economic reefgatal elimination thereof. The UG2 and, more oftére UG1 Reef are not developed in s
areas owing to the irregular and elevated palasar-fof the Transvaal sediments.

Reefs

The MR is a welldeveloped seam along the central part and towaelsidrth eastern boundary of the Project 1 ar¢ends of thin reef ar
relatively low-level mineralization are present.eThetterdeveloped reef package, in which the intensitylwbmitite is generally combined w
pegmatoidal feldspathic pyroxenite developmentuce@s larger island domains along a wide centrgd & a north south orientation frc
subcrop to deeper portions.

The UG2 is well developed towards the northeaghefproject area, but deteriorates towards thehsmst. Within the latter area, the ree
present as a thin discontinuous or disrupted chitefpiyroxenite layer. It also appears to be digrdpby the shear zone along the foot
alteration zone. Towards the northwest on Friscleggd, the reef is generally well developed and iscas a single prominent chromitite Ie
varying in thickness from a few centimetres to ~2m.
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The thickness of the sequences between the UGMahih the Project 1 and 1A areas increases fromm-i® 80m in a southwesiprtheas
direction. A similar situation exists in the nohthe project area but with the thickness betwihenreefs ranging from 6m to 25m at deptt
200m below surface. In general, the thickness batwiee reefs appears to increase in a northeaslieglstion, sulparallel to the strike of the B
layered lithologies.

Local Structural Mode

Floor rocks in the southwestern BIC display inchegly varied degrees of deformation towards thet@cinwith the RLS. Structure within the fl¢
rocks is dominated by the north-northwest trendoogt-Bushveld Rustenburg Fault. This normal fauthvdownthrow to the east exter
northwards towards the west of the Pilanesberglifi&aComplex. A second set efmaller faults and joints, striking 70° and digpiery steepl
south-southeast or nortterthwest, are related to the Rustenburg faultesystThese structures were reactivated during thresion of th
Pilanesberg Alkaline Complex. Dykes associated thith Complex intruded along these faults and gint

Major structures, which occur within the projectarinclude the Caldera and Elands faults and ClygaDyke and a major nortssuth trendin
feature, which can be observed across the enfmed3berg Complex. These eaast trending structures dip steeply (between 8@°30°). Thi
magnetics indicate that the Chaneng Dyke dips Btdepthe north. This is consistent with similarusttures intersected underground on
neighbouring Bafokeng Rasimone platinum mine, whiltldip steeply northward.

Two stages of folding have been recognized withendrea. The earliest folds are mainly confinethéoMagaliesberg Quartzite Formation.

fold axes are parallel to the contact between th® &hd the Magaliesberg Formation. Quartzite xémelpresent close to the contact with the

and the sedimentary floor. Examples of folding witthe floor rocks are the Boekenhoutfontein, Ratand Olifantsnek anticlines. The fold
was initiated by compressional stresses generatesbbtatic subsidence of the Transvaal Supergdumg sedimentation and the emplacer
of the preBushveld sills. The presence of an undulating cziriiatween the floor rocks and the RLS, and initigtance the resultant formatior
largescale folds, substantiates a second stage of defiorm The fold axes trend at approximately orthdaangles to the first folding eve
Deformation during emplacement of the BIC was lgrgleictile and led to the formation of basins bggiag and folding of the floor rocks. Tl
exerted a strong influence on the subsequent eéwnlaf the Lower and Critical Zones and associataomitite layers.

The structural events that influenced the flooksoplayed a major role during emplacement of th@.Blhere is a distinct thinning of rocks fr
east to west as the BIC onlaps onto the Transl@@l focks, even to the extent that some of thenabistratigraphic units have been eliming
The MR and UG2 isopach decreases from 60m to Zyatatop position.

A structural model was developed from data providgdhe magnetic survey results and geological tigirilled cores. At least three generati
of faults were identified on the property.

The oldest event appears to be associated withsdyhke sills trending at 305 degrees and is of BtStage. It appears to be the most promir
with the largest displacement component of mora 2@m. The majority of the faults are normal fadliggping in a westerly direction, decreas
in their dip downwards and displaying typical listault system behaviour.

A second phase represented by younger fault featarrending in two directions at 345 degrees 36l degrees northwards respectively
appears to have consistent down-throws towarde/gse.
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A third phase of deformation may be related to gioral east-wesstriking dyke system causing discontinuity on adfdcstructures. Seve
dolerite intrusives, mainly steep-dipping dykes &edding-parallel sills, were intersected in boteboThese range in thickness from 03Dr
and most appear to be of a chilled nature; somasseciated with faulted contacts. Evident on thgmatic image is an east-wastnding dyke
which was intersected in borehole WBJV005 and apgpieabe of Pilanesbeiigtrusion age. This dyke has a buffer effect ondtiral continuit
as faulting and earlier stage intrusives are difito correlate on either side; and more worleiguired to understand the mechanics.

Exploration

PTM RSA is the operator of Projects 1 and 3 and FR&A personnel have conducted or supervised thé& described below. Third pa
contractors are used to conduct specific compor@rtse work, such as drilling contractors or geggbal contractors, but they remain undel
direction of PTM RSA.

Project Area 1
Details of Reserves and Resources are reported lider “Project 1 — Mineral Resource and Mineras&ve Estimates”.

Fieldwork in the form of soil sampling and surfaoepping was initially done on the farm Onderstepoohere various aspects of the lo
Critical Zone, intrusive ultramafic bodies and stural features were identified. Efforts were laextended southwards to the fa
Frischgewaagd and Elandsfontein. The above worlciboibed directly to the economic feasibility oktbverall project, directing the main focu
the project area towards delineation of the subprasgition of the actual MR and UG2 economic regfzums.

Prior to the establishment of the WBJV and commerase of drilling for the Prd-easibility Study, PTM RSA had drilled 36 borehotesthe
Elandsfontein property, of which the geological aathpling logs and assay databases are available.

Geophysical information obtained from Anglo wasyveseful during the identification and extrapolatiaf major structural features as well as
lithological layering of the BIC.

Ground gravity measurements of 120.2km have bempleted on 500m line spacing perpendicular to thkesacross the deposit, together \
65.5km of ground magnetic survey. The ground gyasldta played a significant role in determining ttiege line where the BIC rocks s
thickening downdip, and this raised the possibility of more ecoiomineralization. At the same time, the data sheviere the Transve
footwall causes the abutment or onlapping of thé Ricks. Ground magnetic data helped to highlightt§ and dykes as well as to delineate
replacement ultramafic pegmatoids.

An aeromagnetic survey was flown for Anglo by Fugidborne using a Midas Heborne magnetic gradiometer system. A total of 25 [
kilometres were flown on lines with a direction58° (true north) and with a sensor at a nominalatlen of 20m. The area covered by the su
was some four times larger than the Project 1 aragleds, which was situated in the north westerrdrqurd of the surveyed area. The t
resolution survey data was of a very high qualilye aeromagnetic data alone made it possible tnedgé magnetic units in the Main Zone
recognise the strata strike and to identify theedy&nd iron-replacements.

Previous geological exploration and resource esiimaassessments were done by Anglo as the origiwaker of some of the mineral rigt
Anglo managed the exploration drilling programmetfee Elandsfontein and Frischgewaagd boreholesérnithe area of interest. Geological
sampling logs and an assay database are available.
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The type of drilling being conducted on Projecslaidiamond drilling core recovery technique inirigva BQsize (60mm core size) solid ¢
extraction. The drilling is placed on an unbias@drd x 500m grid and detailed when necessary tdan26250m grid or to a 50m x 50m gric
some areas. The grid has been extended for 4.5kmy atrike to include the whole of the Project @l 4A area. To date, 332 boreholes have
drilled by the company on Project Area 1 and 3@&hotes have been drilled on Project 1A.

Up to the date of the 2009 UFS, a total of 139,4%1®s been drilled by PTM RSA on the Project 1 aAdalea, and altogether 27,242 fi
samples have been submitted for assaying along2m#6 standards and 2,372 blanks.

In late calendar 2010 and throughout 2011, a tft@R boreholes were infill drilled on the wlip, near surface edge of the Project 1 deposit
These holes were drilled to obtain additional matdéor metallurgical testing purposes and to farthssess geological structures in areas of k
resources that will likely be accessed and schedalemining in the first four or five years of tioject 1 mine life. Work completed in 201:
the date of this AIF indicated no material changeeported reserves and resources. Newstgistical information resulting from recent it
borehole data, combined with ongoing implementakiyel modeling, mine planning and scheduling cowdult in changes to the estime
reserves for Project 1.

The purpose of any future drilling programs wils@lbe to test for additional resource ounces, tpage known resources into higher level
confidence and to further assess geological strestn the areas of known resources.

The exploration programs completed to daethe Project 1 area are appropriate to the stythe deposits within the WBJV Project area.
data produced by the exploration work has been ddewliable by Qualified Person Charles Muller #ma quality assurance and quality cor
methods employed have given a high level of configein the data for use in the advanced stage nesand reserve estimates.

Project 3

Exploration to date for Project 3 has included dsgjral surveys (magnetic, gravity, 3D seismics aadal magnetic), drilling, assaying
structural interpretation and analysis. Drilling tive project area has ceased at present. An updesedrce was declared for Project &
September 30, 2010.

To the date of the most recent resource updat®foject 3, a total of 42 boreholes were drilled®yM RSA on the Project 3 area. Tt
deflections were drilled for boreholes which inemted the MR or UG2, and all of these deflectiomsenassayed. A total of 42,101m has |
drilled across Project 3 and altogether 10,263 $esriave been submitted for assaying from thaeptpjncluding 836 standards and 828 blanks.

The purpose of future exploration programs willtbetest for additional resource ounces and to wegkanown resources into higher level:
confidence and to further assess geological strestn the areas of known resources.

The exploration programs completed to date on tlogeEt 3 area are appropriate to the style of #godits within the WBJV Project area. -
data produced by the exploration work has been ddewliable by Qualified Person Charles Muller #ma quality assurance and quality cor
methods employed have given a high level of confiéen the data for use in the advanced stage n@segtimates.
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Mineralization

Exposures of the BIC located on the western limduitle the stratigraphic units of the RLS. The segaecomprises mostly gabbros, nor
anorthosites and pyroxenites. The potential ecoadmiizons in the Project 1 and 3 Areas are theai® UG2 situated in the Critical Zone of
RLS of the BIC; these horizons are known for tlaintinuity. The MR in Project Area 1 is the mairplkxation target; the UG2 chromitite la
has lesser economic potential and will be exploaftér the MR during a later stage of the proposede life. The most pronounced P
mineralization in Project 3 occurs within the MRdas generally associated with a 0.1 -1.2hick pegmatoidal feldspathic pyroxenite unit.
MR is also generally associated with thin chromitdyers on either/both the top and bottom contactie pegmatoidal feldspathic pyroxer
The UG2 occurs sequentially below the MR and isnegrage 1.50m thick.

The MR and UG2 are mined at the BRPM adjoininggtaperty as well as on other contiguous platinuime properties. In general, the laye
package dips at less than 20 degrees to the netthed local variations in the reef attitude hagerbmodelled. The MR and UGZ2, in Project /
1, dip between 4 and 42 degrees, with an averagmefdi4 degrees, and in the Project 3 Area, dapatoximately 10 degrees.

Drilling

The type of drilling being conducted on Projectantd 3 is a diamond-drilling core-recovery techniguelving a BQsize solid core extractic
The drilling is placed on an unbiased 500m x 500 gnd detailed when necessary to a 250m x 25@n Gine grid has been extended for 4.!
along strike to include the whole of the Projea@nt 1A area. To date, 332 boreholes have beeedlbly the company on Project Area 1 an
boreholes have been drilled on Project 1A.

To the date of the last resource update for Pr@eattotal of 42 boreholes were drilled by PTM R&#Athe Project 3 Area. Three deflections \
drilled for boreholes which intersected the MR @2) and all of these deflections were assayed.

The results of the drilling and the general gealabinterpretation are digitally captured in SABI& commercially available logging softwe
and in a GIS software package named ARCVIEW. Tlaeeorehole locations, together with the resuith® economic evaluation, are plottec
plan. From the geographic location of the holeBedtj regularly spaced sections are drawn by hawddigitised. This information was useful
interpreting the sequence of the stratigraphy seteted as well as for verifying the borehole infation.

The geometry of the deposit has been clearly défin¢he sections drawn through the property. Whithexception of three inclined boreholes
holes were drilled vertically (minus 90 degrees)l déime down hole surveys indicate very little dewiat A three-dimensional surfacedigital
terrain model (DTM) -was created and used in the calculation of theageedip of 14 degrees (10 degrees for Project 8% d@ip has bee¢
factored into the calculations on which resourdaredes are based.

Sampling and Analysis

Drilled core is cleaned, dgreased and packed into metal core boxes by theglitompany. The core is collected from the drdl site on a dail
basis by a Company geologist and transported t@xpéoration office by Company personnel. Before tlore is taken off the drilling site,
depths are checked and entered on a daily dritiépeprt, which is then signed off by the Companye Tore yard manager is responsible
checking all drilled core pieces and recordingftie®wing information:

e Dirillers’ depth markers (discrepancies are recoyded

e Fitment and marking of core pieces.
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Core losses and core gains.

Grinding of core.

One-meter-interval markings on core for sampleregfeing.

Re-checking of depth markings for accuracy.

Core logging is done by hand on a Companyfproia sheet by qualified geologists under supeswisif the project geologist, who is respons
for timely delivery of the samples to the relevdaiboratory. The supervising and project geologesisure that samples are transporte
Company contractors.

Sample Method, Location, Number, Type and Sizeamhding

The first step in the sampling of the diamadrdied core is to mark the core from the distahetow collar in 1m units and then for mz
stratigraphic units. Once the stratigraphic unitsidentified, the economic units — MR and UG2 seaane marked. The top and bottom cont
of the reefs are clearly marked on the core. Tlitenethe core is rotated in such a manner thdtredhtions pertaining to stratification are alig
to produce a representative split. A centre c@t iinthen drawn lengthways for cutting. After augti the material is replaced in the core trays.
sample intervals are then marked as a line anstardie from collar.

The sample intervals are typically ZBem in length. In areas where no economic zoregxected, the sampling interval could be as nagc
metre. The sample intervals are allocated a samplimber, and this is written on the core for refiee purposes. The halbre is then remowi
and placed into higlwality plastic bags together with a sampling tegtaining the sampling number, which is enteres @nsample sheet. T
start and end depths are marked on the core vathirasponding line. The duplicate tag stays agmaaeent record in the sample booklet, whic
secured on site. The responsible project geoldgen seals the sampling bag. The sampling infoomais recorded on a specially desig
sampling sheet that facilitates digital capture ithte SABLE system. The sampling extends for ahauetre into the hanging wall and footwal
the economic reefs.

Up to the date of the 2009 UFS, a total of 139,4%t® been drilled by PTM RSA on the Project 1 aAdafiea (up to hole WBJV 241), ¢
altogether 27,242 filed samples have been subnfittedlssaying along with 2,446 standards and 23ai2ks. A total of 42,101m has been dri
by PTM RSA across Project 3 and altogether 10,268p¢es have been submitted for assaying from tiogeqt, including 836 standards and
blanks. Subsequent to the publication of the 2089 bh October 2009 a further 18,612m in 66 borehbkes been infill drilled on Project 1 of
WBJV to the end of April 2011. No new boreholesédaeen drilled on Project 1 or Project 3 since 011 to the date of this AlF.

Drilling Recovery

All reef intersections that are sampled requiretD@% core recovery. If less than 100% is recovettesl drilling company will regdrill, using ¢
wedge to achieve the desired recovery.

Sample Quality and Sample Bias

The sampling methodology accords with the PlatifBroup protocol based on industageepted best practice. The quality of the samph
monitored and supervised by a qualified geolodiee sampling is done in a manner that includetitge economic unit together with hanc
wall and footwall sampling. Sampling oveelection and sampling bias is eliminated by rogathe core so that the stratification is vertiadl by
inserting a cutline down the centre of the core r@mdoving one side of the core only.
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Width of Mineralized ZonesResource Cuts

The methodology in determining the resource cutieisved from the core intersections. Generallg, ébonomic reefs are about 60cm thick.
both the MR and UG2, the marker unit is the botteef contact, which is a chromite contact of ldmsta centimetre. The cut is taken from
chromite contact and extended vertically to accouhe® most of the metal content. If this should Iteésua resource cut less than 80cm up 1
the bottom reef contact, it is extended furtheB8@em. If the resource cut is thicker than the psggo80cm, the last significant reported sal
value above 80cm is added to determine the topcghct.

In the case of the UG2, the triplets (if and whaggeloped and within 30cm from the top contact)imcided in the resource cut.

Sample Preparation, Laboratory Standards and Puoegd

When samples are prepared for shipment to the tgedlfacility the following steps are followed:

e Samples are sequenced within the secure storageandethe sample sequences examined to determamg gamples are out of ordel
missing.

e The sample sequences and numbers shipped aregddmth on the chain-of-custody form and on thdysinal request form.

e The samples are placed according to sequencearge plastic bags. (The numbers of the samplesrariesed on the outside of the
with the shipment, waybill or order number and tiienber of bags included in the shipment).

e The chain-ofeustody form and analytical request sheet are ceteqhl signed and dated by the project geologisirbethe samples ¢
removed from secured storage. The project geol&gisps copies of the analytical request form aedHain-of-custody form on site.

e Once the above is completed and the sample shifyzigg are sealed, the samples may be removed fimsetured area. The methot
which the sample shipment bags have been secursdbmuecorded on the chain@fstody document so that the recipient can insioe
tampering of the shipment.

The laboratories that have been used to date agtoAkmerican Analytical Laboratories, Genalysis rfReWestern Australia), ALS Chenr
(South Africa), and (currently) Set Point Labor&er(South Africa). Dr. B. Smee, a geochemist add@ector of the Company, has accreditec
Point Laboratories.

Samples are received, sorted, verified and cheftketioisture and dried if necessary. Each sampleeighed and the results are recorded. R
rock chips or lumps are crushed using a jaw crughéss than 10mm. The samples are then mille® foinutes in a Labtech Essa LM2 mil
achieve a fineness of 90% less than 106pum, whittkeisninimum requirement to ensure the best acglwaad precision during analysis.

Samples are analyzed for Pt (ppb), Pd (ppb), Rh)(rpd Au (ppb) by standard 25¢g lead fire-assaygusilver as requested by a callector tc
facilitate easier handling of prills as well asminimize losses during the cupellation processha@ugh collection of three elements (Pt, Pd
Au) is enhanced by this technique, the contratyuis for rhodium, which volatilizes in the preseméesilver during cupellation. Palladium is u
as the co-collector for Rh analysis. The resulfiritis are dissolved with aqua regia for Inductiv€loupled Plasma (CP ") analysis.
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After pre-concentration by fire assay and microwalissolution, the resulting solutions are analyfmdAu and PGMS by the technique
inductively coupled plasma-optical emission speutawy (“ICP-OES”).

Quality Assurance and Quality Control QA&QC ") Procedures and Results

The Company protocols for quality control are dkfes:

1. The project geologist oversees the sampling pro

2. The core yard manager oversees the core qualityaic

3. The exploration geologists and the sample techmscéaie responsible for the actual sampling proi
4, The project geologist oversees the chain of cust

5. The internal Qualified Person verifies both proesssnd receives the laboratory d

6. The internal resource geologist and the databasagea merge the data and produce the SABLE samiplingith assay value
7. Together with the project geologist, the resourela@gist determines the initial mining ¢

8. The external auditor verifies the sampling pro@ess signs off on the mining ct

9. The second external database auditor verifies A48 & database and highlights QA&QC failur

10. A Company technician runs the QA&QC graphs (statslablanks and duplicates) and reports anomalidsfaitures to the intern
Qualified Person

11. The internal Qualified Person request-assay

12. Check samples are sent to a second laboratoryify ttee validity of data received from the firsttioratory
Standards

Analytical standards are used to assess the agcanacpossible bias of assay values for Platinuinai®l Palladium (Pd). Rhodium (Rh) and C
(Au) were monitored where data for the standard®agailable, but standards were not failed on ihAu alone.

Assay testing refers to Round Robin programs tbatpise collection and preparation of material afying matrices and grades to proy
homogeneous material for developing reference nadgeistandards) necessary for monitoring assayhsgay testing is also useful in ensu
that analytical methods are matched to the mingiedb characteristics of the mineralization beingplered. Samples are sent to a suffic
number of international testing laboratories tovide enough assay data to statistically determimepsesentative mean value and star
deviation necessary for setting acceptance/rejetti@rance limits.

Tolerance limits are set at two and three standawihtions from the Round Robin mean value of &ference material: a single analytical bat
rejected for accuracy when reference material assay beyond three standard deviations from théfiedrmean, and any two consecu
standards within the same batch are rejected obahbis of bias when both reference material asasybeyond two standard deviations limi
the same side of the mean.
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Blanks

The insertion of blanks provides an important cheokthe laboratory practices, especially potert@itamination or sample sequence mis-
ordering. Blanks consist of a selection of Trank@aartzite pieces (devoid of platinum, palladiwopper and nickel mineralization) of a rr
similar to that of a normal core sample. The blaalng used is always noted to track its behaviodrteace metal content. Typically the first bl

is sample 5 in a given sampling sequence.

Duplicates

The purpose of having field duplicates is to prevadcheck on possible sample over-selection. Ehe diuplicate contains all levels of errocere
or reverse-circulation cutting splitting, sampleesieduction in the prep lab, sub-sampling at thip,@and analytical error.

Field duplicates were, however, not used on thigept by very significant reason of the assemblafgthe core. Firstly, BQ core has an o
diameter of only 36.5mm. Secondly, it is friabledabrittle due to the chrome content making it exieéy difficult to quarter the core. It usue
ends up in broken pieces and not a solid piecermf. c

Due to this problem, the laboratory was asked golegly assay split pulp samples as a duplicateptaito monitor analytical precision.
Assay Validatiot

Although samples are assayed with reference mkesia assay validation program is being conduttdeshsure that assays are repeatable v
statistical limits for the styles of mineralizatibring investigated. It should be noted that véiideis different from verification; the latter irfips
100% repeatability. The validation program consiétdhe following:

e a re-assay program conducted on standards th&dfahe tolerance limits set at two and three standakdations from the Round Rol
mean value of the reference material;

e 0n going blind pulp duplicate assays at Set Poattdratory;

e check assays conducted at an independent assayitity (Genalysis).
Re-assay

This procedure entailed the following: the failgdrslard (2) together with standard (1) submittefbigeand standard (3) submitted after
particular failed standard (2), as well as all siitad field samples (pulps) in between standardafid standard (3) were resubmitted for re-
assaying.

Sampling Procedures

The QA&QC practice of the Company is a processrbegg with the actual placement of the boreholeitfprs (on the grid) and continuil
through to the decision for the 3D economic intetisa to be included in (passed into) the datab@ke.values are also confirmed, as well a
correctness of correlation of reef/resource cuhab populations used in the gstaistical modeling are not mixed; this makesadngh degree
reliability in estimates of resources/reserves.
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Quality Control measures and Data Verification

All scientific information is manually captured adiitally recorded. The information derived frohretcore logging is manually recorded on A4-
size logging sheets. After being captured manutily,data is electronically captured in a digitejding program (SABLE). For this exercise,
program has very specific requirements and stasd&idould the entered data not be in the set fotimeaihformation is rejected. This is the 1
stage of the verification process.

After the information is transferred into SABLE etsame information is transferred into a modeliagkpge (DATAMINE). Modeling packag
are rigorous in their rejection of conflicting dagag. the input is aborted if there are any oyparlia distances or inconsistencies in stratigrapt
economic horizon nomenclature. This is the sectegksof verification.

Once these stages of digital data verification@mmplete, a third stage is generated in the forreeation construction and continuity thro
DATAMINE. The lateral continuity and the packagdshanging wall and footwall stratigraphic units rhatign or be in a format consistent v
the general geometry. If this is not the casejrfermation is again aborted.

The final stage of verification is of a geostatiati nature, where population distributions, varearand spatial relationships are conside
Anomalies in grade, thickness, and isopach or is¢t@nds are noted and questioned. Should incensists and varying trends be explainable
the base data is again interrogated, and the asespeated until a suitable explanation is oleGhi

Security of Samples

Samples are not removed from secured storage docatithout completion of a chain-afistody document; this forms part of a contini
tracking system for the movement of the samples @erdons responsible for their security. Ultimateponsibility for the secure and tim
delivery of the samples to the chosen analyticzilifa rests with the project geologist and sames not transported in any manner withou
project geologist’s permission.

During the process of transportation between tlogept site and analytical facility the samples iaspected and signed for by each individui
company handling the samples. It is the mandat®tf the supervising and project geologist to ensecure transportation of the samples t
analytical facility. The original chain-of-custodpcument always accompanies the samples to theirdestination.

The supervising geologist ensures that the analytacility is aware of the Company standards aguirements. It is the responsibility of
analytical facility to inspect for evidence of pilds contamination of, or tampering with, the shemhreceived from the Company. A photoc
of the chain-of-custody document, signed and dbyean official of the analytical facility, is faxed the Company offices in Johannesburg uj
receipt of the samples by the analytical facilitgahe original signed letter is returned to thenpany along with the signed analytical certificate

(s).

The analytical facilitys instructions are that if they suspect the samsplpment has been tampered with, they will immedljatontact th
supervising geologist, who will arrange for someonéhe employment of the Company to examine tmepda shipment and confirm its integi
prior to the start of the analytical process.

If, upon inspection, the supervising geologist hag concerns whatsoever that the sample shipmeythanze been tampered with or othen
compromised, the responsible geologist will immedia notify the Company management in writing andl wecide, with the input «
management, how to proceed. In most cases anafgsisstill be completed although the data must eatéd, until proven otherwise, as sus
and unsuitable as a basis for a news releaseadidfiional sampling, quality control checks andreixeation prove their validity.
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Should there be evidence or suspicions of tampeanirgpntamination of the sampling, the Company imilinediately undertake a security rev
of the entire operating procedure. The investigatidl be conducted by an independent third pamtipse report is to be delivered directly
solely to the directors of the Company, for the@insideration and drafting of an action plan. Aflcountry exploration activities will be suspen
until this review is complete and the findings h&een conveyed to the directors of the companyaatet! upon.

Project 1 and Project 3 Mineral Reserves and MineResources (MI- Merensky Reef; UG2- Upper Group 2 Reef)

The Company provided a statement of mineral reseiwveProject 1 in the 2009 UFS and an updatedrsiant of mineral resources for Project
the Project 1 Report. An updated NI 43-101 tecHmiaort was published for Project 3 in the fornttué Project 3 Report.

The table below contains summary details from tB@2UFS and the Project 1 Report, and summary resaietails from the Project 3 Rep
The Company has a 74% interest in the 4E ounceswutible to Project 1 and Project 3. The prillitsphnd 4E estimates for Project 1 and Pr
3 have been tested for reasonableness by kriginbeomdividual elements. Copper and nickel as waglthe minor platinum group elements t
also been estimated with a statistical processngble kriging for Project 1. New gestatistical information resulting from recent ihfilorehole
data, combined with ongoing implementatiemel modeling, mine planning and scheduling caelsllt in changes to the estimated reserve
Project 1.

The following is a statement of attributable minemserves and mineral resources for Project 1 Rmject 3 based on the WBC Repc
Additional information regarding the mineral resoeiestimate calculation can be found in the WBCdRspMineral reserves presented below

a subset of measured and indicated mineral resourcésded in the 2009 UFS and take into account mifégors and are not in addition to
mineral resources. The 4E cut-off in the table®weak 300cm.g/t for Project 1 and 100cm.g/t forj€ecb3 (“cm.g/t” refers to the grade at 1
stipulated resource cut width (in centimetres)).evéhused in the following four tablesMR " or “Merensky” refers to Merensky Reef, and “
UG2 " refers to Upper Group 2 Chromitite Seam. Due tading, table columns may not add. Project 1 torameseported after deducting 1
for MR and 23% for UG2 for geological losses. Pcojgtonnes are reported after deducting 14% fologgcal losses.

Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors with respect tohe information in the following tables and discussin: In the following tables, tf
Company uses the terms “measured resources,” dtaticresources,” and “inferred resourcestiich are recognized and required by Cane
regulations but not recognized by the SEC. “Resmirare not “reservesind so do not have demonstrated economic viablitifgrred resourct
have a great amount of uncertainty as to theirtexée, and great uncertainty as to their economét legal feasibility. Furthermore, un
Canadian rules, estimates of inferred resources mayorm the basis of feasibility or pfeasibility studies, except in rare cases. Investot
cautioned not to assume that measured and indiozteztal resources will ever be converted intomesor that part or all of an inferred resol
exists or is economically or legally minable. Ir thollowing tables, the Company also presents prared probable reserves calculated und
43-101, which differs from the standards of SEC Indu§uide 7. In addition, while disclosure of contd ounces in a resource is perm
disclosure under Canadian securities laws, the B&@ally only permits issuers to report mineralimatthat does not constitute “reservésg
SEC standards as in place tonnage and grade withf@nénce to unit measurements. Accordingly, tkelasure below may differ materially frc
the reserve estimates and other disclosures thathvie provided by a U.S. public company.
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Resource Tonnes Grade Mining Prill Split (4E) Ozs
Reef Category (million) (4E) width (millions) (1)

Project 1 Resource$?)

MR Measured 6.603 8.38 1.33 64%| 27% 4% 5% 1.779

UG2 Measured 7.464 4.26 1.34 63%| 26% 10% 1% 1.022

MR Indicated 11.183 7.25 1.24 64%| 27% 4% 5% 2.607

UG2 Indicated 19.209 4.46 1.39 63%| 26% 10% 1% 2.754

MR Inferred 0.154 8.96 1.06 64%| 27% 4% 5% 0.044

UG2 Inferred 0.022 3.91 0.83 63%| 26% 10% 1% 0.003

Project 3 Resource$3)®)

MR Indicated 5.157 6.03 1.14 64%| 27% 4% 5% 0.999

UuG2 Indicated 5.947 4.91 1.16 62%| 28% 9% 1% 0.940

MR Inferred 0.443; 5.34 1.14 64%| 27% 4% 5% 0.076

Notes:

(1) The Company has a 74% interest in these mineral resirces.New geostatistical information resulting from recent ihfilorehole dat:
combined with ongoing implementatiéevel modeling, mine planning and scheduling, cadsult in changes to the estimated mir
reserves for Project

(2)  The Qualified Person for the information in theléabove respecting Project 1, derived from th@getdl Report, is Charles Muller, w
was independent of the Company as of the dateedPthject 1 Repor

(3) The Qualified Person for the information in the l¢éalabove with respect to Project 3, derived from ®roject 3 Report, and
supplemented, is Charles Muller, who was indepenoliethe Company as of the date of the Project 3oRe

(4)  Subsequent to the publication of the Project 3 RepdOctober 2010, further analysis, scoping wankl optimization of mineral resou

block perimeters has resulted in small improveméets than 10% change) to the originally reportéderal resource estimate and
these amended results that are reported he

A probable mineral reserve is the economically mbie part of an indicated mineral resource, andoime circumstances a measured mil
resource, demonstrated by at least afgasibility study including adequate informationmiming, processing, metallurgy, and economic ahe!
factors that demonstrate, at the time of reportingt economic extraction can be justified. A prowveineral reserve is the economically mine
part of a measured mineral resource demonstratdtidogame level and factors as above. A provenralineserve implies that there is a t

degree of confidence.

The conversion to proven mineral reserves was tedeam at 3.59/t stope coff grade. Each stope has been fully diluted fonenmodelini
purposes by way of planned dilution and additiatitltion for all aspects of the mining process. Hase case for the 2009 UFS was moc
using three year trailing metal prices at Septen2069, including US$1,343 per ounce platinum, aéxchange rate of R8 to the US Dollar.

table below:
2009 UFS
Case A 2009 UFS
METAL PRICES & EXCHANGE RATE ¥ Case B
3 Year_Tralllng Recent Prices

Prices
Platinum (US$/oz) 1,343 1,295
Palladium (US$/0z) 322 296
Rhodium (US$/oz) 4,951 1,650
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2009 UFS
Case A 2009 UFS
METAL PRICES & EXCHANGE RATE ¥ Case B
3 Year_Tralllng Recent Prices

Prices
Gold (US$/oz) 807 997
Copper (US$/tonne) 6,428 6,250
Nickel (US$/tonne) 25,529 18,000
Rand/US$ 8.00 8.00

Current spot prices of 4E in aggregate are higieen the base case long term metal prices as sét the 2009 UFS, but are within the range
aggregate, including exchange rates for the MRing)cof the sensitivity analysis contained in tH@02 UFS. Tables detailing MR and U
Reserves for Project 1 as reported in the 2009 f0k@&v below:

Mineral reserves presented below are asettsf measured and indicated mineral resourcésdied in the 2009 UFS and take into account m
factors and are not in addition to the mineral veses.

Merensky Mineral Reserves Project 1V
Tonnes (t) 4E (glt) Content (Moz 4E)
Merensky Proven 6,677,304 5.61 1.205
Merensky Probable 11,333,294 5.44 1.983
Total Merensky Mineral Reserves 18,010,598 5.51 88.1

Note:

(1) The Company has a 74% interest in these mineral resves.The Qualified Persons for the information in thewabtable with respect to
Project 1, derived from the 2009 UFS, are Charlefiév] Gordon Cunningham and Tim Spindler, eactviedm was independent of the
Company as of the date of the 2009 UFS. Minerares were calculated based on the mineral respasceeported and available at the
time of the 2009 UFS. New geo-statistical inforroatiesulting from recent infill borehole data, candal with ongoing implementation-
level modeling, mine planning and scheduling cagkllt in changes to the estimated mineral resdord®roject 1. At the time of writing
the information available indicates non- matemaréase in aggregate Merensky and UG2 mineraiveséless than 10%) from the
mineral reserve estimate in the 2009 UFS, whicatotgeflected in the above table. As mine impleragah planning continues, this may

change
UG2 Mineral Reserves Project 1
Tonnes (t) 4E (glt) Content (Moz 4E)
UG2 Proven 5,086,535 3.37 0.551
UG2 Probable 8,448,801 341 0.927
Total UG2 Mineral Reserves 13,535,336 3.40 1.478

Note:

(1) The Company has a 74% interest in these mineral resves.The Qualified Persons for the information in thewabtable with respect
Project 1, derived from the 2009 UFS, are Charledlev] Gordon Cunningham and Tim Spindler, eackwbbm was independent of 1
Company as of the date of the 2009 UFS. Mineraries were calculated based on the mineral respaceeported and available at
time of the 2009 UFS. New getatistical information resulting from recent ihfilorehole data, combined with ongoing implementi
level modeling, mine planning and scheduling coekllt in changes to the estimated mineral resdoreBroject 1. At the time of writir
the information available indicates a nanaterial increase in aggregate Merensky and UGZmlneserves (less than 10%) from
mineral reserve estimate for the 2009 UFS, whictotsreflected in the above table. As mine impletaton continues, this may chan
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Listing of Individual Elements from 4E Mineral Reseave Statement
Metal Reef Category Pril Tonnage gt Content
Split Tonnes Tonne Moz
From Proven 4E Reserve 64% 6,677,304 3.59 23.99 710.7
Merensky From Probable 4E Reserve 64% 11,333,294 3.48 39.47  1.269
Pt Total 64% 18,010,598 3.52 63.46 2.040
From Proven 4E Reserve 63% 5,086,53% 2.12 10.79 470.3
uG2 From Probable 4E Reserve 63% 8,448,80[L 2.15 18.14 5840
Total 63% 13,535,336 2.14 28.95 0.931
From Proven 4E Reserve 27% 6,677,304 1.52 10.12 250.3
Merensky From Probable 4E Reserve 27% 11,333,294 1.47 16.6§  0.535
Pd Total 27% 18,010,598 1.49 26.77 0.861
From Proven 4E Reserve 26% 5,086,53% 0.88 4.45 30.14
uG2 From Probable 4E Reserve 26% 8,448,80|L 0.89 7.50 2410.
Total 26% 13,535,336 0.88 11.95 0.384
From Proven 4E Reserve 4% 6,677,304 0.22 1.50 0.048
Merensky From Probable 4E Reserve| 4% 11,333,294 0.22 2.47 0790.
Rh Total 4% 18,010,598 0.22 3.97 0.128
From Proven 4E Reserve 10% 5,086,53% 0.34 1.71 50.05
uG2 From Probable 4E Reserve 10% 8,448,80]L 0.34 2.88 0930.
Total 10% 13,535,336 0.34 4.60 0.148
From Proven 4E Reserve 5% 6,677,304 0.28 1.87 0.060
Merensky From Probable 4E Reserve 5% 11,333,294 0.27 3.08 0990.
Au Total 5% 18,010,598 0.28 4.96 0.159
From Proven 4E Reserve 1% 5,086,534 0.03 0.17 0.004
uG2 From Probable 4E Reserve] 1% 8,448,801 0.03 0.29 090.0
Total 1% 13,535,336 0.03 0.46 0.015

The Qualified Persons for the information in theab table with respect to Project 1, derived frdva 2009 UFS, are Charles Muller, Gor
Cunningham and Tim Spindler, each of whom was ieddpnt of the Company as of the date of the 2008 &Hel continue to be independer
of the date of this AIF.

Mineral Reserve Calculation Procedures and Assumpg

A probable mineral reserve is the economically mbie part of an indicated resource, and, in somoeitistances, a measured mineral resc
demonstrated by at least a feasibility study including adequate information mming, processing, metallurgical, economic angeotfactor
that demonstrate, at the time of reporting, thahemic extraction can be justified. A proven miheeserve is the economically mineable part
measured mineral resource demonstrated by the aleand factors as above. A proven mineral resé@nplies that there is a high degre:
confidence. All permits, licenses and approvalgines be in place for the declaration of minerakerees. The conversion to mineral reserves
undertaken for Project 1 in the 2009 UFS at a 8.&wpe cut-off grade from a mineral resource estnsupported by an NI 431 technic:
report as reported and available at the time ofingithe 2009 UFS. Each stope has been fully dilutmprising of a planned dilution ¢
additional dilution for all aspects of the miningpess. The inferred mineral resources are ougsiden addition to the mineral reserves.
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The mineral reserves for Project 1 are stated géttrin risk factors, including but not limited tajning projects risks as highlighted in tHeisks
and Opportunitiessection of the 2009 UFS. The author of the 2009 0&i@plied with the SAMREC Code for reporting mirlexesources ar
mineral reserves. The SAMREC code allows for a naineesource or mineral reserve to be upgradediqamgraded) if, amongst other thir
economic, legal, environmental or permitting ciratamces change. A set of geological and geostatiistiles have been applied for the mir
resource classification in the 2009 UFS, which ald@s on the structural and facies aspects ofjfwogy. These rules are consistent witt
inferred, indicated and measured resource claasiit as set out in the SAMREC Code.

Canadian Securities Administrators have includedSAMREC Code as an acceptable foreign code fartieg of mineral reserves and mine
resources. As a result, issuers incorporated ira@atut with properties outside of Canada may tepomineral reserve and mineral reso
categories as set out in NI 484 under the SAMREC Code. The definition of a maheeserve or a mineral resource under CIM statsland th
SAMREC Code are identical in effect, and hence esomnciliation is required for such instances whbee SAMREC Code has been prop
applied.

Mineral reserves are reported as inclusive of unectc material and dilution material delivered fimatment or dispatched from the mine witt
treatment, using the modifying factors as indicatethe basic grade equation as found in the 20B8.lA general sensitivity to project return
provided in the UFS. A detailed sensitivity to sdcmarketing and permitting issues for mineraeress is not part of the 2009 UFS.

2009 UFS

On January 10, 2007, the Company completed a pegtiefeasibility study for Project 1. During 2007, theBd¥ commissioned the July 2C
Feasibility Study for Project 1, which study wasfshed on July 7, 2008. Later, this report wassey effective June 10, 2009 and was

published on July 15, 2009he July 2008 Feasibility Study, as revised, cogrgid and outlined the details and mitigation ofeselvconsidere
projects risks, assessed in full detail, includmegtallurgical recoveries, smelting and refining tspsurface and mining rights, permits,

involvement of communities in compliance with th@RDA.

The July 2008 Feasibility Study’s findings were ijgs for a platinum mine in the Project 1 area of the WBJVe Tuly 2008 Feasibility Stu
made a declaration of mineral reserves and outlmestope for an underground mine producing 253{00270,000 4E ounces per anr
platinum, palladium, rhodium and gold in concemrat

Subsequently, the 2009 UFS was published contamirgyised mineral resource estimation for thedeta] area. The revised mineral reso
estimation indicated that measured and indicateteral resources had increased as a result of fudtiléeng in the Project 1 and 1A areas. -
2009 UFS recommended a series of five simultandeabknes (three at a central location and twosdwhern location) accessing the deposit
a mining rate of 156,000 tonnes per month. Minia@mly scheduled on the mineral reserves. Minersburces in the Project 1 area and I
grade UG2 mineral resources also provide somedgpportunities.

In 2011 the central declines in Phase 1 werengineered to be a twin decline arrangement rdlttzer three declines as laid out in the 2009 |
The decline path and initial mine plan blocks waneended as detailed mine plans were developedmiiiag rate was scheduled at 160,
tonnes per month.



-39 -—

Platinum Group Metals Lt
2012 Annual Information For

As in the 2009 UFS, a second, south box cut and detline access were required in the current ipiie. This value engineered outcome all
similar movement of tonnes, men and equipment afefed in the 2009 UFS, while improving efficiencaesl reducing costs.

The mining and development plan includes conveatitrand held drilling utilizing electrical drillsnd scraper winch cleaning similar to
successful conventional mining at the adjacent mileEclines and primary access to the depositsgyded for development with mechani
equipment. Ore is initially to be hauled out of thme with mechanized equipment and assisted theotweyor from year 4 of mine life to enc
mine life. Value engineering in 2011 suggests threveyor could be utilized sooner in the first yeafrsining.

The MR is modeled to be mined at widths betweem®8nd 176cm at an average of 115cm and the UGDwithined at widths between 10%
and 205cm at an average of 153cm. At the recomntdemile@ing rate and using industry standard modifyfagtors or assumptions, the mine |
is projected to generate, on average, 275,000 4iEesuin concentrate per year (from a range of appedely 234,000 to 300,000 4E oun
produced in any given year) during nine years akparoduction. The mine has a 22 year planned fifsmeThe Qualified Persons who autha
the 2009 UFS have reviewed the most recent mine gohal the steady state production profile for MRn&s and early production. This revi
profile is substantially unchanged from the 20098UPlanning, scheduling and modelling work wasiedrout as part of Lenderdue diligenc
and project implementation and subsequent to recBihdrilling as described above.

Infrastructure

The Project 1 mine infrastructure in the estimateset out in the 2009 UFS includes the entireiredsurface infrastructure for a standalone |
including water, power, underground access andla&ah to establish full production.

In 2011, Maseve entered into an agreement with Megg®ater (“Magalies”) for a temporary 0.5 megalitre/day MiL/day ") water supply. Th
construction of a water pipeline to site is compland it was built at a scale capable of handlimglame of water suitable for full scale produc
for Project 1. The temporary water supply is novsénvice. An offtake agreement with Magalies for a permanent watpply of 6 ML/day i
being finalized and service is slated to be pradidéien required in late 2013 or in 2014.

When the permanent water supply of 6 ML/day is ¢odelivered, Magalies plans to initially providesthervice from existing capacity in

nearby Mafenya Reservoir, which is a part of tharfeisberg Water Scheme, and which currently suppiie area surrounding Project 1.

source of bulk water supply in the future will e tVaalkop Water Treatment Works at the Vaalkop Dapproximately 60km from the Projec
mine site. At present, Magalies has stated that llaeve sufficient water at the Vaalkop to supplytevdo the Project 1 mine site and to fu
users, but at present they do not have sufficigrelipe capacity to supply the volume of water iieeglto the Mafenya Reservoir. In the futi
when other users in the area of Project 1 are stbgdo begin consumption of water, Magalies plenapgrade the regional and local pipe
infrastructure in order to bring water from Vaalktp the Mafenya Reservoir. Portions of the regiowater infrastructure upgrade for

Pilanesberg North and South water schemes aretegjporbe already under construction by Magaliege. ‘Risk Factors”.

During 2010 and 2011, the Company paid deposiS8SKOM of R51.71 million (approximately $6.08 milticat August 31, 2012) of R142
million in estimated costs (approximately $16.73liom at August 31, 2012) for ESKOM'work in designing infrastructure for the deliveri
construction power and commercial production poteethe property. A construction supply of 1.5 megjaampere (“MVA ") was installed t
the property in 2012. Power lines and a stdiion at commercial scale have been installecpaggiarations for delivery of a 10 MVA supply an
progress. The transformers and switch gear folth#VA supply have been delivered and installedmBuossioning of this 10 MVA service
expected in early 2013. A 10 MVA supply is suffitidor initial underground development and planneoaissioning.
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Electrical generating capacity has been overwhelimgedlemand in recent years in South Africa, butitemithl capacity is currently unc
construction. Delays in delivery of the full powsupply are not anticipated at this time. See “Risktors”.During 2012 Maseve purchas
installed and commissioned on site a 2.2 MVA digsglerator in order to provide stabgpower in the event of a shortfall or servicduia fromr
ESKOM. This generator ensures that lighting, vatith, air compressing and water pumping capagity lee maintained even without ESK(
power. A second generator of similar size is platocbe acquired for Phase 2.

In October 2012, ESKOM announced that it will apfdythe National Energy Regulator of South Afrioa permission to raise tariffs by 16%
annum from 2013 to 2018. If approved, an annual l6€&tease, which includes three percent to suppdependent power producers, wc
approximately double the cost of electricity pdokiatt hour by 2017. This escalation is within temneral sensitivities for total costs as consic
in the 2009 UFS. Increased power costs will afédigbroducers of platinum in South Africa.

Surface milling and tailings facilities as well asderground equipment and mobile fleet requiremémt®roject 1, are currently at a suffici
level of design to allow cost estimation at a fe#ity level. Designs, equipment specificationstadled listings and cost estimates were revie
and updated in detail in April 2012 as a part @f tiendersdue diligence process. In the event of completioRlase 2 funding, comprised of
proposed Project Loan Facility and equity expettebe raised or provided by the Company and Wesiasguisition and ordering of equipm
will commence and final designs will be completitds anticipated that a period of two years wil kequired to complete final designs, order
procure equipment and build the required facilifesfull scale production.

Metal Recover

The 2009 UFS design for metallurgical extractioitiaes a standard plant design similar to otherimgalants in the BIC operating on the si
reefs. The plant is designed with circuits that pestess MR, UG2 or a blended feed. The MR isdhget of initial mining because of its hig
grade and low chrome content. The concentratobbes designed and oested on current terms, based on treating thenapfi40,000 tonnes f
month. The revised mine plan has increased thigntrent rate to 160,000 tonnes per month and focdheentrator to treat this increased qua
of reef, the recovery has been reduced with a digoof up to 2.5% for treatment in excess of nofrfiname plate” capacity.

Metallurgical testing and the published experieotéhe adjacent operating mines support a “name’ptapacity plant recovery rate estimat
87.5% of combined platinum, palladium, rhodium guodd on the MR and 82.5% on the UG2. Recoverie$58b for nickel and 70% for copy
are also modeled for the MR. Ruthenium and iridiaima also included as minor contributors. Furthetathegical test work was completed
2012 and was utilized by the Company for projegqilementation and negotiations on final tdke terms. The current metal recovery assumg
and indicative off-take terms are not materialfffedent from those in the 2009 UFS. See “Smeltem& below.

Smelter Terms

The 2009 UFS includes capital and operating eséisniat produce concentrate but no capital is indddesmelting or refining of this concentre
The costs associated with smelting and refiningarcentrate is modeled as a deduction from revaniseng from the sale of concentrate
others. While the terms of agreements governingstiie of such concentrates within the South Afri&M industry are all confidential, t
relevant Qualified Person for the 2009 UFS beliethesdeductions used in the 2009 UFS financial madeindicative of deductions curren
this industry. Estimated deductions in the 2009 Wk3ude penalties and shipment charges and tptfaioaimately 15% from gross concenti
sales revenue.
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On September 5, 2012, Maseve received notice frel Regarding RPM’s exercise of its 60-day righficdt refusal to purchase the daffke o
concentrate from Project 1 on terms equivalenetms agreed to by Maseve with another commercigiéer. As at the date of this AlF, forr
legal agreements are in the process of being drafised on the third party indicative terms descriibove. The indicative terms from the ¢
commercial offtaker do not vary substantially from the terms nedidn the 2009 UFS; however, no assurances caprdéded that th
agreements will be finalized on such terms orlat al

Project 1 Financial Overvie\

The base case for the 2009 UFS was modeled usymg3trailing metal prices at September 2009, ohioly US$1,343 per ounce platinum,
exchange rate of R8 to the U.S. Dollar and a 1086adint rate, resulting in a pt&x net present value of US$475 million for thejpcbon a 100¢
of project basis. Applying a 5% discount rate resiiin a preax net present value of US$981 million on a 10G%roject basis. The 2009 U
model does not include escalation of costs or npeteés due to inflation. The base case also caledla strong Internal Rate of ReturnRR )
(pretax) of 23.54% .

Average life-ofmine cash operating costs to produce concentrateestimated at R525 per tonne (approximately US8§f ore or R4,2(
(approximately US$526.17) per 4E ounce on a lifenifie basis in the 2009 UFS. Operating costs anmftngnound development costs w
increased from those in the July 2008 Feasibilityd® primarily as a result of mining related costluding labour increases. The MR layer wil
mined in the first 13 years of production and thB bhsket price per 4E ounce was modeled at US$13L8&ar trailing prices in October 20
and US$1,025 (recent prices to October 2009). TBR layer represents the balance of the produclibe. UG2 basket price per 4E ounce
modeled at US$1,433 (3 year trailing prices in ®eto2009) and US$1,068 (recent prices to Octob8®R0rhe model included a subseq
average 15.16% discount from the metal price tones¢ the smelter pay discount.

The project has an estimated life of 22 years witle years at a steady state of production of Z&4t0 300,000 ounces per year (275,00
ounces per year on average over the nine yearysstaig period). The capital cost for the mine emiglcentrator complex were estimated at R
billion or US$443.13 million for peak funding andtR6 billion or US$595.04 million for life of minfunding. The life of mine capital cc
estimate was reduced from that in the July 2008ibgity Study by US$89 million as a result of clgas in design to use mostly grid power re
than self-generated power and improvements in ahésggn.

A portion of the proceeds of the October 2010 Faivag were used to initiate a Phase 1 developmeditbatk sample program, budgetec
US$100 million, to begin sinking twin declines irtt@ central part of the Project 1 deposit. Phafsmds are also being used to commence st
and earth works, including pads, lay down areafom cut, decline access and limited level develagm&uch work included detail
implementation preparations, including working witie key potential contractors and suppliers ofwand power.

Based on pos2009 UFS work completed by the Company, a reviget lbudget estimate for inclusion in a financialdelofor the Lenders w
completed in April 2012. The Company referred tustry sources and Qualified Persons for updatstliocformation and also applied experie
gained during procurement and construction undePtase 1 development program currently underwaypeSaspects of the project are curre
being priced at or below 2009 UFS level, while é&san is being seen in other cost areas, suctoasuenable inputs, labour, construction
capital equipment. The revised peak funding estmahich is calculated in Rand, was published imilA&2012 and includes both Phase 1
Phase 2 in their entirety. The revised estimate apgsoximately US$506 million (at R8 to the US$) fhe construction and commissioning
Project 1, representing an escalation of approxtpat4% since the 2009 UFS. Operating costs pemeiomere estimated to have escal
approximately 24% since the 2009 UFS. These operatdst escalation estimates are in keeping wilhtian rates and industry experienct
South Africa since 2009.
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The revised estimate of peak funding takes intmagtthe net results of cost escalation versusigavihrough operations, value engineering
favourable metal price movements. As at November2042, the Rand has weakened to approximately3R®.%he US$ versus the 2009 L
long term assumption of R8 to the US$. This hasetffiect of reducing the US$ denominated peak fumdor the project. In addition, as
November 15, 2012, the Merensky basket price pesutiee is approximately US$1,307 as compared t8 tfear trailing market price (US$1,1
in September 2009) and the recent market price {L082% in September 2009) cited in the 2009 UFS.

Costing and engineering estimates are ongoing psceed during project implementation. Indicatossddl on current information, are that
revised peak funding requirements for Project lehast changed materially from the sensitivity ragensidered in the 2009 UFS. Cur
general estimates of steady state production remahanged. The Company has also concluded thatetheffect of the above changes in ¢
and estimates, when included in a calculation @hemic cuteff grade as part of an assessment of mineralveseand mineral resources
Project 1, results in a non-material (less than Jl@xuction in mineral reserves from the estimatggained in the 2009 UFS.

The magnitude of potential ongoing cost increasegl#ficult to estimate. Anticipated changes irstsocreate risks that have not been estima
feasibility levels as project construction advandeswvever, at this time the sensitivity levels fotal costs in the 2009 UFS have not t
exceeded. Many escalation risks are mitigated byfdlst that the majority of the worklplatinum production comes from South Africa ats
operating environment. The Company believes thsag gesult of the concentration of world produciioiSouth Africa, increased project costs
the South African mining industry as a whole maguiltin higher prices, effectively passing suchte@s to consumers.

Once the required financing for Phase 2 of Prdlerst established, the Company intends to commehesd?2 development. As designed ir
2009 UFS, Phase 2 will include a second, southveirdecline access into the ore body as well aBngjlconcentrating and tailings facilities ¢
extensive underground development. Plant and fiaodonstruction and commissioning are estimatedat® two years to complete. F
commercial production at steady state is estimmt@tcur after a two-year ramp-up period subseqieetite commissioning of the plant.

Recent Developmer— Project 1

The Company considers safety at the Project 1nplatimine to be its first priority. The Company legsed to report that to date approxime
950,000 man hours have been recorded with a lo&t injury frequency rate of 0.21, reflecting velgod safety performance. Regular trair
sessions and high standards and vigilance by ditpmnts on site are key components to maintgimirsafe work place.

The Company has completed approximately 80% ofthese 1 development, including the sinking of an tdecline into the central part of
Project 1 deposit. The Phase 1 program was budget@gproximately US$100 million, of which the Caang will contribute US$74 million a1
US$26 million is being drawn down from the Escrowddseve Funds held for Wesizweshare of costs. At present, Phase 1 of Projes
approximately 10 weeks behind original schedulésatommencement, but remains on budget based dnaempleted versus planned work
money spent. Schedule delays occurred as a rdsthle dcime taken to obtain permits, saptimal civil contractor performance early in Pha
related to electrical procurement, constructioswhps and high wall steel work installation. Théekys then caused difficulty in the schedu
of duties and handover between civil and undergtaromntractors. Initial underground mining cycle érand face advance were less than ple
as well, a situation which was later rectified.

As indicated by cover drilling, the first 30 to 50vertical at the location of the central box cutlaouth box cut required substantial grc
support consisting of roof bolts, resin injectiomesh and steel sets. Ground conditions at thelp@ta consistent with those found at the ¢
shafts and declines operating in the vicinity. Tleatral box cut excavation brings the working atewn an access ramp from surface for 1
linear and 20m vertical to where the portals ettterunderground. From the portal entrance the meglare now approximately 770m linear
approximately 137m vertical into the undergroundoudd conditions have improved with depth as exqabcAfter a training and ranyp perioc
from May 2012 to June 2012, crews are regularlyeatig rates of face advance in each of the twalimgg at more than the planned 100m
month as described in the 2009 UFS.
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At full capacity, the Project 1 mine is estimatedéquire a maximum water supply of six ML/day. &greement between Maseve and Mag
for a permanent water supply of six ML/day is beimagjotiated and service is expected to begin whquired in late 2013 or in 2014. Maga
currently has existing capacity to supply Projeetslit currently operates, but will need to conmle¢w regional infrastructure to meet expe
demand in the future as Project 1 reaches producBee “Project 1 and Project 3 of the WBC Projednbfrastructure”. The water offike
agreement with Magalies is in agreed form, has lsgmed by Maseve and is awaiting signature by MegaAlthough no assurances car
provided, the Company anticipates that the formatewoff-take agreement will be fully signed by Mawer 30, 2012. See “Risk Factors”.

In September 2011, a central box cut excavationsisting of a concrete ramp, an 18m high wall aolacs, was completed on Projec
Substantial surface infrastructure was also cootgid

In October 2011, the first undercut blasts to comreeunderground development were carried out. Quitike first fiscal quarter, undergrot
mining contractor JIC mobilized to site to constro@intenance buildings and facilities, and theme®nced work into the underground on
planned twin barrel decline system.

In February 2012, the Company purchased three pomobile equipment for addition to the fleetsite, utilizing savings recognized to date
of the Phase 1 budget to make the purchase. Arrgmodmd dump truck and a load-halump machine were delivered to site in February22®
double boom jumbo drill rig was delivered to siteAypril 2012. This equipment was acquired to previdck up for the existing fleet deployec
the development of the central declines and torensguipment is on site for the development ofsingthern declines. In addition to the aboy
2.2 MVA stand-by generator was purchased and deliv® site in March 2012.

On April 4, 2012, Maseve was granted the MiningtRi@vhich was notarially executed on May 15, 20h#8 eegistered on August 3, 2012).
Government of South Africa undertook a rigorousigey consultation and approval process, which wampteted within 12 months of t
Maseve's formal mining right application. The grafthe Mining Right includes the approval of Mas®svSocial and Labour Plan and EMP.

During 2012, a planned south box cut for declimethé southern area of the mine was taken fronPttese 2 plan and added to the Phase 1
of work. To cover this cost, an electrical depasiiuded in Phase 1 (but not due to be paid to ERKDtil 2014) was moved from Phase
Phase 2 of the overall mine development plan. Athefdate of this AlF, the south box cut is suliiidp complete and ready for the turn ur
into underground mining as soon as Phase 2 begins.

In April 2012, Maseve posted an environmental rdhation guarantee of R58.5 million (approximate$7.56 million at the time) as
requirement of Maseve’'mining right application. In October 2012, Masewvdered into an agreement with a third party ieswhereby a bor
would be posted to the credit of the DMR against@ompanys R58.5 million environmental guarantee for its M@nRight. A formal process f
return of the full environmental guarantee amoudrR®8.5 million plus accrued interest is in procasd Maseve expects return of these funds
before the end of calendar 2012. As a term of greeament with the third party insurer, in Octob812, Maseve posted R12 million on def
with The Standard Bank of South Africa againstitsironmental guarantee obligation and will makehfer annual deposits of approximately |
million per annum until the full amount of the erorimental guarantee is returned and the third @argngement will be wound up or renewe
Maseve’s election. Interest on deposits will actublaseve and Maseve will pay an annual fee of@apmately R600,000 to the insurer.
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On September 5, 2012, Maseve received notice fré@il Regarding RPM’s exercise of its @@y right of first refusal to enter into an agreet
with Maseve on terms equivalent to indicative termseed to by Maseve with another commercialtaifer for the sale of ore or concent
produced from Project 1 and Project 3. Formal legaeements are in the process of being drafteztbas indicative terms that are not mater
different than those modeled in the 2009 UFS; h@raw assurances can be provided that the agréemidirbe finalized on such terms or at all.

Additional Developments from the Prior Year (Fis¥alar 2011

Upon completion of the October 2010 Financing, @menpany approved and initiated the Phase 1 progtamAugust 31, 2012, the Comp:
held remaining cash on hand, including earnedestem escrow for Wesizwe of approximately R278iom ($32.15 million).

In October 2010, PTM RSA appointed Mr. Thys UysPrafessional Engineer with more than 21 years ofiagament experience in proj
feasibility and implementation in South Africa,lead and direct project implementation of ProjecAf owners team consisting of people w
have previously worked with Mr. Uys on largeale mining construction projects has also begwoiated, including a dedicated quantity survt
for cost engineering services, contract and capaatrol administrators and a permitting consultasponsible for the ComparsyEnvironment:
Impact Assessment and Management Plan. In SepteshBél1, PTM RSA hired Mr. Pran Maharaj, a Praofasal Engineer with many years
management and operational experience in the mindwgtry. Later, in early 2012, Mr. Maharaj tookeo from Mr. Uys as project manager.

In December 2010, the Company appointed DRA as ER@Mractor for surface infrastructure and undargtbdevelopment. DRA has assig
approximately 30 fulime professionals to oversee and plan the exatutfahe development of surface infrastructure, @odelivery, wate
delivery, civil works and excavations and the depatent of underground tunnels to access ore difirage 1 construction. DR&5scope of wol
includes engineering, design, construction manageradministration and cost and schedule control.

In February 2011, Maseve posted an environmenkealhitation guarantee in the amount of R9.47 wll{approximately $1.30 million at t
time) with The Standard Bank of South Africa undall to the DMR, a requirement of the Companiulk sample permit application, which \
subsequently granted.

In late March 2011, the Company received a positeerd of decision from the DMR for its detailederground development plans and E
including the taking of a bulk sample. The conseinthe DMR requires compliance with underlying riegions related to health, safety
environment. An update to the public participatimocess, including project publication, placemehhatices and public meetings with lo
government and interested and affected partiesdemnway.

During February, March and April 2011, the Compaaynducted approximately 16,850m of infill drillir@n the near surface portions of
Project 1 platinum deposit in order to gain mortaiked information for metallurgical, geotechnicaline planning and scheduling purposes.
result of this work, refinements to the scheduladimg during the first three or four years of tharmed Project 1 mine life were modeled
implemented.

Civil construction for Phase 1 began in May 201thvthe mobilization of civil contractor Wilson BgyHolmes-Ovcon (‘WBHO ") who is
responsible for major surface infrastructure extiamaand construction. The box cut excavation waseted in midSeptember 2012. WBF
executed the first undercut blasts to commencergnolend development in October 2012.

In July 2011, the Company awarded JIC the contiaatevelop the twin 1,200m underground decline é&lsinto the center of the Projec
platinum deposit. JIC took over underground devslept from WBHO in midOctober. JIC is operating as one of the undergrauirdng
contractors at the producing Bafokeng Rasimonemplat mine immediately adjacent to Project 1 andentty operates as underground mir
contractor on another six platinum mines and omerok mine in South Africa, employing 7,200 peodlkC has a good safety record and
invested in an accredited training facility neaPtmject 1. Total primary underground developmest dor Phase 1 based on the JIC contr:
estimated at R206.85 million (approximately $288illion on August 31, 2011). An initial pneayment of R25.0 million (approximately $3
million on July 11, 2011) was released to JIC adi& provided an appropriate form of performancargotee. A further retention amoun
R20.69 million ($2.94 million on July 11, 2011) wadeased to JIC approximately ten days later.isliiaid according to progress invoicing.
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In September 2011, the Company purchased an ovemdretled “Wrap-Up Liability” insurance policy (thé Wrap-Up Policy ") covering
contractors and sutentractors on the Project 1 work site until cortiple of the construction of the mine, including &heomplex, ramp:
concentrator plant, tailings dam and all associatédstructure. The Wraphp Policy period runs from June 24, 2012 and exddncho later the
June 23, 2013 and provides coverage for up to RImalion (approximately US$25 million) of liabilitper accident, subject to industry stan
terms, conditions and deductibles. The Companyalss purchased “Course of Constructiamsurance for Project 1 to cover up to R630 mi
in property value in the event of loss or damagenduall construction phases, once again subjedhdastry standard terms, conditions
deductibles. The estimated cost for approximatbhee years of coverage for the above two policeeapgproximately $440,000. Additio
insurance will still be required once Phase 2 coetibn commences and for mine operation. Durind120the Company completec
comprehensive risk assessment for Project 1 wittasisistance of an international insurance brokefiag.

Social Development and Responsibilities

Feedback from the public consultation processethtmenvironmental assessment and Social and L&lanrdevelopment have been constru
and positive. The mine capital development platushes a significant investment in training throupke life of mine, allocated to a social
labour plan to ensure maximum value from the ptdj@call stakeholders, including local residef@ased on interaction with the community,
completion of a skill and needs assessment, anttaining plans, the project is planning for 2,760s with a target of at least 30% from the I
communities. The Company is committed to a stragraunity involvement in the project particularly\A&sizwe is a 26% partner in the pro
and one of their largest shareholders is a commungiar the mine. To assist the Company in achietliege goals, the Company has contr:
the services of an experienced and professionatdtipany, RBS. See Recent Developments - Project 1.

Additionally, the mines financial estimates include an accumulated chpegdonne to create a fund for eventual closurd@fmine projected
2031.

Waterberg Venture, South Africa

The Waterberg Project is one of a group of expionaprojects that came from a regional targetatiie by the Company conceived in 2007
2008 and executed over the past two years. Thegirtgrgets a previously unknown extension to tletiNLimb of the Bushveld Complex
South Africa. The Company targeted this area bagsecbncepts and ideas provided by a team of Sofitbaf geoscientists and its own deta
geophysical, geochemical and geological work alwegd from the previously mapped end of the nartibl The detailed geophysical and o
work indicated potential for a package of Bushv€lomplex rocks under the sedimentary Waterberg faomacover rocks. Previous mine
exploration activities in the area were limited doehe extensive sedimentary cover. Exploratiorthey Company therefore progressed thre
preliminary exploration activities to delineatetial drill targets and is now focused primarily updrilling now that a deposit has been discovered.

Technical information in this AIF regarding the \Widterg Project is derived primarily from informati@ontained in the following techni
report:
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1. “Updated Exploration Results and Mineral Reseutstimate for the Waterberg Platinum Project, Bdftica” located on the Northe
Limb of the Bushveld Complex, with an effectiveelaf November 5, 2012, prepared by Kenneth Lomfibg* Waterberg Report ).

The Waterberg Report is subject to certain assumgptiqualifications and procedures described theReaders are directed to review the full
of the Waterberg Report, available for review unitier Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.cord an the SEG EDGAR website .
www.sec.gov, for additional information.

Property Description and Locatic

The Waterberg Project is located approximately 7@kme north of the town of Mokopane (formerly Potgisrus). The project consists ¢
registered new order prospecting right grantecheyGovernment of South Africa comprised of a carntigs area of 137krh.

Location of the Waterberg Project Properties
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PTM RSA applied for a prospecting right for the faerg Project area in 2009 and in September 280®MR granted PTM RSA a prospeci
right for the requested area. Later in October 2600 RSA entered an agreement with JOGMEC and Mio(the “JOGMEC Agreement”)
whereby JOGMEC could earn up to a 37% participaititgrest in the project for an optional work cortmént of US$3.2 million over four yea
while at the same time Mnombo could earn a 26%iqyaating interest in exchange for matching JOGME&EXpenditures on a 26/74 bi
(US$1.12 million).

Under the terms of the JOGMEC Agreement any mirmmaducts derived by the joint venture from thepanmy are to be taken by each partici
in proportion to its then participating interestthe joint venture. Provided JOGMEC or its nomitnedds at least a 30% interest in the |
venture, JOGMEC or its nominee has the exclusigbtrio direct the marketing of the mineral produatdhe other participants for a @al
period from first commercial production on an e@@nt to commercially competitive arsnlength basis and has the first right of refus
purchase at prevailing market prices any mineradipets taken by another participant as its shajeimtf venture output.

On November 7, 2011, the Company entered into egeagent with Mnombo whereby the Company acquire8%%f the issued and outstanc
shares of Mnombo from its shareholders in exchdageash payments totaling R1.2 million and agrgdim pay for Mnomba 26% share !
project costs to feasibility (bringing the Compasnghare of project costs to 63%). When combinet thie Company 37% direct interest in t
Waterberg Project (taking into consideration th6&BMEC earnin), the 12.974% indirect interest held by the Campthrough Mnombo brings t
Company’s effective interest in the Waterberg Ritoje 49.974% . To the Compasyknowledge, Mnombo remains over 50% held for theeffit
of historically disadvantaged South Africans asrosf by the MPRDA and thBroad-Based Black Economic Empowerment, R&03 (the ‘BEE
Act ) and is a qualified BEE corporation under the B&g. See “Risk Factors”.
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In April 2012, JOGMEC completed its US$3.2 milliearnin requirement as described above and PTM RSA, Mmmoand JOGMEC becat
parties to an unincorporated joint venture regaydie Waterberg Project. Since that time, the Camppes spent approximately US$4.44 mil

on exploration expenditures to September 30, 20f2his amount US$1.12 million was applied to Mnatshinitial funding obligation and tl
balance of approximately US$3.32 million was apptie the Company’s and Mnombo’s ongoing 63% conmbjmm®-rata share of costs. Post earn-
in, JOGMEC, Mnombo and the Company approved a &i2ard exploration budget for the Waterberg Proje¢he amount of US$8.37 millic
The Companys recent expenditure on behalf of the joint ventfrapproximately US$3.32 million on explorationadescribed above is a par
this approved budget. As of the date of this ABGMEC has funded US$2.0 million of its US$3.10 ioill share of the 2012 forward explora
budget.

During 2012 the Company made application to the DiglRcquire three additional prospecting rightseelt to the west (one farm for 3,938
north (one farm for 6,272ha) and east (one farnif608ha) of the existing Waterberg Project. Ifnged by the DMR, these three new prospe:
rights would cover a total of 118kAwill become a part of the existing joint venturetwWdOGMEC and Mnombo, bringing the total area &
joint venture to 255kr2.

The Company has also applied to the DMR for furfirespecting rights totaling 66,539ha adjacenh&rtorth and east of the existing and apj
for joint venture area. If granted by the DMR, tB&5.39km? area of new prospecting rights would not be indlisfethe existing joint ventur
The Company would hold a direct 74% interest anaidibo would hold a 26% interest in this new areayileg the Company with an 86.97.
effective interest. The Company currently owns mdage rights in the area of the Waterberg Project.

Permits and Royaltie

The Company operates on the Waterberg propertieaubiyority of a prospecting right granted by the RMAdditional rights on adjace
properties are currently under application. Therentr prospecting right expired on September 1, 284@ an application, together with
required supporting documentation, for the renesfdahe current prospecting right for a further pdrof three years from September 2, 201
September 1, 2015 was filed and duly acknowledgetthd Regional Manager, Limpopo Region, DMR. Unitler MPRDA a prospecting right
respect of which an application for renewal hasnbeeged shall, despite its stated expiry dateaienn force until such application has b
granted or refused.

All environmental requirements on properties unded prospecting rights are subject to the terma ofirrent EMP approved by the DMR p
to commencement of work on the properties. At Wagg, all rehabilitation of drillhole sites and ass roads required in terms of an appr
EMP has been completed or are ongoing. In additt@required deposits into the approved envirorateahabilitation trust in respect of rela
potential liabilities are up to date. There areotteer known environmental liabilities on the prdjes. All the necessary permissions and perm
terms of the environmental liabilities have beemaoted. There are no known encumbrances of an @amgntal nature that may restrict
exploration of the properties.
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Apart from annual prospecting fees and potentiatlining royalties due to the Government of Southicaf, there are no other royalties, paym
or back in rights due to any third party with redyéo the licences or applications comprising afihef Waterberg Project. See “Risk Factors”.

Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastaue and Physiograph

The Waterberg Project is 70km north of the towrMafkopane (formerly Potgietersrus) in Seshego andevting 2 districts of the Limpo
Province. Mokopane provides a full spectrum of lauad urban infrastructure. The Waterberg Projedituated 13.5km from the N11 natic
road that links Mokopane with the Groblers Bridgeder post to Botswana. The current drilling ased2km from the N11 National Road. Acc
to the area from the national road is by unpavedisdhat are generally in a reasonable conditibe. dimate is semérid with moderate wint
temperatures and warm to hot in the summer. Thenitajof the 350400mm of average annual rainfall occurs Novembeviawch. Climatis
conditions have virtually no impact on potentiahing operations in the project area. Mining and@ogtion activities can continue throughout
year. The project area to the west and east isvelaflat but the area in the central part of fireject area is more mountainous with some :
near vertical cliffs and an elevation differencel6D -200m. The lowest point in the prospecting rightidaseat 880m amsl and the highest poi
1365m amsl. The drilling has been undertaken oretfstern flat area with an elevation of approxifgat@00m amsl. The vegetation is typici
bushveld vegetation. The Seepabana River cutssatimessouttwestern side of the project area from east to wéwt. remainder of the area
non-perennial rivers.

The Waterberg Project is located in an area ofsgppopulation with a few small communities locadacbr near the project area, although mo
the area of the known deposit is largely free fieaelopment. The area is farmed by the local pewhle grow crops on a limited scale and f
cattle. A workforce of skilled and uskilled personnel for exploration purposes is aldé in the general vicinity, including larger unbzentres :
Mokopane and Polokwane. The Company typically kxitrgined crews and skilled persons from its o8muith African operations on a rotat
basis to provide the majority of labour for the jpob.

Should a decision to mine on the project area bedaaken, the Company would need to secure a fitatation by purchase or longrm leas
of surface rights to establish the surface fae#ithecessary to mine and process, including priogeskants and tailings facilities.

The Limpopo Province area is a scarce water resaamea and, to date the Company has not seleqiesfeared method of obtaining water
South Africa the use of water resources requiresi@r licence. All mining operations require aregrated water use licence for all new w
uses and a detailed study of the water balandeeimtea must precede an application for a licdhtiee Company should take a decision to r
at Waterberg, it would have to establish sourcesaier and develop the infrastructure requireddadport water to the project area, subject
water use licence, on an economically viable basis.

Electrical energy, telephone service and othersifucture components are available in the vicioftthe Waterberg project area and are suffi
for exploration work. Large-scale infrastructurecls as highsoltage electrical lines and large volumes of wadee available for development
access at moderate distances. ESKONEw 4.3 gigawatt Medupi power station and a 4®AMilovolt transmission substation are schedud
come online by mid-2013, which is expected to gjtiean the local power network.

History

Previous mineral exploration activities were limditdue to the extensive sand cover and the unddistathat the area was underlain by
Waterberg Group. Surface mapping has been undertakkemost of the area surrounding the Waterbergmtains is covered by Waterberg s¢
and, as such, mapping in these areas has providiedanmation as the Bushveld is sub outcroppedweéNaterberg sediments.
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In March 2010 (two sampling lines) and later duribgcember 2011 and January 2012 (two additionak)ingeochemical soil sampling \
undertaken. A total of 601 samples, of which 25%ensoil samples, 277 stream sediment samples anacKShip samples, were collected du
this process.

Approximately 60 lines of geophysical survey usgrgvity and magnetics were traversed in March 2&18econd phase of geophysical sui
was also conducted on the farm Ketting from Au@@stl to September 2011.

Geology and Exploration

In the vicinity of the Waterberg Project, the rodfsthe Bushveld Complex are overlain by the 126n620m thick Waterberg Group, which i
sedimentary package predominantly made up of samelst with some conglomerates present as wellWéterberg package has dip angles t
50° and is generally a near horizontal package.

Igneous lithologies of the Bushveld Complex undettie Waterberg Group starting with the upper ztmn underlain by the main zondppel
zone lithologies consist of magnetite gabbros atftbgpnorites. Upper zone lithologies and the lomagnetite layer of the upper zone have
intersected on the southern portion of the prgjeaperty.

The main zone hosts the discovered PGE mineraliens in its cyclic sequences of mafic and feleiks. The main zone is 150m to 900m tr
It is predominantly composed of gabbronorite, moniyroxenite, harzburgite, troctolite with occamsibanorthositic phases, with more mafic 1
material such as harzburgite, and troctolites plaatially grade into dunites towards the base efgthckage.

The base of the Bushveld Complex main zone pacisaggrked by the presence of a transitional zoaedbnstitutes a mixed zone of Bush
and altered sediments/quartzites before intergettia Transvaal sequence basement quartzite, naetaidel and metasediments.

Structurally, the area has abundant intrusivesenform of thick dolerite and granodiorite sillsaykes, predominantly in the Waterberg pack
A few thin sills or dykes were intersected withiretBushveld Complex package. Faults have beenpoitded from the aerial photograr
geophysics and sectional interpretation. The fayétserally trend east-west across the propertysantk are north-west and south-west trending.

A general dip of 28fowards the west is observed from borehole corg¢hfedayered units intersected on Waterberg prgpeithin the Bushvel
package. However, some blocks may be tilted atuifft angles depending on structural and/or tectomntrols. Generally the easterly dip-
edge of the Bushveld package strikes southwesintbeast.

Drilling

Based on the exploration combined with the targetegation, diamond drilling at the Waterberg Progganmenced in 2010. Exploration has -
been largely driven by drilling. Target generatfon drilling at the Waterberg Property by the Compavas based primarily on the result:
geochemical sampling and geochemical surveys. TeveHwoles were initially drilled for a total of 193Zm between July and October 2(
Drilling resumed in 2011 with a third borehole. Tingersection of copper, nickel and PGE mineraiarain this borehole led to the extensiol
the drilling campaign such that in 2012 drillingthvup to ten diamond drill rigs was undertaken.

A total of 32,0943m of core has been drilled by ¢mel of July 2012 comprised of 27 boreholes coradler are in progress and 58 deflecti
The results of only 16 boreholes were availablelerinitial mineral resource estimate announcethbyCompany on September 5, 2012. A 't
250m by 250m E-W/Ns grid has been used to place the boreholes wiosghte. At the date of this AlF, approximately Big¥eholes have be
drilled or are in progress. Drilling in some argagved to be difficult due to bad ground formatiamshe overlying Waterberg sediments and <
boreholes had to be drilled a few metres away or totally abandoned emayed to new sites. One hole outside of the regoarea encounter
high water pressure to the extent that the hateiigently an artesian source of water.
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The results of the drilling and the general gealabjinterpretation are digitally captured in SABhAEd a GIS software package named ARCVI
The borehole locations, together with the geology assay results, are plotted on plan. Regularaceh sections are drawn to assist

correlation and understanding of the geology. Tifigrmation was useful for interpreting the sequeatthe stratigraphy intersected as well a
verifying the borehole information. Suitable dritj has been undertaken with appropriate standargdi&ce to ensure that the data is suitabl
use in geological modeling and mineral resourcienasion. Appropriate conclusions and follow-up wigkeing completed.

Mineralization

PGE mineralization at Waterberg within the Main 2af the Bushveld package is hosted in two maierkythe ‘T- layer and the ‘F — layer’
The T - layer is mainly composed of anorthositdgbgaic pegmatoid, pyroxenite, troctolite, harzbteggabbronorite and norite. The Fayer is
hosted in a thick package of troctolite towards lthee of the Main Zone and the mineralization ia ffackage is concentrated in pyroxeni
pegmatoidal pyroxenitic and harzburgitic bands. Titieeralization in the Waterberg Project area galhecomprises sulphide blebs, rtekturec
to interstitial sulphides and disseminated sulphigihin gabbronorite and norite, pyroxenite, hargjite.

On November 5, 2012 the Company announced thadniéwntercepts have approximately doubled thé&sttength of the Waterberg Project.
prospective geology with PGE mineralization has ro@&n intercepted in drilling for approximately &b of strike length (approximately No
40° East) along the eastern edge of the grantexpecting licences. See “Mineral Resourbelow. The deposit remains open northward &
strike and eastward ulip where it runs onto prospecting license areateumpplication to PTM RSA as described above. Resmnounce
included 24.00 meters grading 4.32 g/t 2E +Au withilarger intercept of 58.00 meters of 2.98 gARk (Hole WB027). Results also inclt
11.5 meters grading 7.18 g/t 2E + Au (Hole WB031g 8.5 meters of 4.8 g/t 2E+Au (Hole WB-034). Thizdest “F’layer intercepts are local
on strike to the north of the area where the 6l6amiounce inferred mineral resource estimateittgtaherein was identified. The gratigeknes:
on the “F” layers is increasing as exploration pesges to the north.

Mineral Resourct

Based on exploration and drilling results to endulfy 2012, an initial 6.6 million ounce 3E infatreineral resource estimate for the T- and F-
layer mineralization on the property Ketting 368iRhin the Waterberg Project area was announceitthiéyCompany on September 4, 2012.
mineral resource estimate considers the first 16shdrilled on the project area, with deflectionempleted to July 31, 2012. Since that 1
approximately another 28 holes, with deflectioresjehbeen completed or are in progress as at teeofitttis AIF. Drilling with ten rigs continues.

The initial inferred mineral resource estimate aevihe first 1.8km of T-layer and 2.8km ofldyer strike length starting from the soutt
boundary of the property position. The F mineralizayers have now been intercepted in boreholesoup.7km north of the initial miner
resource area.

The inferred mineral resource estimate include$ 5ot and “F’ mineralized layers. The most important layers aeethree to six metre thi
“T1” and “T2" layers. The T layers are very well correlated imte of geochemical markers and lithology and haebaacteristic metal split
approximately 48% palladium, 29% platinum and 23&tdgWithin the “F” layer are two sulayers which are approximately 5.25m thick
average, having an approximate metal split of 6zafium and 33% Platinum.
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The T layers have been intercepted from 140m belovface to 1,375m deep. For the initial inferrechenal resource estimate, the T and t
layers have been modeled to 1,000m below surfapthdd@he T layers appear to truncatedip-at 140m deep as they meet the overl
Waterberg sediments, while the F layers are intéegeat 495m below surface and are expected ta@xieser to surface.

The four main mineralized layers for which an inéek mineral resource estimate is declared are pes®elow (as at September 1, 2012):

Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors with respect tohe information in the following tables and discussin: In the following tables, tt
Company presents “inferred resources,” which acegeized and required by Canadian regulations butetognized by the SEC. “Resources”
are not “reservesdnd so do not have demonstrated economic viabififgrred resources have a great amount of unogytas to their existenc
and great uncertainty as to their economic and fegaibility. Furthermore, under Canadian rulesineates of inferred resources may not forn
basis of feasibility or préesasibility studies, except in rare cases. Invasawe cautioned not to assume that part or alhaéfif@rred resource exit

or is economically or legally minable. In additiowhile disclosure of contained ounces in a resoigcgermitted disclosure under Canau
securities laws, the SEC normally only permits éssuo report mineralization that does not congtitueserves’by SEC standards as in pl
tonnage and grade without references to unit measmts. Accordingly, the disclosure below may diffeaterially from the disclosure that wo

be provided by a U.S. public company.

Layer Tonnage |[Thickness |Pt Pd Au 2PGE+Au |Pt:Pd:Au |2PGE+Au (Cu Ni
(Mt) (m) (9/t) (919 (9/t) (9/t) (%) (Koz) (%) (%)

Tl 10.49 2.85 0.77 1.27 0.51 2.55 30:50:20 863 0.17 |0.10
T2 16.25 3.46 1.10 1.82 0.92 3.84 29:47:24 2001 | 180. 0.09
Total T- 26.74 3.19 3.33 29:48:23 |2 864

layer

FH 18.10 4.63 0.80 1.48 0.09 2.37 34:62:4 1379 30.0 0.12
FP 23.20 5.91 1.01 2.00 0.13 3.14 32:64:4 2 345 400 (011
Total F- 41.30 5.27 2.80 31:57:12 |3724

layer

Total 68.04 4.19 0.94 1.71 0.37 3.01 6 588

Project
Notes:

(1) The Qualified Person for the information in theléakbove, derived from the Waterberg Report, isietim Lomberg, who was indepenc
of the Company as of the date of the Waterberg Re

2) Mineral resources which are not mineral reservesatdhave demonstrated economic viability. Theneestie of mineral resources may
materially affected be environmental, permittinggdl marketing or other relevant issues. The quyaatid grade of reported infer
mineral resources in this estimate are conceptualature. There is no guarantee that all or any @lathe mineral resource will
converted to a mineral resen

Aggregating the T and F layers, the deposit ouflinad declared so far is estimated to contain éflewing inferred mineral resources: 3
million ounces of palladium; 2.05 million ouncespdétinum; and 0.81 million ounces of gold.

In order to be considered as a mineral resourdma&s, it is necessary to consider “the reasonphspects for economic extractionf the
mineral resource under consideration. For the VidatgrProject, a high level economic analysis waslaoted which confirmed that the estim:
mineral resource at Waterberg met this requirement.
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The T1, T2 and both F layers average three to skas in thickness, as compared to the classic RiRWG2 Chromitite Layer which &
traditionally mined with average thicknesses ofragpnately 1 to 1.4m each.

Sampling and Analysis

Sampling tests are usually conducted at the beginwii exploration programs to determine the hetemeg@y of mineralization in order to elimin
sampling error and to determine proper samplingog. Deposit type, lithologies encountered, stflenineralization and heterogeneity all
a role in the method of sampling.

The sampling methodology applied is based on imgastcepted best practices. The sampling is doaenianner that includes the entire econi
unit together with hanging wall and foot wall sainpl

The first step in the sampling of the diamond der® mark the core from the distance below catiatm units. The lithologies are logged ant
initial stratigraphy interpreted. The potential erialized layers are marked for sampling. Thereaftex core is oriented using the layering
stratification as a reference and to ensure a stamiiapproach to the sampling. A centre cut Ilséhen drawn lengthways for cutting. A
cutting, the material is replaced in the core trdyse sample intervals are then marked as a lideaatistance from collar.

The sample intervals are typically 88em in length and in some instances may be upntanllength. In areas where potential mineralizaig
less likely, the sampling interval varies from 28em and could be as much as a metre. The santplwdts are allocated a sampling num
which is written on the core for reference purposdse half-core is then removed and placed intddaigality plastic bags together witt
sampling tag containing the sampling number, whsclkentered onto a sample sheet. The start and epithslare marked on the core wit
corresponding line. The duplicate tag stays asmameent record in the sample booklet, which is sston site. The responsible project geol
then seals the sampling bag. The sampling infoonas recorded on a specially designed samplingtsthat facilitates digital capture into
SABLE system (commercially available logging softe)a The sampling extends to core that is consitiErde of less economic potential.

The sampling methodology accords with PTM RSA protdased on industry best practice. The qualitythef sampling is monitored &
supervised by a qualified geologist. The sampligdone in a manner that includes the entire patntconomic unit. Sampling oveelectiot
and sampling bias is minimized by rotating the camehat the stratification is vertical and by iisg a cutline down the centre of the core
removing one side of the core only.

Core sampling is undertaken by qualified geologistder the supervision of the project geologistpusresponsible for timely delivery of
samples to the relevant laboratory. The superviaimd) project geologists ensure that samples amegoasted in accordance with the PTM F
protocols.

When samples are prepared for shipment to the @rallyacility the following steps are followed:)(aamples are sequenced within the se
storage area and the sample sequences examinetetaihe if any samples are out of order or missfhjythe sample sequences and nun
shipped are recorded both on the chaimugtody form and on the analytical request formtife samples are placed according to sequenc
large plastic bags (the numbers of the samplesrasi®sed on the outside of the bag with the shipnvesybill or order number and the numbe
bags included in the shipment); (d) the chaircadtody form and analytical request sheet are oetebl signed and dated by the project geol
before the samples are removed from secured staratjthe project geologist keeps copies of theyéinal request form and the chain-oistod
form on site; and (e) once the above is completebitlae sample shipping bags are sealed, the samples®e removed from the secured area
method by which the sample shipment bags have semired must be recorded on the chaioustody document so that the recipient can in:
for tampering of the shipment.
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Security of Samples

The sampling methodology accords with PTM RSA protdbased on industry best practice. The qualitythef sampling is monitored a
supervised by a qualified geologist. The samplgdane in a manner that includes the entire patingconomic unit.

For the present database, field samples have edyzad by two different laboratories: the priméalgoratory is currently Set Point laborato
(South Africa), and Genalysis (Australia) is usedrbund robin test work to confirm the accuracytwf primary laboratory.

Samples are received, sorted, verified and cheftketioisture and dried if necessary. Each sampleeighed and the results are recorded. R
rock chips or lumps are crushed using a jaw crushksss than 10mm. The samples are then millefiierminutes in a Labtech Essa LM2 mil
achieve a fineness of 90% less than 106pum, whittkeisninimum requirement to ensure the best acglwaad precision during analysis.

Samples are analyzed for Pt (ppb), Pd (ppb) Rh)(ap8 Au (ppb) by standard 25g lead fire-assayguaisilver collector. After preencentratio
by fire assay the resulting solutions are analymidg ICP-OES.

The base metals (copper, nickel, cobalt and othse bnetals) are analyzed using IOBS after a four acid digest. This technique resim
“almost” total digestion.

The drilling, sampling and analytical aspects & fhroject are considered to have been undertakéndtestry standards. The author of
Waterberg Report considered the data to be releidiesuitable for mineral resource estimation.

Planned Exploration and Development Progre

Drilling on the Waterberg Project is currently doaming with ten machines on a roughly 250m gridjwgeveral machines on 500m or greater
outs. Interpretation of current drilling combinedtwgeophysical survey data indicates that theenily granted prospecting rights allow for u
six kilometres of northeasterly strike length beftihe system strikes onto the adjacent permit avbch is under registered applications to
Company. The up dip extension of the deposit toethst will be drilled once that licence area, nowlar registered application, is granted tc
Company.

An approved 2012 budget for the Waterberg jointtwsenwith JOGMEC was set at US$8.37 million, whishnow nearing completion. Tl
budget provided funding for:

e 35,610m of drilling and sampling;

e airborne magnetic and radiometric surveys;

e a SQUITEM high sensitivity magnetic survey;

e acquisition and analysis of high resolution Landisetgery;
e metallurgical studies and petrographic studies; and

e an initial resource calculation (which was comples®d announced September 5, 2012).

Results of the above 2012 work program are expeotée finalised and studied by the joint ventuaeters by December 2012, following wk
a final budget for 2013 will be developed and apptbby the joint venture partners. In the WaterliRegort, a forward budget in the amour
$10 million (see table below) is recommended, oifclwithe Company would be responsible for a comb&&¥% share.




-54 —

Platinum Group Metals Lt
2012 Annual Information For

This recommended forward budget was derived thraagisultation between the Companiechnical staff and the independent Qualifiecs&te
after which the independent Qualified Person folym@commended the forward budget in the WaterlRegort.

In the forward budget, the Compasytechnical staff and the independent Qualifieds®®recommended that drilling continue and thate
detailed logging be undertaken to improve the ggiold understanding and allow better layer defomitiThis will enhance the understandin
the geology to improve confidence in the minerabrtece and assist in advancing the project.

The Waterberg Report concludes that the scaleeoinitial inferred mineral resource at Waterberd #éme fact that the mineralization is ope
the north and east (area under application) suploet view that a drill program is warranted, aadommends infill drilling and drilling on tl
extensions to the current area.

Recommended Forward Exploration Budget as per the \Aterberg Report — September 2012
_ _ Cost E_stimate in
Description Cost Eztggate in Canadli? dollars
R8 to the $1.00
Exploration drilling along strike and up dip of tkeown deposit area (20,000m) R30M $3.75 million
Infill drilling to improve the understanding of tlgeology and potentially upgrade the mineral R30M $3.75 million
resource classification (20,000m)
Geophysical surveys R2M $0.25 million
Metallurgical studies R3M $0.375 million
Updated resource estimates R1M $0.125 million
Preliminary Economic Assessment study R4M $0.50 million
Contingency, Escalation R10M $1.25 million
Total R80OM $10.00 million

Non-Material Mineral Property Interests

Other nonmaterial mineral property interests of the Comparjude the War Springs and Tweespalk projectstémbén South Africa, the Sal
Joint Venture (as defined below) and the Compamgrious mineral property interests in Ontarion&a and Northwest Territories, Cani
These non-material property interests are notyiddally or collectively, material to the Companydsare described below.

War Springs and Tweespalk, North Limb, South Africa

Since 2005, the Company has been actively expldtsmdVar Springs and Tweespalk projects, which laoated on the North Limb of t
Bushveld Complex in South Africa. The War Springsperty covers 22km and is located 24km south of the Anglo open pit @RFlatinur
mine along the same “Platreef&ction of the Bushveld Complex. Exploration hassisied of diamond drilling, geophysical surveyd gnounc
prospecting. In March 2008, the Company reportethfarred resource on a 100% basis of 1.676 milbances 3E at a grade of 1.11 g/t wi
minor credit for copper and nickel. See “Cautionbigte to U.S. Investors’Additional information regarding grade, prill sglitsampling ar
resource calculations can be found in an NI 43+4&@hnical report dated June 18, 2009 entitledvised Inferred Mineral Resource Declare
War Springs (Oorlogsfontein 45K2), Northern Limkafium Property, Limpopo Province, Republic of $oatfrica” (the “War Springs Report
") filed on SEDAR atwww.sedar.conand on EDGAR atvww.sec.qov.

The War Springs mineral resource is characterigaavb distinct reef layers, termed the “B” and “f&efs. Both reefs are typically greater thar
metres thick. The reefs outcrop on surface ancheddiewn dip in parallel sheets at a 65 degree anggedepth of 400m, remaining open at de
Of the 22 boreholes drilled to February 2006, ardctv were used in the resource calculation, 15 Hmes intersected the “BReef and
boreholes intersected the “®Reef. A total of 9,926 samples were taken for aialyDrilling results from Phase 1 and 2 coveripgraximatel
2,200m of strike length on 250m spacing, combiné&l areview of economic cut-off, form the basigtud War Springs Report.
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Subject to vendor payments due upon a decisioririe,rthe Company holds a 70% interest in the Waing§p project and Africa Wide and Tal
Platinum Exploration (Pty) Ltd. (Taung Platinum ") each hold a 15% interest carried to feasibilitydgtuTaung Platinum is an affiliat
company of Moepi Platinum (Pty.) Ltd., which is tatén Ltd.’s BEE partner in South Africa.

In March 2009, the Company announced an optioneageat with JOGMEC, pursuant to which JOGMEC mayn €26% (one half of tt
Company’s interest) of Platinum Grogghterest in the War Springs project by incurfti§$10 million in expenses over five years. Sincedit
2009 a total of 17,222m of drilling in 20 boreholesve been completed on the War Springs projett MGMEC funding. Total expenditu
incurred by JOGMEC to August 31, 2011 on War Swiagiounted to approximately $2.9 million. During trear ended August 31, 2012,
drilling program was completed and JOGMEC indicateat it does not plan to fund further work on thimject. The Company is consider
further work or possible joint ventures for the jpa at this time.

Sable Joint Venture, South Africa

In 2007 and 2008, the Company conducted a new éssigenerative program which included researchimpiementation, including ti
application for several new licence areas on or teethe Bushveld Complex. In 2008 and 2009, them@any was granted several new prospe
rights as a result of this work. In 2009, the Compantered into an exploration joint venture (tHgdable Joint Venture™) with Sable with respe
to new prospecting rights located at the eastechaérthe Western Bushveld Complex encompassing62ktn 2. The Sable Joint Venture |
been converted from a contractual to a corporate jenture and three of the four prospecting sdhdve been transferred to the joint ver
company. Ministerial consent to transfer the foynthspecting right is pending. The shares in tla jeenture company are held by Sable ¢
51%, Platinum Group as to 20% and a private BEEBadium, the members of which are Umnotho Plati{érty) Ltd and National Resourt
Empowerment Fund, as to 26%. The Company servegerstor of the project until misltarch 2012, at which time operatorship was tramisét
to Sable. All exploration work to date on the Saldnt Venture has been funded by Sable. The ja@nture agreement contemplates that ¢
will fund R42 million in exploration costs over foyears on the basis that the funding for the fjestir is committed and Sable may elec
continue funding the subsequent years. Sable maeuapproximately R9.57 million ($1.16 million) thie R42 million ($5.2 million) referred
in the joint venture agreement. Platinum Groupas nequired to fund the project until Sable hastdgbated R42 million. Thereafter Platint
Group would retain a 23% interest in the properithwhe BEE group holding a 26% interest. The jaiehture agreement provides that it <
lapse in the event that Sable elects not to coatfanding the exploration costs. Sable is in preadgaising capital for further exploration on
project area as at the date of this AlF.

In July 2012, exploration results were announcethfdrilling conducted on the Sable Joint Venturgperty. 6400m of diamond drilling has b
completed and a mineralized layer “New Reedls been intersected at 129m on the Sable Jointuieproperty with a thickness of 4.25m ai
grade of 1.96 g/tonne 3E comprised of platinumlapaim and gold. The UG2 has also been intersemtedlipfontein at 1,945m with a thickne
of 2.05m with an average grade of 2.64g/tonne 3i&. details of the drilling results are as follows:

Depth Pt Pd Au 2PGE+Au Thickness
BHID REEF m gt o] gt gt m
GARO001DO New Reef 143 0.08 0.08 0.01 0.17 7.00
GARO003DO0O New Reef 129 0.34 1.51 0.11 1.96 4.25
GAR004DO0O New Reef 1,544 0.06 0.15 0.01 0.22 5.00
GARO007DO0O New Reef 124 0.15 0.30 0.02 0.47 1.75
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Depth Pt Pd Au 2PGE+Au Thickness

BHID REEF m glt g/t g/t g/t m
GARO001DO UG2 500 0.15 0.03 0.01 0.19 1.00
GAR004D0 UG2 1,945 2.17 0.45 0.02 2.64 2.05
GARO006D0 UG2 1,177 3.46 1.01 0.04 4.51 0.21

GARO002 and GAROO05 were collared behind the sidp position of these reef horizons. The layeses lzglieved to be shallow dipping ¢
therefore the true width is approximately 80% of the intercepts. No mineral reserves or mainersources have been established on the
Joint Venture property.

Lac Des lles, Ontario, Canac

The Company maintains a large mineral rights pmsiin the Lac des lles and Lac des Gras areasdflinder Bay Mining District, Ontario a
strategic holding against increasing prices folgoilm and platinum. At the beginning of fiscal 2812, the Company held 100% interest
total of 625.12kn¥ in this region; however during the year a numbeperipheral claims totaling 69.44kfr(not including Bark Lake discuss
below) were dropped. The core long term holdinthm Lac des lles area consisting of the 11 claimll8hLake and South Legris properties
been maintained. These 11 claims are subject #b Bdt smelter return (NSR ") royalties, which the Company may buy back. Landlimgjs by
the Company within the Thunder Bay Mining Distrairrently total 553.68kn% . In addition, the Company retains a majority iagrin th
63.5km? of mineral rights at the Agnew Lake property, witlihhe Sudbury Mining District

The majority of the Company’s 553.68Krholdings in the Thunder Bay Mining District are reaap of 515.84km of new properties acquired
staking early in 2011, which were identified ufitig in house compilation and modeling of geophysiechemistry and work completed by
Company in the area over the past 10 years. Alhese newly staked properties within the Thunder Baing District were targeted on a n
mineralization type in younger intrusive rocks wae@ontained platinum is equal or greater than gilta. Platinum Grou core long ter
holding of 11 claims are targeted on older intrasigck types like that at North American Palladiarhac des lles mine where palladium is
dominant platinum group metal. Historically, No#merican deposits have been dominated by palladatimer than rarer and more valuz
platinum. Recent exploration by other companieshim Thunder Bay area has demonstrated previousyplored potential for platinum a
palladium in pipe-like intrusions or conduits.

During the year ended August 31, 2012, the Complatfiyered notice to the vendors terminating theaspagreement on Benton Resource Cearp.’
(“ Benton”) Bark Lake platinum-palladium project Bark Lake ") located in the Thunder Bay North area. The Compatains no interest in t
property. Prior to termination of the optigan initial cash payment of $35,000 was made to ®@eand $289,572 was spent by the Compar
exploration on the property. Work during the yeatled August 31, 2012 consisted of a reconnaisséersatile Time Domain Electrivtagnetic:

(* VTEM ) airborne geophysical survey and the drilling of 3138n eight diamond drill holes. For the year endegust 31, 2012, the Compe
wrote off $324,572 in acquisition and exploratiarsis incurred to date on the Bark Lake property.

To date, five of the 100% owned properties havenbesll tested based on airborne geophysics sumesylts, geological ground wo
geochemistry and compilation of historic data. fat@f 4,274m have been drilled in 17 holes, ofakh2,891m in nine holes have been driller
100% owned properties.

Diamond drilling completed within the one year pdriending August 31, 2012 totaled 1350m in fiveebpfour of which were on the Trian
Property and one on the Badger Property. Two ofhilles on the Triangle Property were extensionprefiously drilled holes for downhc
geophysical surveys. In addition a 39 line kiloraetietailed VTEM survey was completed to define argbability high seen in the regio
VTEM survey over the Triangle Property completedhie previous year. The diamond drilling and subsatj downhole geophysical surv
tested a chargeability high modeled from the dedaf TEM survey. A large Achaean gabbro suite wasréepted below the Proterozoic Lo
Sills below the 230m depth. Of interest are asséygeakly anomalous chromium, nickel, copper, plath and palladium in some of the Arch
gabbro intercepted with drilling. The chargeabiliigh remains unexplained to date.
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To date none of the drilling by the Company onybanger intrusive targets has intersected the gew of platinum mineralization found in 1
district. In 2012, the Company reviewed the resoftits exploration work in the Thunder Bay regiand made the decision not to proceed
further work on its Dog River and Bullseye claims. a result, for the year ending August 31, 20h&,Company wrote off $88,058 in acquisi
and exploration costs incurred to date on thespesties. No mineral reserves or mineral resoureee lheen established on any of the prope
The Company is now considering its potential progdor the remainder of 2012 in Thunder Bay in eshbf its other Canadian and glc
exploration opportunities.

Northwest Territories, Canac

During the year ending August 31, 2012, $1.55 onllin exploration costs were incurred on the CorgjzaNorthwest Territories (NWT ")
exploration program. Costs include: research amdpilation, camp maintenance, fuel purchase andlguppgravity survey, geology, diamc
drilling and assays. No further exploration expémeis have been made to date.

In September 2011, the Company purchased the RmsédCopper-Nickel-Cobalt-Platinum Group Metal<(f-Ni-Co-PGM ") property fron
Arctic Star Exploration (“Arctic Star ") for a payment of $50,000 and a 1.0% NSR royalteréwn survey has been completed on the cl
comprising the Providence property and the docuatiemt has been submitted to the Mining Recordesaitisfaction of final requirements
convert the claims to lease. As at the date of A5 the Company is awaiting final lease grant. date, the first year lease payment
application fees have been paid. Total acquisitimsts to date are $78,216.

The camp and associated land use permit have heehgsed for an additional $20,000 from Arctic S#dre Company has an active land
permit to conduct exploration on the property arantain a camp.

The property is comprised of 13 mineral claims|totp133.66km? and is located approximately 70km west of the Diddamond Mine, NWT
The property covers approximately 20km of a regergtognized belt of mafic to ultramafic rocks tiehost to the first discovery of magmi
Cu-Ni-Co-PGM massive sulphide mineralization in tBlave Craton. The ultnaafic suite of rocks known as the Providence Laledt Bre
interpreted to be Komatiitic to ultramafic lavasiotrusive sills. Drilling by the Company and histodrilling by Arctic Star has shown that
Cu-Ni-CoPGM mineralization is hosted within, and at the ebad the ultramafic flow/intrusive sill sequenceherl ultramafic host to tl
mineralization is stratiform to a basaltic hangimgll and a metasediment footwall. The hanging WwaBaltic flows contain intercalated sulphide-
rich units. The dimensions of the massive sulphidteeralization defined to date ranges in thickrfess 0.3m to 5.0m and have been interce
in drilling over a 75m strike length and down f@08n. The mineralized horizon has been drill testegk a 450m strike length to the east w
disseminated sulphides with anomalous PGM valuesro©ne hole to the east intercepted a 50cm il anomalous PGM values at the bas
the suite. The mineralized horizons remain opedefoth and the eastern hole shows there is posgibflfurther horizon development along
belt.

The Company has completed the Phase 1 and Phaam@ndl drilling programs as determined by the Camfsageologists for a total of 315(
in 14 holes. Exploration programs during the pemodsisted of camp supply, an 800 station gravityey and diamond drilling with assa
Work on the property
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commenced in mid-March, 2012. A step out drill peog to further define the extents of known Cu-NHE@BM mineralized zone was comple
The field work was completed by August 15, 2012.

The following table details assay results for massulphide intercepts from the 2012 diamond ddllprogram at Providence:

Hole ID from (m) to (m) length @) Ni (%) Cu (%) Co (%) Pt (g/t) Pd (g/t) 2PGE
(9/t)
PR12-04 185.85 190.10 4.25 1.62 1.04 0.15 0.13 1.90 2.03
PR12-08 271.95 275.60 3.65 1.79 141 0.15 0.13 2.16 2.28
PR12-08 278.17 280.10 1.93 1.40 2.09 0.12 0.07 1.59 1.66
Notes:

(1)  True thickness is approximately 87% of the intetdepgth.
(2)  Grades are based on assay results. There hasnsedficient drilling to define a mineral resouraedait is uncertain if further explorati
will result in exploration targets being delineatesda mineral resourc

Ni-Cu-CoPGM grade values are consistent with near surfaeximum 115m vertical depth) massive sulphide @#pts by previous operat

and the mineralization remains open at depth.

Significant grades from disseminated sulphide naliwation intercepts in the 2012 drilling progratPaovidence include:

Hole ID from (m) to (m) length @) Ni (%) Cu (%) Co (%) Pt (g/t) Pd (g/t) 2PGE
(g/t)
PR12-01 156.05 161.80 5.75 0.31 0.81 0.03 0.73 1.78 251
PR12-02 109.35 112.40 3.05 0.16 0.49 0.01 0.33 0.78 1.06
PR12-02 124.20 125.25 1.05 0.19 3.08 0.02 0.55 1.50 2.05
PR12-12 88.00 88.70 0.70 0.40 0.20 0.03 0.51 0.71 281
Notes:

(1)  True thickness is approximately 90% of the intetdepgth.
(2) Grades are based on assay results. There hasnsediicient drilling to define a mineral resouraedait is uncertain if further explorati
will result in exploration targets being delineatesda mineral resourc

No mineral reserves or mineral resources have bstblished on any of the properties. Currentlycttrapany is assessing the results in ord
make a decision on further exploration work. Fuexploration programmes in the NWT will be deperidgron the Compang’future exploratic
priorities.

All core samples from the 2012 diamond drilling gnam at Providence, NWT were prepared by cuttimgBmW core in half lengthwise witr
rock saw. Half the core was returned to the boddoarchived at site and the sample half was platgaastic bags. Sample lengths w
determined by the qualified person and each sainpdeval was sealed in a separate bag. Sample shignwere prepared by placing sev
individual bags into a large shipping bag and lamgelSamples are shipped directly from camp toAh8 Yellowknife preparation laboratory a
the analyses are done at the ALS North Vancouwlities. ALS laboratory is independent of the Camnp and is ISO/IEC 17025 accreditel
the analytical methods used for the Providencé shiinples. Core samples were analyzed using thawioly methods; PGMs were assayec
using a four acid digestion with fire assay fintth 50 g split (code-PGM-MS24) and ICP finish (céieM-ICP27) for over limit PGMs. Mul
element (48 elements including Co, Cu and Ni) wamalyzed for using a 2.5 gram split, 4 acid digestind inductively coupled plasma
spectrometry finish (code-ME-MS61) and ore gradayais (codedG62) consisting of four acid digestion with atoralzsorption spectroscopy
inductively-coupled plasma atomic emission specétoyrfor over limit elements.
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SOUTH AFRICAN REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

The Company is subject to South African governnregtilations that affect all aspects of the Compsaumgerations. Accordingly, the secti
below set out the primary laws and regulatory cpteto which the Company is subject.

Black Economic Empowerment in the South African Mimg Industry

The transition from an apartheid regime to a demattzregime brought with it a commitment by the ®oéfrican state, as enshrined in the Si
African Constitution (the ‘Constitution "), to take legislative and other measures to redressesults of past racial discrimination againack
South Africans, or as the Mining Charter definesnth historically disadvantaged South AfricansHDSAs ”). The MPRDA uses the te
historically disadvantaged person with referencéH@SAs. Under the MPRDA, the concept includes asgoaiation, the majority of whc
members are HDSAs as well as juristic persons iSB own and control the majority of the shares emrtrol the majority of the shareholders’
votes. This concept and process is known in SoutitaAas black economic empowerment or BEE. Theinginndustry was one of ma
industries identified by the South African govermmas requiring reform to bring about equitabledfgrfrom South Africas mineral industry 1
all South Africans and to promote local and ruelelopment and social upliftment of communitiegetd by mining.

The regulatory regime governing the South Africaming industry has therefore fundamentally changedr the past decade. Legisla
governing mining and BEE includes, among other |atws MPRDA,

Codes of Good Practice for the Minerals Indugtitye “ Codes”) and theHousing and Living Conditions Standards for the &ials Industry
2009(the “ Standards™) pursuant to the MPRDA, the Mining Charter, thénMg Charter Scorecard and thkning Titles Registration Act No.
of 1967 (as amended). There are currently discussions diegatheBroad Based Black Economic Empowerment Amendmént Bhich ma
override the Mining Charter and become the printegyslation governing all BEE related matters. Tiilsis still in its early stages, and the DI
has yet to state its position in respect thergofddition, none of the Mining Charter, the Mini@barter Scorecard, the 2004 Mining Charte
defined below) or the Codes are drafted as legislatocuments. They are instruments of policy amduch are frequently ambiguous, loo
worded and difficult to interpret with precision.

The MPRDA seeks to facilitate participation by HDSi mining ventures. Complying with the HDSA regis a prerequisite for being grar
and maintaining prospecting and mining rights. Eaguplication for a mining right under the MPRDA staemonstrate that the granting of ¢
right will:

e substantially and meaningfully expand opportunif@sHDSAS, including women, to enter the minenadl getroleum industry in order
benefit from the exploitation of the nation’s miakand petroleum resources; and

e promote employment and advance the social and edoneelfare of all South Africans.
The Mining Charter

The original mining charter was developed to givbstance and guidance to the empowerment provisioder the MPRDA and came into eff
on August 13, 2004 (2004 Mining Charter ”). The 2004 Mining Charter set out a number of targdigch were to be achieved by min
companies by 2009 and 2014. Amongst other targeiting companies had to achieve a 15% HDSA ownprblyi 2009 and a 26% HD¢
ownership by 2014. Ownership relates to ownershimioing assets, whether through the holding ofityqyartnership, joint venture or dir
holding. On July 14, 2004, the (then) Departmentirierals and Energy released a clarification doeotr(* Clarification Document ) to
provide policy guidance on the interpretation amgplementation of the MPRDA and the 2004 Mining G&arThis document was intendec
clarify the BEE requirements for unused mining ocogpecting licences and pending prospecting rigplieations. However, the Clarificati
Document concluded by stating that all other appitbmis for rights not mentioned in the ClarificatiDocument and in the custodianship of
state will be subject to a minimum of 26% BEE papttion. Consequently, and as a matter of potloy, DMR required and continues to requi
minimum 26% HDSA ownership for the grant of all nening right applications.
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Notwithstanding the uncertainties in BEE legislatapplicable to mining companies with regard to tieasurement of HDSA ownership, i
accepted practice (as confirmed in section 2.1.@@fCodes) that the so-called flow-through and ifretiflow-through principles are applica
to the calculation of indirectly held HDSA interegi.e. where there is partial HDSA ownership inagporate structure above the level of
company holding the prospecting or mining right)térms of the flowthrough principle, the level of indirect ownershipoportionally reduced
reflect partial HDSA shareholding in intermediatenpanies, would be calculated to determine thegstimmal indirect HDSA shareholding in 1
company holding the right. Under the modified flthweugh principle, a company with more than 50% HD&vnership (defined as a HD!
Company in the 2004 Mining Charter) may, at any @wel in a corporate structure, attribute 100% HKAD&vnership to that company for 1
purposes of applying the flow-through principle.

On September 13, 2010, the current Mining Charienecinto effect setting targets (some of which liantlze same as those in the 2004 Mi
Charter) to be achieved by mining companies by Bées 31, 2014, which targets include:

° Ownership: this entails 26% meaningful economic participatioy HDSAs and 26% full shareholder rights for HESAhe Mining
Charter refers to BEE entities as opposed to HD&Apanies but retains the 26% ownership ta

) Housing and living conditions: occupancy rate of employee accommodations ofpmmson per room and all conversion of empl
hostels must be fully achieve

° Procurement & enterprise developmet
) a minimum procurement of 40% of capital goods, @i%ervices and 50% of consumer goods from BEEiesitianc
° ensure that multinational suppliers of capital goadntribute at least 0.5% of their annual incoreaegated from local minit

companies towards a fund for the purposes of - economic development of local communiti

° Employment equity. 40% HDSA participation at Board level, at exeeatcommittee level, in middle management, in jum@mageme!
and 40% HDSA participation within core skil

° Human resource developme: 5% human resource development expenditure foooisé¢dDSAs as a percentage of total annual pay
° Mine community developmer: implementation of approved community proje
° Sustainable development & grow:
° implementation of approved EMP measured annuabyratjthe approved plar
° implementation of action plans on health and safeggsured annually against the approved plans
° utilization of South African based research faeititfor the analysis of all South African sourceidemal samples
° Beneficiation: contribute a percentage of additional productiolume towards local beneficiation of mineral contlities in accordant

with the beneficiation strategy introduced pursuarthe terms of section 26 of the MPRDA. No suthatsegy has yet been finalize

) Reporting: submission of annual reports to the DMR in respécompliance with the Mining Charte




-61 -

Platinum Group Metals Lt
2012 Annual Information For

New Order Mining and Prospecting Rights Under theRRDA

All of the Company’s prospecting and mining righte soealled new order rights (i.e. rights granted untierMPRDA) as opposed to old or
rights, being rights granted under (M&2RDA legislation. Under the MPRDA, mining compahi@perating in South Africa were required to a
for conversion of old order rights into new ordeogpecting and mining rights issued by the SoutlicAh state in terms of the MPRDA. N
order rights in respect of mining are granted fonaximum period of 30 years, with renewals of u@B@oyears at a time. Prospecting rights
valid for a period of five years, with one renewélp to three years. Furthermore, the MPRDA presitbr a retention period after prospectin
up to three years with one renewal of up to twagesubject to certain conditions. The holder pf@specting right granted under the MPRDA
the exclusive right to apply for and, subject tongliance with the requirements of the MPRDA, togoanted, a mining right in respect of
prospecting area in question.

The new order rights are transferable only with #pmproval of the Minister and are subject to vasidarms and conditions, includ
commencement of operations within specified petiatmntenance of continuing and active operatioxs@mpliance with work programs, so
and labour plans, EMPs and empowerment requirements

New order rights can be suspended or cancelletidinister if a holder has breached its obligationder the terms of the rights and has f.
to remedy such breach after written notice of theabh from the Minister and after being given aparspunity to respond. In addition, mini
rights could potentially be cancelled for non-coiapte with the Mining Charter.

Resource Nationalisn

The concept of resource nationalism encompassasge rof measures, such as expropriation or taxatbereby governments increase t
economic interest in natural resources, with ohatt compensation. The current South African gavemt has publically stated that it does
intend to nationalise the mining industry. Simyath the “State Intervention in the Minerals Setteport (“ SIMS Report”) issued by the rulir
party (i.e. the African National Congress (th&NC ")) in February 2012, the ANC details the limitatiomsl amegative consequences which wi
flow from South Africa implementing a nationaligati policy in both the instance where the South cafni state compensates or does
compensate the owners of mining companies. The JRg$ort does, however, discuss in detail variotesratives to nationalisation, which
government may pursue in meeting its BEE developahebjectives.

Some of these alternatives include greater sta¢eviention in the mining sector through the impositof new taxes and mandated increas
BEE parties’ and the South African government'sdirads in mining companies.

At this stage, the SIMS Report is merely a disarssiocument which the ANC will debate further atnftional conference to be held Decer
16-20, 2012. Details of the resolutions adopteth@tANC’s June 2012 policy conference were made publichilave on September 26, 20
Although wholesale nationalisation was rejecte@, tbsolution on nationalisation calls for stateeiméntion in the economy, includingtéte
ownership”, and indicates that many of the promosathe SIMS Report may be adopted at the DeceiE2 conference.

Environment

South Africa has a comprehensive and constantlyvinp environmental regulatory framework. The Cdmsibn entrenches the right to
environment that is not harmful to human healtlwell-being and imposes a duty to protect that environrfegrthe benefit of present and fut
generations through reasonable legislative andratteasures. The Constitution and NEMA, as well asous other related laws, grant le
standing to a wide range of people and interestiggdo bring legal proceedings to enforce theirirenvnental rights, such that claims car
made against private and public entities as wathasSouth African government.
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Recent amendments to such laws allow for the appeint of “Environmental Management Inspectors” witldetanging powers that c
undertake both announced and unannounced inspecéind investigations at some of South Afscahajor industrial facilities. Crimin
prosecutions have been initiated and enforcemetitasoissued following a number of these inspestidrhe focus to date has been on t
industries that impact heavily on air quality, imting the platinum sector.

South African environmental law is largely permésled and requires businesses whose operations amayah impact on the environmen
obtain licenses and authorizations for those ofmer®t These typically contain conditions that may feviewed periodically to make -
environmental standards which the holder is requiee meet more stringent. Environmental legislataeo stipulates general complia
requirements and incorporates a “polluter pgy#iciple by imposing a duty on specified partiedake reasonable measures to assess and ¢
pollution, even that which was authorized by lawfaflure to take such measures may result in gowemnal authorities taking measures age
and recovering costs from, a wider range of pattias the one on whom the duty primarily restssTaiter group includes a successor in title
person who caused the pollution. This aspect ofales retrospective in its application.

The MPRDA imposes specific responsibilities on mincompanies relating to environmental managemeahtia respect of any environmer
damage caused by prospecting, exploration or miagtyities. Under the MPRDA, all prospecting andhimg operations are to be conduc
according to an EMP which must be approved by thdRDANy changes to operations not contemplatednirEMP must be authorized
approved amendments/addendums of such EMPs; fdidudbtain such prior approvals places the Compaoyperations at risk of receivi
compliance notices/directives which can be enfotbedugh prosecution or the suspension or canaalaif rights after due notice. Directors \
be held personally liable under provisions of theRIDA and NEMA for actionable environmental degramatSouth African mining compan
are required by law to undertake rehabilitatiomi@nage and remedy the environmental impact of pais and mining activities as part of tl
ongoing operations in accordance with an approwd® Evhich supports a mine closure plan. In additiuming the operational life of the m
they must provide for the cost of mine closure bélitation and postlosure maintenance and monitoring through paymietdsrehabilitatiol
trusts or the use of bank guarantees. An annuadweof the adequacy of the Compasygehabilitation provision is undertaken in accoawitt
the MPRDA.

Under the NWA, water cannot be owned, but is heldrust for the people of South Africa under thatess custodianship. Ordinarily t
Department of Water Affairs allocates water usdtggwhich include consumptive uses, effluent disghaand the alteration of watercour
Regulations published under the NWA regulate wat in relation to mining activities, providing fomitations on the location of minii
infrastructure and requirements for separationidf @nd clean water systems. Generally, largeeseadter users are required to apply for w
use licenses and may in certain cases need tdeegiater uses. Use without authorisation may beidered unlawful. If deemed unlawful,
Department of Water Affairs may issue administmtilirectives to enforce the provisions of the NV&#gnificant progress has been made b
Department of Water Affairs in processing pendirajex related applications, however, a backlog, wimcludes the WBJV Project 1 water
licence application, remains.

The National Environmental Management Air Quality Aat.N89 of 2004(* AQA ") regulates air pollution in South Africa and proksbihe
undertaking of activities listed under AQA, incladi certain mining and processing activities, witham Atmospheric Emission Licen
Minimum emission standards have been set for sttt lactivity
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The Waste Act regulates the storage, treatmentdispmbsal of waste, but waste generated during theese of mining operations is larg
excluded from its ambit. That said, the provisiohthe Waste Act are relevant generally to the Camyfs operations.

The 2010 Environmental Impact Assessment Reguktivomulgated under NEMA commenced on August 2020hese regulate activities t
are incidental to mining, such as the clearingegfetation and the building of roads of specifiadetisions. They also provide for the regulatic
mining and prospecting activities generally once transition of environmental regulation of miniagtivities from the MPRDA to NEM
(described below) is completed. NEMA listed act@strequire environmental authorization before peindertaken and no person may comm
such an activity unless the competent authoritygnasted an environmental authorization. Generillg,a criminal offence to commence sucl
activity without environmental authorization. A pen who has commenced such an activity withoutrenmiental authorization may apply
rectification of this state of affairs. On a plaieading of the wording of the rectification prowiss, it appears that the applicant for ¢
rectification is entitled to continue with the uwlal activity until such time as the Minister or kiwer of the Executive Council directs otherwise.

The National Environmental Management Amendment AcbRaf 200§ NEMAA ") was promulgated on January 9, 2009 and came ifgol
on May 1, 2009. Th#linerals and Petroleum Resources Development AmemidAtt No. 49 of 2008 MPRDAA ) was promulgated on Ap
21, 2009, although a commencement date has not freetaimed by the President and it is expectedetaepealed or significantly amenc
Should the MPRDAA, however, be brought into efféleg existing provisions in the MPRDA relating toveonmental management will proba
be removed from this statute, and would most likedyintegrated into NEMAA, under the jurisdictiohtibe Department of Environmental Affai

Mine Safety

Mine safety in South Africa is governed by tkiéne Health and Safety Act No. 29 of 1998MHSA "), which is enforced by the Inspectorat:
Mine Health and Safety, a part of the DMR. The répg provisions of the MHSA are aligned with thredrnational Labour OrganizatianCod:
of Practice on Recording and Notification of Ocdigraal Accidents and Diseases. Under the MHSA, Goenpany is obligated, among ot
things, to ensure, as far as reasonably practictitdethe Compang’ mines are designed, constructed and equippeatalp conditions for sa
operation and a healthy working environment andrfiees are commissioned, operated, maintained andngmissioned in such a way
employees can perform their work without endanggtiveir health and safety or that of any other ger3he Company is also obliged to ens
as far as reasonably practicable, that personsamhoot employees, but who may be directly affebiethe Company mining activities are n
exposed to any hazards relating to their healthsafety. The MHSA also permits mine inspectorsstué safety compliance notices to m
under section 55 of the MHSA and, should the ingpedeel that the action is warranted, to templyratose part or all of the operations un
powers conferred by section 54 of the MHSA.

The removal of a section 54 notice can be a pridaprocess and the usual remedy available to & mwmner either involving makii
representations to the relevant regional Prindipgdector of Mines or appealing to the South Africaurts for injunctive relief.

The Mine Health and Safety Amendment Aethich came into effect on May 30, 2009, crimine$ violations of the MHSA, increases
maximum fines to R1 million per occurrence and @edhe possibility that mining licenses could &eoked for continued safety violations.

Royalty Payment

TheMineral and Petroleum Resources Royalty Act, 200oyalty Act ") imposes a royalty on the first transfer of refimedunrefined mineral
payable to the state, calculated on the actuatemed gross sales amount at the statutorily detedrgaleable condition (i.e. whether the mir
is in a refined or unrefined condition as deterrdiimeaccordance with Schedule 1 and 2, respectieéithe Royalty Act).
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The royalty rate in respect of refined mineralsatculated by dividing earnings before interest tmabs, or EBIT (as defined for purposes o
Royalty Act), by the product of 12.5 times grosgerue, calculated as a percentage, plus an adalifiob% . EBIT refers to the taxable min
income of the holder of the right (with certain egtions such as no deduction for interest payatdefareign exchange losses) before assi
losses but after capital expenditure. There is atsarms length adjustment, where applicable. A maximuyalty rate of 5% of revenue appl
to refined minerals.

The royalty rate in respect of unrefined mineralscalculated by dividing EBIT by the product of @itimes gross revenue, calculated
percentage, plus an additional 0.5% . A maximunaltgyrate of 7% applies to unrefined minerals.

Exchange Control

South African law provides for Exchange Control géhiamong other things, regulates the flow of @gitom the CMA. TheCurrency an
Exchanges Act No. 9 of 19(* CE Act ") empowers the President of South Africa to makeledigms in regard to any matter directly or indttg
relating to currency, banking or exchanges. Theidin of Finance is responsible for all mattersard@gg exchange control policy, and certai
these powers and functions have been delegatbe t8BARB, more specifically the Financial Surveidarbepartment.

The Exchange Control Regulations, which are adngirésl by the Financial Surveillance Departmeniagmied throughout the CMA and regu
transactions involving South African exchange aaintesidents, including companies. The basic pwemshe Exchange Control Regulations |
mitigate the negative effects caused by a declifiereign capital reserves in South Africa, whichymesult in the devaluation of the Rand agi
other currencies. It is the stated objective of @la¢horities to achieve equality of treatment betweesidents and naesidents for exchan
control purposes as it relates to inflows and outfl of capital. While the South African governméas relaxed Exchange Controls in re
years, the Company expects current exchange centroémain in place for the foreseeable future.

The Company is subject to various forms of suchtrot;m The Company is generally not permitted tpagk capital from South Africa, hc
foreign currency, incur indebtedness denominatetbiimign currencies or acquire an interest in a&ifpr venture without the approval of
relevant South African exchange control authoritiés a result, the Comparsyability to extract dividends from operating sualmiies in th
common monetary area, which links South Africa,dtke and Swaziland into a monetary union, is retsti.

Carbon Tax/Climate Change Policies

The South African government is considering theotttiction of a carbon tax in 2013 to reduce greasb@as emissions. Currently, the prop
carbon tax will be R120 per ton of C{emitted; however, if the carbon tax is adoptedtsncurrently proposed form, 60% of emissions w

initially be tax exempt. The 60% discount will cionte to apply until 2020. The net carbon tax whittefore be R48 per ton COemitted. It it
currently proposed that the R48 per ton will beatsted by 10% per annum until 2020. The 60% distailhbe scaled back gradually from 2(
until 2025 and may then be replaced by absolutes®ars thresholds. A revised policy paper whicltulises the proposed carbon tax an

possibility of introducing a trading scheme for gmbouse gases is expected to be released by thie Sfvican government for public commu
late in 2012.
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South African Companies Ac

The Company’s South African subsidiaries are subfetheSouth African Companies Aghe “Companies Act”) which came into force on M.
1, 2011. The aim of the Companies Axto modernize company law in South Africa so ih& comparable with leading jurisdictions arotthe
world.

The Companies Act has introduced numerous new legatepts into South African company law, and there therefore some areas
uncertainty in the application and implementatiénhe Companies Act in these early stages of iistence. Various compliance obligations t
been brought about for companies and their boandiiding a requirement to ensure that a compangnstitutional documents are aligned
the Companies Act, and that any shareholders’ agrats that are in place are aligned with the coyigamemorandum of incorporation and
Companies Act. There is essentially a two-year ¢grperiod”for such alignment process to take place, in thatject to certain exceptions,
two years after the commencement date of the Compafict (May 1, 2011), a pre-existing company’s rehalders’ agreement and/
constitutional documents will prevail in the caseamy inconsistency with the Companies Act. The @any’s process to register a n
memorandum of incorporation for the Company’s Sd\ftitan subsidiaries is well advanced.

The Companies Act also requires that certain caiegjof companies have in place certain committeasiely audit committees (for all public ¢
state owned companies) and social and ethics cdeawiffor all public and state owned companieselsas other companies that reach a ce
“public interest score” in terms of the CompaniegRations, 2011). The “public interest scor@kes into account the number of shareholder
employees of the company, as well as the amoutieofompany’s debt and annual turnover.

Failure to comply with the Companies Act can leagdtdmpliance notices being issued by the Companmesintellectual Property Commissi
administrative fines and civil liability for damagyeaused by non-compliance. The Compsu80uth African subsidiaries may also be liableet
the Companies Act to “any” other person for anyslos damage suffered by that person as a resthiea€ompany’s subsidiary’s naomplianc
with the Companies Act.

The Companies Act extends shareholddamgits and recourse against companies and dirediss, directors, prescribed officers and comm
members will now face more extensive and stricteugds for personal liability for their actionsdarrying out their functions within the comp:
than was the case under the previous regime. Thg@oies Act introduces class action suits agamsipanies, directors and company officer
persons whose rights are affected by the compamyp@nies will thus face a greater risk of litigatend the costs thereof. Minority shareholders’
rights in the context of mergers and other fundaalemansactions have also been increased sutatantuch as the introduction of appra
rights and the ability to set aside and review gpeesolutions approving such transactions. Thigd result in the hindrance of such transactions.

The Companies Act has also introduced fairly extensegulation of financial assistance given amongiated and inter related companies, in
there must be shareholder approval, compliance soittency and liquidity, and fairness and reasaradss in relation to such financial assiste
This for instance affects intra group loan and ggcarrangements, as well transactions with tiiatties where guarantees or other security w
a group of companies is given. This affects finaheaissistance given by South African companies, \aadld accordingly affect financi
assistance given by South African companies to®mumh African related entities.

The Companies Act prohibits companies from creadimg further par value shares. If a company wisbéscrease its share capital, it will hav:
convert all of its preexisting par value shares into shares of no parevalhe revenue authorities have issued a rulinh wispect to the ti
treatment of such conversions to the effect thah stonversions shall not be viewed as “disposdlkis may become relevant in respect ol
Company’s South African subsidiaries should thiears capital be required to be increased at aigge $ta whatever reason.
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An important innovation of the Companies Act isttbbusiness rescue, which is modelled to somengxin the US “Chapter 1Bankruptc
procedures. Business rescue is a largelyjaditial, commercial process that aims to rescti@ancially distressed company and maximize
likelihood of the company’s continued existenceamolvent basis.

Land Use

While national and provincial policies exist andynee developed for land use planning, municipaitiee constitutionally empowered to regt
the effective administration of land use plannirithim their respective jurisdictions. Land use ragjon is implemented through zoning sche
which determine and administer land use rights thedrestrictions on such rights. The zoning scherafisct all permissible land use rights
properties within the municipalitg’area of jurisdiction. Deviations from the zongapeme are only permissible upon application ferrtbcessa
departure, land use consent or re-zoning applicatsoregulated by the applicable scheme.

While previously it was in dispute whether munid¢ipéanning had the power to regulate mining adteit recent (April 2012) constitutiot
judgments in the cases City of Cape Town v Maccsand (Proprietary) Limitaod Othersand Minister for Mineral Resources v Swartle
Municipality and others, confirmed that town planning approvals and cotssare required for mining activities. Recenthligh Court decisio
has indicated that such consents will likewisedsiired for prospecting activities. The effectltdge judgments is that all mining and prospe
operations need to be conducted on land whichpsogpiately zoned for mining or prospecting. Miniogmpanies run the risk of being interdic
from continuing with their operations pending azming if the land on which they are operating @ appropriately zoned. The pract
implications of complying with these judgments atanerous and will need to be considered furthethbyCompanys operations. This is furtt
complicated by the fact that South Afrisaprovincial land use planning laws are differemt €éach province. Another aspect which req
consideration is who should apply for such re-zgnilthough land owners would typically be the apght, the Companyg operations are r
always conducted on land which the Company ownsok&lingly, the Company has been required to recaesindments to zoning scheme
municipalities in which the Company intends to jpexst or mine.

Beneficiation

In the latter part of 2011, the DMR announced #ggdficiation strategy which includes the possibigasition of further conditions to mini
rights to ensure the supply of raw materials foaldeneficiation.

In the future, the DMR may impose mandatory cond#ion mining rights holders that would requiret thaertain percentage of productior
“made available” for local beneficiation througlp@ssible quota based restriction on the exporhbtueficiated mineral products.

The beneficiation strategy presented by the DMR@sas yet been adopted as government policg. dt ithis stage a strategy document
explores the framework required to promote and ecddocal beneficiation of mineral commodities nairie South Africa. As such, there is ¢
some uncertainty as to how the DMR’s beneficiatitategy will influence government policy and apable legislation.

Labour Relations Ac

Employee and industrial relations at an individaradl collective level are governed by thebour Relations Act No. 66 of 1998s amended (the “
LRA ™).

The LRA does not provide for a statutory duty togaén collectively or otherwise, which is a pureiyluntary decision. The LRA endorses a co-
operative approach whereby two or more trade untansaggregate their membership for the purposashaéving majority status in a collect
bargaining unit or forum.
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RISK FACTORS

The Company’s securities should be considered layhgpeculative investment due to the nature ofGbepanys business and present stag
exploration and development of its mineral progsrtResource exploration and development is a Eie®ubusiness, characterized by a nur
of significant risks including, among other thingsprofitable efforts resulting not only from thedléire to discover mineral deposits but also 1
finding mineral deposits, which, though preserg, iasufficient in quantity or quality to return eofit from production. Investors should carefi
consider all of the information disclosed in then@anys Canadian and U.S. regulatory filings prior to imgkan investment in the Compa
Without limiting the foregoing, the following ristactors should be given special consideration wdaluating an investment in the Company’
securities. Additional risks not currently knowntkee Company, or that the Company currently deenmsaterial, may also impair the Compasny’
operations.

Risks Relating to our Compa

The Companys current cash will not be sufficient to fund itsusiness as currently planned for the next 12 monthasd the Company therefo
requires additional financing, which may not be al@ble on acceptable terms, if at all.

The Company currently does not have adequate ftmmdatisfy all of its planned financial requiren®ifidr the next 12 months relating to
exploration, development and operation of its prgieThe Company therefore requires additionalniéiteg from external sources, such as
financing, equity financing or joint ventures, irder to meet such requirements and carry out theduevelopment of its projects and exte
growth opportunities. The success and the pricingny such capital raising and/or debt financing & dependent upon the prevailing ma
conditions at that time. There can be no assurtraesuch financing will be available to the Compan, if it is available, that it will be offerech
acceptable terms. If additional financing is raiskebugh the issuance of equity or convertible dsgurities of the Company, this may ha
depressive effect on the price of the Common Sharddhe interests of shareholders in the netas$éihe Company may be diluted.

The Company is seeking to secure the Project Leanilify for Maseve. At the present time, no bindicgmmitments have been signed by
Lenders with respect to the Project Loan Facilitye Lenders are under no obligation to provideRhgject Loan Facility on the terms descri
in this AIF, or at all. The completion of the Prctjd.oan Facility on the terms described in this AdFsubject to a number of risks, includi
without limitation, risks relating to changes inngeal market conditions, the condition of the Comypar its properties, and economic, sociz
political conditions in South Africa. No assurancas be given that such facility will be consummdade the timeline or on the terms descr
herein, or at all. In addition, funding under th@jBct Loan Facility, if consummated, is expectede subject to certain conditions, includ
without limitation, that the Company secure addiibequity funding, execute a concentratetakie agreement, acquire and maintain all req
permits and licences and establish an agreed niedtsing program. The Company may be unable tefgatiich conditions on favourable ter
or at all. In particular, if the Project Loan Fagilis consummated, any inability of the CompanyWesizwe to fund its required eqt
contributions thereunder will prevent funding anifization of such facility and may result in a daft thereunder, or in the case of Wesizwe t
unable to fund, the Company may be required to faedshortfall to avoid a default under such fagili

Any failure by the Company to obtain required fiogg on acceptable terms could cause the Compamelaty development of its mate
projects or could result in the Company being fdrte sell some of its assets on an untimely orwofeable basis. Any such delay or sale ¢
have a material adverse effect on the Company&niiral condition, results of operations and liqtyidi

The Company has a history of losses, and it antitgs continuing to incur losses for the foreseeahléure.
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Apart from income for the year ended August 31,26f.$26.66 million, the Company has a historyasfses. None of the Compasypropertie
are currently in production, and there is no catyathat the Company will succeed in placing anyitefproperties into production in the n
future, if at all.

The Company anticipates continued losses for theséeable future until it can successfully place onmore of its properties into commer
production on a profitable basis. It could be yelaefore the Company receives any revenues frompaogluction of metals, if ever. If t
Company is unable to generate significant reverwiés respect to its properties, the Company wilt be able to earn profits or contir
operations.

The Company may not be able to continue as a gaingcern.

The Company has limited financial resources andperating revenues. The Compangbility to continue as a going concern is depehdpon
among other things, the Company establishing comialeguantities of mineral reserves on its progsrand obtaining the necessary financir
develop and profitably produce such minerals deradtively, disposing of its interests on a padfle basis. Any unexpected costs, problen
delays could severely impact the Compangbility to continue exploration and developmaertivities. Should the Company be unable to con
as a going concern, realization of assets andeswdtit of liabilities in other than the normal ceusf business may be at amounts mate
different than the Company’s estimates. The amoatttibuted to the Compars/’exploration properties in its financial statersergpresel
acquisition and exploration costs and should ndtken to represent realizable value.

Most of the Compar’s properties contain no known mineral reserves.

Other than with respect to the Project 1 platinumemall of the Companyg’ properties are in the exploration stage, meathiagthe Company h
not determined whether such properties contain rairreserves that are economically recoverable. Gtmpany may never discover metal
commercially exploitable quantities at these prtpsr Failure to discover economically recoverabkerves on a mineral property will require
Company to write-off the costs capitalized for thaiperty in its financial statements.

Substantial additional work will be required in erdo determine if any economic deposits existen@ompanys properties outside of the Pro|
1 platinum mine. Substantial expenditures are reguio establish mineral reserves through drilang metallurgical and other testing technig
No assurance can be given that any level of regavieany mineral reserves will be realized or thay identified mineral deposit will ever qua
as a commercial mineable ore body that can beljegatl economically exploited.

The Company’s properties, including the Project tafinum mine, may not be brought into a state oframercial production.

Development of mineral properties involves a higlgreée of risk and few properties that are explaedultimately developed into produc
mines. The commercial viability of a mineral depaésidependent upon a number of factors which ay@id the Compang’control, including tr
attributes of the deposit, commodity prices, gowent policies and regulation and environmentalgatidn. Fluctuations in the market price:
minerals may render reserves and deposits congareiatively lower grades of mineralization uneamim The development of the Compasny’
properties, including the Project 1 platinum mind] require obtaining land use consents, permitd the construction and operation of mi
processing plants and related infrastructure. Agsalt, the Company is subject to all of the rigslssociated with establishing new mir
operations, including:

e the timing and cost, which can be considerabl¢h@itonstruction of mining and processing faciiténd related infrastructure;
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e the availability and cost of skilled labour and mgequipment;

e the availability and cost of appropriate smeltimgl/ar refining arrangements;

e the need to obtain necessary environmental and gthvernmental approvals and permits, and the grofrthose approvals and permits;
e the availability of funds to finance constructiamdadevelopment activities;

e potential opposition from nogevernmental organizations, environmental group®aal groups which may delay or prevent develop
activities; and

e potential increases in construction and operatogjscdue to changes in the cost of fuel, poweren@ds and supplies and foreign exche
rates.

The costs, timing and complexities of mine congtouncand development are increased by the remotgitm of the Compang’mining propertie
(other than the WBC Project, which is not remotelgated and has both power and water supply linessing the property), with additiol
challenges related thereto, including water and gvosupply and other support infrastructure. Formg)da, water resources are scarce a
Companys Waterberg Project. If the Company should decidenine at the Waterberg Project, it will have tdabBsh sources of water &
develop the infrastructure required to transpoitewto the project area. Similarly, the Company méled to secure a suitable location by purc
or long-term lease of surface or access rightseaWaterberg Project to establish the surfacegigbtessary to mine and process.

It is common in new mining operations to experiennexpected costs, problems and delays during diewelnt, construction and mine ramp-
Accordingly, there are no assurances that the Coypaproperties, including the Project 1 platinum mindll be brought into a state
commercial production.

Estimates of mineral reserves and mineral resourees based on interpretation and assumptions ane arherently imprecise

The mineral resource and mineral reserve estintateined in this AIF have been determined andedchhased on assumed future prices,oft-
grades and operating costs. However, until mingeplosits are actually mined and processed, mimesarves and mineral resources mu:
considered as estimates only. Any such estimatesxpressions of judgment based on knowledge, mieiperience, analysis of drilling res
and industry practices. Estimates can be impremigbdepend upon geological interpretation andssizl inferences drawn from drilling a
sampling analysis, which may prove to be unrelialle@ddition, the grade and/or quantity of presiouwetals ultimately recovered may differ ft
that indicated by drilling results. There can beassurance that precious metals recovered in salk- tests will be duplicated in largeale tes
under onsite conditions or in production scale. Extendeclides in market prices for platinum, palladiumedium and gold may render portic
of the Companys mineralization uneconomic and result in reduegubrted mineralization. Amendments to the mine gkamd production profils
may be required as the amount of resources chaggson receipt of further information during threplementation phase of the project. ,
material reductions in estimates of mineralizatmnof the Company' ability to extract this mineralization, could lesa material adverse effect
the Companys results of operations or financial condition. Téféect of any reductions in estimates at the Rtoje platinum mine may |
exacerbated given the relatively small size ofdéposit and short mine life of the project.

Actual capital costs, operating costs, productiondaeconomic returns may differ significantly fromhbse the Company has anticipated ¢
there are no assurances that any future developmetivities will result in profitable mining operains.
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The capital costs to take the Company’s projedis pmoduction may be significantly higher than eipéted. None of the Compaisyminera
properties has an operating history upon whichQbmpany can base estimates of future operating.cbDstisions about the development of
Companys mineral properties will ultimately be based upeasibility studies. Feasibility studies deriveimasites of cash operating costs bz
upon, among other things:

e anticipated tonnage, grades and metallurgical cheniatics of the ore to be mined and processed;
e anticipated recovery rates of metals from the ore;
e cash operating costs of comparable facilities anpdpenent; and

e anticipated climatic conditions.

Capital costs, operating costs, production and @odn returns, and other estimates contained inietudr estimates prepared by or for
Company, may differ significantly from those antigied by the Comparg/current studies and estimates, and there caw lbssurance that t
Companys actual capital and operating costs will not kghér than currently anticipated. For example, dpggacosts per tonne at the Proje
platinum mine are estimated to have increased pyoapnately 24% since the 2009 UFS, principallyaasesult of increased prices for labi
power and consumables, such as drill steel, rotifbexplosives and fuel. In addition, constructioosts at the Project 1 platinum mine
estimated to have increased by approximately 14%esthe 2009 UFS, primarily as a result of incrdakdour, construction and cap
equipment costs. As a result of higher capital @perating costs, production and economic returng diféer significant from those the Compe
has anticipated.

The Company is subject to the risk of fluctuatioimsthe relative values of the Canadian Dollar asropared to the South African Rand and t
United States Dollar.

The Company may be adversely affected by foreigreagy fluctuations. The Company is primarily fuddérough equity investments into

Company denominated in Canadian Dollars. In thenabcourse of business the Company enters intsdcions for the purchase of supplies
services denominated in South African Rand. The i@y also has assets, cash and certain liabitidasminated in South African Rand. Sev
of the Companys options to acquire properties or surface rightSaouth Africa may result in payments by the Comypaenominated in Sou
African Rand or in U.S. Dollars. Exploration, dey@inent and administrative costs to be funded byQbmpany in South Africa will also

denominated in South African Rand. Fluctuationshim exchange rates between the Canadian Dollathen8outh African Rand or U.S. Dol
may have a material adverse effect on the Compdimancial results. During the year ended August2D12, the Company recorded a for
currency translation adjustment of approximately #8llion as a loss in other comprehensive incowtgch was primarily the result of translat
the Companys Rand denominated assets and liabilities in Safriba, and cash balances held in Rand, at weakavange rates to the Rand fr
Canadian Dollars at fiscal year-end on August 8122

In addition, South Africa has in the past experéghdouble digit rates of inflation. If South Afriexperiences substantial inflation in the fut
the Companys costs in South African Rand terms will increagmificantly, subject to movements in applicablecleaxnge rates. Inflatione
pressures may also curtail the Company’s abilitya¢ocess global financial markets in the longem and its ability to fund planned cag
expenditures, and could materially adversely affeet Companys business, financial condition and results of api@ns. The South Afric:
governmens response to inflation or other significant magoconomic pressures may include the introductiopabties or other measures t
could increase the Compansytosts, reduce operating margins and materiaieradly affect its business, financial conditiord aesults c
operations.
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Metal prices are subject to change, and a substaintir extended decline in such prices could matdlsicand adversely affect the value of 1
Company’s mineral properties and potential futuresults of operations and cash flows.

Metal prices have historically been subject to sigent price fluctuations. No assurance may beegithat metal prices will remain stal
Significant price fluctuations over short periodsime may be generated by numerous factors bettmmdontrol of the Company, including:

e domestic and international economic and politioehds;
e expectations of inflation;

e currency exchange fluctuations;

e interest rates;

e global or regional consumption patterns;

e speculative activities; and

e increases or decreases in production due to imgroweing and production methods.

Significant or continued reductions or volatility metal prices may have an adverse effect on timep@oys business, including the amount of
Company’s mineral reserves, the economic attractise of the Company’s projects, the Compargbility to obtain financing and deve
projects and, if the Company’s projects enter tloglpction phase, the amount of the Company’s res®ou profit or loss.

Judgments based upon the civil liability provision§the United States federal securities laws maydifficult to enforce.

The ability of investors to enforce judgments ofitdd States courts based upon the civil liabilitgyisions of the United States federal secui
laws against the Company, its directors and officand the experts named herein may be limitedaltiee fact that the Company is incorpori
outside of the United States, a majority of sudledors, officers, and experts reside outside efuhited States and their assets may be lo
outside the United States. There is uncertaintip aghether foreign courts would: (a) enforce judgtseof United States courts obtained ag:
the Company, its directors and officers or the egpaamed herein predicated upon the civil liapifitovisions of the United States fed:
securities laws; or (b) entertain original actidmsught in Canadian courts against the Companyuoh persons predicated upon the fec
securities laws of the United States, as such taas conflict with Canadian laws.

The Company will be required to provide a guarantgeder the Project Loan Facility, if consummated drsecured.

Maseve is currently negotiating and seeking to ieeuProject Loan Facility. The Company expects shieh facility, if consummated anc
secured, will obligate the Company to provide argntee of the obligations of Maseve thereunderiadilectly pledge its 74% interest in -
capital of Maseve. Maseve holds the Mining Rightite Project 1 platinum mine. It is expected tteg terms of the Project Loan Faci
agreements, if consummated and if secured, wileharious covenants, including financial tests tast be satisfied during the term of
Project Loan Facility. There can be no assuraneé shch tests will be satisfied. Any default untlee Project Loan Facility, including a
covenants thereunder, could result in the losk®fQompany’s entire interest in Maseve and thecetdj platinum mine.
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There may be a delay in the staup of the Project 1 platinum mine, which could relsuin a default under the Project Loan Facility,
consummated and secured.

The anticipated timelines for the completion of & and Phase 2 of the development of the Prbjelettinum mine and the commencement
ramp-up of production may prove to be inaccuraimelines are based on managemeotirrent expectations and may be affected by ébaum
factors, including consultantsinalyses and recommendations, the rate at whichnelifpres are incurred, delays in construction dgles
availability of major equipment and personnel ahe €Company’s ability to obtain requisite fundingrmits and licences and the Company’
ability to execute necessary agreements, some ighvlactors are beyond the Company’s control, ahithvcould cause managementimeline:
not to be realized. It is common for mining progett experience unexpected costs, problems angsdélay delay in the startp of the Project
platinum mine could have a material adverse effecthe Company financial condition and prospects. A delay map aksult in a default unc
the Project Loan Facility, if consummated and seduwhich may accelerate amounts due thereundepamit the Lenders to realise on
applicable security thereunder. This could resulh icomplete loss of the Compamynvestment in Maseve. There is no assurancdrbatanc
for any delay in startip at the Project 1 platinum mine will be availabldethe Company on economic terms or in such ansoastwould Lt
adequate to cover all losses.

If the Company is unable to retain key members aimagement, the Compa’s business might be harmed.

The Companys development to date has depended, and in theefuill continue to depend, on the efforts of iksi®r management including:
Michael Jones, President and Chief Executive Qffared a director of the Company; Frank R. Hallarhie€Financial Officer and Corpor:
Secretary and a director of the Company; and Brtese, Chief Operating Officer of the Company. Teenpany currently does not, and does
intend to, have key person insurance for thesevithaiils. Departures by members of senior managecmiitl have a negative impact on
Companys business, as the Company may not be able tcstiitdble personnel to replace departing manageoreattimely basis or at all. T
loss of any member of the senior management tearid émpair the Companyg’ ability to execute its business plan and coutetore have
material adverse effect on the Company’s businessits of operations and financial condition.

If the Company is unable to procure the servicess@flled and experienced personnel, the Comp’s business might be harmed.

There is currently a shortage of skilled and exgered personnel in the mining industry in Southicafr The competition for skilled a
experienced employees is exacerbated by the fattntfining companies operating in South Africa argally obliged to recruit and ret;
historically disadvantaged South Africans and womh the relevant skills and experience at leikl meet the transformation objectives
out in the MPRDA and the Mining Charter. Skilleddaexperienced personnel are especially importatiteaProject 1 platinum mine since
deposit does not lend itself to mechanized methddthie Company is unable to attract and retairfigehtly trained, skilled or experienc
personnel, its business may suffer and it may éspee significantly higher staff or contractor apsthich could have a material adverse effe:
its business, results of operations and financation.

Conflicts of interest may arise among the Compasmyofficers and directors as a result of their inv@ment with other mineral resour
companies.

Certain of the Company’officers and directors are, and others may becassmciated with other natural resource compdh#&sacquire interes
in mineral properties. R. Michael Jones, Presigemt Chief Executive Officer and a director of thenfpany, is also the President and C
Executive Officer and a director of West Kirklandrlihg Inc. (“ WKM ”), a public company with mineral exploration propestie Ontario an
Nevada, and a director of Nextraction Energy C¢* Nextraction "), a public company with oil properties in Alberta, i{ecky and Wyoming
Frank Hallam, Chief Financial Officer and Corpor&ecretary and a director of the Company, is alstirector, Chief Financial Officer a
Corporate Secretary of WKM and a director of MAGv&i Corp. (“MAG Silver "), a public company with mineral exploration propestie
Mexico, Lake Shore Gold Corp., a public companyhvatoducing and exploration properties in Ontaaiog Nextraction. Eric Carlson, a direc
of the Company, is also a director of MAG SilverK¥W and Nextraction. Barry Smee, a director of thenpany, is also a director of Almac
Minerals Ltd., a company with projects in Mexicle tUnited States and Canada.
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Such associations may give rise to conflicts afriest from time to time. As a result of these pigéoonflicts of interests, the Company may r
the opportunity to participate in certain transams$i, which may have a material adverse effect @en QGQompanys financial position. T
Companys directors are required by law to act honestly iangood faith with a view to the best intereststttd Company and to disclose
interest that they may have in any project or oppoty of the Company. If a subject involving a @arn of interest arises at a meeting of the b
of directors, any director in a conflict must desz his interest and abstain from voting on suctiema

Any disputes or disagreements with the Comg’s joint venture partners could materially and adeely affect the Company’s business.

The Company participates in joint ventures and reater into other similar arrangements in the futlf€M RSA is a party to the Mase
Shareholdes Agreement with Wesizwe (through its subsidiaryidsf Wide) and Maseve related to the exploratioth development of Project
and Project 3. Certain members of the managemehbaards of directors of Maseve are nominated hiycafWide. Although the Company |
majority control of Maseve and its board of direstahere is no assurance that the strategic direcf Project 1 or Project 3 will always
consistent with the Comparsyobjectives. In addition, PTM RSA is also a pdaya letter agreement with JOGMEC and Mnombo rdlabethe
exploration and development of the Waterberg Ptojebereby the interests of the Company, JOGMEC Mndmbo are 37%, 37% and 2¢
respectively. PTM RSA is also a 49.9% shareholdéimombo and the relationship among the sharehsldEMnombo is governed by a forr
shareholders’ agreement. Any change in the managemnestrategic direction of one or more of the @amy’s joint venture partners, includi
any disagreement among the Mnombo shareholderdd cuaterially adversely affect the Compasybusiness and results of operati
Additionally, if a dispute arises between the Compand a joint venture partner or the other Mnomshareholders that cannot be reso
amicably, the Company may be unable to move itgept® forward and may be involved in lengthy andtlgoproceedings to resolve the disp
which could materially and adversely affect the @amy’s business and results of operations.

The failure of the Company or its joint venture piers to fund their respective pro rata share ofnfils under the respective joint ventures r
have a material adverse effect on the Company’sibess and results of operations.

The Company, through its subsidiaries, participatepint ventures with various partners. In part&r, PTM RSA is a party to the Masi
Shareholdes Agreement with Wesizwe (through its subsidiaryidd Wide) and Maseve related to the exploratioth development of Project
and Project 3. Under the terms of the Maseve Shitelis Agreement, the board of directors of Maseve makertash calls on PTM RSA ¢
Africa Wide to meet project expenditures, which determined annually and adjusted each quarterdbasea review of Maseve’financia
performance and progress. Such cash calls are hoale in proportion to the joint venture partnestsareholdings in Maseve. In the event
PTM RSA or Africa Wide declines or fails to contik its prorata share of a cash call, its respective intdreélaseve would be diluted
proportion to the shortfall.

In addition, PTM RSA, the Company (as guarantoP®M RSA), Mnombo and JOGMEC are parties to the JEGM\greement, which gover
the joint venture in respect of the Waterberg Ritojender the JOGMEC Agreement, PTM RSA, Mnombo 48&MEC may elect to ful
programs that have been approved by a managemmmittee composed of a representative of each ofrite joint venture partners, provic
that voting power for each representative is pripioal to the respective joint venture partseriterest. In the event that PTM RSA, Mnhomb
JOGMEC fails to contribute its respective pro rsttare of program costs after electing to fund @arm, or twice elects not to fund a progr
then its respective participating interest in thiatj venture will be diluted in proportion to thiecstfall. If the interest of one or more of the {pars
is reduced to less than 10%, or if one or morehefpartners elects not to fund a program to achiewemercial production, then the dilu
partner's or partnershterest will be deemed transferred to the remaimpartner(s) and such diluted partner(s) will bétled to a 1.0% NS
royalty in the aggregate. Thus, if only one parigatiluted below 10%, it will receive the entird@% NSR royalty, but if two or more partners
each diluted below 10%, then they will share tf3¥ANSR royalty.
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In addition, because the development of the Comiajoynt venture projects depends on the abilitfitance further operations, any inability
the Company or one or more of its joint venturermens to fund its respective pro rata cash callccadversely affect the success of the applic
joint venture. The occurrence of the foregoingwa#i as any dilution of the Compa’s interests in its joint venture(s) as a resultobwn failure
to satisfy a cash call, may have a material adveffeet on the Company’s business and results efatipns.

There may be adverse Canadian tax consequences foreign controlled Canadian company that acquir€®mmon Shares of the Company

Certain adverse tax considerations may be appédaba shareholder that is a corporation reside@anada and is, or becomes, controlled
non-resident corporation for the purposes of treppsed “foreign affiliate dumping” rules in ttlecome Tax Ac{Canada). Such shareholc
should consult their tax advisors with respechtdonsequences of acquiring Common Shares.

The Company is likely a “passive foreign investmezampany”, which may have adverse U.S. federal income tax empgences for U.¢
shareholders

U.S. investors in the Common Shares should be athatethe Company believes it was classified asssige foreign investment company (
PFIC ") during the tax year ended August 31, 2048d based on current business plans and finangalcttions, the Company expects th
will be a PFIC for the current tax year and mayabeFIC in future tax years. If the Company is a@Pfér any year during a U.S. shareholder’
holding period, then such U.S. shareholder genevéll be required to treat any gain realized ugodisposition of Common Shares, or any so-
called “excess distributionfeceived on its Common Shares, as ordinary incand,to pay an interest charge on a portion of g1ah ol
distributions, unless the shareholder makes a yiraet effective “qualified electing fund” electigh QEF Election ”) or a “mark-to-market”
election with respect to the Common Shares. A sh@reholder who makes a QEF Election generally nepstrt on a current basis its share o
Companys net capital gain and ordinary earnings for angrye which the Company is a PFIC, whether or het Company distributes a
amounts to its shareholders. A U.S. shareholder nvakes the mark-torarket election generally must include as ordiracpme each year t
excess of the fair market value of the Common Shaver the taxpayes’basis therein. Each U.S. shareholder should tdtsown tax adviso
regarding the PFIC rules and the U.S. federal iretan consequences of the acquisition, ownershigbdaésposition of Common Shares.

Risks Related to the Mining Indus

Mining is inherently dangerous and subject to cotidns or events beyond the Compi’'s control, which could have a material adverse et
on the Company’s business.

Hazards such as fire, explosion, floods, structamlapses, industrial accidents, unusual or unebgoegeological conditions, ground con
problems, power outages, explosions, inclementiveeatave-ins, flooding and mechanical equipmehiriaare inherent risks in the Compasy’
mining operations. These and other hazards mayecajigies or death to employees, contractors beropersons at the Compasyminera
properties, severe damage to and destruction o€Ctirepanys property, plant and equipment and mineral pragserand contamination of,
damage to, the environment, and may result in tispension of the Comparsyexploration and development activities and amyréuproductio
activities. Safety measures implemented by the Gomyppnay not be successful in preventing or mitigafuture accidents and the Company
not be able to obtain insurance to cover theseatigconomically feasible premiums or at all. lasiwe against certain environmental risks it
generally available to the Company or to other canigs within the mining industry.
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In addition, from time to time the Company may bbject to governmental investigations and claint l#igation filed on behalf of persons w
are harmed while at its properties or otherwiseannection with the Compars/operations. To the extent that the Company igstuto person:
injury or other claims or lawsuits in the futuremay not be possible to predict the ultimate oote®f these claims and lawsuits due to the n
of personal injury litigation. Similarly, if the @apany is subject to governmental investigationgroceedings, the Company may incur signifi
penalties and fines, and enforcement actions aggicsuld result in the closing of certain of t®mpanys mining operations. If claims a
lawsuits or governmental investigations or procegsliare finally resolved against the Company, tm@anys financial performance, financ
position and results of operations could be madtgralversely affected.

The Company’s prospecting and mining rights are $eut to title risks.

The Companys prospecting and mining rights may be subjectrior punregistered agreements, transfers, claimstiéledmay be affected |
undetected defects. A successful challenge toribeige area and location of these claims couldtresthe Company being unable to operat
its properties as permitted or being unable to reefats rights with respect to its properties. Thauld result in the Company not be
compensated for its prior expenditures relatinthtoproperty. Title insurance is generally not kldée for mineral properties and the Company’
ability to ensure that it has obtained secure clainrmdividual mineral properties or mining condess may be severely constrained. Thes
other defects could adversely affect the Compatityésto its properties or delay or increase thst@j the development of such prospecting rights.

The Company is subject to significant governmentegjulation.

The Companys operations and exploration and development &etvin South Africa and Canada are subject torsite federal, stai
provincial, territorial and local laws and regutstigoverning various matters, including:

e environmental protection;

e management and use of toxic substances and exgdpsiv

e management of tailings and other waste generatédedompany’s operations;
e management of natural resources;

e exploration, development of mines, production aostylosure reclamation;

e exports and, in South Africa, potential local béciafion quotas;

e price controls;

e taxation;

e regulations concerning business dealings with looaimunities;

e labour standards and occupational health and safietyding mine safety; and

e historic and cultural preservation.
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Failure to comply with applicable laws and regula may result in civil or criminal fines or perdt or enforcement actions, including ort
issued by regulatory or judicial authorities enijpgnor curtailing operations or requiring correetimeasures, installation of additional equipr
or remedial actions, any of which could result Ive tCompany incurring significant expenditures. T®empany may also be required
compensate private parties suffering loss or darmbggeason of a breach of such laws, regulatioreomitting requirements. It is also poss
that future laws and regulations, or a more stmtgenforcement of current laws and regulations byegnmental authorities, could ca
additional expense, capital expenditures, restristion or suspensions of the Compangperations and delays in the development ¢
Company’s properties.

The Company may face equipment shortages, accessicdons and lack of infrastructure.

Natural resource exploration, development and rgirictivities are dependent on the availability d@fing, drilling and related equipment in
particular areas where such activities are conducdimited supply of such equipment or accessri®ns may affect the availability of st
equipment to the Company and may delay exploratiemelopment or extraction activities. Certain equent may not be immediately availa
or may require long lead time orders. A delay itaghing necessary equipment for mineral exploratiocluding drill rigs, could have a mate
adverse effect on the Company'’s operations anddiaaresults.

Mining, processing, development and explorationvéigs also depend, to one degree or anotherheravailability of adequate infrastructt
Reliable roads, bridges, power sources, fuel anterwsupply and the availability of skilled laboundaother infrastructure are import
determinants that affect capital and operating scoét each of the Comparsg/’projects, additional infrastructure will be regdi prior tc
commencement of mining. At Project 1, the Compamybst advanced project, the Company is in thegsof securing additional infrastruct
including additional power and water; however, safforts are subject to a number of risks, inclgdiisks related to inflation, cost overruns
delays, political opposition, and reliance upomdtparties, many of which factors are outside tleenSanys control. The lack of availability
acceptable terms or the delay in the availabilftgroy one or more of these items could preventetayddevelopment of the Company’s projects.

Exploration of mineral properties is less intrusigad generally requires fewer surface and acégistsythan properties developed for mining.
Company believes that it has the necessary suafecess rights to develop Project 1; however, thmg@2omy has not secured any surface rigt
the Waterberg Project other than those accesssrigbislated by the MPRDA. If a decision is madalévelop the Waterberg Project, or o
projects in which the Company has yet to secure@ate surface rights, the Company will need to esuch rights. No assurances ca
provided that the Company will be able to securpiired surface rights on favourable terms, or htAaly failure by the Company to sec
surface rights could prevent or delay developméthtie Company’s projects.

The Company’s operations are subject to environnaraws and regulations that may increase the Compa costs of doing business a
restrict its operations.

Environmental legislation on a global basis is evw in a manner that will ensure stricter standadd enforcement, increased fines and per
for noncompliance, more stringent environmental assessofgrbposed development and a higher level ofaesibility for companies and th
officers, directors and employees. Compliance witlrironmental laws and regulations may requireiggmt capital outlays on behalf of 1
Company and may cause material changes or delaffseiilCompanys intended activities. There can be no assurareteftiure changes
environmental legislation in Canada or South Afrigd not adversely affect the Compasyoperations. Environmental hazards may exist e
Companys properties which are unknown at present and whésle been caused by previous or existing owneoperators. Furthermore, futi
compliance with environmental reclamation, closanel other requirements may involve significant €@std other liabilities. In particular,
Companys operations and exploration activities are sulifg@anadian and South African national and pragidaws and regulations govern
protection of the environment. Such laws are caatiy changing and, in general, are becoming mes#ictive.
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Amendments to current laws, regulations and pergutserning operations and activities of mining camgs, or more stringent implementa
thereof, could have a material adverse impact enGbmpany and cause increases in capital expeeslitur production costs or a reductio
levels of production at producing properties omiegjabandonment or delays in development of nemingiproperties.

The Company has not made any material expenditurerfvironmental compliance to date. However, emritental hazards may exist on
Companys properties that are unknown at the present tand,that may have been caused by previous ownespayators or that may he
occurred naturally. These hazards may give risegioificant financial obligations in the future asdch obligations could have a material ady
affect on the Company’s financial performance.

The mineral exploration industry is extremely contjiee.

The resource industry is intensely competitive inah its phases. Much of the Compasytompetition is from larger, established mit
companies with greater liquidity, greater accessréalit and other financial resources, newer orenedficient equipment, lower cost structu
more effective risk management policies and promsiand/or greater ability than the Company to stéthd losses. The Compasyompetitor
may be able to respond more quickly to new lawsegulations or emerging technologies, or devotatgreresources to the expansion of 1
operations, than the Company can. In addition, esirand potential competitors may make strateguigitions or establish cooperat
relationships among themselves or with third part@ompetition could adversely affect the Comparapility to acquire suitable new produc
properties or prospects for exploration in the fetlCompetition could also affect the Compangbility to raise financing to fund the explora
and development of its properties or to hire giadifpersonnel. The Company may not be able to ctevpecessfully against current and fu
competitors, and any failure to do so could haweaterial adverse effect on the Company’s busirfees)cial condition or results of operations.

The Company requires various permits in order toncict its current and anticipated future operationand delays or a failure to obtain su
permits, or a failure to comply with the terms ohw such permits that the Company has obtained, cbbihve a material adverse impact on
Company.

The Companys current and anticipated future operations, inolgidurther exploration, development activities ammnmencement of producti
on the Company properties, require permits from various Southcah and Canadian national, provincial, territbaad local government
authorities. The mining right for Project 1 platmumine issued by the DMR is subject to environmleauighorizations, water use licences, lanc
consents and compliance with applicable legislatonan ongoing basis. The Waterberg prospectingt igsued by the DMR is subject
environmental authorizations, land use consentscantpliance with applicable legislation on an omgobasis. The Company cannot be ce
that all permits that it now or in the future maguire for its operations will be obtainable onsa@able terms or at all. Delays or a failur
obtain such licences and permits, or a failureoimmy with the terms of any such licences and prthiat the Company has obtained, could
a material adverse impact on the Company.

In addition, the duration and success of effortstitain and renew permits are contingent upon nvamybles not within the Comparsytontrol
Shortage of qualified and experienced personnéhénvarious levels of government could result itage or inefficiencies. Backlog within t
permitting agencies could also affect the perngttimeline of the Compang’ various projects. Other factors that could afteet permitting
timeline include the number of other largeale projects currently in a more advanced stagkevelopment, which could slow down the rev
process, and significant public response regardisgecific project. As well, it can be difficult &ssess what specific permitting requirements
ultimately apply to all of the Company’s projects.
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Risks of Doing Business in South Aft
Labour disruptions and increased labour costs colildve an adverse effect on the Comp’s results of operations and financial condition.

Although the Compang’ employees are not unionized at this time, cottra®perating on the Project 1 mine site in Sé\tica have employe:
that are unionized. As a result, trade unions chalee a significant impact on the Companidbour relations, as well as on social and pal
reforms. There is a risk that strikes or other $ypeconflict with unions or employees may occuaay of the Compang’operations, particulal
where the labour force is unionized. Labour disnrs may be used to advocate labour, politicalooiad goals in the future. For example, lak
disruptions may occur in sympathy with strikesadrdur unrest in other sectors of the economy. littSAfrica, it has become established prau
to negotiate wages and conditions of employmerth thie unions every two years through the Chambéinés of South Africa. South Africi
employment law sets out minimum terms and conditiohemployment for employees, which form the bematk for all employment contrac
Disruptions in the Company’s business due to srikefurther developments in South African labawd may increase the Compasygosts ¢
alter its relationship with its employees and tradens, which may have an adverse effect on thepaoys financial condition and operatio
South Africa has recently experienced widesprdadal strikes and violence.

South African foreign exchange controls may limiepatriation of profits

South Africas exchange control regulations restrict the expbdapital from South Africa. Although the Compaisynot itself subject to Sot
African exchange control regulations, these reguriat do restrict the ability of the CompasySouth African subsidiaries to raise and de
capital outside the country, to borrow money inrencies other than the South African Rand and td Fareign currency. Exchange con
regulations could make it difficult for the Compasysouth African subsidiaries to: (a) export caditam South Africa; (b) hold foreign currer
or incur indebtedness denominated in foreign ceiesnwithout approval of the relevant South Afriethange control authorities; (c) acquir
interest in a foreign venture without approval lné relevant South African exchange control autlewiand compliance with certain investn
criteria; and (d) repatriate to South Africa prefitf foreign operations. While the South Africarvgamment has relaxed exchange contro
recent years, it is difficult to predict whethertww it will further relax or abolish exchange cmhtmeasures in the foreseeable future. Then
be no assurance that restrictions on repatriafi@amings from the South Africa will not be impdsen the Company in the future.

Socic-economic instability in South Africa or regionallyincluding the risk of resource nationalism, may ke an adverse effect on t
Company’s operations and profits.

The Company has ownership interests in signifigmojects in South Africa. As a result, it is sulbjex political and economic risks relating
South Africa, which could affect an investmenthie Company. South Africa was transformed into aatzacy in 1994. The government polic
aimed at redressing the disadvantages sufferedebyngjority of citizens under previous governmengs/ impact the Compars/’'South Africa
business. In addition to political issues, Southridsf faces many challenges in overcoming substadifierences in levels of econon
development among its people. Large parts of th&tSAfrican population do not have access to adeqaducation, health care, housing
other services, including water and electricity.

This issue was particularly poignant in late 2012w wildcat strikes and violence occurred near the Prdjgaatinum mine and generally
other platinum mines. Although the Company hashaat issues at this time at its sites, there camlessurance that wilcht strikes and violen
will not occur at the Company’s properties in theufe. Wild€at strikes and violence at the Project 1 platimuime may have a material nega
impact on the project and its start-up mine openasti
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The Company faces a number of risks from deliberatdicious or criminal acts, including theft, fdgubribery and corruption.

The Company is also subject to the risk of resoumagonalism, which encompasses a range of meassuwelh as expropriation or taxati
whereby governments increase their economic irttéresatural resources, with or without compensatidhe value of the natural mine
endowment of South Africa has become one of theomdgbating points in deciding how best to advatheeempowerment of its historice
disadvantaged individuals, groups and communitied, policies relating to resource nationalism aiadpdebated in South Africa. The ANC
a policy conference in June 2012 at which the SIREport, commissioned by the ANC, was debated. Ahéurconference will be held
December 2012 to choose a candidate to lead thg ipéw the general elections in 2014 and to givehier policy guidelines. Details of 1
resolutions adopted at the June 2012 policy conéerevere made publicly available on September @62 2Although wholesale nationalizat
was rejected, the resolution on nationalizatiofsdalr state intervention in the economy, includistate ownership”and indicates that many
the proposals in the SIMS Report may be adoptéueaDecember 2012 conference.

The Company cannot predict the future politicatiaglband economic direction of South Africa or thanner in which government will attemp
address the countiy’inequalities. Actions taken by the South Afriggwvernment, or by its people without the sanctibhaw, could have
material adverse effect on the Companiusiness. Furthermore, there has been regiooliical and economic instability in countries rori
South Africa, which may affect South Africa. Suattbrs may have a negative impact on the Compaatyility to own, operate and managt
South African mining projects.

The Company’s land in South Africa could be subjeotland restitution claims which could impose sifinant costs and burdens.

The Company’s privately held land could be subfjedfind restitution claims under the South Afriddestitution of Land Rights AtB94 (the “
Land Claims Act ). Under the Land Claims Act, any person who was disessed of rights in land in South Africa as alredupast raciall
discriminatory laws or practices without paymenfusdt and equitable compensation is granted certaimedies, including the restoration of

land against payment to the owner of compensatjahd state. Under the Land Claims Act, persondlemto institute a land claim were requi

to lodge their claims by December 31, 1998. The gamy has not been notified of any land claims te daut any claims of which it is notified

the future could have a material adverse effedtoright to the properties to which the claimsateland, as a result, on the Compariyisines

operating results and financial condition.

The South AfricarRestitution of Land Rights Amendment 2@94 (the “Amendment Act”) became law on February 4, 2004. Under the
Claims Act, the South African Minister for Agricute and Land Affairs (the and Minister "), may not acquire ownership of land for restitu
purposes without a court order unless an agreehanbeen reached between the affected partiesAmbBadment Act, however, entitles the L
Minister to acquire ownership of land by way of epqriation either for claimants who do not qualiéy restitution, or, in respect of land a:
which no claim has been lodged but the acquisiibwhich is directly related to or affected by aioh, the acquisition of which would prom
restitution to those entitled or would encouragerahtive relief to those not entitled. Expropoatiwould be subject to provisions of legisla
and the Constitution which provides, in general,jést and equitable compensation. There is, howewe guarantee that any of the Company’
privately held land rights could not become subjecacquisition by the state without the Comparggreement, or that the Company woul
adequately compensated for the loss of its larusjgvhich could have a negative impact on the Gomis South African projects and therel
an adverse effect on its business and financiadition.
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Land claims have been filed over the farms Disgpl®69 LR, Kirstenspruit 351 LR and Bayswater 3® that form part of the Waterbe
prospecting right area. As the Company does nal twdse land rights no adverse effect on the Coppdiusiness or financial conditior
anticipated, although the future acquisition ofsthéand rights or the negotiation of rights of ascehould a decision to mine the area be takel
be negatively affected.

Any adverse decision in respect of the Comg’s mineral rights and projects in South Africa undehe MPRDA could materially affect tr
Company’s projects in South Africa.

With the enactment of the MPRDA, the South Africaate became the sole regulator of all prospeetittgmining operations in South Africa.
prospecting and mining licences and claims gramedrms of any prior legislation became knowntas ‘old order rights”All prospecting an
mining rights granted in terms of the MPRDA arewnerder rights”.The treatment of new applications and pending egfiins is uncertain a
any adverse decision by the relevant regulatoraaiites under the new legislation may adverselgdiftitle to the Compang’ mineral rights i
South Africa, which could stop, materially delayrestrict the Company from proceeding with its exation and development activities or
future mining operations.

A wide range of factors and principles must be mak&o account by the South African Minister of Mmal Resources when conside
applications for new order rights. These factocduide the applicang’ access to financial resources and appropriabaitzad ability to conduct tt
proposed prospecting or mining operations, therenmiental impact of the operation and, in the edsgospecting rights, considerations rela
to fair competition. Other factors include consatems relevant to promoting employment and thdas@nd economic welfare of all Sol
Africans and showing compliance with the provisioegarding the empowerment of historically disadaged persons in the mining industry.
of the Companys old order prospecting rights in respect of Prtofe@and Project 3 were first converted into neweorgrospecting rights a
subsequently, in April 2012, were superseded byiming Right. All of the Company’s current prospiag rights are new order rights.

The assessment of some of the provisions of the D& the Mining Charter may be subjective andepehdent upon the views of the DMF
to whether the Company is in compliance. See “Sédtltan Regulatory Framework — The Mining Chartefhe Social and Labour Plan,
instance, contains both quantitative and qualiéatieals, targets and commitments relating to theg2my’s obligations to its employees
community residents, the achievement of some oflwvare not exclusively within the Company’s control

The South African Minister of Mineral Resources Itas discretion to cancel or suspend mining rigitder section 47(1) of the MPRDA a
consequence of the Company’s rmompliance with the MPRDA, the Mining Charter, tieems of its Mining Right and prospecting rightsif
mining is not progressing optimally. The sectionpt@cess involves multiple, successive stages wihidhde granting the Company a reason
opportunity to show why its rights should not bexazlled or suspended. In terms of the provisionseafion 6(2)(e)(iii) of the Promotion
Administrative Justice Act No. 3 of 2000 PAJA ") read with section 6 of the MPRDA, the Minister adirect the Company to take reme
measures. If such remedial measures are not tdlehinister must again give the Company a readengtportunity to make representation
to why such remedial measures were not taken byhie. Minister must then properly consider the Conym further representations (wh
considerations must also comply with PAJA) and dhbn is the Minister entitled to cancel or susparndining right. Any such cancellation
suspension is subject to judicial review if it st in compliance with the provisions of the MPRDAdaPAJA, or it is not lawful, reasonable :
procedurally fair under section 33(1) of the Cdnstn.

Failure to meet its obligations in relation toMiing Right or prospecting rights or the Mining &ter could lead to the suspension or cancell
of such rights and the suspension of the Compantyier rights, which would have a material advefseceon the Compang’ business, financi
condition and results of operations.
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The failure to maintain or increase equity participion by HDSAs in the Compang’prospecting and mining operations could adversaffect
the Company’s ability to maintain its prospectingié mining rights.

The Company is subject to a humber of South Afristatutes aimed at promoting the accelerated iatiegr of historically disadvantaged Sc
Africans, or HDSAs, including the MPRDA, the BEE tAand the Mining Charter. To ensure that socio enua strategies are implemented,
BEE Act provides for Codes which specify empowertrtargets consistent with the objectives of the B&fE. The Mining Charter Scorec:
requires the mining industry’commitment of applicants in respect of ownershipnagement, employment equity, human resourcedajsuent
procurement and beneficiation. For ownership by Bffips in mining enterprises, the Mining Charteor8card sets a 26% target by Decet
31, 2014. The Company has historically partnereith BEE groups or companies that were HDSA coniodé the time on all of its mater
projects in South Africa at a level of 26% at aermgping or project level.

The South African government awards procurementraots, quotas, licences, permits and prospectigraining rights based on numer
factors, including the degree of HDSA ownershipe MiPRDA contains provisions relating to the ecormempowerment of HDSAs. One of
requirements which must be met before the DMR ig#lue a prospecting right or mining right is that applicant must facilitate equ
participation by HDSAs in the prospecting and minoperations which result from the granting of talevant rights. As a matter of policy,
DMR requires a minimum of 26% HDSA ownership foe tirant of applications for mining rights.

The Company has sought to satisfy the foregoingirements by partnering, at the operating compawmgl] with companies demonstrating 2
HDSA ownership. The Company has partnered withcafilVide with respect to Maseve, which owns the MjriRight to Projects 1 and 3, and
partnered with Mnombo with respect to the Waterlférgject and for the Comparsyprospecting right applications over ground adjate the
Waterberg Project. In each case, the CommB{E partner holds a 26% interest in the operatorgpany or project. The Company believes
Africa Wide was majority owned by HDSA individudls 2002, when it first partnered with the CompaHpwever, the Compang’contractu:
arrangements with Africa Wide do not currently reguAfrica Wide to maintain any minimum level of A ownership or to certify the level
such ownership to the Company. In 2007, Wesizweadwitvas then majority owned by HDSA individualsjjazed 100% of the shares of Afr
Wide. On an application of the flotlwough principles, Africa Wide remained an HDSAmmany. Under the terms of the Consolida
Transaction, the Company transferred its 18.5%réstein Project 2 to Wesizwe, therefore providitigitautable units of production and furtl
enhancing the ownership of mining assets by HDS#pamies. Under the same transaction, Anglo acqairéenapproximately 26.9% intere
in Wesizwe. In 2011, Jinchuan Group Limited of Ghand China Africa Development Fund, with the apalof the DMR and notwithstandi
that the transaction resulted in Wesizwe not bemagority owned by HDSAs, acquired a thapproximately 45% interest in Wesizwe. Altho
Anglo’s interest is held for preferential dispositioratqualified BEE purchaser, HDSA individuals do aotrently own a majority of the Wesiz
equity. In April 2012, Maseve was granted a MinRight over Projects 1 and 3 by the DMR and the godithe Mining Right by the DMR, t
stated policy, is an acknowledgement of Maseve'B B&mpliance status as being acceptable to the DMBre can be no assurance when,

the transfer of Angl® interest in Wesizwe to a qualified BEE purchasgiéiroccur. Also there can be no assurance thaHB&A ownership me
not be reassessed or that the criteria for HDSA ownership nw be interpreted differently in the futureotily the direct shareholdings of Afr
Wide and its parent are considered, and otherr&etbich were considered by the DMR at the timgraht, are set aside, Maseve, solely on
through principles is below the 26% ownership level

The Company is satisfied that Mnombo is majorityned by HDSA individuals. The contractual arrangetsidretween Mnombo, the Compi
and the HDSA shareholders require the HDSA shadehslto maintain a minimum level of HSDA ownersimgMnombo of 51%. However, if
any time Mnombo becomes a company that is not rityajowned by HDSA individuals, the ownership stuuret of the Waterberg Project and
prospecting right applications over ground adjatetihe Waterberg Project may be deemed not tsfgdiDSA requirements.
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Subject to conditions contained in the Comparprfospecting and mining rights, the Company mayeleired to obtain approval from the DI
prior to undergoing any change in its empowermétus under the Mining Charter. In addition, if tBempany or its BEE partners are foun
be in noneompliance with the requirements of the Mining Geaand other BEE regulations, including failurerétain the requisite level
HDSA ownership, the Company may face possible suspe or cancellation of its mining rights undectgm 47 of the MPRDA. SeeRisk
Factors — Any adverse decision in respect of thezmy’s mineral rights and projects in South Africa untther MPRDA could materially affe
the Company’s projects in South Africa”.

In addition, there have been a number of propasalde at governmental level in South Africa regagdaimendments and clarifications to
methodology for determining HDSA ownership and coindf mining businesses, which create greater aitgy in measuring the Compasy’
progress towards, and compliance with, its commitsieinder the Mining Charter and other BEE regoitesti If implemented, any of the
proposals could result in, among other thingsct&ricriteria for qualification as an HDSA investor

If the Company is required to increase the pergentd HDSA ownership in any of its operating comparor projects, the Compasyinterest
may be diluted. In addition, it is possible thay auch transactions or plans may need to be ex¢atite discount to the proper economic valt
the Companys operating assets or it may also prove necessatiid Company to provide vendor financing or othigsport in respect of some
all of the consideration, which may be on non-comuiaterms. Under the terms of the Maseve Shadghisl Agreement, if Maseve is instruc
by the DMR to increase its HDSA ownership, any edreosts or dilution of interests shall be borneadly by the Company and Africa Wit
notwithstanding that Africa Wide holds only 26%tbé equity.

Currently, the South African Department of Trade &mdustry (“DTI ") is responsible for leading government action onitiygementation ¢
BEE initiatives under the auspices of the BEE Ax the Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment Cofi€ood Practice (Codes of Goor
Practice "), while certain industries have their own transfoiioracharters administered by the relevant govertrdepartment (in this case,
DMR). The DTI has recently proposed changes tdBBE Act which, if implemented, would provide a slard framework for the measurenr
of BEE compliance across all sectors of the econdrhgre is a risk that all of the industry specifansformation charters, including the Min
Charter under which the Company has agreed tangtitshe DMR and against which the Company curgentkasures its compliance through
Mining Charter Scorecard, may be superseded, iclwbase the Company would be required to compliy thi¢ criteria set forth under the B
Act and any new or revised Codes of Good Praclibe.DTI has released its proposed changes to tde<Caf Good Practice and has invitet
interested persons and the public to provide contsrignDecember 4, 2012. The Company cannot prégicscope or timing of any amendmt
or modifications to the BEE Act, Codes of Good Hcacor the Mining Charter, and the impact thasthamendments or modifications may t
on its business.

If the Company is unable to achieve or maintaireitgpowered status under the Mining Charter or cpmith any other BEE regulations
policies, it may not be able to maintain its exigtprospecting and mining rights and/or acquire @&y rights and therefore would be oblige
suspend or dispose of some or all of its operatior&outh Africa, which would likely have a matérgverse effect on the Compasyusines
financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in South African State royalties where anf the Companys mineral reserves are located could have an adeeeffect on th
Company’s results of operations and its financiaredition.
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The Royalty Act effectively came into operation bray 1, 2009. The Royalty Act establishes a variaolgalty rate regime, in which t
prevailing royalty rate for the year of assessnierissessed against the gross sales of the extdagtog the year. The royalty rate is calculi
based on the profitability of the mine (earningfobe interest and taxes) and varies depending cetheh the mineral is transferred in refine:
unrefined form. The minimum royalty rate is 0.5%ldhe maximum royalty rate for mineral resourcassferred in unrefined form is 7% of gr
sales. For mineral resources transferred in refioed the maximum royalty rate is 5% of gross sald® royalty will be a tax deductible expel
The royalty becomes payable when the mineral resosr‘transferred”which refers to the disposal of a mineral resouttoe export of a miner
resource, or the consumption, theft, destructioloss of a mineral resource. The Royalty Act alldtes holder of a mining right to enter into
agreement with the tax authorities to fix the patage royalty that will be payable in respect dingihing operations carried out in respect of
resource for as long as the extractor holds thH#.rithe holder of a mining right may withdraw freamch agreement at any time.

The feasibility studies covering the Companpouth African projects made certain assumptietetad to the expected royalty rates unde
Royalty Act. If and when the Company begins earmigenue from its South African mining projectsd aihthe royalties under the Royalty /
differ from those assumed in the feasibility stgdithis new royalty could have a material and asivémpact on the economic viability of
Company’s projects in South Africa, as well astoen €ompany’s prospects, financial condition andlte®f operations.

Characteristics of and changes in the tax system$Sbuth Africa could materially adversely affectahCompany$ business, financial conditic
and results of operations.

The Company's subsidiaries pay different types @fegnmental taxes in South Africa, including cogimm tax, payroll taxes, VAT, st:
royalties, community royalties, various forms otids, secondary tax on dividend distributions duBouth Africa by South African subsidiar
(which was replaced by a dividend withholding takhveffect from April 1, 2012) and interest withdalg tax with effect from July 1, 2013. T
tax regime in South Africa is subject to change.

In February 2012, the South African government ameed a new carbon tax of R120 per tonne of carbioride emissions above cert
thresholds, which may be implemented in 2013 asellsy 10% each year until 2020.

The ruling party, the ANC, held a policy conferericelune 2012 at which the SIMS Report commissidnethe ANC was debated. The Sl
Report includes a proposal for a super tax of 50%Igrofits above a 15% return on investment, ahhivould apply in respect of all metals
minerals. If a super profits tax is implementeds @ompany may realise lower aftax profits and cash flows from its current miniogeration
and may decide not to pursue certain new projastsuch a tax could render these opportunitiesomaaaic.

It is also possible that the Company could becoutgest to taxation in South Africa that is not @ntly anticipated, which could have a mat¢
adverse effect on its business, financial conditind results of operations.

Risks Relating to the Compé¢s Common Shares
The Company has never paid dividends and does rpeet to do so in the foreseeable future.

The Company has not paid any dividends since imcatjpn and it has no plans to pay dividends in fiireseeable future. The Compasny’
directors will determine if and when dividends slaolbe declared and paid in the future based orCtirapanys financial position at the relevi
time. All of the Common Shares are entitled to qnat share of any dividends declared and paid.
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The Company’s Common Share price has been volatileecent years

In recent years, the securities markets in theddnBitates and Canada have experienced a higholepete and volume volatility, and the mar
price of securities of many companies, particuldinlgse considered exploration or developnsage mining companies, have experienced
fluctuations in price which have not necessarilgrbeslated to the operating performance, underlgsggt values or prospects of such comps
In particular, the per share price of the Commoar&hon the TSX fluctuated from a high of $1.7@ tow of $0.74 and on the NYSHKT from
a high of US$1.72 to a low of US$0.75 during theslwe month period ending August 31, 2012. There lmamo assurance that contir
fluctuations in price will not occur.

The factors influencing such volatility include maeconomic developments in North America and glgbalnd market perceptions of -
attractiveness of particular industries. The patéhe Common Shares is also likely to be signiftbaaffected by shorterm changes in precic
metal prices or other mineral prices, currency erde fluctuations and the Compasyinancial condition or results of operations effected it
its earnings reports. Other factors unrelated ¢gpirformance of the Company that may have anteffethe price of the Common Shares inc
the following:

e the extent of analyst coverage available to investmncerning the business of the Company mayrhigeli if investment banks wi
research capabilities do not follow the Compangausities;

e lessening in trading volume and general marketréstein the Company’s securities may affect an stawés ability to trade significa
numbers of securities of the Company;

e the size of the Company’s public float may limi¢ thbility of some institutions to invest in the Quamy’s securities; and

e a substantial decline in the price of the secwwigEéthe Company that persists for a significantqaeof time could cause the Compasy’
securities to be delisted from an exchange, funtba@ucing market liquidity.

Securities clasaction litigation often has been brought againsaganies following periods of volatility in the matiprice of their securities. T
Company may in the future be the target of simitgation. Securities litigation could result inulsstantial costs and damages and ¢
management’s attention and resources.

The Company’s growth, future profitability and alify to obtain financing may be impacted by glob@idincial conditions.

Global financial conditions continue to be charedetsl by extreme volatility. Following the creditisis that began in 2008, global marl
continue to be adversely impacted by the Europednt crisis and high fuel and energy costs. Manystiies, including the mining industry,
impacted by these market conditions. Global finanodnditions remain subject to sudden and rapstadiédizations in response to future econc
shocks, as government authorities may have limiésturces to respond to future crises. A continred/orsened slowdown in the financ
markets or other economic conditions, including it limited to, consumer spending, employmentsiabeisiness conditions, inflation, fuel
energy costs, consumer debt levels, lack of aVailakedit, the state of the financial markets, regé rates and tax rates, may adversely affe
Companys growth and profitability. Future economic shockay be precipitated by a number of causes, inctuttie ongoing European d
crisis, a continued rise in the price of oil andestcommaodities, the volatility of metal pricespgelitical instability, terrorism, the devaluatianc
volatility of global stock markets and natural disas. Any sudden or rapid destabilization of globeonomic conditionsould impact th
Company’s ability to obtain equity or debt finargiim the future on terms favourable to the Compamngt all. In such an event, the Company’
operations and financial condition could be adJgrisepacted.
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Future sales or issuances of equity securities abdlecrease the value of the Common Shares, dilateestors’voting power and reduce tl
Company’s earnings per share.

The Company may sell additional equity securitiessubsequent offerings (including through the s#lesecurities convertible into equ
securities) and may issue additional equity sdesrib finance operations, exploration, developmaecquisitions or other projects. The Comg
cannot predict the size of future issuances oftgecurities or the size and terms of future insea of debt instruments or other secul
convertible into equity securities or the effe€tanmy, that future issuances and sales of the Copipaecurities will have on the market prici
the Common Shares. Any transaction involving tlseasice of previously authorized but unissued sharesecurities convertible into Comn
Shares, would result in dilution, possibly substdnto security holders. Exercises of presentlistanding share options may also result in dilt
to security holders.

The board of directors of the Company has the ailyhito authorize certain offers and sales of ddddl securities without the vote of, or pi
notice to, shareholders. Based on the need fotiadal capital to fund expected expenditures arvijr, it is likely that the Company will iss
additional securities to provide such capital. Sadditional issuances may involve the issuance sifjaificant number of Common Share
prices less than the current market price for tbem@on Shares.

Sales of substantial amounts of the Compsusgcurities, or the availability of such secusifier sale, could adversely affect the prevailireyke
prices for the Company’s securities and dilute #oEs’ earnings per share. A decline in the mapkiees of Company securities could imp:
the Company’s ability to raise additional capitabiugh the sale of securities should the Compasireléo do so.

DIVIDENDS

As of the date of this AlF, the Company has notlated nor paid dividends on its Common Shares. Cbempany has no present intentiot
paying dividends on its Common Shares, as it gates that all available funds will be investedinance the growth of its business.

In 2012, the Government of South Africa replaceel itngstanding secondary tax on corporations witlivadend tax levied on shareholdk
Before the new dividend tax became law, secondatyh corporations had been levied at a rate of @@%ll dividends declared by compal
resident in South Africa. Under an existing taxatyebetween Canada and South Africa, the effectite under the new dividend tax in Sc
Africa on dividends paid from Maseve and PTM RSAhe Company will be 5% of dividends. Dividend tsvege to be withheld by corporatit
in South Africa on behalf of shareholders and rezdito the South African Revenue Service.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Companys authorized share structure consists of an uddnitumber of Common Shares without par value, a€hlwvh77,584,542 Comm:i
Shares were issued and outstanding as at Novergb@022. All of the issued Common Shares are fodli. The Company does not own an
its Common Shares.

Shareholders are entitled to one vote for each Gam&hare on all matters to be voted on by the Bbaters. Each Common Share is equ
every other Common Share and all Common Sharegipate equally on liquidation, dissolution or wing-up of the Company, whett
voluntary or involuntary, or any other distributiohthe Company’s assets among the shareholdetedquurpose of windingp its affairs after
has paid out its liabilities. Shareholders aretledtito receive proata such dividends as may be declared by the tafagitectors out of func
legally available therefore and to receive pata the remaining property of the Company uporddigion. No Common Shares have been is
subject to call or assessment. There are n@pngtive or conversion rights, and no provisionsréatemption, purchase or cancellation, surre
sinking fund or purchase fund. Provisions as toctieation, modification, amendment or variatiorse€h rights or such provisions are containe
theBusiness Corporations A@ritish Columbia.)
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On July 10, 2012, the Company announced that asdoof directors had approved the adoption of agtttdder rights plan dated July 9, 2012

“ Shareholder Rights Plan”) subject to shareholder approval. The ShareholdghtRiPlan is now effective and will require shatdat
ratification within six months of the date of thaéeBeholder Rights Plan to remain in place. The Gomijs management considers its cur
market valuation to be in contrast to the advanecgroéthe Company and its business. As a resudtbthard of directors undertook a reviev
consider the need for a shareholder rights plae. Stareholder Rights Plan is not intended to ptesediscourage a fair bid for the Compe
The purpose of the Shareholder Rights Plan is ¢oige shareholders and the Companlgbard of directors with adequate time to consate
evaluate any unsolicited bid made for the Comp#myrovide the board of directors with adequateetim identify, develop and negotiate value-
enhancing alternatives, if considered appropriateny such unsolicited bid, to encourage thetfaatment of shareholders in connection with
take-over bid for the Company and to ensure thaipaoposed transaction is in the best intereste@fCompany's shareholders.

The rights issued under the Shareholder Rights Wilhbbecome exercisable only if a person, togethih its affiliates, associates and joint act
acquires or announces its intention to acquire fi@akownership of shares which when aggregatetth it$ current holdings, total 20% or more
the Companys outstanding Common Shares (determined in the enas®et out in the Shareholder Rights Plan), othan by a Permitted Bid
Shareholder Endorsed Insider Bid (in each caseessritbed in the Shareholder Rights Plan). PermBidd must be made by way of a tadkes!
bid circular prepared in compliance with applicabéeurities laws and, among other conditions, mersiain open for 60 days. A Shareho
Endorsed Insider Bid is a takerer bid made by a bidder who together with itdiafés or associates and joint actors has befeinership ¢
10% or more of the voting securities of the Compdnyway of takesver bid circular to all shareholders, and in resmé which, among oth
things, more than 50% of the common shares helshiayeholders have been tendered to the take-odeatlihe time of first takap under th
take-over bid and the date of such first take-uputs not later than the 120calendar day following the date on which the taker bid it
commenced. A Shareholder Endorsed Insider Bid isremuired to be open for a minimum period of tibeyyond the 35 days required ur
applicable securities law.

In the event that a takevrer bid does not meet the Permitted Bid or Shddelhdendorsed Insider Bid requirements of the Shalder Rights Pla
the rights will entitle shareholders, other thay ahareholder or shareholders making the takex-bid, to purchase additional common shar
the Company at a substantial discount to the mamkes of the common shares at that time.

A copy of the Shareholder Rights Plan was provitdethe Toronto Stock Exchange (th&SX ”). The TSX has accepted notice for filing of
Shareholder Rights Plan subject to, among othegshievidence of shareholder approval of the SbétehRights Plan no later than Januai
2013. The Company intends to hold a shareholdeegtimg to approve the Plan no later than JanuaB093. As of the date of this Alfhe
Company is not aware of any specific take-overfbidhe Company that has been made or is conteatplat

Market for Securities
Trading Price and Volume

The Company’s Common Shares are listed on the Ti&8%muthe symbol “PTMand on the NYSE MKT (formerly the NYSE Amex) undbe
symbol “PLG".

The following tables provide information as to thigh and low trading prices of the Common Shareinduhe 12 months of the most rece
completed financial year as well as the volume @ih@on Shares traded for each month:



Toronto Stock Exchange — PTM
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Month High Low Volume
September, 2011 141 1.01 5,015,636
October, 2011 1.44 0.96 4,047,022
November, 2011 1.55 1.05 6,698,811
December, 2011 1.15 0.85 4,997,920
January, 2012 1.15 0.94 3,837,028
February, 2012 1.59 1.09 8,188,415
March, 2012 1.70 1.39 6,602,707
April, 2012 1.54 1.24 3,695,069
May, 2012 1.44 1.03 4,827,111
June, 2012 1.25 0.81 5,873,115
July, 2012 1.07 0.76 4,111,090
August, 2012 0.91 0.74 4,924,527
NYSE MKT - PLG

Month High (US$) Low (US$) Volume
September, 2011 1.41 0.97 3,124,723
October, 2011 1.41 0.90 2,768,926
November, 2011 1.52 1.03 3,468,636
December, 2011 1.14 0.83 5,213,254
January, 2012 1.15 0.91 2,781,479
February, 2012 1.60 1.09 5,030,351
March, 2012 1.72 1.39 4,161,128
April, 2012 1.59 1.25 2,212,493
May, 2012 1.46 1.01 2,469,096
June, 2012 1.23 0.79 3,507,260
July, 2012 1.00 0.75 2,060,634
August, 2012 0.92 0.75 2,523,886

Prior Sales

During the 12 months preceding the date of this, Afle Company has issued the following securit@svertible into Common Shares at

following prices:

Date of Issuance Number of Options Issued®) Prices
November 15, 2011 4,154,000 $1.30
January 3, 2012 100,000 $1.20
February 16, 2012 75,000 $1.38
June 25, 2012 25,000 $1.00
September 7, 2012 3,524,000 $0.96
TOTAL 7,878,000
Note:

() Each option is exercisable for one Common St

ESCROWED SECURITIES

There are no securities of the Company held ino@s(
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Name & Position®)

Principal Occupation or Employment

Director since

R. MICHAEL JONES *
President, CEO and
Director

British Columbia, Canada

Professional Geological Engineer
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Conypand a predecessor company from 2
to present.

February 18, 2002
00

FRANK R. HALLAM
CFO, Corporate Secretary
and

Director

British Columbia, Canada

Chartered Accountant
Chief Financial Officer of the Company and the fdenof a predecessor company from 194
to present.

February 18, 2002
83

BARRY SMEE (@)
Director
British Columbia, Canada

Geologist and Geochemist
President of Smee & Associates, a private conglteological and geochemistry comparn
since 1990.

February 18, 2002
Y,

IAIN MCLEAN (D))
Chairman Director and
Corp.

Consultant to Co.

British Columbia, Canada

General Management

Consultant Former CEO of Municipal Software Corpioraof Canada, a software
development company based in Victoria BC. Formee\Rresident and General Manager
Total Care Technologies, a division of Ad Opt Tealbgies Inc, a medical software
development company.

February 18, 2002

of

ERIC CARLSON M@
Director
British Columbia, Canada

Chartered Accountant

President and Chief Executive Officer of Anthemgemies Corp., an investment group
specializing in the acquisition and managemenesidential and office properties in Canag
and the United States, since July 1994,

February 18, 2002

a

TIMOTHY M.

MARLOW ®®)
Director
British Columbia, Canada

Chartered Engineer
President of Philippine Gold Consulting LLC and Mar & Associates providing
Management and technical consulting expertisee¢dvtiming Industry

June 15, 2011

PETER BUSSE
(e{0]0)
British Columbia, Canada

Professional Mining Engineer
Chief Operating Officer of the Company since Octad@07. Former GM Procon Group, a
contract mining development company, 2006 to 26@rmer Mine Manager, Placer Dome

N/A

Campbell Mine, 2002 to 2006.

Member of the Governance and Nominating Comm

Notes

() Member of the Audit Committe

(2)  Member of the Compensation Commit
(3

4) Member of the Disclosure Committ
®)

defined unde“National Instrument £-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligatiol

Kresimir (Kris) Begic, Vice President, Corporatev@lmpment of the Company, is not an executive effiaf the Company as that tern

As of November 22, 2012, directors and executifeerfs of the Company own or control approxima#/§14,950 Common Shares represel
approximately 2.54% of the Company'’s issued andtanting Common Shares.

The term of office for each director of the Compaxpires at the annual general meeting of sharet®lhere they can be nominated for re-

election.
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Corporate Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Peraltbr Sanctions
No director or executive officer of the Company oy of their personal holding companie

(a) is, or during the ten years preceding the datéisfAlF has been, a director, chief executive effior chief financial officer of ar
company, including the Company, th

0] was subject to an order that was issued while trextdr or executive officer was acting in the capaas director, chit
executive officer or chief financial order;

(ii) was subject to an order that was issued afteriteetdr or executive officer ceased to be a dingatbief executive officer
chief financial officer and which resulted from @vent that occurred while that person was actirthencapacity as direct
chief executive officer or chief financial office

(b) is, or during the ten years preceding the datéisf AIF has been, a director or executive offiadrany company, including t
Company, that while the director or executive @fievas acting in that capacity or within a yeathaft person ceasing to act in 1
capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal ungdegislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvermywas subject to or institut
any proceedings, arrangement, or compromise walitors, or had a receiver, receiver manager,ustde appointed to hold
assets; o

(c) has, within the ten years preceding the date of &lF, become bankrupt, made a proposal under egiglation relating 1
bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject tonstituted any proceedings, arrangement or compeomith creditors, or had
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointéwlehthe assets of that individu

For the purposes hereof, “order” means:

(a) a cease trade orde
(b)  an order similar to a cease trade orde

(c) an order that denied the relevant company accemsytexemption under securities legislati
that was in effect for a period of more than 30ssmutive days.
No director or executive officer of the Company #ol of their personal holding companies) has lsebject to:

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a courtinglab securities legislation or by a securitiegulatory authority or has entel
into a settlement agreement with a securities e¢goyl authority; o

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a avurtgulatory body which would likely be considélienportant to a reasona
investor in making an investment decisi

Conflicts of Interest

Certain of the Compang’directors and officers may serve as directorsfiicers of other companies or have significantrehaldings in othe
resource companies and, to the extent that sueh ottmpanies may participate in ventures in whith@ompany may participate, the directol
the Company may have a conflict of interest in tiajag and concluding terms respecting the exdéisuch participation. In the event that su
conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the @any’s directors, a director who has such a conflict aliistain from voting for or against -
approval of such participation or such terms. Scmimpanies may, from time to time, compete with @enpany for business opportunities
addition, several companies may participate iraitguisition, exploration and development of natueaburce properties thereby allowing for t
participation in larger programs, permitting invefent in a greater number of programs and reduaiagcial exposure in respect of any

program. It may also occur that a particular conypaifl assign all or a portion of its interest irparticular program to another of these compi
due to the financial position of the company makimg assignment. In accordance with the laws dfgBriColumbia the directors of the Comp
are required to act honestly, in good faith anthanbest interests of the Company. In determinihgtier or not the Company will participate

particular program and the interest therein to dspiaed by it, the directors will primarily considihe degree of risk to which the Company

be exposed and its financial position at that time.
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The directors and officers of the Company are awéithe existence of laws governing the accouritghif directors and officers for corpor:
opportunity and requiring disclosures by the divextof conflicts of interest and the Company wélyrupon such laws in respect of any directors
and officers’conflicts of interest or in respect of any breacbeduty by any of its directors and officers. Alich conflicts will be disclosed
such directors or officers in accordance with #ned of British Columbia shall govern themselvesespect thereof to the best of their abilit
accordance with the obligations imposed upon thgraly. The Company leases office space from a compdth a director in common, a
provides administrative services to several comgmmiith directors or management in common. Thecttire and officers of the Company are
aware of any conflicts of interests involving then@any’s mineral properties.

Code of Ethics

The Company has adopted a Code of Business CoaddcEthics (the ‘Code”) that applies to all of its directors, officers aechployees
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief &ircial Officer. The Code includes provisions cavgrconflicts of interest, ethical condt
compliance with applicable government laws, rulad segulations, disclosure in reports and documéietd with, or submitted to, the SE
reporting of violations of the Code and accountgbilor adherence to the Code. A copy of the Cal@adsted on the Compasyivebsite,
www.platinumgroupmetals.net

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Pursuant to National Instrument 52 11@udit Committee$’ NI 52-110"), companies that are required to file an AlF are ireguto providi
certain disclosure with respect to their audit catrea. The Company’s audit committeeAldit Committee ) is responsible for reviewing t
Company’s financial reporting procedures, inteitrols and the performance of the Company’s aateuditors.

Audit Committee Charte
The text of the Audit Committee Charter attacheattoeas Schedule “A”.
Audit Committee Composition and Backgrour

The Audit Committee is comprised of Eric Carlsorh&man), lain McLean and Barry Smee. All three hers of the Audit Committee ¢
independent and financially literate, meaning tlaeg able to read and understand the Compgafigancial statements and to understanc
breadth and level of complexity of the issues taat reasonably be expected to be raised by the &wyigofinancial statements.
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In addition to each membesrgeneral business experience, the education getierce of each member of the Audit Committee ithatlevant t
the performance of his responsibilities as a mermb#re Audit Committee are set forth below:

Eric H. Carlson, B.Comm, Chartered AccountaMr: Carlson has over 20 years of real estate invest, development and managen
experience and he has been the President of Arfflneperties Corp. since July 1994. Anthem is anstmaent group that specializes in
acquisition and management of Class B retail, Afaitiily residential and office properties in higtogth markets in Canada and the USA.

lain D. C. McLean, B.Sc.Eng (ARSM), M.B.A., MIMM..@Eng. -Experience as a senior executive in several pagblcpanies managi
operations, listings, capital raising, etc. Als@ leaperience in underground mining operationséndK and South Africa.

Dr. Barry W. Smee, Ph.D., P.GeoProfessional Geologist/Geochemist with 36 yearsnineral exploration as a quality control :
laboratory audit expert.

The board of directors has determined that eadfiroMcLean and Mr. Carlson is an audit committe®ficial expert within the meaning of
regulations promulgated by the SEC and is indepnaihin the meaning of the NYSEKT LLC Company Guide. Mr. McLean has an M.B
from Harvard Business School and a B.Sc (Eng.) iimimdg from the Imperial College of Science and Treabgy (London, England). In additi
to his education, Mr. McLean has gained relevapedarnce acting as the Chief Operating Officerenfesal private technology companies s
1995 and as the Vice President of Operations daBaPower Systems from 1993 to 1995. Mr. Carlsoa Chartered Accountant and holi
Bachelor of Commerce degree from the UniversitBiitish Columbia.

Reliance on Certain Exemption

At no time since the commencement of the Commamost recently completed financial year has the@my relied on any of the exemptions
out in Sections 2.4, 3.2, 3.4 or 3.5 of NI 52-1d0an exemption from NI 52-110, in whole or in pgranted under Part 8 of NI 52-110. No non-
audit services were approved pursuant to a de ramgmemption to the pre-approval requirement.

Audit Committee Oversigr

At no time since the commencement of the Companyost recently completed financial year was ameaendation of the Audit Committee
nominate or compensate an external auditor nottaddyy the board of directors.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Company’s Audit Committee is authorized to eswihe performance of the Company’s independenit@sdand preapproves all audit al
non-audit services to be provided to the Companytdbyndependent auditor. Prior to granting any-@peroval, the Audit Committee must
satisfied that the performance of the servicesuiestion is not prohibited by applicable securiteags and will not compromise the independe
of the independent auditor. All non-audit servipesformed by the Compars/auditor for the fiscal year ended August 31, 28d4@& August 3:
2011 have been pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

Independent Audita’s Fees

The aggregate fees billed by the Comparmyurrent independent auditor, PricewaterhouseGedfdeP, during the fiscal years ended August
2012 and 2011 are set forth below:
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Year ended Year ended
August 31, 2012 | August 31, 2011
Audit Fees $322,370 $307,024
Audit-Related Fee§) $40,000 $34,913
Tax Feed? $39,860 $14,863
All Other Feed® $4,424 Nil
Total $406,654 $356,799

Notes:

(1) The aggregate fees billed for assurance and retaedces that are reasonably related to the pedice of the audit or review of «
financial statements, which are not included urtderheadin¢* Audit Fee”.

(2)  The aggregate fees billed for professional servieadered for tax compliance, tax advice and tarmhg, and restructuring advic

3) The aggregate fees billed for products andisesvother than as set out under the headings tAedis”, “Audit Related Fees” andé&x
Fee”. These fees related to agreed review procedurdseanansfer of certain South African propertieasections

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS

There are no pending or matenpabceedings to which the Company is or is likelyp#oa party or of which any of our properties issdikely to be
the subject.

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANS ACTIONS

No director, executive officer or principal sharleles of the Company, or any associate or affilztéhe foregoing, has had any material inte
direct or indirect, in any transaction within tinege most recently completed financial years omduthe current financial year prior to the dat
this AIF that has materially affected or will magdly affect the Company.

TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS
The Company’s transfer agent and registrar is:

Computershare Investor Services Inc.
3 floor — 510 Burrard Street
Vancouver, British Columbia

Canada V6C 3B9

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Other than the Maseve Shareholdekgreement, there are no contracts other thamamatentered into in the ordinary course of bussing th
Company (See “Mineral Property Interestdhat are material to the Company and that wereremtsto within the most recently comple
financial year of the Company or before the mosently completed financial year of the Company ahith are still in effect.

NAMES AND INTERESTS OF EXPERTS
The following persons, firms and companies are mhagehaving prepared or certified a report, vatuatstatement or opinion described it

included in a filing, or referred to in a filing,ade under NI 51-102 by the Company during, or irgdatio the Companyg' most recently complet
financial year.
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Name Description

Charles Muller Authored the Project 1 Report and the Project 3oRepo-authored the 2009 UFS; each of which ierrefl to
Minxcon (Pty) Ltd. herein.

Gordon Cunningham Co-authored the 2009 UFS; referred to herein.

Timothy Spindler
Turnberry Projects (Pty)

Ltd.

Byron Stewart Co-authored the 2009 UFS; referred to herein.

Wardrop Engineering

Kenneth Lomberg Authored the Waterberg Report; referred to herElire independent Qualified Person for the disclogutbe
Coffey Mining (SA) Pty | material change report of the Company dated Sepem2012.

Ltd

R. Michael Jones The President and Chief Executive Officer of therfpany. The non-independent Qualified Person for the

Platinum Group Metals Ltddisclosure in the material change reports of the@any dated September 4, 2012, September 17, 2@1@ctobe
10, 2012 and November 5, 2012 and certain disctosoitained herein.

None of the aforementioned firms or persons hejdsaturities or property of the Company or any eisse or affiliate of the Company when tl
prepared the reports referred to above or followtimg preparation of such reports nor did they rexeiny direct or indirect interest in ¢
securities or other property of the Company or asgociate or affiliate of the Company in connectioth the preparation of the reports (ot
than compensation in cash for their services).

None of the aforementioned firms or persons, ngrdirectors, officers or employees of such firm®, eurrently expected to be elected, appo
or employed as a director, officer or employeehef Company or of any associate or affiliate ofGloenpany.

In addition, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are theraat auditor of the Company who have issued amepeddent auditorsteport date
November 23, 2012 in respect of the Comy's consolidated statements of financial positiothef Company as at August 31, 2012 and At
31, 2011 and September 1, 2010 and the relatedlateted statements of loss and comprehensive dbsgiges in equity and cash flows for
years ended August 31, 2012 and August 31, 201drpocated by reference in this AIF. Pricewaterh@gsxpers LLP has advised that they
independent of the Company within the meaning ef Rules of Professional Conduct of the InstituteChiartered Accountants of Briti
Columbia and the rules of the US Securities anch&rge Commission.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Additional information relating to the Company niag found on SEDAR atww.sedar.conand on EDGAR aivww.Sec.goV.

Additional information, including details as to @itors’ and officers’ remuneration and indebtednesacipal holders of the Comparsysecuritie
and securities authorized for issuance under equitgpensation plans, if applicable, is containethien Companys information circular for i
most recent annual meeting of shareholders.

Additional financial information is provided in tl@ompany’s 2012 Annual Report containing the Manag@’s Discussion and Analysis and
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year&#degust 31, 2012.

Copies of the above may be obtained, on the Compavsbsitewww.platinumgroupmetals.neton the SEDAR website atww.sedar.con) on
the SEC’s EDGAR website atww.sec.qov, or by calling the Company’s investor relationssomnel at 604-899-5450.
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Schedule “A”

PLATINUM GROUP METALS LTD.
(the “Corporation”)

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

1. General

The Board of Directors of the Corporation (thBdard ") has established an Audit Committee (thédmmittee ") to assist the Board in fulfillir
its oversight responsibilities. The Committee wéView and oversee the financial reporting and acting process of the Corporation, the sy:
of internal control and management of financiaksjsthe external audit process, and the Corporatiprocess for monitoring compliance v
laws and regulations and its own code of businessluct. In performing its duties, the Committeel wikintain effective working relationshi
with the Board, management, and the external awsditod monitor the independence of those auditargerform his or her role effectively, ei
Committee member will obtain an understanding efrsponsibilities of Committee membership as aglhe Corporatios’business, operatic
and risks.

The Corporatiors independent auditor is ultimately accountabléhéoBoard and to the Committee. The Board and Coieenias representatiy
of the Corporatiors shareholders, have the ultimate authority andoresbility to evaluate the independent auditorntoninate annually tl
independent auditor to be proposed for sharehageroval, to determine appropriate compensationttferindependent auditor, and wt
appropriate, to replace the outside auditor. Incingrse of fulfilling its specific responsibilitideereunder, the Committee must maintain free
open communication between the Corporasdntlependent auditors, Board and Corporation nemagt. The responsibilities of a member o
Committee are in addition to such member’s dutiea member of the Board.

2. Members

The Board will in each year appoint a minimum akth (3) directors as members of the Committeem&imbers of the Committee shall be non-
management directors and shall be independentnititiei meaning of all applicable U.S. and Canadéursties laws and the rules of the Torc
Stock Exchange and the NYSE MKT LLC (collectivethe “ Applicable Regulations™), unless otherwise exempt under the Applic
Regulations.

None of the members of the Committee may haveqpgatied in the preparation of the financial statetmeof the Corporation or any curr
subsidiary of the Corporation at any time during plast three years.

All members of the Committee shall be able to raad understand fundamental financial statementsnaust be able to read and unders
fundamental financial standards and satisfy alliegple financial literacy requirements of the Ajpppble Regulations. Additionally, at least
member of the Committee shall: (a) be financiatiptssticated, in that he or she shall have pasi@ment experience in finance or account
requisite professional certification in accountitg,any other comparable experience or backgroumidhmesults in the individua' financia
sophistication, which may include being or havirgei a chief executive officer, chief financial offi, or other senior officer with financ
oversight responsibilities; and (b) be an “audinadittee financial expert” within the meaning of Uf&deral securities laws.
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3. Duties

The Committee will have the following duties:

° Gain an understanding of whether internal contedommendations made by external auditors have baptemented b
managemen

° Gain an understanding of the current areas of ggeéihancial risk and whether management is maiggitiese effectively

° Review significant accounting and reporting issuesluding recent professional and regulatory prore@ments, and understi

their impact on the financial statemer

) Review any legal matters which could signifi¢aminpact the financial statements as reported ythb Corporatiors counsel ar
engage outside independent counsel and other aslvidenever as deemed necessary by the Commitbegeryoout its duties

° Review the Corporation’s annual and quartemyaficial statements, including Managemgmiscussion and Analysis with resy
thereto, and all annual and interim earnings prelesses, prior to public dissemination, includamy certification, report, opinic
or review rendered by the external auditors andrdéhe whether they are complete and consisteiit thé information known -
Committee members; determine that the auditorsatisfied that the financial statements have beepaped in accordance w
generally accepted accounting princip

° Pay particular attention to complex and/or unudtehsactions such as those involving derivativérimsents and consider
adequacy of disclosure there

° Focus on judgmental areas, for example those imglaluation of assets and liabilities and ott@mnmitments and contingencie

° Review audit issues related to the Corporasionaterial associated and affiliated companiesrtieat have a significant impact
the Corporatio’s equity investmen

° Meet with management and the external auditors\tiew the annual financial statements and the tesfithe audit

) Evaluate the fairness of the interim financiatements and related disclosures including theceted Managemerst’Discussio
and Analysis, and obtain explanations from manageme whether

° actual financial results for the interim periodiedrsignificantly from budgeted or projected resy
° generally accepted accounting principles have kearistently appliec
° there are any actual or proposed changes in adnguwrtfinancial reporting practices;
° there are any significant or unusual events orsaeations which require disclosure and, if so, abersthe adequacy of tt
disclosure
) Review the external auditorproposed audit scope and approach and ensure ostifiaple restriction or limitations have bt

placed on the scop
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Recommend to the Board an external auditor tmdreinated for appointment by the Corporatsoshareholders. Subject to
appointment of the Corporation’s external auditpthie Corporatiors shareholders, the Committee will be directly oesible fo
the appointment, compensation, retention and ayletrsf the work of external auditor engaged for fhepose of preparing
issuing an auditos' report or performing other audit, review or attssrvices for the Corporation, including the retioh of
disagreements between management and the exteditdraregarding financial reporting. The Corpavats external auditor sh
report directly to the Committe

Review with the Corporatios’management, on a regular basis, the performentte @xternal auditors, the terms of the exte
audito’ s engagement, accountability and experie

Pre-approve all noaudit services and tax services to be providetieédorporation or its subsidiary entities by theemal auditol
or other registered accounting fir

Consider at least annually the independence ofeiternal auditors, including reviewing the rangesefvices provided in tl
context of all consulting services obtained by @weporation, including

° insuring receipt from the independent auditor ofoamal written statement delineating all relatioipsh between tr
independent auditor and the Company, consistertt Wi¢ Independence Standards Board Standard Naowd lredate
Canadian regulatory body standar

) considering and discussing with the independeditor any relationships or services, including-aadit services, that m
impact the objectivity and independence of the frestelent auditor; ar

° as necessary, taking, or recommending that thedBa#te, appropriate action to oversee the indepeedef the independe
auditor.

Ensure that adequate procedures are in pladedaeview of the Corporatiospublic disclosure of financial information extea
or derived from the Corporation’s financial statemse other than the public disclosure containedhi Corporatiors financia
statements, ManagemeniDiscussion and Analysis and annual and interimiegs press releases; and must periodically asie
adequacy of those procedur

Review any significant disagreement among manageraed the external auditors in connection with preparation of tt
financial statement:

Review and approve the Corporat®riiring policies regarding partners, employees famcher partners and employees of
present and former external auditors of the Cottjmre

Establish a procedure fc

) the confidential, anonymous submission by employ#dhe Corporation of concerns regarding queshénaccounting ¢
auditing matters; an

° the receipt, retention and treatment of complaieteived by the Corporation regarding accountinggrhal accountir
controls, or auditing matter
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° Meet separately with the external auditors to disany matters that the committee or auditors\ekbould be discussed prival
in the absence of manageme

° Endeavour to cause the receipt and discussion imedy basis of any significant findings and recoemdations made by t
external auditors

° Ensure that the Board is aware of matters which sigryificantly impact the financial condition offaifs of the busines:

° Review and oversee all related party transactiatiimthe meaning of the Applicable Regulatio

° Perform other functions as requested by the B

) If necessary, institute special investigations ahdppropriate, hire special counsel or expertadsist, and set the compensatic

be paid to such special counsel or other exg

° Review and ressess annually the adequacy of this Charter aothreend updates to this charter; receive apprdweianges fror
the Board

° With regard to the Corporati’s internal control procedures, the Committee ipaasible to
) review the appropriateness and effectivenesthefCorporatiors policies and business practices which impact he

financial integrity of the Corporation, includingadse related to internal auditing, insurance, actiog, information service
and systems and financial controls, managementtisg@nd risk management; a

) review compliance under the Corporat®business conduct and ethics policies and to giesilly review these policies a
recommend to the Board changes which the Commiteaedeem appropriate; a

° review any unresolved issues between managementhandxternal auditors that could affect the finahceporting o
internal controls of the Corporation; a

° periodically review the Corporatianfinancial and auditing procedures and the extemthich recommendations made
the internal audit staff or by the external auditbave been implemente

4, Chair

The Committee will in each year appoint the Chaithe Committee from among the members of the Cdtemiln the Chaig absence, or if tl
position is vacant, the Committee may select amati@mber as Chair. The Chair will not have a cgstiote.

5. Meetings

The Committee will meet at least once every calendarter. Special meetings shall be convened qsresl. Notices calling meetings shall
sent to all members of the Committee, all Board tmens and the external auditor. The external audifothe Corporation must be giv
reasonable notice of, and has the right to appefard and to be heard at, each meeting of the CtieeniAt the request of the external auditor
Committee must convene a meeting of the Commitemnsider any matter that the external auditaebes should be brought to the attentio
the Board or shareholders of the Corporation.
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The Committee may invite such other persons (eithowt limitation, the President or Chief Financiafficer) to its meetings, as it dee
appropriate.

6. Quorum

A majority of members of the Committee, presenténson, by teleconferencing, or by videoconferegoim by any combination of the foregoi
will constitute a quorum.

7. Removal and Vacancy

A member may resign from the Committee, and may bésremoved and replaced at any time by the Beeudl will automatically cease to b
member as soon as the member ceases to be a dwéthe Corporation. The Board will fill vacanciesthe Committee by appointment fr
among the directors in accordance with Section 2higf Charter. Subject to quorum requirements, faaancy exists on the Committee,
remaining members will exercise all of the Comnaisepowers.

8. Authority
The Committee may:

e engage independent counsel and other advisorslageiimines necessary to carry out its duties.
e set and pay the compensation for any advisors graglby the Committee; and

e communicate directly with the internal and extermaditors.

The Committee may also, within the scope of itpoasibilities, seek any information it requiresnrany employee and from external partie
obtain outside legal or professional advice, anehsure the attendance of Corporation officersestings as appropriate.

9. Secretary and Minutes

The Chair of the Committee will appoint a membethef Committee or other person to act as Secrefahe Committee for purposes of a mee
of the Committee. The minutes of the Committee mgstshall be in writing and duly entered into theoks of the Corporation, and will
circulated to all members of the Board.

10. Funding

The Corporation shall provide for appropriate furgdias determined by the Committee, for paymerfapEompensation to any registered pt
accounting firm engaged for the purposes of pregadr issuing an audit report or performing othedig review or attest services for
Corporation; (b) compensation to any advisers egpgudyy the Committee; and (c) ordinary administegxpenses of the Committee that
necessary or appropriate in carry out its duties.
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Schedule “B”
List of Abbreviations and Glossary of Mining Terms

The following is a list of abbreviations and a glary of certain mining terms used in this AlF:
“ 3E" refers to platinum, palladium and gold, colleetiy.

“ 4E" refers platinum, palladium, rhodium and gold,leotively.

“ amsl|” refers to above mean sea level.

“

anomalous” refers to a sample or location that either (i) to@centration of an element(s) or (ii) geophysit@&asurement is significan
different from the average background values irettea.

“anomaly” refers to the geographical area correspondirantimalous geochemical or geophysical values.

“ anorthosite ” is an intrusive igneous rock characterized byredpminance of plagioclase feldspar (208%), and a minimal mafic compon
(0-10%). Pyroxene, ilmenite, magnetite, and olivane the mafic minerals most commonly present.

“ anticlines” is a ridge or ridge-shaped fold of stratified kan which the strata slope downward from the crest

“ apatite " is a widely occurring pale green to purple minecansisting of calcium phosphate with some flnerichlorine, and other elements.
“ assay’ is an analysis to determine the quantity of onenore elemental components.

“ Au " refers to gold.

“ basket price per 4E ouncé€ refers to the aggregate value for one combined@ohplatinum, palladium, rhodium and gold, basedfre pril
split, or ratio of representative metals, for eathhe four elements contained in the combined 4Bce, valued at a stated price per ounc
those same elements.

“ BIC " is an abbreviation for the Bushveld Igneous Cawgh South Africa, the source of most of the wiglglatinum and is a significe
producer of palladium and other platinum group sgf@GMs) as well as chrome.

“ blebs” is a small particle.

chargeability ” is a measure of electrical capacitance of a roek thay indicate the presence of disseminated sulfitherals but not ¢
chargeability features are caused by such sulfides.

“ chromitite ” is an igneous cumulate rock composed mostly efrtfineral chromite. It is found in layered intrusso
“ cm” refers to centimetres.
“ Cu " refers to copper.

“ cupellation ” is a refining process for nonoxidizing metals, sashsilver and gold, in which a metallic mixtureoiddized at high temperatui
and base metals are separated by absorption mtedls of a cupel.

“ deposit” is a mineralized body, which has been physicallijndated by sufficient drilling, trenching, and/fenderground work, and found
contain a sufficient average grade of metal or et warrant further exploration and/or developtexpenditures. Such a deposit does
qualify as a commercially mineable ore body or@sa&ining ore reserves, until final legal, techhiead economic factors have been resolved.
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“ diamond drill " is a type of rotary drill in which the cutting isie by abrasion rather than percussion. The cubiirig set with diamonds anc
attached to the end of the long hollow rods throwdith water is pumped to the cutting face. Thd duts a core of rock that is covered in I
cylindrical sections, an inch or more in diameter.

“ dolerite ” is a dark basic intrusive igneous rock consistihglagioclase feldspar and a pyroxene.
“ dunite " is a green to brownish coarse-grained igneouk coasisting largely of olivine.

“ early-stage exploration property” refers to a property that has been subjecteditoitetl amount of physical testing and systemat@atior
work with no known extensive zone of mineralization

“ exploration stage” refers to the stage where a company is engagedtkeisdarch for minerals deposits (reserves), whiemat in either tr
development or production stage.

“ fault " is a fracture in a rock across which there hanlgisplacement.

“ felsic”, “ felsites” and “ feldspathic ” refers to an igneous rock that contains a grofifight-colored silicate minerals, including feldsy
feldspathoid, quartz, and muscovite.

“ fracture " is a break in a rock, usually along flat surfaces
“ gabbro” is an intrusive rock comprised of a mixture offroaninerals and feldspars.

“ grade” is the concentration of an ore metal in a rock dapgiven either as weight percent for base mdtas Cu, Zn, Pb) or in grams |
tonne (g/t) or ounces per short ton (oz/t) for res or platinum group metals.

“ granodiorite ” is a coarse-grained, plutonic rock containingrtmand plagioclase, between granite and diorisomposition.
“ glt” refers to grams per tonne.
“ ha” refers to hectares.

“ harzburgite ” is a variety of peridotite consisting mostly dfettwo minerals, olivine and loealcium (Ca) pyroxene (enstatite). It commc
contains a few percent chromium-rich spinel ascessory mineral.

“ ICP ” refers to inductively coupled plasma, a laborateschnique used for the quantitative analysis offgas(soil, rock, etc.) taken during fi
exploration programs.

“ indicated mineral resource” is that part of a mineral resource for which qusntirade or quality, densities, shape and physicafacteristic
can be estimated with a level of confidence sufitito allow the appropriate application of techhignd economic parameters, to support
planning and evaluation of the economic viabilifyttee deposit. The estimate is based on detailed-eiable exploration and testing informat
gathered through appropriate techniques from lonatsuch as outcrops, trenches, pits, workingdatdoles that are spaced closely enoug|
geological and grade continuity to be reasonabdumed.

“ inferred mineral resource” is that part of a mineral resource for which qustraind grade or quality can be estimated on this ledigeologice
evidence and limited sampling and reasonably asduimet not verified, geological and grade contiywithe estimate is based on limi
information and sampling gathered through approptiechniques from locations such as outcropsciresy pits, workings and drill holes.
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“

intrusive " is a rock mass formed below earth’s surface frowiten magma, which was intruded into a présting rock mass and coolec
solid.

“isopach” is a line on a map or diagram connecting poimsdath which a particular stratum or group of athets the same thickness.
“ km " refers to kilometres.

“ kriging " is the numerical modeling by applying statisticséeource calculations (or other earth sciencelslgms). The method recognizes
samples are not independent and that spatial cotytinetween samples exists.

“ m” refers to metres.
“ ML/day " refers to megalitre/day.
“ mafic " is a rock type consisting of predominantly iramdamagnesium silicate minerals with little quantZeddspar minerals.

“ magmatic ” means pertaining to magma, a naturally occurrifigage melt, which may contain suspended silicaystals, dissolved gases,
both; magmatic processes are at work under the’sarust.

“ measured mineral resourc€ is that part of a mineral resource for which gugingirade or quality, densities, shape, physicalatteristics a
so well established that they can be estimated euttfidence sufficient to allow the appropriate laggtion of technical and economic parame
to support production planning and evaluation ef élconomic viability of the deposit. The estimatdased on detailed and reliable explora
sampling and testing information gathered througprapriate techniques from locations such as opg;rsenches, pits, workings and drill he
that are spaced closely enough to confirm bothaggodl and grade continuity.

“ metasediments’ is a sediment or sedimentary rock which showslenwte of metamorphism.
“ mineralization " refers to minerals of value occurring in rocks.

mineral reserve ” is the economically mineable part of a measuredndicated mineral resource demonstrated by at laagteliminar
feasibility study. This study must include adequiatflermation on mining, processing, metallurgicatonomic and other relevant factors
demonstrate, at the time of reporting, that econosmtraction can be justified. A mineral reserveludes diluting materials and allowances
losses that may occur when material is mined.

“ mineral resource” is a concentration or occurrence of natural,dsdliorganic or fossilized organic material in or the Earths crust in suc
form and quantity and of such a grade or qualiat thhas reasonable prospects for economic eidracthe location, quantity, grade, geolog
characteristics and continuity of a mineral resewae known, estimated or interpreted from speg#iglogical evidence and knowledge.

“ MR " refers to Merensky Reef.
“ MVA " refers to megavolt ampere.

“ NI 43-101" refers to National Instrument 43-101Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projectbthe Canadian Securities Administrators w
sets out Canadian securities reporting guidelioesiining companies.

“ Ni ” is an abbreviation for nickel.
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“ noritic " is a coarse-grained igneous rock, very similagabbro but containing orthopyroxene instead ofogyroxene.

“ olivine ” is a mineral silicate of iron and magnesium, ppatly (Mg, Fe) 2SiO4, found in igneous and metarhargocks and used a¢
structural material in refractories and in cements.

“ orthopyroxenite ” is a member of the pyroxene group of mineralsitgvan orthorhombic crystal structure, such asatitstand hypersthenes.

ounce” or “ 0z” refers to a troy ounce having a weight of 31.§88ms.

“

outcrop " refers to an exposure of rock at the earth’saef

overburden” is any material covering or obscuring rocks fraiew.

“ pegmatoid ” is an igneous rock that has the coagsaned texture of a pegmatite but that lacks grapitergrowths or typically granit
composition.

“ Pd " refers to palladium.

“ PGM " refers to platinum group metals, i.e. platinuralladium, rhodium and gold.

“ PGE " refers to mineralization containing platinum gpoelements, i.e. platinum, palladium, rhodium aaliig

“ plagioclase’ is a form of feldspar consisting of aluminosiliea of sodium and/or calcium, common in igneou&sa@nd typically white.
“ ppb " refers to parts per billion.

“ probable mineral reserve” is the economically mineable part of an indicatadg in some circumstances a measured mineral =
demonstrated by at least a preliminary feasibiitydy. This study must include adequate informathonmining, processing, metallurgic
economic, and other relevant factors that demaestaa the time of reporting, that economic extaarctan be justified.

“ proven mineral reserve” is the economically mineable part of a measurecermainresource demonstrated by at least a prelimifeasibility
study. This study must include adequate informatiormining, processing, metallurgical, economic atiter relevant factors that demonstrat
the time of reporting, that economic extractiojuiified

“ Pt ” refers to platinum.

“ pyroxenite " refers to a relatively uncommon dackdoured rock consisting chiefly of pyroxene; pyeor is a type of rock containing sodil
calcium, magnesium, iron, titanium and aluminum borad with oxygen.

“ quartz " is a common rock-forming mineral (SiO2).

“ gquartzite " or “ metaquartzite ” is an extremely compact, hard, granular rock céingisessentially of quartz. It often occurs ascgikd
sandstone, as in sarsen stones.

“ Rh " refers to rhodium, a platinum metal. Rhodium sha@se of the notable properties of platinum, initigdts resistance to corrosion,
hardness and ductility. Wherever there is platinonthe earth, there is rhodium as well. In fact,sindhodium is extracted from a sludge
remains after platinum is removed from the oreightpercentage of rhodium is also found in certaakel deposits in Canada.

“ stope” is an underground excavation from which ore hesrbextracted.
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“ tailings " is the material that remains after all metalssidered economic have been removed from ore durmitigg.

“ tonne” refers to a metric tonne having a weight of 1,800grams or 2,205 pounds.

“ troctolite " is a gabbro made up mainly of olivine and cald&gioclase, often having a spotted appearancedikéo a trout’s back.
“ UG2 " refers to Upper Group 2 Chromitite Layer or Reef.

“ ultramafic ” refers to types of rock containing relatively higtoportions of the heavier elements such as magmesion, calcium and sodiu
these rocks are usually dark in colour and haaively high specific gravities.

“ xenolith " is a rock fragment which becomes enveloped iargdr rock during the latter's development and &airt.
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November 23, 201
Independent Auditor’'s Report
To the Shareholders of Platinum Group Metals Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated diahstatements of Platinum Group Metals Ltd., whiomprise the consolidated statem
of financial position as at August 31, 2012, AugB% 2011 and September 1, 2010 and the consdliddatgements of comprehensive |
changes in equity and cash flows for the yearsa@Adrgyust 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011, and theelaotes.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated fiancial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation airdpfesentation of these consolidated financialestents in accordance with Internatic
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the |A88 for such internal control as management ohéess is necessary to enable the prepar
of consolidated financial statements that are fire® material misstatement, whether due to fraudroor.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ¢hesnsolidated financial statements based on alitsaWe conducted our audits in accord:
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standdrdsse standards require that we comply with athiequirements and plan and perform
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whittheonsolidated financial statements are free frtaterial misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtamdibevidence about the amounts and disclosuréseitonsolidated financial statements.
procedures selected depend on the audifjadgment, including the assessment of the riksaterial misstatement of the consolidated final
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In ngakiose risk assessments, the auditor considermaitcontrol relevant to the entisypreparatio
and fair presentation of the consolidated finansiatements in order to design audit procedurdsatteaappropriate in the circumstances, bu
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on thectitffeness of the entity’'internal control. An audit also includes evalogtihe appropriatene
of accounting policies used and the reasonablesfesscounting estimates made by management, asawelvaluating the overall presentatio
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtamedr audits is sufficient and appropriate tovide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetagaresent fairly, in all material respects, thficial position of Platinum Group Metals Ltd
at August 31, 2012, August 31, 2011 and Septemhb2010 and its financial performance and cash fltowghe years ended August 31, 2012
August 31, 2011 in accordance with InternationabRcial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB.

signed “PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP”

Chartered Accountants

| PricewaterhouseCoopers LL
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place, 250 Howe Streete 30i, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C
T: +1 604 806 7000, F: +1 604 806 78!
“PwC" refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontariitdd liability partnershig



Managemen’s responsibility for the Financial Statements

The preparation and presentation of the accompgrgonsolidated financial statements, Managemerissu3sion and Analysis (“MD&A”anc
all financial information in the Annual Report ahee responsibility of management and have beeroapgdrby the Board of Directors.

The consolidated financial statements have begmaped in accordance with International Financigbdtgng Standards as issued by the 1A
Financial statements, by nature are not precisgghmey include certain amounts based upon estnzate judgments. When alternative metl
exist, management has chosen those it deems tebrdst appropriate in the circumstances. The ¢iahimformation presented elsewhere in
Annual Report is consistent with that in the coitsdkd financial statements.

Management, under the supervision of and with #@réigipation of the Chief Executive Officer and t@aief Financial Officer, have a proces
place to evaluate disclosure controls and procedarel internal control over financial reportingraguired by Canadian and U.S. secur
regulations. We, as Chief Executive Officer and e€litinancial Officer, will certify our annual filgs with the CSA and SEC as require:
Canada by National Instrument 52-109 and in theddnStates as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley A20@i.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensutimgt management fulfills its responsibilities farancial reporting and is ultimately respons
for reviewing and approving the consolidated finahstatements. The Board carries out this respditgiprincipally through its Audit Committe
which is independent from management.

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board afebiors and reviews the consolidated financiakstants and MD&A; considers the repor
the independent auditors; assesses the adequamyr dfiternal controls, including managemsnéissessment described below; examine:
approves the fees and expenses for the audit ssrvand recommends the independent auditors tBdleed for the appointment by f
shareholders. The independent auditors have fdlifeae access to the Audit Committee and meet ivith discuss their audit work, our inter
control over financial reporting and financial refimy matters. The Audit Committee reports its fings to the Board for consideration w
approving the consolidated financial statementssiemance to the shareholders and managesnastessment of the internal control over fina
reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and taaing adequate internal control over financiglaring.

Management has used the Committee of Sponsoringnzations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) fraoréwo evaluate the effectiven:
of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as atglist 31, 2012. Based on this evaluation, managehanconcluded that as
August 31, 2012, the Company’s internal controlrdireancial reporting was effective.

/s/ R. Michael Jones /s/ Frank Hallam
R. Michael Jones Frank Hallam
Chief Executive Office Chief Financial Office




PLATINUM GROUP METALS LTD.

(An exploration and development stage compan)
Consolidated Statements of Financial Positio

(in thousands of Canadian dollars’

August 31, 201:

August 31, 201:

September 1, 201

(Note 17) (Note 17)

ASSETS
Current

Cash and cash equivale $ 17,66 $ 64,11t 2,36¢

Amounts receivable (Note 4 (: 4,70( 1,84¢ 1,271

Prepaid expenses and other assets (Note 30z 11C 69
Total current assets 22,66 66,07 3,70¢
Restricted cash (Note 5 (a (i 30,51: 47,72 16C
Other assets (Note 4 (L 141 2,59¢ -
Assets held for sal - 974 1,00¢
Performance bonds (Note 5 (a (ii 8,69¢ 2,16z -
Exploration and evaluation assets (Nott 14,80¢ 10,72¢ 9,56¢
Property, plant and equipment (Note 166,90° 150,53: 111,95!
Total assets $ 243,73« $ 280,78 126,39:
LIABILITIES
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit $ 7,77 $ 5,98¢ 2,27(
Total current liabilities 7,77¢ 5,98¢ 2,27(
Deferred income taxes (Note 1 13,42¢ 12,91 15,48¢
Asset retirement obligation (Note 1,44( 645 -
Total liabilities 22,644 19,54( 17,75¢
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital (Note ¢ 256,31: 256,31: 91,79«
Contributed surplu 16,93 13,81¢ 10,92¢
Accumulated other comprehensive incc (36,52) (6,107 -
Deficit (55,319 (34,34) (5,239
Total shareholders' equity attributable to sharehotlers of Platinum Group

Metals Ltd. 181,40° 229,68( 97,48¢
Non-controlling interest (Note 5(a (i) 39,68: 31,56¢ 11,14¢
Total Shareholders' equity 221,09( 261,24¢ 108,63t
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 243,73 $ 280,78 126,39:

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (NOTE 13

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (NOTE 1¢

Approved by the Board of Directors and authorizadigsue on November 23, 2012

"lain McLean"

lain McLean, Directo

"Eric Carlson"

Eric Carlson, Directo

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finestaiements.



PLATINUM GROUP METALS LTD.

(An exploration and development stage compan)
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Lo

(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for shardata)

Yeal Yeal
Ende Ende
August 31, 201 August 31, 201
(Note 17
EXPENSES

General and administrative (Note : $ 537 % 6,79(
Foreign exchange lo 3,58¢ 12
Stock compensation exper 2,00¢ 6,91(
Write-down of property, plant and equipmi 44z -
Write-down of exploration and evaluation as 41% -
(11,827 (13,719
Finance incom 3,94 3,78t
Loss for the year before income (7,879 (9,927)
Income tax (expense) recove (2,329 1,581
Loss for the year after income t (10,200 (8,34¢6)
Income attributable to n-controlling interes 38¢ 54¢€
Loss attributable to the shareholders of Platinuou@ Metals Ltd $ (10,589 $ (8,897)

Other comprehensive lo
Foreign currency translation adjustm (30,420 (6,100
Comprehensive loss for the ye $ (41,009 $ (14,99))
Basic and diluted loss per common st $ (0.06) $ (0.05)
Weighte(-average number of common shares outstar- Basic and dilute 177,584,54 173,948,05

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements.




PLATINUM GROUP METALS LTD.

(An exploration and development stage compan)
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equit
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except sha

Common shares
without par value

Contributec  Accumulated othe Non-controlling
Shares Amount surplus comprehensive lo Deficit interest Total

Balance, September 1, 201

(Note 17) 93,964,79 $ 91,79 $ 10,92¢ $ -$ (523) % 11,214¢ $ 108,63t
Issuance of common shares for

cash 70,150,00 135,36t - - - - 135,36t
Issued on exercise of stock

options 936,50( 1,93 (46¢) - - - 1,464
Issued on exercise of w arrar  12,533,25 27,22( (5,287) - - - 21,93
Stock based compensati - - 8,64: - - - 8,64:
Funding of non-controlling

interest - - - - (20,22 20,22: -
Income attributable to non-

controlling interes - - - - - 54¢€ 54¢€
Foreign currency translation

adjustmen - - - (6,107) - (34€) (6,449
Net loss - - - - (8,892) - (8,8972)
Balance, August 31, 2011 (No

17) 177,584,54 256,31: 13,81¢ (6,10 (34,34) 31,56¢ 261,24¢
Stock based compensati - - 3,11¢ - - - 3,11¢
Funding of non-controlling

interest - - - - (10,389 10,38: -
Income attributable to non-

controlling interes - - - - - 38¢ 38¢
Foreign currency translation

adjustmen - - - (30,420 - (2,656 (33,07¢)
Net loss - - - - (10,589 - (10,58¢)
Balance, August 31, 201 177,584,54 $ 256,31 $ 16,93¢ $ (36,52) $ (55,319 $ 39,68: $ 221,09

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finesteiements.



PLATINUM GROUP METALS LTD.

(An exploration and development stage compan)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

(in thousands of Canadian dollars’

Yeal Yeal
Ende Ende
August 31, 201 August 31, 201
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (Note 1)
Loss for the yee $ (10,589 $ (8,897)
Add items not affecting cas

Depreciatiol 387 262
Foreign exchange lo 1,65¢ 12
Deferred income tax expense (recov 2,752 (2,069
Write-down of property, plant and equipme 44z -
Write-down of exploration and evaluation as 41% -
Stock compensation expel 2,00¢ 6,91(
Net change in n~cash working capital (Note 1. 422 354
(2,507 (3,427

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of common sha - 158,76:
- 158,76.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, plant and equipm: (36,940 (38,726
Exploration expenditures, net of recove (5,910 (1,24%
South African VAT (50) (726€)
Performance bonc (6,879 (2,009
Restricted cas 8,01z (49,559
(41,765 (92,260
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (44,277) 63,08!
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash eqrits (2,18)) (1,329
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 64,11¢ 2,36¢
Cash and cash equivalents, end of $ 17,66 $ 64,11¢

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finesteiements.
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(in thousands of Canadian doll¢

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND LIQUIDITY

Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (the “Company”) is atBth Columbia corporation incorporated on Februg8y2002. The Comparg/share
are publicly listed on the Toronto Stock ExchangeCanada and the NYSE MKT LLC in the United Stafdse Companys address
Suite 32-550 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British ColumbiaC/BB5.

The Company is an exploration and development cosnganducting work on mineral properties it haksthor acquired by way
option agreements in Canada and the Republic ahS&fuica. The Company is currently developing Bm@ject 1 Platinum Mine in Sot
Africa, in which it holds a 74% working interest.férmal Mining Right was granted for the projectApril 4, 2012 by the Government
South Africa. The Company is currently working wittsyndicate of international banks (the “Lendets"fomplete a $260 million sen
loan facility for the project. The negotiations baadvanced through detailed technical, financidllagal due diligence. Closing and d
down of the loan facility is subject to receipt ocbmmitment, final credit approval, the negotiatiand execution of definiti
documentation and certain conditions precedent. Ctempany will also be responsible for its 74% shafr@ cost overrun facility ai
working capital as needed to satisfy the Lendeeguirements. In order to follow its business pldre Company will need to ra
additional capital in 2012 by way of equity issuanedditional debt or sale of assets. There isssoirance that such funding will
available to the Company, or that it will be obtadron terms favourable to the Company. Failurebtaio sufficient financing may result
delaying or indefinite postponement of exploratidayelopment, or production on any or all of theranys properties, or even a loss
property interests

These financial statements include the accountshef Company and its subsidiaries. The Comparstbsidiaries and signific:
investments are as follow

Platinum Group Metals (RSA) (Pty) Ltd. - Johannegb®SA (100% ownership)
Maseve Investments 11 (Pty) Ltd. - Johannesburg, 8% ownership)
Wesplats Holdings (Pty) Limited - Johannesburg, RB20% ownership)
Platinum Group Metals (Barbados) Ltd., Barbado®¢@wnership)

Mnombo Wethu Consultants (Pty) Limited. (49.9% ovsh@)

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Company prepares its financial statementséordance with Canadian generally accepted accauptimciples (“Canadian GAAR”
as set out in the Handbook of the Canadian InstitiitChartered Accountants (“CICA Handbooki). 2010, the CICA Handbook w
revised to incorporate International Financial Répg Standards (“IFRS”)and require publicly accountable enterprises tdyappct
standards effective for fiscal years beginning oafter January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the Compaommenced reporting on this basi
these consolidated financial statements. In thesmndial statements, the term Canadian GAAP refier€anadian GAAP before t
adoption of IFRS. Accordingly, these are the Comypafirst annual consolidated financial statemengpared in accordance with IFRS
issued by the IASE

These consolidated financial statements have besaped in accordance with IFRS applicable to tlepgration of consolidated financ
statements, including IFRS 1, “First-time adoptadrinternational Financial Reporting Standardsl subject to certain transition electi
and certain optional exemptions as disclosed ireN@t The Company has consistently applied the sen@@unting policies in its openi
IFRS statement of financial position at Septemhe2@10 and throughout all periods presented, #isee policies had always beel
effect. Note 17 discloses the impact of the trémsito IFRS on the Compars/financial position, financial performance andhcélsws.
including the nature and effect of significant ches in accounting policies from those used in tleen@anys consolidated financi
statements for the year ended September 1, !
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The financial statements were approved by the Cog’s Board of Directors

The consolidated financial statements are present€dnadian dollar:

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in thegaration of these consolidated financial stategarg set out belov
Consolidation

The financial statements of the Company consolitteeaccounts of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. andsitbsidiaries. All intercompa
transactions, balances and any unrealized gainkaseés from intercompany transactions are elirathah consolidatior

Cash and cash equivalen

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash andtemertdeposits, which are readily convertible tohcasd have original maturities of
days or less

Exploration and Evaluation Asset

Exploration and evaluation activity involves theussh for mineral resources, the determination difitécal feasibility and the assessmel
commercial viability of an identified resourc

Exploration and evaluation activity include

- acquiring the rights to explore;

- researching and analyzing historical exploratiata,;

- gathering exploration data through topographigabchemical and geophysical studies;
- exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling;

- determining and examining the volume and gradé®fesource;

- surveying transportation and infrastructure regmients; and

- compiling pre-feasibility and feasibility studies

Exploration and evaluation expenditures on ideattif properties are capitalized. Exploration analation assets are shown separ:
until a build decision is made at which point tisset is transferred to development assets undperyo plant and equipment. Capitali
costs are all considered to be tangible assetsegsform part of the underlying mineral propertyo Bmortization is charged during
exploration and evaluation phase as the asset svadable for use.

Capitalized exploration and evaluation assets erewed for impairment when facts or circumstarsagggest an asssttarrying amoul
may exceed its recoverable amount. If impairmembissidered to exist, the related asset is writi@mn to the greater of its value in
and its fair value less costs to sell.

Undivided interests in mineral properties acquiaeda result of a joint exploration arrangementracerded as exploration and evalua
assets.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation and accumulated impairfosses. The cost of an iten
property, plant and equipment includes the purclpai®e or construction cost, any costs directlyilattable to bringing the asset to
location and condition necessary for its intendsel, @n initial estimate of the costs of dismanthng removing the item and restoring
site on which it is located, and for qualifying efss the associated borrowing costs.
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Where an item of property, plant and equipmentamrised of major components with different usdfués, the components ¢
accounted for as separate items of property, plagtequipment.

Costs incurred for new construction, mine developtnand major overhauls of existing equipment agitalized as property, plant ¢
equipment and are subject to depreciation oncedheyput into use. The costs of routine maintenancerepairs are expensed as incurred.

Once a mining project has been established as coriaihe viable, expenditure other than on land,ldings, plant and equipment
capitalised as part of ‘development assets’ togetiith any related amount transferred from ‘expliara and evaluation assets’.

Property, plant and equipment are recorded atasabstire amortized on a straight line basis ovefditmving periods:

Building 20 years
Mining equipmen 2-22 years
Vehicles 3-5years
Computer equipment and softw: 3-5years
Furniture and fixture 5 years

Development costs are depreciated on a unit ofymtamh basis.
Impairment of long-lived assets

LongAived assets are reviewed for impairment whenevents or changes in circumstances indicate thatdhging amount may not
recoverable.

The Company conducts internal reviews of assetegaluhich are used to assess for any indicatiomadirment. External factors suct
changes in expected future prices, costs and othetet factors are also monitored to assess fagdtidns of impairment.

If any such indication exists an estimate of treowerable amount is undertaken, being the highenddsses fair value less costs to ¢
and value in use. If the assetarrying amount exceeds its recoverable amowmt &im impairment loss is recognized in the statémf
income.

Fair value is determined as the amount that wowdobtained from the sale of the asset in an @rl@hgth transaction betwe
knowledgeable and willing parties. Fair value oheral assets is generally determined as the presém of the estimated future c
flows expected to arise from the continued usdefasset, including any expansion prospects.

Value in use is determined as the present valdleeoéstimated future cash flows expected to artsa the continued use of the asset i
present form and from its ultimate disposal.

Impairment is normally assessed at the level ofi-ggerating units (“CGUs”which are identified as the smallest identifiabteup o
assets that generates cash inflows that are lairggypendent of the cash inflows from other assets.

Long lived assets that have suffered impairmenttasted for possible reversal of the impairment nelver events or changes
circumstances indicate that the impairment may haversed. When a reversal of a previous impairnsergcorded, the reversal amout
adjusted for depreciation that would have beenrdembhad the impairment not taken place.
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Asset retirement obligations

Provisions for asset retirement obligations areeriadespect of the estimated future costs of coand restoration and for environme
rehabilitation costs (which include the dismantliagd demolition of infrastructure, removal of rest materials and remediation
disturbed areas) in the accounting period whendlzaed disturbance occurs. The provision is distediusing a risk-free pitax rate, an
the unwinding of the discount is included in finarcosts. At the time of establishing the provismrprresponding asset is capitalized
is depreciated over the future life of the assetliich it relates. The provision is adjusted oraanual basis for changes in cost estim
discount rates and inflation.

Income taxes

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differerimsveen the carrying value of assets and liadilitn the statement of financial posit
and the corresponding tax bases used in the cotiguta taxable profit. Deferred tax is determingging tax rates and tax laws that
enacted or substantively enacted at the date oftdtement of financial position and are expectedpply when the related deferred
asset is realized or the deferred tax liabilitgattled.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not reczaghif the temporary difference arises in a tratisa®ther than a business combination
at the time of the transaction affects neithernt#ixable nor the accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all dedectdmporary differences to the extent that it isbable that taxable profits will
available against which those deductible tempod#ifgrences can be utilized. Deferred tax assetsliabilities are offset when there i
legally enforceable right to set off the current éssets against the current tax liabilities anémthey relate to income taxes levied by
same taxation authority and the Company intendetite its current tax assets and liabilities oretbasis.

Translation of foreign currencies
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of tlwenPany and each of the Compangubsidiaries are measured using the currendye
primary economic environment in which the entityemdes (the functional currency) as follows:

Platinum Group Metals Limite Canadian dollar

Platinum Group Metals (RSA) (Pty) Lt South African Ran
Maseve Investments 11 (Pty) L South African Rant
Wesplats Holdings (Pty) Limite South African Rant
Mnombo Wethu Consultants (Pty) Limit South African Ran
Platinum Group Metals (Barbados) L United States dollar

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated imtorélevant entity functional currency using the exchange ratesgilieg at the date 1
the transaction. Foreign currency gains and losssadting from the settlement of such transactiamd from the translation at perietc
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilidesmhinated in foreign currencies are recognizetiérincome statement.
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Subsidiaries

The results and financial position of subsidiatlest have a functional currency different from gresentation currency are translated
the presentation currency as follows:

e Assets and liabilities are translated at the ctpsate at the reporting date;
e Income and expenses are translated at averagengechates for the period; and
e All resulting exchange differences are recogniredther comprehensive income as cumulative traoslatdjustments.

When a foreign operation is sold, such exchanderdifices are recognized in the income statemehgetextent of the portion sold as |
of the gain or loss on sale.

Stock-based compensation

The fair values for all stock-based awards areregdd using the Blackcholes model and recorded over the period of ngesihe
compensation cost related to stock options graisteztorded in operations or capitalized to minpraperties, as applicable.

Cash received on exercise of stock options is teédo share capital and the related amount preljioacognized in contributed surplu
reclassified to share capital.

Earnings (loss) per common share
Basic earnings (loss) per common share is calallaang the weighted average number of common sloartstanding.

The Company uses the treasury stock method forcaétulation of diluted earnings per share. Dilufst share amounts reflect
potential dilution that could occur if securitiesaiher contracts to issue common shares wereisgdror converted to common share:
periods when a loss is incurred, the effect of gbtential issuances of shares is aliltitive, and accordingly basic and diluted loss
share are the same.

Financial instruments
(i) Financial assets and liabilities

The classification depends on the purpose for whkiehfinancial assets or liabilities were obtainkthnagement determines
classification of financial assets and liabilitesnitial recognition.

Loans and receivables -Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash é&sntivaamounts receivable, restricted cash
performance bonds. Loans and receivables arededwmative financial assets with fixed or deternfilgapayments that are |
quoted in an active market. They are classifiedwrsent assets or nanrent assets based on their maturity date. Laa
receivables are initially recognized at fair valuel subsequently carried at amortized cost lessnapgirment.

Other financial liabilities - Other financial liabilities comprise accounts pdgadind accrued liabilities and are recognizedatiyt
at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred are subsequently stated at amortized cost. Affigreince between the initial ¢
and the redemption value is recognized in the ircetatement over the period to maturity using ffectve interest method.

5




Platinum Group Metals Ltd.

(An exploration and development stage comp
Notes to the consolidated financial staterr
For the year ended August 31, 2

(in thousands of Canadian doll¢

(i) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of quoted investments are baseduoment bid prices. If the market for a financiaket is not active, the Comp:
establishes fair value by using valuation techrsgquénese include the use of recent armength transactions, reference to ¢
instruments that are substantially the same, digeolucash flow analysis, and option pricing modefied to reflect the issuer’
specific circumstances.

(iii) Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date witllegheris objective evidence that a financial asset group of financial ass
is impaired. Impairment losses on financial assatsied at amortized cost are reversed in subseégeagiods if the amount of t
loss decreases and the decrease can be relatetivaeto an event occurring after the impairmesats recognized.

Future accounting changes

Unless otherwise noted, the following new or redis¢gandards and amendments are effective for arparads beginning on or af
January 1, 2013 with earlier application permitt€de company has not yet assessed the impact & gtandards and amendment
determined whether it will early adopt them.

IFRS 9, ‘Financial instrumentsaddresses the classification, measurement andnigioogof financial assets and financial liabilgid FRS
9 was issued in November 2009 and October 201f&places the parts of IAS 39 that relate to thesifi@ation and measurement
financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires financiadeds to be classified into two measurement categottiose measured as at fair value
those measured at amortized cost. The determinigtimade at initial recognition. The classificatiepends on the entitybusiness moc
for managing its financial instruments and the axttial cash flow characteristics of the instrumé&wat financial liabilities, the stand:
retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The mhenge is that, in cases where the fair value opsidaken for financial liabilities, tt
part of a fair value change due to an engitygivn credit risk is recorded in other comprehengicome rather than the income staten
unless this creates an accounting mismatch.

In May 2011, the IASB issued the following standawhich have not yet been adopted by the Comp&®RS110, Consolidated Financ
Statements (IFRS 10), IFRS 11, Joint ArrangemelfRS 11), IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Otkatities (IFRS 12), IAS 2
Separate Financial Statements (IAS 27), IFRS 18,\kdue measurement (IFRS 13) and amended IASri2@stments in Associates ¢
Joint Ventures (IAS 28).

IFRS 10, consolidation requires amtity to consolidate an investee when it is exgpse has rights, to variable returns from
involvement with the investee and has the abildgyaffect those returns through its power over theestee. Under existing IFF
consolidation is required when an entity has thegao govern the financial and operating poliaésan entity so as to obtain bene
from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12 Coitadlon — Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27 Catatld and Separ:
Financial Statements.

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, requires a venturaassify its interest in a joint arrangement gsiat venture or joint operation. Jo
ventures will be accounted for using the equityhndtof accounting whereas for a joint operationwbeturer will recognize its share
the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses @fjdimt operation. Under existing IFRS, entitiesvdnahe choice to proportionat
consolidate or equity account for interests in tjaiantures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31, Interes@i@iimt Ventures, and SIC3, Jointly
Controlled Entities—Non-monetary Contributions bgrnturers.

IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entitiestablishes disclosure requirements for intefi@stgher entities, such as subsidial
joint arrangements and associates. The standaid<éorward existing disclosures and also intradusignificant additional disclosure t
address the nature of, and risks associated withngty’s interests in other entities.
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IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, is a compreherssamdard for fair value measurement and disclogurese across all IFRS standa
The new standard clarifies that fair value is thieethat would be received to sell an asset, @t patransfer a liability in an ordel
transaction between market participants, at thesareanent date. Under existing IFRS, guidance orsmagy and disclosing fair value
dispersed among the specific standards requiringvidue measurements and does not always refledea measurement basis
consistent disclosures.

There have been amendments to existing standaasding IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements @&f and IAS 28, Investments
Associates and Joint Ventures (IAS 28). IAS 27 adsies accounting for subsidiaries, jointly contlentities and associates in non-
consolidated financial statements. IAS 28 has lz@eended to include joint ventures in its scope tanadddress the changes in IFRS-10
13.

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, haskmmended to require entities to separate itemsepted in other comprehens
income (“OCI”) into two groups, based on whether or not items beyecycled in the future. Entities that choosgresent OCI iten
before tax will be required to show the amountadf telated to the two groups separately. The amentlia effective for annual peric
beginning on or after July 1, 2012 with earlier liggdion permitted.

Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in eonity of IFRS requires the use of judgments aniilnedes that affect the amol
reported and disclosed in the consolidated findistéements and related notes. These judgmentsstindates are based on managemsent’
best knowledge of the relevant facts and circunegtsnhaving regard to previous experience, buahctsults may differ materially frc
the amounts included in the financial statememf@rination about such judgments and estimatioroigained in the accounting polic
and notes to the financial statements, and theakegs are summarized below.

Areas of judgment that have the most significaféafon the amounts recognized in these consotidatancial statements are:
e Review of asset carrying values and impairmentssssent;
e Determination of the fair values of share-basedpmemation.
e Determination of useful lives of property, plantdaquipment;
e Asset retirement obligations; and
e Deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty that have rtest significant effect on the amounts recognizedhese consolidated financ
statements are:

e Review of asset carrying values and impairmentssssent;
e Asset retirement obligations; and
e Deferred tax assets and liabilities and resouncesta
Each of these judgments and estimates is considieradre detail below.
Review of asset carrying values and impairmentsssaent

Property, plant and equipment and mineral propedre considered for impairment when events orgdsim circumstances indicate !
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If singh indication exists, a formal estimate of recallke amount is performed and
impairment loss is recognized to the extent that ¢hrrying amount exceeds the recoverable amowmttHe purpose of measur
recoverable amounts, assets are grouped at thatléevels for which there are separately identiatash flows (casbenerating units
“CGUs"). The recoverable amount is the higher ofaaeets fair value less costs to sell and value in usin(bthe present value of -
expected future cash flows of the relevant ass&@@®@u). An impairment loss is recognized for the amtoby which the asset'carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
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The determination of fair value less costs to aetl value in use requires management to make d¢etiraad assumptions about expe
production, commodity prices, mineral reserves aesources, operating costs, closure and rehalafitatosts and future capi
expenditures. These estimates and assumptionsubiecs to risk and uncertainty; hence there is plessibility that changes
circumstances will alter these projections, whichyrimpact the recoverable amount of the assefsudh circumstances some or all of
carrying value of the assets may be further implairethe impairment charge reduced with the impa@brded in the income statement.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The amounts recorded for asset retirement costsasmed on estimates included in closure and remirediplans. These estimates are b
on engineering studies of the work that is requibganvironmental laws. These estimates includassnmption of the rate at which c
may inflate in future periods. Actual costs andtihéng of expenditures could differ from theseimsttes.

Determination of the fair value of share-based cengation

The Company provides compensation benefits to mypl@yees, directors, officers and consultants thioa share option plan. In orde
compute this fair value the Company uses optiodimgi models that require management to make vagstimmates and assumption:
relation to the expected life of awards, volatjlitjskfree interest rates, and forfeiture rates. Expeetddtility is based on historic
volatility of the Company’s share price. The riske interest rate for the expected term of théoogs based on the Government of Cai
yield curve in effect at the time of the grant.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities and resourceeta

The determination of our future tax liabilities aaskets involves significant management estimatiahjudgment involving a number
assumptions. In determining these amounts the Coynjmierprets tax legislation in a variety of jufistions and make estimates of
expected timing of the reversal of future tax assed liabilities. We also make estimates of oturiiearnings which affect the exten
which potential future tax benefits may be used. & subject to assessment by various taxatioroatitls, which may interpret t
legislation in a manner different from our view.€Be differences may affect the final amount ortitnéng of the payment of taxes. Wt
such differences arise we make provision for stexns based on our best estimate of the final owtcointhese matters.

Determination of useful lives of property, plantiaquipment

The Company uses the straight line method to deteeproperty, plant and equipment, whereby degptieei is calculated using t
expected life of the asset. Development assetshwilliepreciated using the units of production nuktistimated lives of property, pli
and equipment are based on historical experiendeaetual asset lives may vary from this experiehoees are reassessed on at lea:
annual basis.



AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAIDS

a) Amounts receivabl
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August 31,201  August 31,201  September 1, 20

South African VAT $ 1,24: $ 1,171 $ 44E
Other receivable 31 202 2
Expenditure advance 3,20¢ 344 8
Canadian harmonized sales 131 80 127
Due from related parties (Note 1 88 47 36
Receivable from the sale of ass - - 652
Total amounts receivab $ 4700 $ 1,84 $ 1,271

b) Prepaid expenses and other as

August 31, 201  August 31,201 September 1, 20

Current

Insurance premiurr $ 261 $ 87 % 5C
Miscellaneous 41 23 19
Total current prepaic $ 30z $ 11C $ 6¢
Non-current

Miscellaneous $ 141 $ - 3 =
Project 1- Contractor advance - 2,59¢ -
Total other asse $ 141 $ 2,59¢ $ -
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Construction
Developmen work-in- Office Mining
assets progress Land Buildings Equipment  Equipment Total
Cost
Balance as at September :

2010 $ 91,69: $ - $ 15,53 % 4,487 $ 71z $ 166 $ 112,58
Additions 37,01: 3,432 - - 45¢ 1,65( 42 ,55:
Disposal - - - (6) (272) - (27€)
Foreign exchange moveme (2,927) - (49E5) (143) (13) (5) (3,587
Balance as at August 31, 20 $ 12577 $ 3,43 % 15,037 $ 433t $ 88€ $ 1,811 $ 151,28:
Additions 31,16¢ 80t 2,112 282 131 5,80: 40,297
Disposal - - - - ()] D 2
Foreign exchange moveme (19,349 (54%) (2,379) (68¢€) (68) (28€) (23,310)
Balance August 31, 201 $ 137,59. $ 3,694 % 14,77 $ 393 $ 94t $ 7,327 $ 168,26t
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at September 1, 2($ - 3 - $ - 8 1€ $ 567 $ 51 % 634
Additions - - - 20 19z 46 25¢
Disposals - - - 3 (12%) - (137)
Foreign exchange moveme - - - (1) (12) (D (14)
Balance as at August 31, 20 $ - 3 - $ - 8 32 % 62C $ 9% $ 74¢
Additions - - - 19t 144 347 68€
Disposals - - - - 2 (@0} 3
Foreign exchange moveme - - - (4 (54) (14) (72
Balance August 31, 201 $ - 3 - 3 - 8 22: % 70 $ 42¢ % 1,35¢
Net book value, September 1

2010 $ 91,69: $ - 8 15,53 $ 447. % 148§ 11F $  111,95!
Net book value, August 31

2011 $ 125,77 $ 3,43. % 15,03° $ 4,30¢ $ 266 $ 1,71t $ 150,53
Net book value, August 31

2012 $ 137,59. $ 3,69. $ 14,77C  $ 3,711 $ 24C % 6,89¢ $§ 166,90
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a) Projects 1

Project 1, which is located in the Western Bushvelglon of South Africa, and is currently in devaizent, is classified as Property, P
and Equipment.

Ownership of Project

Under the terms of an agreement dated April 2202€He Company owns a 74% interest in Project ilewthe remainin
26% is owned by Wesizwe Platinum Ltd. (“WesizwdJInder the terms of the agreement subscription fyradd by th
Company are held in escrow for application towawssizwes capital requirements for Projects 1. These fuad
classified as restricted cash. As of August 31,22@ke balance of restricted cash is $32,158. Ferye$74 spent by tl
Company on project requirements in Maseve, a fuff2é can be removed from the restricted cashverc?/esizwes shar
of such costs

The Company consolidated the financial statemehtdaseve from the effective date of the reorgamzatThe portion ¢
Maseve not owned by the Company, calculated a683%t August 31, 2012 ($31,56&R4dgust 31, 2011), is accounted
as a no-controlling interest

Other financial informatior- Project 1

At August 31, 2012, the Company recorded an assieément obligation of $1,440 (August 31, 201164%) based on tl
degree of surface disturbance on the Project 1A#®f August 31, 2012, the Company has postedad of $8,698 (Augu
31, 2011 - $2,162) as performance bonds in SouticaAfgainst reclamation work, approximately $8,680gust 31, 2011 -
$2,070) of which is posted against work on Projet

6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

The Company has exploration projects in CanadeSadh Africa. The total capitalized exploration av@luation expenditures are as follows:

August 31, August 31, September 1,

2012 2011 2010
Canada $ 5,601 [$ 3,71C ($ 2,32¢
South Africa 9,20¢ 7,01€ 7,244
Total exploration $ 14,80¢ |$ 10,72¢ |$ 9,56¢
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REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

SOUTH AFRICA
August 31, August 31, September 1,
2012 2011 2010

Project 3 -see note 5 (a) $ 3,64¢ ([$ 4,33: |$ 4,47¢
Waterberg Acquisition costs $ 10 ($ 12 |$ 12
Exploration and evaluation costs 7,562 886 577
Recoveries (4,250) (886) (577)

Total Waterberg $ 3,322 [$ 12 |$ 12
Sable Acquisition costs $ 9 I$ 11 % 3
Exploration and evaluation costs 1,147 797 87
Recoveries (1,15€) (760) (43)

Total Sable $ - % 48 |$ 47
Warsprings Acquisition costs $ 137 |$ 154 |$ 158
Exploration and evaluation costs 3,87C 4,58¢ 4,105
Recoveries (2,414) (2,862) (2,31€)

Total Warsprings $ 1,59 |$ 1,88C |$ 1,94t
Tweespalk Acquisition costs $ 74 1% 80 |$ 82
Exploration and evaluation costs 742 870 895
Recoveries (182) (216) (224)

Total Tweespalk $ 634 |$ 734 |$ 753
Other $ 11 |$ 11 |$ 11
Total South Africa Exploration $ 9,20¢ ($ 7,01¢ |$ 7,244

Waterberg

The Waterberg Project consists of a registered amber prospecting right granted by the GovernmdnBauth Africa. The curre
prospecting right expired on the September 1, 2i1Pan application together with the required sujmpp documentation for the rene\
of the current prospecting right for a further pdrof three years commencing on the Septemberl2 2@s filed and duly acknowled¢
by the Regional Manager, Limpopo Region, Departnoéineral Resources (“DMR™A further application to extend the license pe
to September 1, 2017 is in process. PTM RS@rospecting right at Waterberg will allow it titefan application for conversion of 1
current prospecting right into a mining right.

In October 2009, PTM RSA entered into an agreemeétit the Japanese Oil, Gas and Metals National @atpn (JOGMEC) ar
Mnombo Wethu Consultants (Pty) Limited (“Mnombaihereby JOGMEC could earn up to a 37% intereshénproject for an option
work commitment of USD $3.2 million over 4 yeardiile at the same time Mnombo, is required to ma@GMEC's expenditures ol
26/74 basis (USD $1.12 million).

The Company originally held a 37% share in the \Wegey Project with Mnombo, a Black Economic Empawent (“BEE”) partner
holding the remaining 26% share. However, On Nowani 2011 the Company entered into an agreemehtMmombo whereby tt
Company acquired 49.9% of the issued and outstgrstiares of Mnombo in exchange for cash paymetadling R 1.2 million an
paying for Mnombo's 26% share of project costshtodompletion of a feasibility study. When combimeth the Company's 37% dire
interest in the Waterberg Project (after JOGMEéa@), the 12.974% indirect interest to be acquitediagh Mnombo will bring tF
Company's effective project interest to 49.974% .
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As of approximately April 2012 JOGMEC had compleiisdUSD $3.2 million earn in requirement as ddseli above. Since that time
Company has spent approximately a further USD $¢hillibn on exploration expenditures to August 2012. Of this amount USD $1.
million will be applied to Mnombg initial earn in requirement and the balance g@raximately USD $3.32 million will be applied toe
Company’s and Mnombo’s ongoing 63% combined pra shtre of costs.

War Springs and Tweespalk

On June 3, 2002, the Company acquired an opti@ato a 100% interest in the 2,396 hectare War §pimoperty and the 2,177 hec
Tweespalk property both located in the Northernthion Platreef area of the Bushveld Complex, nofthobannesburg. The Company
settle the vendorsesidual interests in these mineral rights at ang for US$690 per hectare. The Company pays arproapecting fee
to the vendors of US$3.25 per hectare. The vengdain a 1% NSR Royalty on the property, subjedchioCompanys right to purchas
the NSR at any time for US$1,400.

Black Economic Empowerment groups Africa Wide, bsidiary of Wesizwe Platinum Ltd. and Taung Minsrétty) Ltd., a subsidiary
Platmin Limited, have each acquired a 15% interegtte Compans rights to the War Springs project carried to lzdotd feasibility. Th
Company retains a net 70% project interest. Afviide also has a 30% participating interest in thedspalk property.

On March 5, 2009 the Company announced an agreewitntJIOGMEC whereby JOGMEC could earn up to a 3B%rest in th
Companys rights to the War Springs project for an optionalrk commitment of US$10 million over 5 years. éftincurring tote
expenditures of approximately R 20.5 million to As31, 2011 (approximately $2,900 at that tim&GMEC notified the Company
early fiscal 2012 that it would not fund additionsbrk on the project. JOGMEC retains no interesthe project. The Company
considering future exploration programs or a pdsshle of the project.

Sable

During 2009, the Company acquired by applicatiasspecting permits in South Africa which becameS3héle Joint Venture project a
on the Western Limb of the Bushveld Complex, wéstretoria. Sable Platinum Mining (Pty) Limited @8le Platinum”)s earning a 51
interest in exchange for funding approximately $6,QR 42.0 million) in work on the project, while @ivate Black Econom
Empowerment group will hold 26%. The Company wasdherator of the project until mMarch 2012, after which time operatorship
transitioned to Sable Platinum. Total expenditimesirred by Sable Platinum to August 31, 2012 antedito approximately $1,160 ($7
- August 31, 2011).

CANADA

CANADA

Properties August 31, 201. Aug 31, 2011 Sept 1, 2010

Ontario
Acquisition costs $ 1,222 ($ 1,265 [$ 1,004
Exploration and evaluation costs 2,65¢ 2,35¢ 1,32C
Total Ontario $ 3,88z |$ 3,62% [$ 2,324
Providence
Acquisition costs $ 78 |$ 78 [$ =
Exploration and evaluation costs 1,64C 9 -
Total Providence $ 1,71¢ [$ 87 |$ -
Total Canada Exploration $ 5,601 |$ 3,71C |$ 2,324
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Thunder Bay, Ontario

The Company maintains a large mineral rights pasiitn the Lac des lles area north of Thunder Bayta@o. These holdings include 10
interests in the Lac Des lles River and Shelby Laiaperties and are all subject to a 2.0% NSR tpyal most cases, the Company 1
buy back one half of the NSR. In 2012, the Compawewed the results of its exploration work in fffeunder Bay region and made
decision not to proceed with further work on itsgDRiver and Bullseye claims. As a result, for tlealyending August 31, 2012,

Company wrote off $88 in acquisition and explomatimsts incurred to date on these properties

Bark Lake, Ontario

On February 10, 2011 the Company acquired a r@gbatn up to a 75% interest in Benton Resourcep’€Bark Lake, Ontario platinum-
palladium project, comprised of 19 mineral claim&ling 3,884 hectares located approximately 120aast of Thunder Bay, Ontario.
earn a 70% interest the Company would be requoetake staged option payments of $145 in cash ($&) plus 215,000 shares
issued) and complete $1,625 in exploration overyaat period. In 2012, the Company reviewed thalresf its exploration work on tl
project and made the decision not to proceed witthér work. For the year ending August 31, 20h2, €ompany wrote off $325
acquisition and exploration costs incurred to aetehe property.

Providence

In September 2011, the Company purchased the FrosédNickel, Copper, Cobalt and Platinum Group Mepaoperty located in tl
Northwest Territories from Arctic Star Exploratifor a payment of $50 and a 1.0% NSR royalty. Tként$ that comprise the Provide
property are expected to be brought to lease oreceven survey has been completed in 2012 at amatstd cost of $100. An extension
been granted by the Northwest Territories Mining®tder for the completion of the survey of themaito lease until September 28, 2(
To date the first year lease payment and applicgees have been paid. Total acquisition costs WM& As of August 31, 2012, i
Company has spent $1,640 toward exploration optbgerty.

Camp facilities and an associated Land Use Perane lalso been purchased for an additional $20.Jdmapany has raectivated it
corporate registration in the Northwest Territoreasd the land use permit associated with the cantpexploration work has be
transferred into the Comparsyhame. As part of the transfer, a security depdsh?27 was issued to the Aboriginal Affairs andrterr
Development Canada.

Title to mineral properties

Although the Company has taken steps to verifg titl mineral properties in which it has an interesticcordance with industry standz
for the current stage of exploration of such prapsythese procedures do not guarantee the Corrgptihg. Property title may be subj
to unregistered prior agreements and non-compliaitteregulatory requirements.
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7. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

There was an increase in the net present valueeohsset retirement obligation ("ARCduring the year ended August 31, 2012, due mad
ongoing construction work on Project 1. At August 3012, the ARO is estimated based on a totatdutability of approximately R 19.0 millic
(August 31, 2011 — R 8.0 million). A discount rate7.96% and an inflation rate of 5.3%, which resemrets South Africa expected inflation ra
were used to calculate the ARO.

Balance, September 1, 201 $ =
Increased estimate future obligation 645
Balance, August 31, 201 $ 64~
Increased estimate future obligation 821
Accretion expens 82
Foreign exchange gain (108)
Balance, August 31, 201 $ 1,44(

8. SHARE CAPITAL

(@)  Authorizec
Unlimited common shares without par va

(b) Issued and outstandir
At August 31, 2012, there were 177,584,542 shanestanding
During the year ended August 31, 2012, there werehanges in the Compe's issued and outstanding sha

(c) Incentive stock optior
The Company has entered into Incentive Stock Optigreements (“Agreementstith directors, officers and employees. Ur
the terms of the Agreements, the exercise priaaoh option is set, at a minimum, at the fair vaifithe common shares at the «
of grant. Stock options granted to certain empleyé@&ectors and officers of the Company are sulifegesting provisions, whi

others vest immediatel

The following tables summarize the Comp’s outstanding stock optior

Number Average
of Shares Exercise Prict
Options outstanding at August 31, 2( 5,000,501 $ 2.2¢
Grantec 7,691,501 2.04
Exercisec (936,500 1.5¢
Forfeited (505,000 2.71
Options outstanding at August 31, 2( 11,250,50 2.1¢
Grantec 4,354,001 1.22
Expired/Forfeite (1,845,000 2.2¢
Options outstanding at August 31, 2( 13,759,50 $ 1.91

15



Platinum Group Metals Ltd.

(An exploration and development stage comp
Notes to the consolidated financial staterr
For the year ended August 31, 2

(in thousands of Canadian doll¢

Weightec
Numbe Average Numbe
Outstanding ¢ Remaining Exercisable ¢
Exercist August 31 Contractue August 31
price 201z Life (Years 2012
1.0C 25,00( 5.0C 25,00(
1.2C 100,00( 4.5C 25,00(
1.3¢ 75,00( 4.5C 75,00(
1.3C 3,904,001 4.2t 3,904,001
1.4C 957,00( 1.7C 957,00(
1.6C 1,017,00! 1.0C 1,017,00!
2.0¢ 3,934,001 3.71 3,884,001
2.1C 2,497,501 3.24 2,497,501
2.57 50,00( 2.6C 50,00(
2.3¢ 250,00( 1.3¢€ 100,00(
2.41 100,00( 1.5C 100,00(
2.2C 50,00( 2.6C 50,00(
4.1t 150,00( 0.1t 150,00(
4.4C 650,00( 0.1¢f 650,00(
13,759,50 3.1¢ 13,484,50

The stock options outstanding have an intrinsiceaf nil.

During the year ended August 31, 2012, the Commaanted 4,354,000 stock options (August 31, 2012,691,500). The Compa
recorded $3,118 ($2,006 expensed and $1,112 dapdab development costs) of compensation expeglaéng to stock options grani
in this period (August 31, 2011 - ($6,910 experesedi $1,732 capitalized to mineral properties).

The Company uses the Bla8icholes model to determine the grant date fairevafistock options granted. The following weightegrag
assumptions were used in valuing stock optionstgdaduring the year ended August 31, 2012 and 2011:

201z 2011
Risk-free interest rat 1.44% 2.19%
Expected life of option 3.t 3.t
Annualized volatility 83% 84%
Forfeiture rate 0% 0%
Dividend rate 0% 0%

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s objectives in managing its liquidityd capital are to safeguard the Compsrapility to continue as a going concern
provide financial capacity to meet its strategifecbives. The capital structure of the Company te®f share capital, contributed surg
accumulated other comprehensive income and accteduli&ficit.

The Company manages the capital structure and mad#lgstments to it in light of changes in econormanditions and the ri
characteristics of the underlying assets. To mainta adjust the capital structure, the Company fisaye new shares, issue new (
acquire or dispose of assets.

In order to facilitate the management of its cdpiémuirements, the Company prepares annual expeaddudgets that are updatec
necessary based on various factors, including sstulecapital deployment and general industry diows. The annual and upda
budgets are approved by the Board of Directors.Jtmapany does not currently declare or pay outdivils.

As at August 31, 2012, the Company does not haydanyterm debt and is not subject to any externally isggbcapital requiremen
However, the Company is in the process of secudety financing for its Project 1 in South Africthe debt financing is completed,
Company will become subject to externally imposaplital requirements.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company examines the various financial riskehah it is exposed and assesses the impact keichbod of occurrence. These ri
may include credit risk, liquidity risk, currencigk, interest rate risk and other price ris

CY

(b)

Credit risk

0] Amounts receivabl
Total credit risk is limited to the carrying amowdftamounts receivable.
(ii) Cash and cash equivalents and restricted ¢

In order to manage credit and liquidity risk then@mny invests only in term deposits with Canadiaart&red and South African
banks that have maturities of three months or keSouth African Bank Rand account held in the BaiKingdom is used for
holding Rand denominations only, and is controliadrely by the Company. Deposit limits are als@bkshed based on the type
investment, the counterparty and the credit rating.

(iii)  Performance Bond

In order to explore and develop its propertiesont8 Africa, the Company was required to post penonce bonds as financial
guarantees against future reclamation work. Thasésfare held with Standard Bank of South Africaited with Department of
Mineral Resources in South Africa as beneficiargdnordance with the Mineral and Petroleum Ressubayelopment Act (2002)
and the Company’s environmental management progearihe bonds are held with a major South Africamkita reduce the
credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Company has in place a planning and budgetingeps to help determine the funds required to aiighe Company's normn
operating requirements and its exploration and ldpweent plans. The annual budget is approved bdad of Directors.

Future exploration, development, mining, and prsitesof minerals from the Compasyproperties will require additional financing. -
Company has no credit facilities in place at timset however a debt financing of US $260 milliom fbe next stage of the Compasay’
Project 1 WBJV project is currently being finalizedth a lender group of four major banks. The ni&dimns have advanced throt
detailed technical, financial and legal due diligenClosing and draw down of the loan facility idbject to receipt of commitment, fir
credit approval, the negotiation and executionediritive documentation and certain conditions paEnt. Funding from equity sources
project capital and a cost overrun facility willsal be required. The issuance of additional equdyital, if available, may result
substantial dilution to existing shareholders.

(©

Currency risk

The Companys functional currency is the Canadian dollar, white operations are in both Canada and South Afticarefore th
Company's results are impacted by fluctuationshim talue of foreign currencies in relation to thean&dian dollar. The Compar
significant foreign currency exposures on finandmstruments comprise cash and cash equivalergsjcted cash, performance bor
amounts receivable, and accounts payable and acdai®lities. The Company has not entered into agyeements or purchased
instruments to hedge possible currency risks attitme.
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The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risutitr the following financial instruments denomimkia a currency other th
Canadian dollars:

August 31, 201, August 31, 201

Canadian dollar value Canadian dollar value

of South African Rand of South African

balance: Rand balance:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 11,60: $ 35,24:
Restricted cas 30,51: 47,72(
Accounts receivabl 1,517 1,51¢
Prepaic 19C 2,64¢
Performance bonc 8,69¢ 2,162
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (8,057 (4,520
$ 44467 $ 84,77

The Company's net loss and other comprehensivatesaffected by changes in the exchange rate batie operating currencies and
Canadian dollar. At August 31, 2012, based on dljsosure a 10% strengthening/weakening in the Gamabbllar versus Rand forei
exchange rate would give rise to a decrease/inerieamcome for the year presented of approximasdy}00. At August 31, 2012, |
company held approximately R 372.0 million cashdist 31, 2011 — R594.0 million).

(d) Interest rate ris}

The Companys interest income earned on cash and cash equivaded on short term investments is exposed toeistteate risk. /
August 31, 2012, based on this exposure a 1% charthe average interest rate would give rise tinarease/decrease in the earning
the year of approximately $500.

At August 31, 2012, the carrying amounts of cast eash equivalents, amounts receivable, restrictsth, performance bonds
accounts payable and accrued liabilities are censiito be reasonable approximations of theirvalines due to the sharrm nature ¢
these instruments.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions with related parties are as follc

(a) During the year, $168 (2011 98 was paid to independent directors for direcfees and services. At August 31, 2012, $34
included in accounts payable (2C- $15).

(b) During the year, the Company accrued or recepayments of $102 (2011 - $102) from West Kirkldviching Inc. (“WKM”), a
company with three directors in common, for adntiatsve services. Amounts receivable at the endhef period includes
amount of $ 81 (201- $19) due from WKM.

(c) During the year, the Company accrued or recepayments of $140 (2011 - $126) from Nextractioreigy Corp. (“NE”),a
company with three directors in common, for adntiais/e services. Amounts receivable at the endhef period includes
amount of $26 (201- $65) due from NE

(d) The Company has an office lease agreementAvithem Works Ltd. (“Anthem”)a company with a director in common. Dul
the year ended August 31, 2012 the Company accmupdid Anthem $126 under the office lease agre€@@11- $87).

18




12.

13.

Platinum Group Metals Ltd.

(An exploration and development stage comp
Notes to the consolidated financial staterr
For the year ended August 31, 2

(in thousands of Canadian doll¢

All amounts in amounts receivable and accountslgayawing to or from related parties are rinterest bearing with no specific terms
repayment.

These transactions are in the normal course ohbssiand are measured at the estimated fair veloard, which is the considerat
established and agreed to by the noted parties.

Key Management Compensation

The remuneration of directors and other membeisegfmanagement personnel during the years endedsAid, 2012 and 2011 is
follows:

Year ende Year ende

August 31, 201 August 31, 201

Fees and salarit $ 1,49¢ $ 1,57¢
Sharebased paymen? 1,54: 5,00t
Total $ 3,03¢ $ 6,58(

1Share-based payments are the fair value of optimiave been granted to directors and key mareggmersonnel.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Year ending Year ending

August 31, 201:  August 31, 201

Salaries and benefits $ 1,924 ($ 2,452
Professional/consulting fees 1,341 2,597
Travel 823 677
Depreciation 387 263
Insurance 157 114
Rent 121 86
Regulatory fees 263 297
Other 357 304
Total $5,37¢ $6,79(

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

The Companys remaining minimum payments under its office amgiigment lease agreements in Canada and SouthaAfoia
approximately $230 to August 31, 2015. The Compaigo has commitments for Project 1 related inswwaocverage totalir
approximately $200 over the next 3 yei

The Companys project operating subsidiary, Maseve, is partg tong term electricity supply agreement with $ofifrican power utility
Eskom. Under the agreement the Company was proviitach 1.5MVA temporary power supply in July 2041d is to be provided witt
10 MVA construction power supply which as of Aug84t 2012 is in the process of being installed. atotal 40 MVA production pow
supply in late calendar 2013 in exchange for cotimedees and guarantees totaling Rand 142.22amil[$16,720 at August 31, 2012
fiscal 2014. The Company has paid R 51.71 milli8,@80 at August 31, 2012), therefore R 90.51 amil({$10,980 at August 31, 2012
the commitment remains outstanding. These feesudnject to possible change based on E¢s cost to install
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For the fiscal years ending on August 31, the agageecommitments are as follows:

August 31, 201: 10,84¢
August 31, 201 16€
August 31, 201! 65
August 31, 201{ 15

$ 11,091

SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Net change in nc-cash working capita

Year ende Year ende

August 31, 201 August 31, 201

Amounts receivable, prepaid expenses and othetsasse $ (266) $ 97
Accounts payabl 68€ 257
$ 42z $ 354

SEGMENTED REPORTING

The Company operates in one operating segmentpbthag exploration and development of mineral prige Segmented informati
presented on a geographic basis follc

Assets
August 31 August 31 September
201z 2011 201C
Canad: $ 25,49 $ 36,52¢ $ 5,82
South Africa 218,24 244,26( 120,57.
$ 243,73 $ 280,78{ $ 126,39:

Substantially all of the Comparg/capital expenditures are made in the South Afrgaographical segment; however the Company
has exploration properties in Canada.

(Loss) income attributable to the shareholders of Rtinum Group Metals Ltd.

August 31, 201, August 31, 201

Canada $ (9,900 $ (10,849
South Africa (68€) 1,95¢
$ (10,589 $ (8,897)
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16. INCOME TAXES

201z 2011
Amount Amount
$ $
Loss before income tax 7,87¢ 9,92
Income tax recovery at statutory ra (2,009 (2,699
Non-deductible expens¢ 1,61¢€ 1,90
Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets ard 2,71¢ (787)
Income tax expense (recove 2,321 (1,58))
Income tax expense (recovery) consists
Current income tax (431) 487
Deferred income tay 2,752 (2,069
2,321 (1,581
The significant components of the Company's netrdefl income tax liabilities are as follov
201z 2011
Mineral properties (27,312 (21,11¢)
Loss carryforward 13,88¢ 8,20¢
(13,426 (12,91
Unrecognized deductible temporary differences, aduax and unused tax credits losses are attrithatee following:
201z 2011
Loss carryforward 33,01 25,53¢
Foreign loan: 27,67 -
Mineral propertie: 3,24¢ 2,69¢
Share issuance co: 5,71¢ 8,051
Other 487 304

The Company has operating loss carry-forwards rireat be available for tax purposes in Canada tge#®il,044 (August 31, 2011 25,536
expiring between 2014 and 2032.
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TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STA NDARDS

As outlined in note 2, the Company adopted IFRSeptember 1, 2011 with a transition date of Sepgerhip2010. Under IFRS 1 ‘First-
time Adoption of International Financial Reportif®@andards’,the IFRS are applied retrospectively at the traorsidate with a
adjustments to assets and liabilities as state@ru@dnadian GAAP taken to accumulated deficit uinte=tain exemptions are appl
IFRS provides for certain optional exemptions aedain mandatory exceptions for first time IFRS ados.

Set forth below are the IFRS 1 applicable exempgtimd exceptions applied in the conversion fromadam GAAP to IFRS

IFRS exemption options

Business combinatiot

IFRS 1 permits the Company to apply IFRS 3, Busir@smbinations on a prospective basis only frontrdresition date. Accordingly, t
Company has elected not to restate past businessimations to comply with IFRS 3, where control wdsained before the transiti
date.

Currency translation difference

Retrospective application of IFRS would require @@mpany to determine cumulative currency traratatiifferences in accordance v
IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign ExchaRgges, from the date each subsidiary was formedcquired. IFRS 1 perm
cumulative currency translation gains and losselsetaeset to zero at the Transition Date. The Comgdected to reset all cumulat
currency translation gains and losses to zero émimyy deficit at its transition dat

Except for the above, the accounting policies setiro Note 3 have been applied retroactively fa yiear ended August 31, 2011, an
the preparation of the opening IFRS balance sheggtember 1, 201

Statement of Cash Flow:

The transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS had mm#icant impact on cash flows generated by the Gamy.
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Reconciliations

The September 1, 2010 Canadian GAAP consolidatieshda sheet has been reconciled to IFRS as follows:

IFRS
CGAAP Adjustments IFRS Notes
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 2,36t $ - $ 2,36¢
Amounts receivabl 1,271 - 1,271
Prepaid expenses and other as 69 - 69
3,70¢ - 3,70¢
Non-Current Assets
Performance bonc 16C - 16C
Assets held for sal 952 53 1,00t (a)
Exploration and evaluation ass 116,02° (106,459 9,56¢ (a,c,d)
Property, plant and equipme 6,14¢ 105,80¢ 111,95! (a, b, d)
123,28! (597 122,68t
$ 126,99 $ (597 $ 126,39:
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accru $ 227C % - $ 2,27(
2,27( - 2,27(
Non-Current Liabilities
Deferred income taxe 21,82« (6,339 15,48¢ (b)
Total Liabilities 24,094 (6,339 17,75¢
Non- controlling interes 11,14¢ (11,149 - ®
Shareholders' Equity
Share capite 91,79« - 91,79«
Contributed surplu 10,92¢ - 10,92¢
Accumulated other comprehensive incc (3,416 3,41¢ - (e)
Deficit (7,559 2,32¢ (5,239 (a,c,e€)
Total shareholders' equity attributable to shareholders of
the Company 91,74¢ 5,741 97,48¢
Non- controlling interes - 11,14¢ 11,14¢ ()
Total Shareholders' equity 91,74¢ 16,89( 108,63t
$ 126,99 $ 10,55: $ 126,39:
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The August 31, 2011 Canadian GAAP consolidateditalaheet has been reconciled to IFRS as follows:

IFRS
CGAAP Adjustments IFRS Notes
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel 64,11¢ - 64,11¢
Amounts receivabl 1,84¢ - 1,84¢
Other asset 11C - 11C
66,071 - 66,07
Non-Current Assets
Restricted cas 47,72( - 47,72(
Nor- current prepaid expens 2,59¢ - 2,59¢
Assets held for sal 951 23 974  (a)
Performance bonc 2,16 - 2,16
Exploration and evaluation ass 146,37¢ (135,65) 10,72¢  (a, c, d)
Property, plant and equipme 20,82¢ 129,70 150,53! (a, b, d)
220,63 (5,929 214,71!
286,71: (5,929 280,78t
Current Liabilities
Accounts payables and accru 5,98¢ - 5,98¢
5,98¢ - 5,98¢
Non-current Liabilities
Deferred income taxe 21,45: (8,547 12,91, (b)
Asset retirement obligatic 64& - 64%
Total Liabiliaties 28,08: (8,54 19,54(
Nonr- Controlling Interes 11,69 (11,699 - (f)
Shareholders' Equity
Share Capite 256,31: - 256,31:
Contributed surplu 13,81¢ - 13,81¢
Accumulated other comprehensive incc (3,416 (2,685) (6,100 (a, e)
Deficit (19,776 (14,579 (3434) (a,c, e
Total shareholders' equityattributable to shareholders of
the Company 246,93t (17,25¢) 229,68
Non-Controlling Interes - 31,56¢ 31,56¢ ()
Total shareholders' equity 246,93t 14,31 261,24
286,71: (5,929 280,78t

The Canadian GAAP statement of comprehensive torshé year ended August 31, 2011 has been reedncillFRS as follows:

IFRS
CGAAP Adjustments IFRS Notes
EXPENSES
General and administrati 6,79C $ = 6,79(
Foreign exchange (gain) lo 3,337 (3,329 12 (3
Stock compensation exper 6,91( - 6,91(
(17,03) 3,32t (13,717

Less finance incom 3,78t - 3,78t
Loss for the year before income ta: (13,257 3,32t (9,929
Income tax expens (487) - (487)
Future income tax recove 2,06¢ - 2,06¢
Loss for the yea (11,67) 3,32t (8,346
Income attributable to n- controlling interes 54¢€ - 54¢€
Net loss attributable to the stockholders of PlatinGroup

Metals Ltd. (12,2179 3,32¢ (8,892




Other comprehensive lo
Foreign currency translation resel (6,109 (6,10) (a)

Comprehensive loss for the ye $ (12,21) $ 2,770 $ (14,999
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The following are explanations of the key differeatetween Canadian GAAP and IFRS which gaveagiadjtistments.
a) Foreign currency translatic

The Companys South African subsidiaries have the South AfriBamd as their functional currency. Under Cana@a@\P for integrate
foreign operations, only monetary items were tratiesl to Canadian dollars at the end of each reypperiod at the period end excha
rate. However under IFRS, all assets and liakslitita foreign subsidiary with a functional curremifferent from the parerg’presentatic
currency are converted to the parsrgtesentation currency at the period end rate thétresulting foreign exchange differences read
in other comprehensive income.

Under Canadian GAAP, the South African subsidianiege considered to be integrated operations, wéfigttively meant the entities t
Canadian functional currencies. Under IFRS, thesélSAfrican subsidiaries are considered to haeeRand as their functional currer
As a result, the foreign exchange gain or losshenimtercompany loan to the foreign subsidiariescivlis considered to be part of
parent compang net investment in a foreign operation is recogphimitially in other comprehensive income and willy be reclassifie
from equity to profit or loss on disposal of the mvestment. Under Canadian GAAP, the gain or eas recognized in the profit or loss.

b) Deferred income taxe

Under Canadian GAAP, deferred income taxes weregrézed following the acquisition of various assétader IFRS, deferred incol
taxes are not recognized on temporary differenkas drise from transactions other than a businestination that at the time of 1
transaction affected neither the taxable nor aciogrprofit or loss. As a result of this differenaedecrease to the deferred income
liability and a corresponding decrease to the aagryalue of property plant and equipment for 58ian Rand ($7,823) has been made
transition and is applied to all periods.

c) Pre-exploration cost

Under IFRS, expenditures that are capitalized leefoe Company has the legal right to explore thexifip property must be expens
Canadian GAAP does not have the same restrictiemetore an adjustment is required on transitioexfgense prexploration costs whic
were capitalized under Canadian GAAP. This accagmiblicy change resulted in an increase to dedinit a corresponding decrease ir
carrying value of resource properties on transition

d) Reclassification of Project 1 deferred cc

Under Canadian GAAP, all capitalized and deferrestxwere classified as mineral properties. UnB&S], the Project 1 deferred cc
have been reclassified under Property, Plant anipBgent.

e) Currency translation differenc:

This adjustment results from the application of BRRS 1 election which permits cumulative curreti@nslation gains and losses tc
reset to zero at the transition date.

f) Non-controlling interes

At the date of transition, the accounting requiretrfer noneontrolling interests differed under IFRS. UndeR&- changes in ownersl|
interest where control is maintained are recortiealigh equity.
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18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The following events occurred subsequent to yedr @hese events and other noaterial subsequent events may be mentioned elsevit
these financial statements:

e On September 7, 2012, the Company granted 3,524n@@0tive stock options at a price of $0.96 parsto its employee a
directors.

e On September 11, 2012, Rustenburg Platinum Minestéd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Anglo AmericBfatinum Limited
exercised its first right of refusal to purchase dff- take of concentrate from the CompanWestern Bushveld Project 1 Platir
Mine.

e On September 25, 2012, the Company granted 100@66tive stock options at a price of $1.11 persha a consultant.
e On October 22, 2012, the Company granted 50,0@hihe stock options at a price of $1.03 per skaan employee.

e On October 23, 2012, 150,000 incentive stock optatra price of $4.15 per share expired without@se.

e On October 26, 2012, 650,000 incentive stock optatra price of $4.40 per share expired without@se.

e On October 31, 2012, the Company received US$Z1000 JOGMEC for contribution towards the 2012 Whé&rg work program.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This management discussion and analysBID&A ") of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (Platinum Group ", the “ Company” or “ PTM ") is
dated as of November 23, 2012 and focuses on thgp@uwy’s financial condition and results of operationstfar year ended August 31, 2012
should be read in conjunction with the Compamgudited consolidated financial statements forytree ended August 31, 2012 together witt
notes thereto (theFinancial Statements’).

The Company prepares its financial statements éordance with International Financial Reportingnstads (“IFRS ”). The Company adopt
IFRS on September 1, 2011 with a transition dat®egftember 1, 2010. A reconciliation of the presipuisclosed comparative periodsiancia
statements prepared in accordance with Canadiaragnaccepted accounting principlesGanadian GAAP ") to IFRS is set out in note 17
the Financial Statements. All dollar figures in@ddtherein and in the following MD&A are quoted@anadian Dollars unless otherwise nc
All references to “U.S. Dollars” or to “US$” are tnited States Dollars. All references to “R” or‘Rand” are to South African Rand.

PRELIMINARY NOTES
NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS:

This MD&A and the documents incorporated by refeesherein contain “forward-looking statements” &waward-looking information”within
the meaning of applicable US and Canadian secsitigigislation (collectively, ‘Forward-Looking Statements”). All statements, other th
statements of historical fact that address adtisjtevents or developments that the Company bsli@xpects or anticipates will, may, coul
might occur in the future are Forward-Looking Stagéats. The words “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimatémay,” “could,” “might,” “will,”
“would,” “should,” “intend,” “believe,” “target,” ‘budget,” “plan,” “strategy,” “goals,” “objectives,projection” or the negative of any of the
words and similar expressions are intended to ifyeRbrward-Looking Statements, although these wamthy not be present in all Forward-
Looking Statements. Forwatdoking Statements included or incorporated byresfee in this MD&A include, without limitation, gements witl
respect to:

e revenue, cash flow and cost estimates and assumaptio

production estimates and assumptions, includingymtion rate, grade per tonne and smelter recovery;

project economics;

future metal prices and exchange rates;
e mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates; and
e production timing.

ForwardLooking Statements reflect the current expectatmmiseliefs of the Company based on informationmentty available to the Compal
ForwardLooking Statements in respect of capital costsratpe costs, production rate, grade per tonnesanelter recovery are based upor
estimates in the technical reports described hexeth ongoing cost estimation work, and the Forwaroking Statements in respect of m
prices and exchange rates are based upon they#meérailing average prices and the assumptiontaceed in such technical reports and ong
estimates.

ForwardLooking Statements are subject to a number of @skbsuncertainties that may cause the actual evemtsults to differ materially fro
those discussed in the Forward-Looking Statememd, even if events or results discussed in the &aHhooking Statements are realizec
substantially realized, there can be no assurdratahey will have the expected consequences ffects on, the Company.
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Factors that could cause actual results or evertfer materially from current expectations indé) among other things:

e additional financing requirements;
e history of losses and ability to continue as a gaiancern;
e no known mineral reserves on most of the Compamgperties and delays in, or inability to achigel@nned commercial production;

e discrepancies between actual and estimated mimesgrves and mineral resources, between actualestimhated development ¢
operating costs, between actual and estimated Iongiigahl recoveries and between estimated and gtaduction;

e fluctuations in the relative values of the Canadiaflar as compared to the South African Rand &ednited States Dollar;
e metals price volatility;

e difficulty enforcing certain judgments involving ed States federal securities laws;

e the Company’s potential guarantee obligations uttteeproposed Project Loan Facility (as defineaimr if consummated;

e delays in the stamp of the Project 1 (defined herein) platinum mimgich could result in a default under the Projeotih Facility, i
consummated,;

e the ability of the Company to retain its key mamagat employees; conflicts of interest;

e any disputes or disagreements with the Compsjoynt venture partners; failure of the Compangueh joint venture partners to fund tl
obligations;

e certain potential adverse Canadian tax consequefoceforeigncontrolled Canadian companies that acquire comni@res of th
Company;

e the Company’s designation as a “passive foreigestment companydnd potential adverse U.S. federal income tax apreseces for U..
shareholders;

e exploration, development and mining risks and tifeerently dangerous nature of the mining indushgluding environmental hazar
industrial accidents, unusual or unexpected fornati safety stoppages (whether voluntary or reguylatpressures, mine collapses, ¢
ins or flooding and the risk of inadequate insueaocinability to obtain insurance to cover thasks and other risks and uncertainties;

e property and mineral title risks including defeetititle to mineral claims or property;

e changes in national and local government legistatiexation, controls, regulations and politicalemonomic developments in Can
South Africa or other countries in which the Comypdnes or may carry out business in the future;

e equipment shortages and the ability of the Compamcquire the necessary access rights and infcaste for its mineral properties;
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e environmental regulations and the ability to obtial maintain necessary permits, including envirema authorizations;
e the mineral exploration industry is extremely cotitpes;
e risks of doing business in South Africa, includimgt not limited to, labour, economic and politigatability;

e no expectation of paying dividends, share priceatildly, global financial conditions and dilutionud to future issuances of eqt
securities; and

e the other risks disclosed under the heading “Rgtéts” in the Company’s annual information formA(F ") dated November 23, 20
which is available electronically at www.sedar.com

These factors should be considered carefully, amdstors should not place undue reliance on thep@ogys Forward Looking Statements.
addition, although the Company has attempted tatiigemportant factors that could cause actuailcas or results to differ materially from the
described in Forward Looking Statements, there beagther factors that cause actions or resultsorteé as anticipated, estimated or intended.

The mineral resource and mineral reserve figuriesred to in this MD&A are estimates and no asscearcan be given that the indicated leve
platinum (“Pt "), palladium (“Pd "), rhodium (“Rh ") and gold (“Au ") (collectively referred to as 4E ") will be produced. Such estimates
expressions of judgment based on knowledge, miepgrience, analysis of drilling results and indugractices. Valid estimates made at a g
time may significantly change when new informatim@tomes available. While the Company believesttigamineral resource and mineral res
estimates included in this MD&A are well establighby their nature, mineral resource and minersémee estimates are imprecise and depe
a certain extent, upon statistical inferences whiety ultimately prove unreliable. Any inaccuracyfature reduction in such estimates could |
a material adverse impact on the Company.

Any Forwardtooking Statement speaks only as of the date omlwitiis made and, except as may be required blicapfe securities laws, t
Company disclaims any intent or obligation to upday Forward-ooking Statement, whether as a result of new m#dion, future events
results or otherwise.

NOTE TO U.S. INVESTORS REGARDING RESOURCE ESTIMATES:

Estimates of mineralization and other technicabinfation included or incorporated by reference inebas been prepared in accordance
National Instrument 43 1C- Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projed¢tsNI 43-101"). The definitions of proven and probable reservesl
in NI 43- 101 differ from the definitions in the Wed States Securities and Exchange CommissicBEC ") Industry Guide 7. Under SE
Industry Guide 7 standards, a “final” or “bankable&sibility study is required to report reservé three year historical average price is us
any reserve or cash flow analysis to designaterveseand the primary environmental analysis or mepwist be filed with the approprii
governmental authority. As a result, the reseregented by the Company in accordance with NI 43+40@Y not qualify as “reservesthder SE(
standards. In addition, the terms “mineral resdureeeasured mineral resource”, “indicated mineedource” and “inferred mineral resouraet
defined in and required to be disclosed by N143: however, these terms are not defined termer/HC Industry Guide 7 and normally are
permitted to be used in reports and registratiatestents filed with the SEC. Mineral resources tat not mineral reserves do not
demonstrated economic viability. Investors are icaed not to assume that any part or all of theemsihdeposits in these categories will eve
converted into reserves. “Inferred mineral resosird&ve a great amount of uncertainty as to theirtexé®, and great uncertainty as to |
economic and legal feasibility. It cannot be assdithat all or any part of an inferred mineral rasewill ever be upgraded to a higher categ
Under Canadian securities laws, estimates of iafemineral resources may not form the basis oftféitys or pre-feasibility studies, except in re
cases. Additionally, disclosure of “contained owicien a resource is permitted disclosure under Canas@urities laws; however, the S
normally only permits issuers to report mineralmatthat does not constitute “reservéy’ SEC standards as in place tonnage and gradeul
reference to unit measurements. Accordingly, infitfom contained in this MD&A and the documents ipooated by reference herein contait
descriptions of the Comparsy/mineral deposits may not be comparable to sinmiformation made public by U.S. companies subjecthe
reporting and disclosure requirements of UnitedeStéederal securities laws and the rules and agiguk thereunder.

4




Platinum Group Metals Ltc

(Exploration and Development Stage Compse
Supplementary Information and MD&

For the year ended August 31, 2(

TECHNICAL AND SCIENTIFIC INFORMATION:

The technical and scientific information contairiadthis MD&A has been reviewed and approved by Rchdel Jones, President and C
Executive Officer and a director of the Company. Bbmes is a “qualified person” as defined in NH14& (a “Qualified Person”).

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Platinum Group Metals Ltd. is a British Columbiangmany amalgamated on February 18, 2002 pursuaau torder of the Supreme Courl
British Columbia approving an amalgamation betwB&tinum Group Metals Ltd. and New Millennium Met&orporation. The Company i
platinumfocused exploration and development company coimdpuetork primarily on mineral properties it haskstd or acquired by way
option agreements in the Republic of South Afrind Bn Canada.

The Project 1 platinum mine @roject 1 ") is operated by the Company on an “owner managedractor’basis. As at August 31, 2012,
Company’s complement of managers, staff and cansiglin Canada consisted of approximately 12 iddiis and the Comparsycomplement «
managers, staff, consultants and casual worke8oirth Africa consisted of approximately 40 indinatki A further seven individuals have b
appointed as the owner’s team for the Project fiqlmn mine. As at August 31, 2012, underground ngréontractor JIC Mining Services JIC
") had assigned approximately 151 people to the profécAugust 31, 2012, civil contractors had appnoately 118 people working on site
Project 1 assigned to construction of the South 8ok an ESKOM substation on site and perimetearigcfencing. Of the approximately 3
people on site in South Africa at August 31, 20h®re than 40% were people from the local commungigrounding Project 1. In addition to
current complement of people working on site, eagiing, procurement, construction and managemeBPCM ") contractor DRA Mining Pt
Ltd. (“ DRA ") completed its initial engagement with the Compéor Phase 1 in mid-2012 and will essign certain personnel to Project 1 (
commencement of Phase 2.

General office space and support services in CaaadaSouth Africa are unchanged in the year. Intiaddto its general office space,
Company utilizes facilities at the Compaoyned Sundown Ranch property for mine site adnratisin, site induction and staff services.
Company also uses a secure compound and core esta@lity at the Compangwned Elandsfontein Farm, adjacent to Project limdermatior
technology and communication upgrade which begamith2011 to enhance the efficiency of data transmissithin the Company is nc
complete, however the system will require ongoiggions and updates as the Company continuegptmexhe facilities at the Project 1 site.

2. PROPERTIES

Under IFRS, the Company defers all acquisition,l@gtion and development costs related to minerapgrties. The recoverability of the
amounts is dependent upon the existence of ecoatiyiecoverable mineral reserves, the ability loé tCompany to obtain the neces:
financing to complete the development of the progpemnd any future profitable production; or altiely upon the Compang’ability to dispos
of its interests on an advantageous basis.

The Company evaluates the carrying value of itp@ry interests on a regular basis. Any propertiasagement deems to be impaired are w
down to their estimated net recoverable amountritem off. During the year, the Company wrote $&41 million in deferred costs related tc
Ontario properties. For more information on mingnaperties, see below and Notes 5 and 6 of thepaagis Financial Statements.
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South African Properties

The Company conducts its South African exploraton development work through its whobiyned direct subsidiary Platinum Group Me
RSA (Pty.) Ltd. (“PTM RSA ). Development of Project 1 is conducted throughsklve Investments 11 (Pty.) Ltd. Nlaseve”), a compan
owned 74% by PTM RSA and 26% by Africa Wide MindPabspecting and Exploration (Pty) LimitedAfrica Wide ), which is in turn owne
100% by Johannesburg Stock Exchange listed Wedtatanum Limited (“Wesizwe”).

Project 1 and Project .
Project 1 and - Activities in the year ended August 31, 2012

During the year ended August 31, 2012, the Compaawrred $31.97 million in costs towards the depelent costs of Project 1. During the y
ended August 31, 2012, the Company did not incyrcaists on Project 3 @roject 3”). In the prior years comparative period, total Project 1
3 expenditures amounted to $40.44 million. At AugBs, 2012, the Company carries total deferred Idgweent costs related to Project
$137.59 million and another $3.64 million relatedProject 3. Wesizwe's noeontrolling 26% interest in Maseve is recorded38.59 million a
of August 31, 2012.

The Company considers safety at the Project 1nplatimine to be its first priority. The Company legsed to report that to date approxime
950,000 man hours have been recorded with a lo&t itnjury frequency rate of 0.21, reflecting vergod safety performance. Regular trair
sessions and high standards and vigilance by ditpmnts on site are key components to maintgimirsafe work place.

In September 2011, a central box cut excavationsisting of a concrete ramp, an 18 metre high waadl collars was completed on Projec
Substantial surface infrastructure was also cootgtcu

In October 2011 the first undercut blasts to comreemnderground development were carried out. Duttiegfirst fiscal quarter, undergrot
mining contractor JIC mobilized to site to constro@intenance buildings and facilities, and theme®nced work into the underground on
planned twin barrel decline system. As at the détihis MD&A, the conveyor belt decline and the gumpent decline have both advanced n
than 770 linear metres from the collar locatiomeNcross cuts of 10 metres in length have also bempleted between the declines, and an
is in progress. Eight rexuck bays have been installed and sumps, grounbsiugnd steel sets have been installed at tharcdlhe Company h
completed approximately 80% of the Phase 1 devedopnncluding the sinking of a twin decline intetcentral part of the Project 1 deposit.

The Phase 1 program was budgeted at approxima@$1Q0 million, of which the Company will contributss$74 million and US$26 million
being drawn down from the Escrowed Maseve Fundfingte below) held for Wesizwe’share of costs. At present, Phase 1 of Projés
approximately 10 weeks behind original scheduliégsstommencement, but remains on budget based dnaempleted versus planned work
money spent. Schedule delays occurred as a rdsthle dcime taken to obtain permits, saptimal civil contractor performance early in Pha
related to electrical procurement, constructioswhps and high wall steel work installation. Théskys then caused difficulty in the schedt
of duties and handover between civil and undergtaromntractors. Initial underground mining cycle érand face advance were less than ple
as well, a situation which was later rectified.

As indicated by cover drilling, the first 30 to 50vertical at the location of the central box cutlaouth box cut required substantial grc
support consisting of roof bolts, resin injectiomesh and steel sets. Ground conditions at thelp@ata consistent with those found at the ¢
shafts and declines operating in the vicinity. Teatral box cut excavation brings the working atewn an access ramp from surface for 1
linear and 20m vertical to where the portals ettierunderground. From the portal entrance the melare now approximately 770m linear
approximately 137m vertical into the undergroundoudd conditions have improved with depth as exqabcAfter a training and ranyp perioc
from May 2012 to June 2012, crews are regularlyeathg rates of face advance in each of the twalingg at more than the planned 100m
month as described in the technical report entitidégdated Technical Report (Updated Feasibility Stistern Bushveld Joint Venture Proje
(Elandsfontein and Frischgewaagajited November 20, 2009 with an effective date ofoer 8, 2009 prepared by Gordon I. Cunning!
Charles J. Muller, Timothy V. Spindler and Byroe®art (the 2009 UFS").
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Ancillary servicing for the central decline siteciuding buildings, piping, cabling, fencing andcceety, has been completed. A construc
supply of 1.5 megavolt ampere VA ") was installed to the property in 2012. Poweretirand a subtation at commercial scale have
installed and preparations for delivery of a 10 MS8épply are in progress. The transformers and bvgé&ar for the 10 MVA supply have bt
delivered and installed. Commissioning of this 1&Mservice is expected in early 2013. A 10 MVA slypis sufficient for initial undergrour
development and plant commissioning. The Compasyphal deposits to South African power utility camp ESKOM (*ESKOM ) of R51.7:
million (approximately $6.08 million at August 31012) of R142.22 million in estimated costs (apprmtely $16.73 million at August 31, 20:
for ESKOM's work in designing infrastructure foretidelivery of construction power and commerciadpiciion power to the property.

Electrical generating capacity has been overwhelimgdlemand in recent years in South Africa, butitamithl capacity is currently unc
construction and is expected to meet requiremaentthé foreseeable future. Delays in delivery @f fibll power supply are not anticipated at
time. See “Risk Factors”.

In October 2012, ESKOM announced that it will apgdythe National Energy Regulator of South Afrioa permission to raise tariffs by 16%
annum from 2013 to 2018. If approved, an annual l8€&tease, which includes three percent to suppdependent power producers, wc
approximately double the cost of electricity pdokiatt hour by 2017. This escalation is within general sensitivities for total costs as consic
in the 2009 UFS. Increased power costs will afédigbroducers of platinum in South Africa.

On April 4, 2012, Maseve was issued a letter ofgfar a formal mining right for Project 1 (theVlining Right ") by the Department of Minel
Resources of the Government of South Africd¥R ") and the Mining Right was notarially executed on tbenmencement date of May
2012. The Mining Right shall endure for a period36f years ending on May 14, 2042. The Mining Riglas subsequently registered in
Mining Titles Office on August 3, 2012 thereby seog rights of tenure. The Mining Right can be neld for periods of up to 30 years at a tir
The Government of South Africa undertook a revieansultation and approval process, which was caegleithin 12 months of the Masege’
formal mining right application. The grant of theirlihg Right includes the approval of Maseve’s sbaiad labour plan (‘Social and Laboui
Plan”) and environmental management program.

In April 2012, Maseve posted an environmental rdhation guarantee of R58.5 million (approximate$7.56 million at the time) as
requirement of Maseve’'mining right application. In October 2012, Maseveered into an agreement with a third party ieswhereby a bor
would be posted to the credit of the DMR against@ompanys R58.5 million environmental guarantee for its MnRight. A formal process f
return of the full environmental guarantee amodrR®8.5 million plus accrued interest is in procasg Maseve expects return of these funds
before the end of calendar 2012. As a term of greeament with the third party insurer, in Octob@12, Maseve posted R12 million on def
with The Standard Bank of South Africa againseitsironmental guarantee obligation and will makehfer annual deposits of approximately |
million per annum until the full amount of the erorimental guarantee is returned and the third @argngement will be wound up or renewe
Maseve's election. Interest on deposits will acdoublaseve and Maseve will pay an annual fee of@pmately R600,000 to the insurer.

During the year getechnical drilling and survey work was completedts planned site of the twin southern declinegedder process w
completed and the Company awarded a contract ftinearks and civil construction at the south deelsite. This work commenced during
third fiscal quarter after the Mining Right was igted. As of the date of this MD&A, the south box usubstantially complete and ready for
turn under into underground mining as soon as Phdsgins. The south decline box cut was addeketid®hase 1 approved scope for constru
and will be paid out of anticipated capital savirgsl/or deferrals from the Phase 1 budget. Theoappate R30.0 million cost of the south |
cut will be offset by the deferral to Phase 2 afrailar sized, Phase 1 budgeted, connection feeditefp ESKOM. The connection fee is not
until 2014. During the period, the Company has dsen working on design work and preparations lier Phase 2 construction of milli
concentrating and tailings facilities.
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In February 2012, the Company purchased three piiteobile equipment for addition to the fleetsite, utilizing savings recognized to date
of the Phase 1 budget to make the purchase. Arrgmodmd dump truck and a load-halump machine were delivered to site in February22®
double boom jumbo drill rig was delivered to siteAypril 2012. This equipment was acquired to previédck up for the existing fleet deployec
the development of the central declines and torensguipment is on site for the development ofsingthern declines. In addition to the aboy
2.2 MVA stand-by generator was purchased and deliv® site in March 2012.

On September 5, 2012, Maseve received notice frasteRburg Platinum Mines Ltd. RPM ") regarding RPM’s exercise of its @fay right o
first refusal to enter into an agreement with Ma&sem terms equivalent to indicative terms agreduyt®aseve with another commercial tdikel
for the sale of ore or concentrate produced fromjeet 1 and Project 3. Formal legal agreementsratke process of being drafted bases
indicative terms that are not materially differéman those modeled in the 2009 UFS; however, narasses can be provided that the agreer
will be finalized on such terms or at all.

Project 1— Activities in the year ending August 31, 2011

In December 2010, the Company approved a US$10@mPhase 1 budget for the development of twirtregideclines into the Project 1 depc
which is now underway as described above. The Capnpammitted US$74 million against its 74% shardhié budget. Phase 1 included
purchase of surface rights and facilities at a 06&130.0 million (approximately $18.8 million tiite time). The remainder of the Phase 1 bt
is being applied for surface and earth works, idicig pads, lay down areas, a box cut, twin dedioeess and limited level development. W
completed under the US$100 million Phase 1 budgattomponent of the estimated total peak fundigutld Project 1.

In December 2010, the Company appointed DRA as ER@Mractor for surface infrastructure and undargtbdevelopment. DRA has assig
approximately 30 fulime professionals to oversee and plan the exatutfahe development of surface infrastructure, @odelivery, wate
delivery, civil works and excavations and the depetent of underground tunnels to access ore diffrage 1 construction. DR&5cope of wol
includes engineering, design, construction manageradministration and cost and schedule control.

In late March 2011, the Company received a posite@rd of decision from the DMR for its detailedderground development plans
environmental management program, including théngalof a bulk sample. The consent of the DMR regglicompliance with underlyi
regulations related to health, safety and envirortmé&n update to the public participation procdesjuding project publication, placement
notices and public meetings with local governmertt imterested and affected parties is underway.

In February 2011, Maseve posted an environmenkelhiBtation guarantee in the amount of R9.47 willi{approximately $1.30 million at t
time) with The Standard Bank of South Africa undall to the DMR, a requirement of the Companiulk sample permit application, which \
subsequently granted.

In April 2011, Maseve applied for a mining right iespect of the prospecting rights and was gratitedMining Right on April 4, 2012. Tl
granted Mining Right was notarially executed on¢tbhenmencement date of May 15, 2012 and shall erfdueperiod of 30 years ending on N
14, 2042. The Mining Right was subsequently registén the Mining Titles Office on August 3, 20lt&eteby securing rights of tenure. -
granting of the Mining Right secured the Compangiineral rights for Project 1 and Project 3. Theseeral rights are recorded for platin
group metals, gold, silver, copper, chrome, nigkal cobalt. The Mining Right can be renewed foiquksr of up to 30 years at a time.
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A draft social and labour program for Project 1 Jiised in April 2011 and was later approved by BMR. The environmental managem
program for the Mining Right was also approved.

During February, March and April 2011, the Compaopducted approximately 16,850 metres of infillluhgy on the near surface portions of
Project 1 platinum deposit in order to gain mortaiked information for metallurgical, geotechnicaline planning and scheduling purposes.
result of this work, refinements to the scheduledimg during the first three or four years of tharmed Project 1 mine life were modeled
implemented.

Civil construction for Phase 1 began in May 201ithwhe mobilization of civil contractor Wilson Bay Holmes-Ovcon (‘WBHO ), who is
responsible for major surface infrastructure extiamaand construction. The box cut excavation waseted in midSeptember 2012. WBF
executed the first undercut blasts to commencergnolend development in October 2012.

In July 2011, the Company awarded JIC the contiaatevelop the twin 1,200m underground decline élsinto the center of the Projec
platinum deposit. JIC took over underground develept from WBHO in midoctober. JIC is operating as one of the undergrauirdng
contractors at the producing Bafokeng Rasimonemulat mine immediately adjacent to Project 1 andentty operates as underground mir
contractor on another six platinum mines and omerok mine in South Africa, employing 7,200 peodkC has a good safety record and
invested in an accredited training facility neaPtmject 1. Total primary underground developmest dor Phase 1 based on the JIC contr:
estimated at R206.85 million (approximately $28million on August 31, 2011). An initial preayment of R25.0 million (approximately $3
million on July 11, 2011) was released to JIC adi& provided an appropriate form of performancargotee. A further retention amoun
R20.69 million ($2.94 million on July 11, 2011) wateased to JIC approximately ten days later.isligaid according to progress invoicing.

At full capacity the Project 1 mine is estimateddquire a maximum water supply of 6 megalitres/dayiL/day ). In 2011, Maseve entered i
an agreement with regional water supplier Magalieger (“Magalies”) for a temporary 0.5 ML/day water supply. The camngion of a wate
pipeline to site was completed in 2012 and wag btiih scale capable of handling a volume of watéable for full scale production for Projec
The temporary water supply is now in service. Areagent between Maseve and Magalies for a permavegat supply of six ML/day is bei
negotiated and service is expected to begin whguined in late 2013 or in 2014. Magalies curreihihg existing capacity to supply Project 1,
will need to complete new regional infrastructurereet expected demand in the future. The wateta&ff agreement with Magalies is in agi
form, has been signed by Maseve and is awaitingatige by Magalies. Although no assurances candéded, the Company anticipates that
formal water off-take agreement will be fully sighiey November 30, 2012.

In September 2011, the Company purchased an ovemdretled “Wrap-Up Liability” insurance policy (thé Wrap-Up Policy ") covering
contractors and sutentractors on the Project 1 work site until cortiple of the construction of the mine, including §heomplex, ramp:
concentrator plant, tailings dam and all associatédstructure. The Wraphp Policy period runs from June 24, 2012 and exddancho later the
June 23, 2013 and provides coverage for up to R1m8lion (approximately US$25 million) of liabilitper accident, subject to industry stan
terms, conditions and deductibles. The Companyalss purchased “Course of Constructiamsurance for Project 1 to cover up to R630 mi
in property value in the event of loss or damagenduall construction phases, once again subjedhdastry standard terms, conditions
deductibles. The estimated cost for approximatbhee years of coverage for the above two policeeapgproximately $440,000. Additio
insurance will still be required once Phase 2 cocibn commences and for mine operation. Durind120the Company completec
comprehensive risk assessment for Project 1 wittasisistance of an international insurance brokefiag.
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Project I- Financial Overview

The Company completed a definitive feasibility stud July 2008 (“2008 FS") and the 2009 UFS in October 2009 for Project 1ctvhias ¢
that time a portion of the Western Bushveld Joiehiire (“WBJV ") in South Africa. Included in each study is a deatian of four element
“4E” reserve ounces of combined platinum, palladidmodium and gold at the time of publication.

The base case for the 2009 UFS was modeled usyegi3trailing metal prices at September 2009, iioigt US$1,343 per ounce platinum,
exchange rate of R8 to the U.S. Dollar and a 108éadint rate, resulting in a pt@x net present value of US$475 million for thejpcoon a 100¢
of project basis. Applying a 5% discount rate resiiin a pregax net present value of US$981 million on a 10d9%roject basis. The 2009 U
model does not include escalation of costs or npeteés due to inflation. The base case also caledla strong Internal Rate of ReturiRR ")
(pretax) of 23.54% .

Average life-ofmine cash operating costs to produce concentraseestmated at R525 per tonne (approximately US8§f ore or R4,2(
(approximately US$526.17) per 4E ounce on a lifenifie basis in the 2009 UFS. Operating costs amt®ngnound development costs w
increased from those in the 2008 FS primarily essalt of mining related cost including labour e&ses. The Merensky ReefMR ) layer will
be mined in the first 13 years of production anel kR basket price per 4E ounce was modeled at U8%1(3 year trailing prices in Octol
2009) and US$1,025 (recent prices to October 200%. Upper Group 2 Chromitite Layer or Reef)G2 ") layer represents the balance of
production. The UG2 basket price per 4E ounce wadeted at US$1,433 (3 year trailing prices in Oeta®009) and US$1,068 (recent price
October 2009). The model included a subsequenageet5.16% discount from the metal price to esertta¢ smelter pay discount.

The project has an estimated life of 22 years witle years at a steady state of production of Z&4t6 300,000 ounces per year (275,00
ounces per year on average over the nine yearysstaig period). The capital cost for the mine emilcentrator complex were estimated at R
billion or US$443.13 million for peak funding andtR6 billion or US$595.04 million for life of minfunding. The life of mine capital c«
estimate was reduced from that in the 2008 FS 89 %nillion as a result of changes in design torasstly grid power rather than sglénerate
power and improvements in mine design.

A portion of the proceeds of the Compasiast equity financing completed in October 20yemused to initiate a Phase 1 development anc
sample program, budgeted at US$100 million, to fbegiking twin declines into the central part of tAroject 1 deposit. Phase 1 funds are
being used to commence surface and earth worksiding pads, lay down areas, a box cut, declinessand limited level development. S
work included detailed implementation preparatiansluding working with the key potential contracg@nd suppliers of water and power.

Based on post009 UFS work completed by the Company, a reviged budget estimate for inclusion in a financialdalofor the Lenders (
defined herein) was completed in April 2012. ThexPany referred to industry sources and Qualifies®es for updated cost information .
also applied experience gained during procuremeahtcanstruction under the Phase 1 development gmogurrently underway. Some aspec
the project are currently being priced at or beR09 UFS level, while escalation is being seentireiocost areas, such as consumable ir
labour, construction and capital equipment. Thasesll peak funding estimate, which is calculatedRand, was published in April 2012 ¢
includes both Phase 1 and Phase 2 in their entiféiy revised estimate was approximately US$506omi(at R8 to the US$) for the construct
and commissioning of Project 1, representing aalagon of approximately 14% since the 2009 UFSer@png costs per tonne were estimate
have escalated approximately 24% since the 2009 WR&se operating cost escalation estimates aedping with inflation rates and indus
experience in South Africa since 2009.

The revised estimate of peak funding takes intmaigtthe net results of cost escalation versusigavihrough operations, value engineering
favourable metal price movements. As at November2042, the Rand has weakened to approximately3R®.%he US$ versus the 2009 L
long term assumption of R8.00 to the US$. This thaseffect of reducing the US$ denominated peakliighfor the project. In addition, as
November 15, 2012, the Merensky basket price pesutiee is approximately US$1,307 as compared t8 tfear trailing market price (US$1,1
in September 2009) and the recent market price {L082% in September 2009) cited in the 2009 UFS.
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Costing and engineering estimates are ongoing scéed during project implementation. Indicatossdrl on current information, are that
revised peak funding requirements for Project lehast changed materially from the sensitivity rangensidered in the 2009 UFS. Cur
general estimates of steady state production remahanged. The Company has also concluded thatetheffect of the above changes in ¢
and estimates, when included in a calculation ohemic cuteff grade as part of an assessment of mineralveseand mineral resources
Project 1, results in a non-material (less than l@xduction in mineral reserves from the estimategained in the 2009 UFS.

The magnitude of potential ongoing cost increased#ficult to estimate. Anticipated changes irstsocreate risks that have not been estima
feasibility levels as project construction advandeswvever, at this time the sensitivity levels fotal costs in the 2009 UFS have not t
exceeded. Many escalation risks are mitigated byfalat that the majority of the worklplatinum production comes from South Africa ats
operating environment. The Company believes thsag gesult of the concentration of world produciioisouth Africa, increased project costs
the South African mining industry as a whole maguitein higher prices, effectively passing sucht€@s to consumers.

In 2012, the Government of South Africa replaceel itngstanding secondary tax on corporations witlivadend tax levied on shareholdk
Before the new dividend tax became law, secondatyh corporations had been levied at a rate of @@%ll dividends declared by compal
resident in South Africa. Under an existing taxatyebetween Canada and South Africa, the effectie under the new dividend tax in Sc
Africa on dividends paid from Maseve and PTM RSAhe Company will be 5% of dividends. Dividend tsvege to be withheld by corporatit
in South Africa on behalf of shareholders and rerdito the South African Revenue Service.

On August 1, 2011, the Company entered into areageat mandating a syndicate of banks to arranga #8%$260 million project finance loar
Maseve for the development of Phase 2 of Projethd “ Project Loan Facility ). Societe Generale, a major European bank and fial
services company, later joined the group of leadngfers consisting of Barclays Bank plc, togethigh its affiliate Absa Capital, The Stand
Bank of South Africa Limited and Caterpillar FingadcSARL (together, the Lenders”). The Lenders have a global presence and directipla
industry experience and the syndicate includesaf®outh Africa’s major banks.

The completion of technical, financial and legagédliligence by the Lenders was announced by thep@ognon October 12, 2012. As at the
of this MD&A, credit committee approval by the Lead is not yet in place. If credit committee appdos obtained, commitment from
Lenders is expected to follow, following which tReoject Loan Facility may advance to negotiatiordefinitive documentation. The Comp:
expects that when executed, if at all, the exeoubbfinal loan documentation will be subject tateén conditions precedent, including, am
other things, the Company securing additional gduitding, the execution of a concentrate off tageeement, the acquisition and maintenan
all requisite permits and licences, the establisitroéan agreed metals hedging program and the lediomp of loan documentation.

The Company expects that the first draw down onRt@ect Loan Facility, if consummated and secureitl, be subject to further conditio
precedent, including a minimum of US$100 milliorvimg been spent on Project 1 by Maseve and a balahMaseves share of forward proje
peak funding (referred to herein aseéguired additional equity ") being deposited into an equity account securedigeron Project 1. Of t
expected required additional equity amount, the amy must provide 74%, while Wesizwe will be resgble for 26%. The amount will inclu
a working capital requirement based on a “markessed pricing modeBpplied by the Lenders at US$1,100 for platinum$4® for palladiun
US$880 for gold and a significant discount to mafke other payable metals such as rhodium, coppdrnickel. Subject to the satisfaction o
conditions precedent, in the event that definiteeumentation is executed and all required additiequity amounts are deposited in a desig!
equity account, the Company expects that the Rrbgmm Facility will be available to be drawn upas required for construction of Project 1.
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The requirement for the required additional eqaisydescribed above is in addition to the spendiagirement of US$100 million on Projec
currently in process, of which approximately $80lioni has been spent to date.

The Company will also be required by the Lenderprtavide a cost overrun facility for Project 1,which the Company will be responsible
74%. The Companyg share of these funds will be provided from thecpeds of an equity offering, or from a furthemldacility or instrument. ,
further condition precedent to the Project Loanilfads a guarantee from the Company of the olilyas of Maseve thereunder and the provi
by the Company, indirectly, of a pledge of its 7#fierest in the capital of Maseve. See “Risk Fagtor

There is no certainty that the Project Loan Facikill reach financial close or that drawdown o tBroject Loan Facility will occur. Failure
the Company to satisfy one or more conditions gtect or an adverse material change or event, ¢esldt in the Project Loan Facility not be
consummated, or if consummated, later terminatedcicordance with the proposed terms thereof. Inetrent the Project Loan Facility
consummated, the Project Loan Facility is expettedave a maximum available term of eight yearsp@®osed to a term of nine years in
original terms as announced by the Company on Augjua011. In addition to an arrangement fee andnamitment fee, interest is expected t
payable on the balance of the Project Loan Faailitiidrawn at a rate of LIBOR plus 5.0% pre complet LIBOR plus 4.75% for two years p
completion and LIBOR plus 5.25% from two years mmstpletion until maturity.

Labour in South Africa

There has recently been significant labour unrast @émands for higher wages by certain labour graguoss the gold and platinum mir
industries in South Africa. lllegal or “unprotectestrikes have occurred at several mines since thamieg of August 2012. In limited cas
wage increases have been agreed to by the managehseme mining companies. To date, the Compasyskan no adverse labour action o
site at the Project 1 mine.

The Company has worked closely with local commasitind human resource specialists Requisite BesBmations for several years in orde
create a database of local persons interested ik atothe Project 1 mine, including their skill asgperience details. The Company has

minimum target of 30% local employment for the mimeluding persons under the employ of contractAtgpresent approximately 40% of

onsite workforce is comprised of local persons ftbmsurrounding communities.

The primary union at Project 1 representing thekens of underground mining contractor JIC is theidtel Union of Mineworkers (NUM ).
The Company maintains an active dialogue with BIGM and its own employees. Should higher salaries\v@ages occur across the industry
Company will likely be required to comply with highpay bands, and an increase in labour coststhaneffore operating costs, could occur.
“Risk Factors”.

Project 1- Mineral Resources and Reserves

Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors with respect tohe information below: The Company uses the terms “measured resourcieslitétec
resources,” and “inferred resources,” which ar@gezed and required by Canadian regulations buteemgnized by the SEC. “Resourcest
not “reserves’and so do not have demonstrated economic viabitifgrred resources have a great amount of unogytas to their existence, ¢
great uncertainty as to their economic and legasifality. Furthermore, under Canadian rules, estiz® of inferred resources may not form
basis of feasibility or préeasibility studies, except in rare cases. Investme cautioned not to assume that measured aighted minere
resources will ever be converted into reservesatrpart or all of an inferred resource existssadonomically or legally minable. In the follow
tables, the Company also presents proven and pgeobegerves calculated under NI 231, which differs from the standards of SEC Ingt
Guide 7. In addition, while disclosure of contairmethces in a resource is permitted disclosure u@deadian securities laws, the SEC norn
only permits issuers to report mineralization tth@¢s not constitute “reservdsy SEC standards as in place tonnage and gradeuvitbference |
unit measurements. Accordingly, the disclosure Wwetoay differ materially from the reserve estimatesl other disclosures that would
provided by a U.S. public company.
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The Company provided a statement of mineral reseiareProject 1 in the 2009 UFS and an updatedrsiant of mineral resources for Project
a NI 43 101 technical report dated November 20,9266titled ‘An Independent Technical Report on Project Areasd 1A of the Weste
Bushveld Joint Venture (WBJV) Located on the Weastamb of the Bushveld Igneous Complex, South Adfi¢the “ Project 1 Report™). An
updated NI 43 101 technical report dated August28,0 entitled Technical Report on Project 3 Resource Cut Estonatif the Westel
Bushveld Joint Venture (WBJV) Located on the Westamb of the Bushveld Igneous Complex, South Adtithe “ Project 3 Report”) was
later filed with respect to Project 3. Project Istsoan estimated 2.801 million measured four eléroefi4E” ounces of platinum, palladiu
rhodium and gold (14.067 million tonnes @ 6.19 gsédamne (“g/t ”), 5.361 million indicated 4E ounces (30.392 milli@mmes @ 5.49 g/t) a
0.047 million inferred 4E ounces (0.176 million tas @ 8.33 g/t). Project 3 hosts an estimated Inili®n indicated 4E ounces (11.104 mill
tonnes @ 5.43 g/t) and 0.076 million inferred 4EBaes (0.443 million tonnes @ 1.47 g/t). Of the maheesources stated above for Proje
there are 1.756 million 4E ounces (11.764 millionrtes @ 4.64) categorized as proven mineral resemwd 2.91 million 4E ounces (19.
million tonnes @ 4.57 g/t) categorized as probabieeral reserves. Mineral reserves and mineraluress reported above are from comb
Merensky and UG2 reef tonnes. The Company hold4% interest in the 4E ounces attributable to Ptdleand Project 3 as described ab
New geo statistical information and ongoing minsige parameters resulting from recent infill bodehdata, combined with modified modeli
mine construction steps and scheduling now comgldtave not resulted in a material change to therted mineral reserves and resource
Project 1.

Additional information regarding grades, prill gplisampling and reserve and resource calculat@ande found in the technical reports desci
above as filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.cant on EDGAR at www.sec.qov

Mineral reserves are a subset of measured and indicated mineral resources ihmed in the UFS and take into account mining facts and
are not in addition to the mineral resources.

Project 1- Infrastructure and Metal Recovery

The 2009 UFS design for metallurgical extractioiiaes a standard plant design similar to otherimgalants in the Bushveld Igneous Com;
operating on the same reefs. The plant is desigibdcircuits that can process MR, UG2 or a blenfieti. The MR is the target of initial mini
because of its higher grade and low chrome coniég. concentrator has been designed antbséed on current terms, based on treatin
optimal 140,000 tonnes per month. The revised rpiae has increased this treatment rate to 160@@@es per month and for the concentrat
treat this increased quantity of reef, the recovery been reduced with a discount of up to 2.5%réatment in excess of nominal “name plate”
capacity.

Metallurgical testing and the published experieotthe adjacent operating mines support a “name’ptapacity plant recovery rate estimat
87.5% of combined 4E on the MR and 82.5% on the U&Zoveries of 45% for nickel and 70% for copper also modeled for the M
Ruthenium and iridium are also included as minantgbutors. Further metallurgical test work was @bated in 2012 and was utilized by
Company for project implementation and negotiationdinal off-take terms. The current metal recgvassumptions and indicative dffke term
are not materially different from those in the 2Q0PS.
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The mine infrastructure in the 2009 UFS estimatetudes the entire required surface infrastrucforea standalone mine including millir
concentrating and tailings facilities, as well estev, power, underground access and ventilati@stablish full production.

Project 1- History of Acquisition

On October 26, 2004, the Company entered intord ja@nture agreement (theA/BJV Agreement”) forming the WBJV among the Comps
(37% interest held through PTM RSA), Anglo Ameriddiatinum Limited (“Anglo ") (37% interest held through its subsidiary RPM), Africa
Wide (26% interest held directly) in relation tplatinum exploration and development project on loiored mineral rights covering approximai
67kmZ2on the Western Bushveld Complex of South Africae WiBJV was divided into three distinct project arazamely Projects 1, 2 and 3
April 2007, Anglo contributed an additional Skfrarea of prospecting rights into the WBJV. This &ddal area was adjacent to the ea:
Projects 1 and 3 and once contributed into the WBitame a part of Project 2. Africa Wide was sqbertly acquired by Wesizwe
Johannesburg Stock Exchange-listed company, ire8dyar 2007. PTM RSA was the operator of the joémtture.

Under the terms of the original WBJV Agreement, mgodecision to mine the respective deemed capitatribution of each party would
credited a dollar amount based on their contrilbutb measured, indicated and inferred PGM ouna&® fthe contributed properties compris
the WBJV. The ounces contributed would be deterchibesed upon, and at the time of, the first bamkdébhsibility study for the WBJIV
accordance with the South African Code for the Reémpp of Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (tBAMREC Code ”) and as to
agreed amongst the parties on a “Determination"Ratelefined in the WBJV Agreement.

On December 8, 2008, the Company entered into ioeggreements to consolidate and rationalize the@eoship of the WBJV (the
Consolidation Transaction”).

On April 22, 2010, the Consolidation Transactiorsveampleted and the WBJV was dissolved. The pahdesagreed that upon dissolution
equalization due under the original WBJV Agreementild be paid and settled between the parties. @l 22, 2010, the Company paid
equalization amount due to Anglo of R186.28 mill{@pproximately $24.83 million at the time), asuiegd under the terms of the original WE
Agreement.

At the moment of dissolution, Wesizwe acquiredoflAnglo’s rights and interests to the mineral rights uryitegl the WBJV, Wesizwe retain
Anglo’s mineral rights to Project 2, and transfdrial of Anglo’s mineral rights underlying Projects 1 and 3 intojgct operating compar
Maseve. The Company also transferred its minegatsiunderlying Project 1 into Maseve, the reseihy that Wesizwe retained 100% of Prc
2 and Maseve obtained 100% of Projects 1 and 3.cbhebined area covered by the mineral rights fajdets 1 and 3 held through Mas
comprises approximately 47kfof the original 72kn?.

The Company also received a 37% interest in Mageexchange for its share of Projects 1 and 3. Phis of the transaction was treated
transfer of a business interest between contratgdies and was transferred at cost for accourgungoses. Wesizwe received a 45.25% it
interest in Maseve in exchange for the mineraltsgttransferred to Maseve.

Although the Company did not hold any of the miheights comprising Project 2, the Company had &b% interest in Project 2 through
WBJV. In exchange for rescinding its 18.5% of Pcoj2, the Company effectively received an additidi¥a75% interest in Maseve, bringing
holdings in Maseve to 54.75% . This was treated deemed sale of 18.5% of Project 2 and was vatedtimated fair market value of $6&
million, resulting in an accounting gain of $45.8@lion. For accounting purposes, the Company alscrued a deferred income tax liability
$22.5 million in relation to the deemed sale. Tisisa noneash accrual for accounting purposes only, as mpany and its advisors hs
determined the deemed transaction is not a taxaelet under the Income Tax Act of South Africa.
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Under the terms of the Consolidation Transactiaragents, the Company acquired the Maseve Subsaorigight entitling it to subscribe fol
further 19.25% interest in Maseve, from treasunyexchange for a subscription amount of R408.81lianil On January 14, 2011, the Comp
exercised the Maseve Subscription Right in the athofiR408.81 million (approximately $59 million thte time), thereby increasing its effec
shareholding in Maseve to 74%. The subscriptiom$uvere placed in escrow for application towardsiiee’s 26% share of expenditures
Projects 1 and 3 (theEscrowed Maseve Fund$). As of August 31, 2012, approximately R273 millié&80.51 million) of the Escrowed Mast
Funds, including earned interest, remained in @&cro

Under the terms of the Consolidation Transactioeagents, RPM held a &y right of first refusal on the sale of ore oncentrate product
from Project 1, Project 2 and Project 3. On Septnil) 2012, Maseve received notice from RPM reggrdRPM’'s exercise of its right of fir
refusal to enter into an agreement with Maseveeong equivalent to terms agreed to by Maseve wititheer commercial offaker for the planne
sale of concentrate produced from Project 1.

On August 12, 2010, the Company acquired the righpurchase the Sundown Ranch surface rights aayeti713 hectares, includi
accommodation facilities and overlaying the are¢hefplanned Project 1 platinum mine for R130.0ianil (approximately $18.57 million at t
time). The Company has assigned these rights t@Wag he purchase price was part of the Phasedlapewent budget for Project 1 as descr
above. The Company is in process of transferringjtiathal surface rights over the project area, @dtcinto Maseve in order to facilitate
development of Project 1.

Waterberg Venture, South Africa
Waterberg - Activities in the year ended August2®il2

Total cumulative project expenditures incurred togiast 31, 2012 amounted to approximately $7.56anijllof which Japan Oil, Gas and Me
National Corporation* JOGMEC ") has funded approximately $4.25 million.

Drilling on the Waterberg project {Naterberg Project ") has taken place throughout year resulting in tferied mineral resources discus:
Drilling is currently continuing with ten machines a roughly 250 metre grid, with several machime$00 metre or greater step outs.

An approved 2012 budget for the Waterberg jointtwenwith JOGMEC was set at US$8.37 million, whigmow nearing completion. Results
the above 2012 work program will be finalised ahdl®d by the joint venture partners by Decembér22@llowing which a budget for 2013 v
be developed and approved. In the technical repatitied ‘Updated Exploration Results and Mineral Resourcimase for the Waterbe
Platinum Project, South Africdbcated on the Northern Limb of the Bushveld Compleith an effective date of November 5, 2012, preg b
Kenneth Lomberg (the Waterberg Report "), the independent Qualified Person recommends a fdrimadget in the amount of $10.0 millior
which the Company will be responsible for a comtif8% share.

Waterberg - Mineral Resources

Based on exploration and drilling results to endufy 2012, an initial 6.6 million ounce of platmy palladium and gold (3E ") inferred minere
resource estimate for the T- andayer mineralization on the property Ketting 368laRhin the Waterberg Project area was announcethé
Company on September 4, 2012. The mineral resasti@ate considers the first 16 holes drilled anpioject area, with deflections, comple
to July 31, 2012. Since that time approximatelythaen28 holes, with deflections, have been comgdleteare in progress as at the date ol
MD&A. Drilling with ten rigs continues.

The initial inferred mineral resource estimate aevihe first 1.8km of T-layer and 2.8km ofldyer strike length starting from the soutt
boundary of the property position. The F mineralizayers have now been intercepted in boreholesouh7km north of the initial minet
resource area
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The inferred mineral resource estimate include$ ot and “F’ mineralized layers. The most important layers aeethree to six metre thi
“T1” and “T2” layers. The “T"layers are very well correlated in terms of geodeahmarkers and lithology and have a characteristtal split ¢
approximately 48% palladium, 29% platinum and 23&tdgWithin the “F” layer are two sulayers which are approximately 5.25m thick
average, having an approximate metal split of 6zafium and 33% Platinum.

The “T” layers have been intercepted from 140m Wwedarface to 1,375m deep. For the initial infernaicieral resource estimate, the “@nd ths
“F" layers have been modeled to 1,000m below serfdepth. The “T” layers appear to truncatedip-at 140m deep as they meet the overl
Waterberg sediments, while the “F” layers are saeted at 495m below surface and are expecteddndgloser to surface.

The four main mineralized layers for which an inéel mineral resource estimate is declared are pesdelow (as at September 1, 2012):

Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors with respect tohte information in the following tables and discussin: In the following tables, tf
Company presents “inferred resources,” which acegeized and required by Canadian regulations butetognized by the SEC. “Resources”
are not “reservesand so do not have demonstrated economic viabitifgrred resources have a great amount of unogytas to their existenc
and great uncertainty as to their economic and fegaibility. Furthermore, under Canadian rulesineates of inferred resources may not forn
basis of feasibility or préeasibility studies, except in rare cases. Invasawe cautioned not to assume that part or alhéfif@rred resource exi

or is economically or legally minable. In additiowhile disclosure of contained ounces in a resoiscgermitted disclosure under Cana
securities laws, the SEC normally only permits éssuo report mineralization that does not congitueserves’y SEC standards as in pl.
tonnage and grade without references to unit measemts. Accordingly, the disclosure below may diffeaterially from the disclosure that wo

be provided by a U.S. public company.

Layer Tonnage | Thickness| Pt Pd Au 2PGE+Au|Pt:Pd:Au [2PGE+Au|Cu Ni

(Mt) (m) CLY; (9) (9) (99 (%) (Koz) (%) (%)
T1 10.49 2.85 0.77 1.27 0.51 2.55 30:50:p0 863 0.17 |0.10
T2 16.25 3.46 1.10 1.82 0.92 3.84 29:47:p4 2001| 180. 0.09
Total T-layer 26.74 3.19 3.33 29:48:23 (2 864
FH 18.10 4.63 0.80 1.48 0.09 2.37 34:62:4 1379 30.0 |0.12
FP 23.20 5.91 1.01 2.00 0.13 3.14 32:644 2345 40.0 |0.11
Total F-layer 41.30 5.27 2.80 31:57:12 (3724
[TowProjet o804 |41 Joos Jama foar faor |  Jesss [ [ ]
Notes:

(1) The Qualified Person for the information in theléadbove, derived from the Waterberg Report, isriétim Lomberg, who was indepenc
of the Company as of the date of the Waterberg Re

(2)  Mineral resources which are not mineral reservesatchave demonstrated economic viability. Theneste of mineral resources may
materially affected be environmental, permittinggdl marketing or other relevant issues. The quyaatid grade of reported infer
mineral resources in this estimate are conceptualature. There is no guarantee that all or any gathe mineral resource will
converted to a mineral resen

Aggregating the “T” and “Flayers, the deposit outlined and declared so fasignated to contain the following inferred mireesources: 3.7
million ounces of palladium; 2.05 million ouncespdétinum; and 0.81 million ounces of gold.

In order to be considered as a mineral resouréea&s, it is necessary to consider “the reasonphspects for economic extractionf the
mineral resource under consideration. For the VidatgrProject, a high level economic analysis waslaoted which confirmed that the estim:
mineral resource at Waterberg met this requirement.
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The “T1", “T2" and both “F"layers average three to six metres in thicknesspagpared to the classic MR and UG2 Chromitite kaykich art
traditionally mined with average thicknesses ofragpnately 1 to 1.4m each.

On November 5, 2012 the Company announced thadniéwntercepts have approximately doubled thésttength of the Waterberg Project.
prospective geology with PGE mineralization has rto@&n intercepted in drilling for approximately &b of strike length (approximately No
40° East) along the eastern edge of the grantegh@cting licences. The deposit remains open northalang strike and eastward djp where i
runs onto prospecting licence areas under appitati PTM RSA as described above. Results announcadied 24.00 meters grading 4.3Z
2E +Au within a larger intercept of 58.00 meters2d¥8 g/t 2E+Au (Hole WB027). Results also include5 meters grading 7.18 g/t 2E +
(Hole WBO031) and 8.5 meters of 4.8 g/t 2E+Au (HAIB-034). These latest “Hayer intercepts are located on strike to the noftiine area whe
the 6.6 million ounce inferred mineral resourcaneste detailed above was identified. The gradektiéss on the “Flayers is increasing

exploration progresses to the north.

An approved 2012 budget for the Waterberg jointtwenwith JOGMEC was set at US$8.37 million, whishhow nearing completion. Ti
budget provided funding for:

e 35,610 metres of drilling and sampling;

e airborne magnetic and radiometric surveys;

e a SQUITEM high sensitivity magnetic survey;

e acquisition and analysis of high resolution Landisestgery;
e metallurgical studies and petrographic studies; and

e an initial resource calculation (which was comples®d announced September 5, 2012).

Results of the above 2012 work program are expeotée finalised and studied by the joint ventuaetpers by December 2012, following wk
a final budget for 2013 will be developed and apptbby the joint venture partners. In the WaterliRegort, a forward budget in the amour
$10.0 million is recommended, of which the Compamuld be responsible for a combined 63% share. iddemmended forward budget \
derived through consultation between the Compaitsthnical staff and the independent Qualifiecs®®rafter which the independent Quali
Person formally recommended the forward budgédténwaterberg Report.

History of Acquisitior

PTM RSA applied for a prospecting right for the faerg Project area in 2009 and in September 280®MR granted PTM RSA a prospeci
right for the requested area. Later in October 260M RSA entered an agreement (thEOGMEC Agreement”) with JOGMEC and Mnomk
Wethu Consultants (Pty) Limited (lnombo ") whereby JOGMEC could earn up to a 37% participatimgrest in the project for an optio
work commitment of US$3.2 million over four yeavghile at the same time Mnombo could earn a 26%qyaating interest in exchange
matching JOGMEC's expenditures on a 26/74 basi${UI2 million).

Under the terms of the JOGMEC Agreement any mirgnaducts derived by the joint venture from thepamy are to be taken by each patrtici
in proportion to its then participating interestthe joint venture. Provided JOGMEC or its nomitedds at least a 30% interest in the |
venture, JOGMEC or its nominee has the exclusigktrio direct the marketing of the mineral produstshe other participants for a j@a
period from first commercial production on an e@l@nt to commercially competitive arsnlength basis and has the first right of refus
purchase at prevailing market prices any mineradipets taken by another participant as its shajeimtf venture output.
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On November 7, 2011, the Company entered into egeagent with Mnombo whereby the Company acquire8%%f the issued and outstanc
shares of Mnombo from its shareholders in exchdageash payments totaling R1.2 million and agrgdim pay for Mnomb@ 26% share
project costs to feasibility (bringing the Compasnghare of project costs to 63%). When combinet thié Company 37% direct interest in t
Waterberg Project (taking into consideration th6&BEC earnin), the 12.974% indirect interest held by the Campthrough Mnombo brings t
Companys effective interest in the Waterberg Project t®48% . Mnombo remains over 50% held for the béméfhistorically disadvantag
South Africans as defined by tiineral and Petroleum Resources Development Actpf28002(* MPRDA ) and theBroad-Based Blac
Economic Empowerment 4, 2003 (the ‘BEE Act ") and is a qualified black economic empowermerBEE ") corporation under the BEE Act.

In April 2012, JOGMEC completed its US$3.2 milliearnin requirement as described above and PTM RSA, Mmmoand JOGMEC becal
parties to an unincorporated joint venture regaydie Waterberg Project. Since that time, the Camppes spent approximately US$4.44 mil

on exploration expenditures to September 30, 2@f2his amount US$1.12 million was applied to Mnaisbinitial funding obligation and tl
balance of approximately US$3.32 million was agptie the Company’s and Mnombo’s ongoing 63% conmbim®-rata share of costs. Post earn-
in, JOGMEC, Mnombo and the Company approved a 2&d2ard exploration budget for the Waterberg Projeche amount of US$8.37 millic
The Companyg recent expenditure on behalf of the joint ventfrapproximately US$3.32 million on explorationdescribed above is a par
this approved budget. As of the date of this MD&¥QGMEC has funded US$2.0 million of its US$3.10lioml share of the 2012 forwe
exploration budget.

During 2012 the Company made application to the DiIRcquire three additional prospecting right@eelt to the west (one farm for 3,938
north (one farm for 6,272ha) and east (one farnif608ha) of the existing Waterberg Project. Ifnged by the DMR, these three new prospe:
rights would cover a total of 118kAwill become a part of the existing joint venturatwdOGMEC and Mnombo, bringing the total area &
joint venture to 255kr2.

The Company has also applied to the DMR for furfirespecting rights totaling 66,539ha adjacenh&ortorth and east of the existing and apj
for joint venture area. If granted by the DMR, tB&S5.39km? area of new prospecting rights would not be inailisiethe existing joint ventur

The Company would hold a direct 74% interest andiino would hold a 26% interest in this new areayileg the Company with an 86.97.
effective interest. The Company currently owns mdage rights in the area of the Waterberg Project.

Non-Material Mineral Property Interests

Other nonmaterial mineral property interests of the Comparjude the War Springs and Tweespalk projectstémbén South Africa, the Sal
Joint Venture (as defined below) and the Compamgrious mineral property interests in Ontarion&ta and Northwest Territories, Cani
These non-material property interests are notyiddally or collectively, material to the Companydsare described below.

South Africa

Exploration expenditures during the year ended Au@ad, 2012 on projects in South Africa other tRanject 1 Project 3 and Waterberg tot:
$0.49 million (August 31, 2011 - $1.68 million). Brng 2012 and 2011, all costs were recovered fr@int yenture partners.
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War Springs and Tweespalk Properties, South Africa

Since 2005, the Company has been actively explatswyvar Springs and Tweespalk projects, which laoated on the North Limb of t
Bushveld Complex in South Africa. The War Springsperty covers 22km and is located 24km south of the Anglo open pit @RFlatinur
mine along the same “Platreeféction of the Bushveld Complex. Exploration hassigted of diamond drilling, geophysical surveyd gnounc
prospecting. In March 2008, the Company reportethterred resource on a 100% basis of 1.676 milbances 3E at a grade of 1.11 g/t wi
minor credit for copper and nickel. See “CautionBigte to U.S. Investors’Additional information regarding grade, prill sglitsampling ar
resource calculations can be found in an NI 43+4&@hnical report dated June 18, 2009 entitledvised Inferred Mineral Resource Declare
War Springs (Oorlogsfontein 45K2), Northern Limkafium Property, Limpopo Province, Republic of $oatfrica” (the “War Springs Report
") filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.coand on EDGAR at www.sec.gov

The War Springs mineral resource is characterigetavb distinct reef layers, termed the “B” and “t&efs. Both reefs are typically greater that
metres thick. The reefs outcrop on surface ancheddiewn dip in parallel sheets at a 65 degree anghedepth of 400m, remaining open at de
Of the 22 boreholes drilled to February 2006, ardctv were used in the resource calculation, 15 Hmes intersected the “BReef and
boreholes intersected the “®Reef. A total of 9,926 samples were taken for aialyDrilling results from Phase 1 and 2 coveripgraximatel
2,200m of strike length on 250m spacing, combinéd & review of economic cut-off, form the basigtd War Springs Report.

Subject to vendor payments due upon a decisioririe,rthe Company holds a 70% interest in the Waing§p project and Africa Wide and Tal
Platinum Exploration (Pty) Ltd. (Taung Platinum ") each hold a 15% interest carried to feasibilitydgtuTaung Platinum is an affiliat
company of Moepi Platinum (Pty.) Ltd., which is tatén Ltd.’s BEE partner in South Africa.

In March 2009, the Company announced an optioneageet with JOGMEC, pursuant to which JOGMEC may 6% (one half of tt
Company’s interest) of Platinum Grogghterest in the War Springs project by incurfig$10 million in expenses over five years. Sincedit
2009 a total of 17,222m of drilling in 20 boreholesve been completed on the War Springs proje¢t MGMEC funding. Total expenditu
incurred by JOGMEC to August 31, 2011 on War Swiagiounted to approximately $2.9 million. During trear ended August 31, 2012,
drilling program was completed and JOGMEC indicateat it does not plan to fund further work on tpieject. The Company is consider
further work or possible joint ventures for the jpa at this time.

Sable Joint Venture, South Africa

In 2007 and 2008, the Company conducted a new éssigenerative program which included researchimpiementation, including ti
application for several new licence areas on or teethe Bushveld Complex. In 2008 and 2009, then@any was granted several new prospe
rights as a result of this work. In 2009, the Compantered into an exploration joint venture (th®adble Joint Venture”) with Sable Platinui
Mining (Pty) Ltd (“ Sable”) with respect to new prospecting rights locatechataastern end of the Western Bushveld Complexngpassin
110.62km? . The Sable Joint Venture has been converted framniractual to a corporate joint venture and thoethe four prospecting rigt
have been transferred to the joint venture comphfiyisterial consent to transfer the fourth progpegright is pending. The shares in the j
venture company are held by Sable as to 51%, BhatiGroup as to 20% and a private BEE consortium,niembers of which are Umno
Platinum (Pty) Ltd and National Resources Empowaetri@nd, as to 26%. The Company served as opashtbe project until mid March 201
at which time operatorship was transitioned to &ahll exploration work to date on the Sable Jafehture has been funded by Sable. The
venture agreement contemplates that Sable will @ million in exploration costs over four yearstbe basis that the funding for the first y
is committed and Sable may elect to continue fupdire subsequent years. Sable has funded apprekni®.57 million ($1.16 million) of tt
R42 million ($5.2 million) referred to in the joinenture agreement. Platinum Group is not requivefidnd the project until Sable has contribt
R42 million. Thereafter Platinum Group would retair23% interest in the property with the BEE grbofding a 26% interest. The joint vent
agreement provides that it shall lapse in the ettt Sable elects not to continue funding the @gion costs. Sable is in process of rai
capital for further exploration on the project aasaat the date of this MD&A.
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In July 2012, exploration results were announcethfdrilling conducted on the Sable Joint Venturgperty. 6400m of diamond drilling has b
completed and a mineralized layer “New Reedis been intersected at 129m on the Sable Jointuieproperty with a thickness of 4.25m ai
grade of 1.96 g/tonne 3E. The UG2 has also beansetted on Klipfontein at 1,945m with a thickne$<2.05m with an average grade
2.64g/tonne 3E. The details of the drilling resalts as follows:

Depth Pt Pd Au 2PGE+Au Thickness
BHID REEF m glt g/t glt glt m
GARO001DO New Reef 143 0.08 0.08 0.01 0.17 7.00
GARO003DO New Reef 129 0.34 1.51 0.11 1.96 4.25
GARO004D0 New Reef 1,544 0.06 0.15 0.01 0.22 5.00
GARO007DO New Reef 124 0.15 0.30 0.02 0.47 1.75
GARO001DO uG2 500 0.15 0.03 0.01 0.19 1.00
GARO004D0 uG2 1,945 2.17 0.45 0.02 2.64 2.05
GARO006D0 uG2 1,177, 3.46 1.01 0.04 4,51 0.21

GARO002 and GAROO5 were collared behind the eidp position of these reef horizons. The layess laglieved to be shallow dipping ¢
therefore the true width is approximately 80% of the intercepts. No mineral reserves or mainersources have been established on the
Joint Venture property.

Canada

Mineral property acquisition deferred during theyended August 31, 2012 on projects in Canad&tbnil (August 31, 2011-035 million)
Exploration costs incurred during the period endladust 31, 2012 for Canadian properties totale@Zsillion (August 31, 2011-1$05 million)
During the year ended August 31, 2012, the Compamyje off the $0.41 million incurred to date on tBerk Lake, Dog River and Bullse

property.
Lac Des lles, Ontario, Canac

The Company maintains a large mineral rights pmsiin the Lac des lles and Lac des Gras areasdflihnder Bay Mining District, Ontario a
strategic holding against increasing prices folgoilm and platinum. At the beginning of fiscal 2812, the Company held 100% interest
total of 625.12kn¥ in this region; however during the year a numbeperipheral claims totaling 69.44kfr(not including Bark Lake discuss
below) were dropped. The core long term holdinghie Lac des lles area consisting of the 11 claieli8hLake and South Legris properties
been maintained. These 11 claims are subject #b Bdt smelter return (NSR ") royalties, which the Company may buy back. Landlimgjs by
the Company within the Thunder Bay Mining Distriirrently total 553.68kn% . In addition, the Company retains a majority iagrin th
63.5km? of mineral rights at the Agnew Lake property, witlihhe Sudbury Mining District

The majority of the Company’s 553.68Krholdings in the Thunder Bay Mining District are reaap of 515.84km of new properties acquired
staking early in 2011, which were identified ufiig in house compilation and modeling of geophysiechemistry and work completed by
Company in the area over the past 10 years. Althese newly staked properties within the Thunder Baing District were targeted on a n
mineralization type in younger intrusive rocks waeontained platinum is equal or greater than gilta. Platinum Grou core long ter
holding of 11 claims are targeted on older intrasigck types like that at North American Palladiarhac des lles mine where palladium is
dominant platinum group metal. Historically, No#merican deposits have been dominated by palladatimer than rarer and more valuz
platinum. Recent exploration by other companieshis Thunder Bay area has demonstrated previousyplored potential for platinum a
palladium in pipe-like intrusions or conduits.
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To date, five of the 100% owned properties havenbeell tested based on airborne geophysics sumesylts, geological ground wo
geochemistry and compilation of historic data. fatof 4,274m have been drilled in 17 holes, ofakh2,891m in nine holes have been drilles
100% owned properties.

Diamond drilling completed within the one year pdriending August 31, 2012 totaled 1350m in fiveekpfour of which were on the Trian
Property and one on the Badger Property. Two ofhitles on the Triangle Property were extensionpre¥iously drilled holes for downhc
geophysical surveys. In addition a 39 line km dettWTEM survey was completed to define a chardigghiigh seen in the regional VTE
survey over the Triangle Property completed in pthevious year. The diamond drilling and subsequemtnhole geophysical surveys teste
chargeability high modeled from the detailed Vélsalime Domain Electro-Magnetics Y TEM ") survey. A large Achaean gabbro suite
intercepted below the Proterozoic Logan Sills beln 230m depth. Of interest are assays of weakbmalous chromium, nickel, copg
platinum and palladium in some of the Archean galitercepted with drilling. The chargeability higkmains unexplained to date.

To date none of the drilling by the Company onybanger intrusive targets has intersected the gee of platinum mineralization found in 1
district. In 2012, the Company reviewed the resoftits exploration work in the Thunder Bay regiand made the decision not to proceed
further work on its Dog River and Bullseye claims. a result, for the year ending August 31, 20h&,&ompany wrote off $88,058 in acquisi
and exploration costs incurred to date on thespasties. No mineral reserves or mineral resoure@e Iheen established on any of the prope
The Company is now considering its potential progrdor the remainder of 2012 in Thunder Bay in eahbf its other Canadian and glc
exploration opportunities.

During the year ended August 31, 2012, the Complatfiyered notice to the vendors terminating theampagreement on Benton Resource Cearp.’
(* Benton”) Bark Lake platinum palladium project Bark Lake ") located in the Thunder Bay North area. The Compatains no interest in t
property. Prior to termination of the option, aitial cash payment of $35,000 was made to Bent@h$289,572 was spent by the Compan
exploration on the property. Work during the yeadled August 31, 2012 consisted of a reconnaisSahREM airborne geophysical survey and
drilling of 1383m in eight diamond drill holes. Fitre year ended August 31, 2012, the Company varfdt#324,572 in acquisition and explorat
costs incurred to date on the Bark Lake property.

Northwest Territories, Canac

During the year ending August 31, 2012, $1.55 millin exploration costs were incurred on the ComjsaNorthwest Territories (NWT ")
exploration program. Costs include: research amdpilation, camp maintenance, fuel purchase andlguppgravity survey, geology, diamc
drilling and assays. No further exploration expéumgis have been made to date.

In September 2011, the Company purchased the RrosédCopper-Nickel-Cobalt-Platinum Group Metal<C(f-Ni-Co-PGM ") property fron
Arctic Star Exploration (‘Arctic Star ") for a payment of $50,000 and a 1.0% NSR royaltréwn survey has been completed on the cl
comprising the Providence property and the docuatiemt has been submitted to the Mining Recordesaitisfaction of final requirements
convert the claims to lease. As at the date of MiD&A, the Company is awaiting final lease granb d@ate, the first year lease payment
application fees have been paid. Total acquisitimsts to date are $78,216.

The camp and associated land use permit have heehgsed for an additional $20,000 from Arctic STdre Company has an active land
permit to conduct exploration on the property arantain a camp.
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The property is comprised of 13 mineral claimsltota133.66knm? and is located approximately 70km west of the Didiamond Mine, NWT
The property covers approximately 20km of a regerdtognized belt of mafic to ultramafic rocks tiethost to the first discovery of magmi
Cu-Ni-Co-PGM massive sulphide mineralization in tBlave Craton. The ultnamafic suite of rocks known as the Providence Laledt Bre
interpreted to be Komatiitic to ultramafic lavasiotrusive sills. Drilling by the Company and higtodrilling by Arctic Star has shown that -
Cu-Ni-CoPGM mineralization is hosted within, and at the eba$ the ultramafic flow/intrusive sill sequenceher ultramafic host to tl
mineralization is stratiform to a basaltic hangimall and a metasediment footwall. The hanging WwaHaltic flows contain intercalated sulphide-
rich units. The dimensions of the massive sulphidlgeralization defined to date ranges in thickrfems 0.3m to 5.0m and have been interce
in drilling over a 75m strike length and down f@08n. The mineralized horizon has been drill testeek a 450m strike length to the east w
disseminated sulphides with anomalous PGM valuearo©ne hole to the east intercepted a 50cm giti anomalous PGM values at the bas
the suite. The mineralized horizons remain opedefeth and the eastern hole shows there is posgibflfurther horizon development along
belt.

The Company has completed the Phase 1 and Phaam@ndl drilling programs as determined by the Camgizageologists for a total of 315(
in 14 holes. Exploration programs during the perodsisted of camp supply, an 800 station grauityeyy and diamond drilling with assa
Work on the property commenced in mid-March, 204 8tep out drill program to further define the exteof known Cu-Ni-Cd?GM mineralize
zone was completed. The field work was completedibgust 15, 2012.

The following table details assay results for massulphide intercepts from the 2012 diamond ddllprogram at Providence:

Hole ID from (m) to (m) length @) Ni (%) Cu (%) Co (%) Pt (g/t) Pd (g/t) 2PGE
(9/t)
PR12-04 185.85 190.10 4.25 1.62 1.04 0.15 0.13 1.9 2.03
PR12-08 271.95 275.60 3.65 1.79 141 0.15 0.12 2.16 2.28
PR12-08 278.17 280.10 1.93 1.40 2.09 0.12 0.07 15 1.66
Notes:

(1)  True thickness is approximately 87% of the intetdepgth.

(2) Grades are based on assay results. There hasnsediicient drilling to define a mineral resouraedait is uncertain if further explorati

will result in exploration targets being delineatexda mineral resourc

Ni-Cu-CoPGM grade values are consistent with near surfiax@xi(num 115m vertical depth) massive sulphide a@pts by previous operat

and the mineralization remains open at depth.

Significant grades from disseminated sulphide naliwation intercepts in the 2012 drilling progratiPaovidence include:

Hole ID from (m) to (m) length @) Ni (%) Cu (%) Co (%) Pt (g/t) Pd (g/t) 2PGE
(9/t)
PR12-01 156.05 161.80 5.75 0.31 0.81 0.03 0.73 17 2.51
PR12-02 109.35 112.40 3.05 0.16 0.49 0.01 0.33 0.73 1.06
PR12-02 124.20 125.25 1.05 0.19 3.08 0.02 0.55 1.50 2.05
PR12-12 88.00 88.70 0.70 0.40 0.20 0.03 0.51 0.77 1.28
Notes:

(1)  True thickness is approximately 90% of the intetdepgth.

(2) Grades are based on assay results. There hasnsediicient drilling to define a mineral resouraedait is uncertain if further explorati

will result in exploration targets being delineatesda mineral resourc
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No mineral reserves or mineral resources have bstblished on any of the properties. Currentlycttrapany is assessing the results in ord
make a decision on further exploration work. Fuexploration programmes in the NWT will be deperidgron the Compang’future exploratic
priorities.

3. DISCUSSION OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

A) Results of Operations
Year Ended August 31, 2012

For the year ended August 31, 2012, the Companyriied a net loss of $10.59 million (August 31, 264dss of $8.89 million.) General a
administrative expenses totaled $5.37 million (Astg8l, 2011 - $6.79 million). The Compasyemployees in South Africa have been lar
focused on the development of Project 1; therefibrese costs have been capitalized causing a feduotgeneral and administrative expet
although there has been a modest increase in thbarwf South African employees as compared tednee period last year. Stock compens:
expenses totaled $2.01 million (August 31, 2016.9% million). Stock options were granted to dicest officers, employees and consultan
the current and comparative periods. The differéen@xpense resulted from changes in the numbstock options granted, share price volal
and interest rates. Foreign exchange loss durmgéhr was $3.59 million (August 31, 201dss $0.01 million) as a result of the decreasédde
of cash balances held in Rand when translated tadian dollars at yeand. Other comprehensive loss for the year alsea@sed as a result
the weaker Rand as assets carried in Rand in outhS&frican subsidiaries were converted to thein&@fan dollar value at year end.
September 1, 2011, the Rand was valued at apprefym@ 1397 to the Canadian Dollar (R7.16 to thed@an Dollar) versus 0.1176 (R8.5-
the Canadian Dollar) at August 31, 2012, a decrefiapproximately 16%.

Interest earned in the year totaled $3.94 millisrcampared to $3.79 million in the comparative y&&e higher interest earned is due to hi
cash holdings.

Fourth Quarter of 201.

For the quarter ended August 31, 2012, the Companyred a net loss of $3.56 million (August 3112G-gain of $0.35 million.) In the pri
year, the Company recorded a deferred income teoveey, which resulted in the gain for the quagaded August 31, 2011. Although,
Company has added employees, the Compageheral and administrative expenses have rematabté as new hires have been largely foc
on the development of Project 1; therefore, thestschave been capitalized.

Foreign exchange losses have caused volatilithenGompany’s net loss as the Comparnybuth African subsidiaries hold significant asse
South African Rand, which must be translated toa@@mn dollars for presentation in the Company’aficial statement.

As the Company continues to execute its developmlant for Project 1, the Compaytash expenditures have been predominantly fooos
this project, with $12.60 million spent in the qigarin respect of Project 1.

Annual Financial Informatiot

The following tables set forth selected financiatadfrom the Compang’annual audited financial statements and shoulgde in conjunctic
with those financial statements:
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(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for shadata)

Year ended Year ended Year ended

Aug 31, 2012 Aug 31, 2011 Aug 31, 2010
Interest income $3,943W $3,785(0) $4421)
Net (loss) income ($10,588)2 ($8,892)@ $26,6602)
Basic (loss) earnings per share ($0.06)®) ($0.05)® $0.29()
Diluted earnings (loss) per share ($0.06)®) ($0.05)® $0.280)
Total assets $243,734%) $280,788% $126,991%)
Long term debt Nil Nil Nil
Dividends Nil Nil Nil

Explanatory Notes:

@

@)

©)

4

®)

The Companyg only significant source of income during the geanding August 31, 2010 to 2012 was interest ircdmmm interes
bearing accounts held by the Company. The amoumttefest earned correlates directly to the interat® at the time and the amoun
cash on hand during the year referen

In the year ended August 31, 2010, the Companydedonet income of $26.66 million. This was prirhadue to gains of $2.80 million
sale of marketable securities and $45.62 milliorttendeemed sale for accounting purposes of arvdBiterest in Project 2 of what w
the WBJV. A $14.58 million future income tax chargas also associated with this g¢

Basic (loss) earnings per share is calculated usiagveighted average number of common sharesaodisg. The Company uses
treasury stock method for the calculation of didutarnings per share. Diluted per share amountectehe potential dilution that cot
occur if securities or other contracts to issue romm shares were exercised or converted to commareshin periods when a los:
incurred, the effect of potential issuances of sdamder options and share purchase warrants Wweudhtidilutive, and accordingly bas
and diluted loss per share are the s¢

Total assets increased between 2010 and 20hnly as a result of the Compasyincreased cash balance and continued investm
mineral properties funded by completion of privatacement equity financings. However, at August 3112, the Compang’ asse!
decreased compared to the year ending August 31, 86 a result of the weaker Rand, as assetsaamriB@and in our South Africi
subsidiaries were converted to their Canadian dedilue at year ent

The Company transitioned to IFRS from Canadian GAeffective September 1, 2011. Therefore, the firrinformation for the ye:
ending August 31, 2010 is stated in accordance @Gathadian GAAF

Quarterly Financial Information

The following table sets forth selected quarteimancial information for each of the last eight daes.

Quarter Ending ©® Interest & Other Income @ Net (Loss) Basic (Loss) Earnings
Income (2) per Share
August 31, 201; $ 823,41 ($3,560,51) ($0.02)
May 31, 2012 $ 959,32 ($2,206,47) ($0.07)
February 29, 201 $ 1,078,121 $ 498,100 $ 0.0C
November 30, 201 $ 1,083,00. ($5,320,03) ($0.09)
August 31, 201: $ 1,805,07. $ 352,45( $ 0.01
May 31, 2011 $ 1,084,64i ($2,619,60) ($0.0J)
February 28, 201 $ 730,64( ($2,289,89) ($0.07)
November 30, 201 $ 164,93 ($4,335,20) ($0.09)

Explanatory Notes:

@

@)

The Company earned interest income from intereatifig accounts. Quarterly interest income was high€011 and 2012 than in p
years due to higher cash balances on hand. Thedeatd funds held in Rand can also affect the amolimterest earned, as Rand bala
earn significantly higher rates of interest than ba earned at present in Canadian dol

Net (loss) income by quarter is often materiallfeefed by the timing and recognition of large -cash income, expense or wri-
charges. It is also significantly impacted by thevement of the Rand against the Canadian dollah@sCompany holds a signific:
portion of its cash in Rand, which must be tramslab Canadian dollars for financial statementgmegtion. The foreign exchange los
which had greatly affected the net losses in pojigarters were relatively stable in the quarter dntlegust 31, 2012 resulting in a m
normalized net loss. However, the net loss was ateplaby the write down an item of property, plamd @quipment for $0.44 million. T
quarter ended May 31, 2012 included a foreign exgbdoss of $1.90 which was due to the weakenintp®fRand against the Canac
dollar. In the quarter ended February 29, 2012 ntbgement of the rate had an opposite effect rieguih a gain on foreign exchange
$1.73 million. The quarter ended November 30, 2@tllded a foreign exchange loss of $3.2 milliortreesRand weakened in that qua



The quarter end November 30, 2011 also includedrecash expense for stock based compensation of $iilfidn. The quarter end:
August 31, 2011 included a foreign exchange los$3087 million due to the movement of the Rand @staihe Canadian dollar and
accrual for a future income tax recovery of $2.0llion related to mineral property expenditureseTquarter ended May 31, 2011 inclu
a non-cash charge for stock based compensatidreiarhount of $2.9 million. The quarter ended Noven8D, 2010 included a narast
charge for stock based compensation in the amd$8.6 million.
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B) Dividends

The Company has never declared nor paid dividemdiésocommon shares. The Company has no presemttio of paying dividends on
common shares, as it anticipates that all avaitfabilds will be invested to finance its business.

C) Trend Information

Other than the financial obligations as set ouhimtable provided at Item F) below, there are emands or commitments that will result in
that are reasonably likely to result in, the Companiquidity either increasing or decreasing at preér in the foreseeable future. The Com;
will require additional capital in the future to eteboth its contractual and napntractual project related expenditures. It iskety that the
Company will generate sufficient operating cashvfto meet all of these expenditures in the fordsieefuture. Accordingly, the Company v
need to raise additional capital through debt fomag, by issuance of securities, or by a sale oinpang of project interests in order to mee
ongoing cash requirements. See discussions aBitéth“Results of Operations” above and at item“Eiquidity and Capital Resources” below.

D) Related Party Transactions

During the year, $168,000 (August 31, 201191 $00) was paid to independent directors for tlmscfees and services. At August 31, 2
$34,000 was included in accounts payable (Augusg311 - $15,000).

During the year, the Company provided accountiegretarial and reception services at market rateddy-today administration and account

to Nextraction Energy Corp. (Nextraction ), a company with three directors in common (R. Mi¢hlmes, Frank Hallam and Eric Carls:
Fees received have been credited by the Compangsadgs own administrative costs. The Company iketkservice fees of $139,700 (2011 -
$126,000) during the period from Nextraction.

During the year, the Company provided accountiegretarial and reception services at market rateddy-today administration and account
to West Kirkland Mining (“WKM ”), a company with three directors in common (R. Mi¢hlmes, Frank Hallam and Eric Carlson) and
common officers (R. Michael Jones and Frank Halldrags received have been credited by the Commgaigst its own administrative costs.
Company received service fees of $102,000 (20102 $H00) during the period from WKM.

During the year ended August 31, 2005, the Compentgred into an office lease agreement with Anthéanks Ltd. (“ Anthem "), a compan
with a director in common (Eric Carlson). Duringthear, the Company accrued or paid Anthem $125)Ad@r the office lease agreement (2
- $86,884).

All of the above transactions are in the normalrsewf business and were completed and measuestiragted market rates.
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E) Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement
The Company does not have any special purposéesmiibr is it party to any off-balance sheet aresngnts.
F) Liquidity and Capital Resources

Accounts receivable at year end totaled $4.70 anil{jAugust 31, 2011 -1$84 million) being comprised mainly of value addaxles refundable
South Africa and amounts owed by joint venturepent. Accounts payable and accrued liabilitieseaiod end totaled $7.78 million (August
2011 - $5.98 million).

Apart from net interest earned on cash depositiglithe year ended August 31, 2012 of $3.94 mill(dngust 31, 2011 - %79 million), the
Company had no sources of income. The Compapyimary source of capital has been from the msseiaf equity. At August 31, 2012 -
Company had unrestricted cash and cash equivaenitend of $17.67 million compared to $64.12 milliat August 31, 2011. The decreas
cash since the comparative year is primarily duthéoCompanys expenditures on Project 1 and to ongoing ger@@ladministration costs.
August 31, 2012 exchange rates, and includingéstezarned, an additional cash balance of $30.85tbm{Aug 31, 2011 - 7.72) remained
escrow in a restricted cash account on behalf ofitMee. To August 31, 2012, a total of $19 milligku@ust 31, 2011 —%5 million) has bee
applied from escrow against Wesizwe’s 26% sham@gct expenditures.

During the year ended August 31, 2012, the Compssyed no common shares (August 31, 2083,619,750); therefore, cash proceeds di
the period were Nil (August 31, 2011 138.77 million). The proceeds in the period endedust 31, 2011 resulted primarily from a bought
financing, including an oveallotment, for gross proceeds of $143.81 milliontbe issue of 70.15 million shares. Issue costdudting a 5.59
commission to the Agents and their legal costsledt$8.44 million. Cash proceeds from equity iesea are primarily spent on mineral prop
and surface right acquisitions, exploration andettggment as well as for general working capitalppges. The balance of cash outflows is r
up of management and consulting fees and salanelsother general and administrative expenses.

Proceeds from the 2010 financing were used to aequifurther 19.25% interest in Maseve for subsiong in the amount of R408.8 milli
(approximately $59 million as of January 14, 201figreby increasing the Compasyghareholding in Maseve to 74%. According to g1 o
the April 22, 2010 reorganization of the WBJV, asend above, this subscription amount was placea éstrow in Maseve in order to fu
Wesizwes 26% ongoing share of project costs. The Compsaysd in the process of funding its 74% share Phase 1 development budgel
Project 1 of US$100 million into Maseve, with apgrately US$60 million funded by the Company toedat

A tabular reconciliation of the approximate actuaé of proceeds versus the planned use of proesedtated in the prospectus from the :
$143.81 million financing follows:

(in thousands of dollar:

Use of Proceeds Per 20 Approximate Actual Use

Short Form Prospectus of Proceeds
Offering
Maseve Subscription Rig $ 60,10 $ 59,47(
Project 1 Development Progre 48,28t 51,82t
Surface right and facilities (Project 17,21( 17,08’
General (working capital and corporate co 10,00( 6,98
Underwriter fee and other related costs 8,201 8,441

26



Platinum Group Metals Ltc

(Exploration and Development Stage Compse
Supplementary Information and MD&

For the year ended August 31, 2(

(in thousands of dollar:

Use of Proceeds Per 201 Approximate Actual Use
Short Form Prospectus of Proceeds
Offering

$ 143,805 $ 143,80!

The Company receives lump sum cash advances ausgdimes as laid out in agreed budgets from itspes to cover the costs of joint vent
projects.

The following table discloses the Compasgontinuing obligations for optional mineral prageacquisition payments and contracted office
equipment lease obligations. Apart from a posdillg-out of the War Springs and Tweespalk projects, Wioiptional acquisition payments
included in explanatory notes to the following tgbthe Company has no other property acquisitioomgats due to vendors under min
property option agreements. The Company has notemgdebt or loan obligations.

Payments by period in Canadian Dollars

Total <1 1-3 3-5 >5
Year Years Years Years
Payments (War Springs & Tweespa!) $ 77620 $ 1520¢ $ 3041¢ $  1520¢ $ -
Lease Obligation 285,46( 113,58: 140,30 - -
Eskon_Power(z) 10,643,82 10,643,82 - - -
Insurance contrac 205,88¢ 72,66 60,55¢ - -
Other miscellaneot 110,33¢ - - - -
Totals $11,091,77 $10,84528 $ 231,28 $ 15,20¢ $ -

Explanatory Notes:

(D) The Company pays annual prospecting fees tovéinelors of US$3.25 per hectare. The Company ha®pption to settle the vendors’
residual interests in these mineral rights at ang for US$690 per hectar

2) The Companyg project operating subsidiary Maseve has entereda long term electricity supply agreement witBKEOM. Under th
agreement the Company is scheduled to receive cbaneand service for a 10 MVA construction powapply in 2013 and a total -
MVA production power supply in later calendar 20@3xchange for remaining connection fees and gitiees totaling Rand 90,508,°
($10,643,827 at August 31, 201

Cash at August 31, 2012 is sufficient to fund théneated general and development operations dftrepany for calendar 2012 and into the
calendar quarter of 2013. However, the Company doéesave adequate funds to satisfy all of its pémhfinancial requirements for the nex
months relating to the exploration, development apdration of its projects, and has insufficiemds to complete construction of the min
Project 1. The Company therefore requires additibnancing from external sources, such as delatrfaing, equity financing or joint ventures
order to meet such requirements and carry oututued development of its projects and external ghoepportunities. The success and the pr
of any such capital raising and/or debt financirtj be dependent upon the prevailing market condgiat that time. There can be no assul
that such financing will be available to the Compan if it is available, that it will be offerechcacceptable terms.

As discussed elsewhere herein, the Company is repehki secure the Project Loan Facility for Mase#e.the present time, no bindi
commitments have been signed by the Lenders wihex to the Project Loan Facility. As at the dztéhis MD&A, credit committee approv
by the Lenders is not yet in place. If credit comtes approval is obtained, commitment from the lezads expected to follow, following whi
the Project Loan Facility may advance to negotiatié definitive documentation. However, the Lendars under no obligation to provide
Project Loan Facility on any particular set of terrar at all. The completion of the Project Loawilg is subject to a number of risks, includi
without limitation, risks relating to changes inngeal market conditions, the condition of the Comypar its properties, and economic, socie
political conditions in South Africa. No assurancas be given that such facility will be consumrdade@ any particular timeline or on the te
described herein, or at all. In addition, fundingder the Project Loan Facility, if consummatedexpected to be subject to certain conditi
including, without limitation, that the Company see additional equity funding, execute a conceatodf-take agreement, acquire and maintai
requisite permits and licences and establish apegigmetals hedging program. The Company may belainabsatisfy such conditions
favourable terms, or at all. In particular, if tReoject Loan Facility is consummated, any inabitifthe Company or Wesizwe to fund its requ
equity contributions thereunder will prevent furgliand utilization of such facility and may result a default thereunder, or in the cas
Wesizwe being unable to fund, the Company may eired to fund the shortfall to avoid a default enduch facility.
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Even if the Project Loan Facility were to be consuated and funded in full at the proposed US$260ianjl which cannot be assured, s
amount represents only approximately 51.4% of stemated Project 1 peak funding requirements, fepain amount of approximately US$:
million left to fund including the Phase 1 US$10dlion capital budget now underway. The Companyesponsible for funding 74% of the
obligations. The Company and Wesizwe will also é&guired to provide a cost overrun facility for {hmject. Accordingly, in order to satisfy 1
Companys requirements with respect to the Project 1 chpdsat requirements and its other anticipated dpeyaand administrative costs,
Company must seek additional financing in late rdde 2012 or early 2013. Any failure by the Compaayobtain required financing
acceptable terms could cause the Company to delegi@pment of its material projects or result ia @ompany being forced to sell some ¢
assets on an untimely or unfavourable basis. A slelay or sale could have a material adverseteffie the Company’ financial conditior
results of operations and liquidity.

G) Outstanding Share Data

The Company has an unlimited number of common shawéhorized for issuance without par value. At daid31, 2012, there were 177,584,
common shares outstanding, 13,759,500 incentivak stptions outstanding at exercise prices of $1004.40. At November 22, 2012, there v
177,584,542 common shares outstanding and 16,8B3r&@ntive stock options outstanding. During thegiqad ending August 31, 2012,
Company made no changes to the exercise pricetsthoaling options through cancellation and re-goamtherwise.

4, RISK FACTORS

The Company’s securities should be considered layhgpeculative investment due to the nature ofGbepanys business and present stag
exploration and development of its mineral progsrtResource exploration and development is a Eie®ubusiness, characterized by a nur
of significant risks including, among other thingsprofitable efforts resulting not only from thedléire to discover mineral deposits but also 1
finding mineral deposits, which, though preserg, iasufficient in quantity or quality to return eofit from production. Investors should carefi
consider all of the information disclosed in then@anys Canadian and U.S. regulatory filings prior to imgkan investment in the Compa
Without limiting the foregoing, the following ristactors should be given special consideration wdaluating an investment in the Company’
securities. Additional risks not currently knowntkee Company, or that the Company currently deenmsaterial, may also impair the Compasny’
operations.

28




Platinum Group Metals Ltc

(Exploration and Development Stage Compse
Supplementary Information and MD&

For the year ended August 31, 2(

Risks Relating to our Company

The Companys current cash will not be sufficient to fund itsusiness as currently planned for the next 12 monthasd the Company therefo
requires additional financing, which may not be ail@ble on acceptable terms, if at all.

The Company currently does not have adequate ftmmdatisfy all of its planned financial requiren®ifidr the next 12 months relating to
exploration, development and operation of its prtgieThe Company therefore requires additionalniéiteg from external sources, such as
financing, equity financing or joint ventures, irder to meet such requirements and carry out theduevelopment of its projects and exte
growth opportunities. The success and the pricingny such capital raising and/or debt financing) e dependent upon the prevailing ma
conditions at that time. There can be no assurtratesuch financing will be available to the Compan, if it is available, that it will be offerech
acceptable terms. If additional financing is raisesbugh the issuance of equity or convertible dedaturities of the Company, this may ha
depressive effect on the price of the Common Sharddhe interests of shareholders in the netas$éihe Company may be diluted.

The Company is seeking to secure the Project Leanilify for Maseve. At the present time, no bindicgmmitments have been signed by
Lenders with respect to the Project Loan Facilitye Lenders are under no obligation to provideRhgject Loan Facility on the terms descri
in this MD&A, or at all. The completion of the Peaj Loan Facility on the terms described in this &#Dis subject to a number of risl
including, without limitation, risks relating to ahges in general market conditions, the conditioth@® Company or its properties, and econao
social or political conditions in South Africa. Nssurances can be given that such facility wiltbesummated on the timeline or on the te
described herein, or at all. In addition, fundingder the Project Loan Facility, if consummatedgxpected to be subject to certain conditi
including, without limitation, that the Company see additional equity funding, execute a conceatdodf-take agreement, acquire and maintai
requisite permits and licences and establish apegigmetals hedging program. The Company may belainabsatisfy such conditions
favourable terms, or at all. In particular, if tReoject Loan Facility is consummated, any inabitifthe Company or Wesizwe to fund its requ
equity contributions thereunder will prevent furgliand utilization of such facility and may resuit & default thereunder, or in the cas
Wesizwe being unable to fund, the Company may geired to fund the shortfall to avoid a default enduch facility.

Any failure by the Company to obtain required fiogg on acceptable terms could cause the Compamelaty development of its mate
projects or could result in the Company being fdrte sell some of its assets on an untimely orwmieable basis. Any such delay or sale c
have a material adverse effect on the Companyaniiral condition, results of operations and liqtyidi

The Company has a history of losses, and it antitgs continuing to incur losses for the foreseeahléure.

Apart from income for the year ended August 31,@261.$26.66 million, the Company has a historyasfses. None of the Compasyropertie
are currently in production, and there is no catyathat the Company will succeed in placing anyitefproperties into production in the n
future, if at all.

The Company anticipates continued losses for theséeable future until it can successfully place onmore of its properties into commer
production on a profitable basis. It could be yelaefore the Company receives any revenues frompaogluction of metals, if ever. If t
Company is unable to generate significant reverwiéls respect to its properties, the Company wilt be able to earn profits or contir
operations.

The Company may not be able to continue as a gaingcern.

The Company has limited financial resources andperating revenues. The Compangbility to continue as a going concern is depehdpon
among other things, the Company establishing comialeguantities of mineral reserves on its progsrand obtaining the necessary financir
develop and profitably produce such minerals deradtively, disposing of its interests on a padfle basis. Any unexpected costs, problen
delays could severely impact the Compangbility to continue exploration and developmaestivities. Should the Company be unable to con
as a going concern, realization of assets andeswdtit of liabilities in other than the normal ceusf business may be at amounts mate
different than the Company’s estimates. The amoatttibuted to the Compars/’exploration properties in its financial statersergpresel
acquisition and exploration costs and should ndtken to represent realizable value.
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Most of the Compar’s properties contain no known mineral reserves.

Other than with respect to the Project 1 platinumenall of the Compang’ properties are in the exploration stage, meathiagthe Company h
not determined whether such properties contain rairreserves that are economically recoverable. Gtmpany may never discover metal
commercially exploitable quantities at these prtper Failure to discover economically recoverabkerves on a mineral property will require
Company to write-off the costs capitalized for thedperty in its financial statements.

Substantial additional work will be required in erdo determine if any economic deposits existen@ompanys properties outside of the Pro|
1 platinum mine. Substantial expenditures are requio establish mineral reserves through drilang metallurgical and other testing technig
No assurance can be given that any level of regasfeany mineral reserves will be realized or thiay identified mineral deposit will ever qua
as a commercial mineable ore body that can beljegatl economically exploited.

The Company’s properties, including the Project tafinum mine, may not be brought into a state oframercial production.

Development of mineral properties involves a higigree of risk and few properties that are expla@ed ultimately developed into produc
mines. The commercial viability of a mineral depdésidependent upon a number of factors which ay@id the Compang’control, including tr
attributes of the deposit, commodity prices, goweent policies and regulation and environmentalgatidn. Fluctuations in the market price:
minerals may render reserves and deposits congargiatively lower grades of mineralization uneamim The development of the Compasny’
properties, including the Project 1 platinum mind] require obtaining land use consents, permitd the construction and operation of mi
processing plants and related infrastructure. Agsalt, the Company is subject to all of the risissociated with establishing new mir
operations, including:

e the timing and cost, which can be considerabl¢h@fonstruction of mining and processing faciitiand related infrastructure;

e the availability and cost of skilled labour and mmequipment;

e the availability and cost of appropriate smeltimgl/ar refining arrangements;

e the need to obtain necessary environmental and gthvernmental approvals and permits, and the grofrthose approvals and permits;

e the availability of funds to finance constructiamdadevelopment activities;

e potential opposition from nogevernmental organizations, environmental group®aal groups which may delay or prevent develop
activities; and

e potential increases in construction and operatosyscdue to changes in the cost of fuel, powerernads and supplies and foreign exche
rates.
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The costs, timing and complexities of mine congtoucand development are increased by the remotgitm of the Compang’mining propertie
(other than Project 1 and Project 3 which are aptately located and has both power and water suimgly crossing the property), with additic
challenges related thereto, including water and gvosupply and other support infrastructure. Formg)a, water resources are scarce a
Companys Waterberg Project. If the Company should decidenine at the Waterberg Project, it will have tdabish sources of water &
develop the infrastructure required to transpoitewto the project area. Similarly, the Company méled to secure a suitable location by purc
or long-term lease of surface or access rightseaWaterberg Project to establish the surfacegigatessary to mine and process.

It is common in new mining operations to experiennexpected costs, problems and delays during diewelnt, construction and mine ramp-
Accordingly, there are no assurances that the Compgroperties, including the Project 1 platinum minéll be brought into a state
commercial production.

Estimates of mineral reserves and mineral resourees based on interpretation and assumptions ane arherently imprecise

The mineral resource and mineral reserve estintate®ined in this MD&A have been determined andiedlbased on assumed future prices, cut
off grades and operating costs. However, until mihdeposits are actually mined and processed,ralineserves and mineral resources mu
considered as estimates only. Any such estimatesxgressions of judgment based on knowledge, miexperience, analysis of drilling res
and industry practices. Estimates can be impremigkdepend upon geological interpretation andssizl inferences drawn from drilling a
sampling analysis, which may prove to be unreliall@ddition, the grade and/or quantity of presiowetals ultimately recovered may differ f
that indicated by drilling results. There can beassurance that precious metals recovered in swalk- tests will be duplicated in largeale tes
under onsite conditions or in production scale. Extendedides in market prices for platinum, palladiumedium and gold may render portic
of the Companys mineralization uneconomic and result in reduegbrted mineralization. Amendments to the mine pkamd production profils
may be required as the amount of resources chamgagon receipt of further information during theplementation phase of the project. ,
material reductions in estimates of mineralizatmnof the Company ability to extract this mineralization, could lkeaa material adverse effect
the Companys results of operations or financial condition. Téféect of any reductions in estimates at the Rtoje platinum mine may |
exacerbated given the relatively small size ofdbposit and short mine life of the project.

Actual capital costs, operating costs, productiondaeconomic returns may differ significantly fromhbse the Company has anticipated ¢
there are no assurances that any future developmactivities will result in profitable mining operans.

The capital costs to take the Company’s projedis pmoduction may be significantly higher than eipiited. None of the Compasyminera
properties has an operating history upon whichGbmpany can base estimates of future operating.cbstisions about the development of
Companys mineral properties will ultimately be based upeasibility studies. Feasibility studies deriveimsites of cash operating costs bz
upon, among other things:

e anticipated tonnage, grades and metallurgical cheriatics of the ore to be mined and processed;
e anticipated recovery rates of metals from the ore;
e cash operating costs of comparable facilities anpdpenent; and

e anticipated climatic conditions.

Capital costs, operating costs, production and @odn returns, and other estimates contained inietudr estimates prepared by or for
Company, may differ significantly from those anpizied by the Comparg/current studies and estimates, and there cao lbsgsurance that t
Companys actual capital and operating costs will not kghér than currently anticipated. For example, dpggacosts per tonne at the Proje
platinum mine are estimated to have increased byoapmately 24% since the 2009 UFS, principallyaasesult of increased prices for labi
power and consumables, such as drill steel, rotifbexplosives and fuel. In addition, constructioosts at the Project 1 platinum mine
estimated to have increased by approximately 14%esthe 2009 UFS, primarily as a result of incrdalsdour, construction and cap
equipment costs. As a result of higher capital @perating costs, production and economic returng diféer significant from those the Compe
has anticipated.

31




Platinum Group Metals Ltc

(Exploration and Development Stage Compse
Supplementary Information and MD&

For the year ended August 31, 2(

The Company is subject to the risk of fluctuatioimsthe relative values of the Canadian Dollar asropared to the South African Rand and t
United States Dollar.

The Company may be adversely affected by foreigreaay fluctuations. The Company is primarily fudd@rough equity investments into
Company denominated in Canadian Dollars. In thenabcourse of business the Company enters intsdions for the purchase of supplies
services denominated in South African Rand. The @om also has assets, cash and certain liabititasminated in South African Rand. Sev
of the Companys options to acquire properties or surface rightSaouth Africa may result in payments by the Comypdenominated in Sou
African Rand or in U.S. Dollars. Exploration, demginent and administrative costs to be funded byGbmpany in South Africa will also
denominated in South African Rand. Fluctuationshim exchange rates between the Canadian Dollathen8outh African Rand or U.S. Dol
may have a material adverse effect on the Compgdimnancial results. During the year ended AugustZD12, the Company recorded a for
currency translation adjustment of approximately #8llion as a loss in other comprehensive incowtgch was primarily the result of translat
the Companys Rand denominated assets and liabilities in Safriba, and cash balances held in Rand, at weakarange rates to the Rand fr
Canadian Dollars at fiscal year-end on August 8122

In addition, South Africa has in the past expergshdouble digit rates of inflation. If South Afriexperiences substantial inflation in the fut
the Companys costs in South African Rand terms will increagmificantly, subject to movements in applicablecleaxnge rates. Inflatione
pressures may also curtail the Company’s abilitya¢cess global financial markets in the longem and its ability to fund planned cag
expenditures, and could materially adversely affeet Companys business, financial condition and results of api@ns. The South Afric:
governmens response to inflation or other significant magoconomic pressures may include the introductiopabties or other measures t
could increase the Compansytosts, reduce operating margins and materiaieradly affect its business, financial conditiord aesults c
operations.

Metal prices are subject to change, and a substaintir extended decline in such prices could matdlsiscand adversely affect the value of 1
Company’s mineral properties and potential futuresults of operations and cash flows.

Metal prices have historically been subject to siggnt price fluctuations. No assurance may beegithat metal prices will remain stal
Significant price fluctuations over short periodsime may be generated by numerous factors bettmmdontrol of the Company, including:

e domestic and international economic and politicahds;
e expectations of inflation;

e currency exchange fluctuations;

e interest rates;

e global or regional consumption patterns;
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e speculative activities; and

e increases or decreases in production due to imgroweing and production methods.

Significant or continued reductions or volatility metal prices may have an adverse effect on timep@oy’s business, including the amount of
Company’s mineral reserves, the economic attractise of the Company’s projects, the Comparghility to obtain financing and deve
projects and, if the Company’s projects enter ttoglpction phase, the amount of the Company’s res®ou profit or loss.

Judgments based upon the civil liability provision§the United States federal securities laws maydifficult to enforce.

The ability of investors to enforce judgments ofitdd States courts based upon the civil liabilitgyisions of the United States federal secui
laws against the Company, its directors and officand the experts named herein may be limitedaltiee fact that the Company is incorpori
outside of the United States, a majority of sudleators, officers, and experts reside outside efUhited States and their assets may be lo
outside the United States. There is uncertaintip aghether foreign courts would: (a) enforce judgtseof United States courts obtained ag:
the Company, its directors and officers or the elspapamed herein predicated upon the civil liapifirovisions of the United States fed:
securities laws; or (b) entertain original actidmsught in Canadian courts against the Companyuoh persons predicated upon the fec
securities laws of the United States, as such taays conflict with Canadian laws.

The Company will be required to provide a guaranigeder the Project Loan Facility, if consummated drsecured.

Maseve is currently negotiating and seeking to ieeuProject Loan Facility. The Company expects$ slieh facility, if consummated anc
secured, will obligate the Company to provide argntee of the obligations of Maseve thereunderiadilectly pledge its 74% interest in -
capital of Maseve. Maseve holds the Mining Righttte Project 1 platinum mine. It is expected thet terms of the Project Loan Faci
agreements, if consummated and if secured, wileharious covenants, including financial tests thast be satisfied during the term of
Project Loan Facility. There can be no assuranaé shch tests will be satisfied. Any default untter Project Loan Facility, including a
covenants thereunder, could result in the losk®fQompany’s entire interest in Maseve and thecetdj platinum mine.

There may be a delay in the staup of the Project 1 platinum mine, which could rel§un a default under the Project Loan Facility,
consummated and secured.

The anticipated timelines for the completion of &h& and Phase 2 of the development of the Prbjeletinum mine and the commencement
ramp-up of production may prove to be inaccuraimelines are based on managemeotirrent expectations and may be affected by ébaum
factors, including consultantginalyses and recommendations, the rate at whicbneiqpres are incurred, delays in construction deles
availability of major equipment and personnel ahe €Company’s ability to obtain requisite fundingrmits and licences and the Company’
ability to execute necessary agreements, some igchvilactors are beyond the Company’s control, ahithvcould cause managementimeline:
not to be realized. It is common for mining proget experience unexpected costs, problems angsdélay delay in the startp of the Project
platinum mine could have a material adverse effacthe Company financial condition and prospects. A delay map aksult in a default unc
the Project Loan Facility, if consummated and seduwhich may accelerate amounts due thereundepamdit the Lenders to realise on
applicable security thereunder. This could resulh icomplete loss of the Compamyhivestment in Maseve. There is no assurancerbatanc
for any delay in stantip at the Project 1 platinum mine will be availatdethe Company on economic terms or in such ansoastwould kt
adequate to cover all losses.
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If the Company is unable to retain key members aimagement, the Compa’s business might be harmed.

The Companys development to date has depended, and in theefwill continue to depend, on the efforts of iksi®r management including:
Michael Jones, President and Chief Executive Offaned a director of the Company; Frank R. Hallarhie€ Financial Officer and Corpor:
Secretary and a director of the Company; and Brtese, Chief Operating Officer of the Company. Teenpany currently does not, and does
intend to, have key person insurance for thesevithaiils. Departures by members of senior managecmit have a negative impact on
Companys business, as the Company may not be able tcstiitdble personnel to replace departing manageoreattimely basis or at all. T
loss of any member of the senior management teard émpair the Compang’ ability to execute its business plan and coukdetore have
material adverse effect on the Company’s businessits of operations and financial condition.

If the Company is unable to procure the servicesséfiled and experienced personnel, the Comp’s business might be harmed.

There is currently a shortage of skilled and exgered personnel in the mining industry in Southicafr The competition for skilled a
experienced employees is exacerbated by the fattnining companies operating in South Africa agally obliged to recruit and ret:
historically disadvantaged South Africans and womh the relevant skills and experience at leikl meet the transformation objectives
out in the MPRDA and the Broad-Based Socio-Econdamgpowerment Charter for the South African Minimgllistry (“ Mining Charter ).
Skilled and experienced personnel are especialpoitant at the Project 1 platinum mine since thpodié does not lend itself to mechani
methods. If the Company is unable to attract atginesufficiently trained, skilled or experiencedrgonnel, its business may suffer and it
experience significantly higher staff or contractasts, which could have a material adverse effecits business, results of operations
financial condition.

Conflicts of interest may arise among the Compasyofficers and directors as a result of their inw@iment with other mineral resour
companies.

Certain of the Compang’officers and directors are, and others may becassociated with other natural resource compdh#&sacquire interes
in mineral properties. R. Michael Jones, Presigemt Chief Executive Officer and a director of thenfpany, is also the President and C
Executive Officer and a director of WKM, a publionapany with mineral exploration properties in Oitaand Nevada, and a director
Nextraction, a public company with oil properties Alberta, Kentucky and Wyoming. Frank Hallam, Ghitenancial Officer and Corpore
Secretary, and a director of the Company, is aldioeztor, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate®@tary of WKM and a director of MAG Silv
Corp. (“ MAG Silver ™), a public company with mineral exploration propestia Mexico, Lake Shore Gold Corp., a public comparith
producing and exploration properties in Ontariaj &lextraction. Eric Carlson, a director of the Camp, is also a director of MAG Silver, WK
and Nextraction. Barry Smee, a director of the Camyp is also a director of Almaden Minerals Ltd.¢gampany with projects in Mexico, t
United States and Canada.

Such associations may give rise to conflicts afriest from time to time. As a result of these pigoonflicts of interests, the Company may r
the opportunity to participate in certain transams$i, which may have a material adverse effect @en QGQompanys financial position. T
Companys directors are required by law to act honestly iangood faith with a view to the best intereststttdé Company and to disclose
interest that they may have in any project or oppoty of the Company. If a subject involving a @an of interest arises at a meeting of the b
of directors, any director in a conflict must desz his interest and abstain from voting on suctiema
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Any disputes or disagreements with the Comg’s joint venture partners could materially and adeely affect the Company’s business.

The Company participates in joint ventures and mater into other similar arrangements in the futlf&M RSA is a party to a shareholders’
agreement with Wesizwe (through its subsidiary &friVide) and Maseve (theMaseve Shareholder's Agreement) related to the explorati
and development of Project 1 and Project 3. Cert@@mbers of the management and boards of direatdfisiseve are nominated by Africa Wi
Although the Company has majority control of Masewel its board of directors, there is no assursimaethe strategic direction of Project :
Project 3 will always be consistent with the Comparobjectives. In addition, PTM RSA is also a paotya letter agreement with JOGMEC
Mnombo related to the exploration and developménihe Waterberg Project, whereby the interesthefCGompany, JOGMEC and Mnombo
37%, 37% and 26%, respectively. PTM RSA is als® &% shareholder of Mnombo and the relationshipragrtbe shareholders of Mnomb
governed by a formal shareholders’ agreement. Axayge in the management or strategic directiomefar more of the Compargyjoint ventur
partners, including any disagreement among the Mimosthareholders, could materially adversely affeetCompanys business and results
operations. Additionally, if a dispute arises bedswaghe Company and a joint venture partner or therdnombo shareholders that cannc
resolved amicably, the Company may be unable toeniisvprojects forward and may be involved in léygand costly proceedings to resolve
dispute, which could materially and adversely dffae Company’s business and results of operations.

The failure of the Company or its joint venture paers to fund their respective prmata share of funds under the respective joint verds ma
have a material adverse effect on the Company’sibess and results of operations

The Company, through its subsidiaries, participatefint ventures with various partners. In partér, PTM RSA is a party to the Masi
Shareholdes Agreement with Wesizwe (through its subsidiaryicd Wide) and Maseve related to the exploratioth development of Project
and Project 3. Under the terms of the Maseve Shitelis Agreement, the board of directors of Maseve makertash calls on PTM RSA ¢
Africa Wide to meet project expenditures, which determined annually and adjusted each quarterdbasea review of Maseve’financia
performance and progress. Such cash calls are hoalde in proportion to the joint venture partnestsareholdings in Maseve. In the event
PTM RSA or Africa Wide declines or fails to contiik its prorata share of a cash call, its respective intdreélaseve would be diluted
proportion to the shortfall.

In addition, PTM RSA, the Company (as guarantoP®M RSA), Mnombo and JOGMEC are parties to the JEGM\greement, which gover
the joint venture in respect of the Waterberg Rittojender the JOGMEC Agreement, PTM RSA, Mnombo a@&MEC may elect to ful
programs that have been approved by a managemmmittee composed of a representative of each ofrite joint venture partners, provic
that voting power for each representative is propoal to the respective joint venture partsdriterest. In the event that PTM RSA, Mnomb
JOGMEC fails to contribute its respective pata share of program costs after electing to fapdogram, or twice elects not to fund a prog
then its respective participating interest in thietj venture will be diluted in proportion to thiecstfall. If the interest of one or more of the toare
is reduced to less than 10%, or if one or morehefpartners elects not to fund a program to achiewemercial production, then the dilu
partner’s or partnerghterest will be deemed transferred to the remaimpartner(s) and such diluted partner(s) will bétled to a 1.0% NS
royalty in the aggregate. Thus, if only one parisatiluted below 10%, it will receive the entird@% NSR royalty, but if two or more partners
each diluted below 10%, then they will share tf¥4ANSR royalty.

In addition, because the development of the Comigajoint venture projects depends on the abilitfirtance further operations, any inability
the Company or one or more of its joint venturetnens to fund its respective prata cash call could adversely affect the succedgapplicabl
joint venture. The occurrence of the foregoingwa#i as any dilution of the Compa’s interests in its joint venture(s) as a resultobwn failure
to satisfy a cash call, may have a material adwefifeet on the Company’s business and results efatjpns.
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There may be adverse Canadian tax consequencea foreign controlled Canadian company that acquir€@mmon Shares of the Company

Certain adverse tax considerations may be appédabh shareholder that is a corporation reside@anada and is, or becomes, controlled
non-resident corporation for the purposes of tteppsed “foreign affiliate dumping” rules in thiecome Tax Acf{Canada). Such shareholc
should consult their tax advisors with respech®mdonsequences of acquiring Common Shares.

The Company is likely a “passive foreign investmergmpany”, which may have adverse U.S. federal income tax empsgnces for U.¢
shareholders

U.S. investors in the Common Shares should be athatethe Company believes it was classified asssige foreign investment company (“
PFIC ") during the tax year ended August 31, 2012, anddbarecurrent business plans and financial expectstithe Company expects thi
will be a PFIC for the current tax year and mayableFIC in future tax years. If the Company is a@Pfer any year during a U.S. shareholder’
holding period, then such U.S. shareholder genevéll be required to treat any gain realized ugodisposition of Common Shares, or any so-
called “excess distributionfeceived on its Common Shares, as ordinary incand,to pay an interest charge on a portion of gah ol
distributions, unless the shareholder makes a yiraptl effective “qualified electing fund” electigh QEF Election ”) or a “mark-to-market”
election with respect to the Common Shares. A sh8reholder who makes a QEF Election generally nepstrt on a current basis its share o
Companys net capital gain and ordinary earnings for angryie which the Company is a PFIC, whether or haet Company distributes a
amounts to its shareholders. A U.S. shareholder mvlkes the mark-toarket election generally must include as ordiriacpme each year t
excess of the fair market value of the Common Shaver the taxpayes'basis therein. Each U.S. shareholder should tdtsown tax advisol
regarding the PFIC rules and the U.S. federal ireetan consequences of the acquisition, ownershghdasposition of Common Shares.

Risks Related to the Mining Industry

Mining is inherently dangerous and subject to cotidns or events beyond the Compis control, which could have a material adverse ef
on the Company’s business.

Hazards such as fire, explosion, floods, structamlapses, industrial accidents, unusual or unebgoegeological conditions, ground con
problems, power outages, explosions, inclementiveeatave-ins, flooding and mechanical equipmehiriaare inherent risks in the Compasy’
mining operations. These and other hazards mayecajgies or death to employees, contractors beropersons at the Compasyhinera
properties, severe damage to and destruction o€tirepanys property, plant and equipment and mineral pragserand contamination of,
damage to, the environment, and may result in tispension of the Comparsyexploration and development activities and atyréuproductio
activities. Safety measures implemented by the Gomypnay not be successful in preventing or mitigafuture accidents and the Company
not be able to obtain insurance to cover theseatigiconomically feasible premiums or at all. lasuwe against certain environmental risks it
generally available to the Company or to other canigs within the mining industry.

In addition, from time to time the Company may bbject to governmental investigations and claind l@gigation filed on behalf of persons w
are harmed while at its properties or otherwiseannection with the Compars/operations. To the extent that the Company igsttn person
injury or other claims or lawsuits in the futuremiay not be possible to predict the ultimate oote®f these claims and lawsuits due to the n
of personal injury litigation. Similarly, if the @apany is subject to governmental investigationgroceedings, the Company may incur signifi
penalties and fines, and enforcement actions aggicsuld result in the closing of certain of tkmpanys mining operations. If claims a
lawsuits or governmental investigations or procegsliare finally resolved against the Company, tbmg@anys financial performance, financ
position and results of operations could be mdtgraversely affected.
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The Company’s prospecting and mining rights are $edt to title risks.

The Companys prospecting and mining rights may be subjectrior punregistered agreements, transfers, claimstiéledmay be affected |
undetected defects. A successful challenge torbeige area and location of these claims couldtresthe Company being unable to operat:
its properties as permitted or being unable to reefats rights with respect to its properties. Thauld result in the Company not be
compensated for its prior expenditures relatintheoproperty. Title insurance is generally not kaldée for mineral properties and the Company’
ability to ensure that it has obtained secure clainrmdividual mineral properties or mining condess may be severely constrained. Thes
other defects could adversely affect the Compatityesto its properties or delay or increase thst@j the development of such prospecting rights.

The Company is subject to significant governmentegjulation.

The Companys operations and exploration and development &esvin South Africa and Canada are subject tonmsie federal, stai
provincial, territorial and local laws and regutatigoverning various matters, including:

e environmental protection;

e management and use of toxic substances and exgdpsiv

e management of tailings and other waste generatedeb@€ompany’s operations;
e management of natural resources;

e exploration, development of mines, production aastlosure reclamation;

e exports and, in South Africa, potential local béciefion quotas;

e price controls;

e taxation;

e regulations concerning business dealings with looaimunities;

e labour standards and occupational health and safetyding mine safety; and

e historic and cultural preservation.

Failure to comply with applicable laws and regula may result in civil or criminal fines or perdt or enforcement actions, including ort
issued by regulatory or judicial authorities enjogor curtailing operations or requiring correetimeasures, installation of additional equipr
or remedial actions, any of which could result Ive tCompany incurring significant expenditures. T®empany may also be required
compensate private parties suffering loss or damggeason of a breach of such laws, regulatiorgeamitting requirements. It is also poss
that future laws and regulations, or a more stmtgenforcement of current laws and regulations byegnmental authorities, could ca
additional expense, capital expenditures, restristion or suspensions of the Compangperations and delays in the development ¢
Company’s properties.

The Company may face equipment shortages, accessicdons and lack of infrastructure.

Natural resource exploration, development and rgirictivities are dependent on the availability d@fing, drilling and related equipment in
particular areas where such activities are conductdimited supply of such equipment or accessridins may affect the availability of st
equipment to the Company and may delay exploratiemelopment or extraction activities. Certain equent may not be immediately availa
or may require long lead time orders. A delay itaghing necessary equipment for mineral exploratinaluding drill rigs, could have a mate
adverse effect on the Company'’s operations anddiaaresults.
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Mining, processing, development and explorationvéigs also depend, to one degree or anotherheravailability of adequate infrastructt
Reliable roads, bridges, power sources, fuel anterwsupply and the availability of skilled laboundaother infrastructure are import
determinants that affect capital and operating scoét each of the Comparg/’projects, additional infrastructure will be regdi prior tc
commencement of mining. At Project 1, the Compamgbst advanced project, the Company is in thegsof securing additional infrastructi
including additional power and water; however, satforts are subject to a number of risks, inclgdiisks related to inflation, cost overruns
delays, political opposition, and reliance upomdtparties, many of which factors are outside tlenSanys control. The lack of availability «
acceptable terms or the delay in the availabilftgroy one or more of these items could preventetayddevelopment of the Company’s projects.

Exploration of mineral properties is less intrusigad generally requires fewer surface and acigistsy than properties developed for mining.
Company believes that it has the necessary suafecess rights to develop Project 1; however, thm@2omy has not secured any surface rigt
the Waterberg Project other than those accesssrigpislated by the MPRDA. If a decision is madeal¢évelop the Waterberg Project, or o
projects in which the Company has yet to securej@ate surface rights, the Company will need to esuch rights. No assurances ca
provided that the Company will be able to securpiired surface rights on favourable terms, or htfaly failure by the Company to sec
surface rights could prevent or delay developmétitie@Company’s projects.

The Company’'s operations are subject to environnaraws and regulations that may increase the Compa costs of doing business a
restrict its operations.

Environmental legislation on a global basis is ew in a manner that will ensure stricter standadd enforcement, increased fines and per
for noncompliance, more stringent environmental assessaoigrrbposed development and a higher level ofaesibility for companies and th
officers, directors and employees. Compliance witiironmental laws and regulations may requireiiggmt capital outlays on behalf of 1
Company and may cause material changes or delaffseilCompanys intended activities. There can be no assurareteftiure changes
environmental legislation in Canada or South Afrigd not adversely affect the Compasyoperations. Environmental hazards may exist e
Companys properties which are unknown at present and whéslke been caused by previous or existing owneoperators. Furthermore, futi
compliance with environmental reclamation, closangl other requirements may involve significant @std other liabilities. In particular,
Companys operations and exploration activities are sulie@anadian and South African national and pragidaws and regulations govern
protection of the environment. Such laws are caatily changing and, in general, are becoming mes#ictive.

Amendments to current laws, regulations and pergutserning operations and activities of mining camgs, or more stringent implementa
thereof, could have a material adverse impact enGbmpany and cause increases in capital expeeslitur production costs or a reductio
levels of production at producing properties omuiegjabandonment or delays in development of nemingiproperties.

The Company has not made any material expenditurerfvironmental compliance to date. However, emritental hazards may exist on
Companys properties that are unknown at the present tand,that may have been caused by previous ownespayators or that may he
occurred naturally. These hazards may give risegioificant financial obligations in the future asdch obligations could have a material ady
affect on the Company’s financial performance.
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The mineral exploration industry is extremely contjiee.

The resource industry is intensely competitive iino& its phases. Much of the Compasytompetition is from larger, established mii
companies with greater liquidity, greater accessrédlit and other financial resources, newer orenedficient equipment, lower cost structu
more effective risk management policies and proeeiand/or greater ability than the Company to stéthd losses. The Compasyompetitor
may be able to respond more quickly to new lawsegulations or emerging technologies, or devotatgreresources to the expansion of 1
operations, than the Company can. In addition, exirand potential competitors may make strategiuiaitions or establish cooperat
relationships among themselves or with third part@ompetition could adversely affect the Comparapility to acquire suitable new produc
properties or prospects for exploration in the fetltCompetition could also affect the Compangbility to raise financing to fund the explora
and development of its properties or to hire giedifpersonnel. The Company may not be able to ctevpecessfully against current and fu
competitors, and any failure to do so could haweaterial adverse effect on the Company’s busirfges)cial condition or results of operations.

The Company requires various permits in order toncuict its current and anticipated future operationand delays or a failure to obtain su
permits, or a failure to comply with the terms ofwg such permits that the Company has obtained, cbbive a material adverse impact on
Company.

The Companys current and anticipated future operations, inolgidurther exploration, development activities amminmencement of producti
on the Companyg properties, require permits from various Southicah and Canadian national, provincial, territbdad local government
authorities. The mining right for Project 1 platmumine issued by the DMR is subject to environmleaut¢horizations, water use licences, lanc
consents and compliance with applicable legislatbonan ongoing basis. The Waterberg prospectingt igsued by the DMR is subject
environmental authorizations, land use consentscantpliance with applicable legislation on an omgobasis. The Company cannot be ce
that all permits that it now or in the future maguire for its operations will be obtainable onsa@able terms or at all. Delays or a failur
obtain such licences and permits, or a failureotmmly with the terms of any such licences and pirthiat the Company has obtained, could
a material adverse impact on the Company.

In addition, the duration and success of effortstitain and renew permits are contingent upon nvamybles not within the Comparsytontrol
Shortage of qualified and experienced personnéhenvarious levels of government could result itage or inefficiencies. Backlog within t
permitting agencies could also affect the perngttimeline of the Companyg’various projects. Other factors that could aftbet permitting
timeline include the number of other largeale projects currently in a more advanced stagkevelopment, which could slow down the rev
process, and significant public response regardisgecific project. As well, it can be difficult &ssess what specific permitting requirements
ultimately apply to all of the Company’s projects.

Risks of Doing Business in South Africa
Labour disruptions and increased labour costs colildve an adverse effect on the Comp’s results of operations and financial condition.

Although the Compang employees are not unionized at this time, cotara®perating on the Project 1 mine site in S@ftica have employet
that are unionized. As a result, trade unions chalee a significant impact on the Companidbour relations, as well as on social and pal
reforms. There is a risk that strikes or other $ypeconflict with unions or employees may occuaiay of the Companyg’ operations, particulal
where the labour force is unionized. Labour disnrmst may be used to advocate labour, politicalooiad goals in the future. For example, lak
disruptions may occur in sympathy with strikesaiydur unrest in other sectors of the economy. ttfSAfrica, it has become established prax
to negotiate wages and conditions of employmerth thie unions every two years through the Chambéinés of South Africa. South Africi
employment law sets out minimum terms and conditiohemployment for employees, which form the bematk for all employment contrac
Disruptions in the Company’s business due to srikefurther developments in South African labawd may increase the Compasgosts ¢
alter its relationship with its employees and trad@ns, which may have an adverse effect on thepganys financial condition and operatio
South Africa has recently experienced widesprdadal strikes and violence.
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South African foreign exchange controls may limiepatriation of profits

South Africas exchange control regulations restrict the expbdapital from South Africa. Although the Compaisynot itself subject to Sot
African exchange control regulations, these regaiat do restrict the ability of the CompasySouth African subsidiaries to raise and de
capital outside the country, to borrow money inrencies other than the South African Rand and td Fareign currency. Exchange con
regulations could make it difficult for the Compéasysouth African subsidiaries to: (a) export caditain South Africa; (b) hold foreign currer
or incur indebtedness denominated in foreign ceiesnwithout approval of the relevant South Afriethange control authorities; (c) acquir
interest in a foreign venture without approval loé relevant South African exchange control autlesriand compliance with certain investn
criteria; and (d) repatriate to South Africa prefitf foreign operations. While the South Africarvgmment has relaxed exchange contro
recent years, it is difficult to predict whethertaw it will further relax or abolish exchange camhtmeasures in the foreseeable future. Ther
be no assurance that restrictions on repatriafi@amings from the South Africa will not be impdsen the Company in the future.

Socic-economic instability in South Africa or regionallyincluding the risk of resource nationalism, may ke an adverse effect on t
Company’s operations and profits.

The Company has ownership interests in signifigmojects in South Africa. As a result, it is sulbjéz political and economic risks relatinc
South Africa, which could affect an investmenthie Company. South Africa was transformed into aatzacy in 1994. The government polic
aimed at redressing the disadvantages sufferetdebyngjority of citizens under previous governmengy impact the Comparg/'South Africa
business. In addition to political issues, Southridsf faces many challenges in overcoming substadifierences in levels of econon
development among its people. Large parts of th&tSAfrican population do not have access to adegaducation, health care, housing
other services, including water and electricity.

This issue was particularly poignant in late 2012ew wildcat strikes and violence occurred near the Prdjgaatinum mine and generally
other platinum mines. Although the Company hashaat issues at this time at its sites, there camlessurance that wilcht strikes and violen
will not occur at the Company’s properties in theufe. Wild€at strikes and violence at the Project 1 platimuime may have a material nega
impact on the project and its stat-mine operations. The Company faces a numbesksd from deliberate, malicious or criminal acts;luding
theft, fraud, bribery and corruption.

The Company is also subject to the risk of resoumagonalism, which encompasses a range of meassuelh as expropriation or taxati
whereby governments increase their economic irttenesatural resources, with or without compensatibhe value of the natural mine
endowment of South Africa has become one of thendgbating points in deciding how best to advatheeempowerment of its historice
disadvantaged individuals, groups and communitias, policies relating to resource nationalism ai@dp debated in South Africa. The Afric
National Congress* ANC ") held a policy conference in June 2012 at whica tState Intervention in the Minerals Sector” ngp0 SIMS
Report ”), commissioned by the ANC, was debated. A furthefe@mce will be held in December 2012 to choosaralidate to lead the pa
into the general elections in 2014 and to givehirtpolicy guidelines. Details of the resolutiom®pted at the June 2012 policy conference
made publicly available on September 26, 2012. Adgh wholesale nationalization was rejected, tiselttion on nationalization calls for st
intervention in the economy, including “state owstép”, and indicates that many of the proposals in the SRE&port may be adopted at
December 2012 conference.
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The Company cannot predict the future politicatialband economic direction of South Africa or thanner in which government will attemp
address the countiy’inequalities. Actions taken by the South Afriggevernment, or by its people without the sanctibhaw, could have
material adverse effect on the Companlusiness. Furthermore, there has been regioolilcal and economic instability in countries rfori
South Africa, which may affect South Africa. Suetttbrs may have a negative impact on the Compaalyility to own, operate and manags
South African mining projects.

The Company’s land in South Africa could be subjeotland restitution claims which could impose sifioant costs and burdens.

The Company’s privately held land could be subjediand restitution claims under the South Afridestitution of Land Rights A&B94 (the “
Land Claims Act ). Under the Land Claims Act, any person who was dispssed of rights in land in South Africa as altegupast raciall
discriminatory laws or practices without paymenfusft and equitable compensation is granted certimedies, including the restoration of
land against payment to the owner of compensatyahd state. Under the Land Claims Act, persongletto institute a land claim were requi
to lodge their claims by December 31, 1998. The gamy has not been notified of any land claims tedaut any claims of which it is notified
the future could have a material adverse effedtoright to the properties to which the claimsteland, as a result, on the Compariysines
operating results and financial condition.

The South AfricarRestitution of Land Rights Amendment 2@94 (the “Amendment Act”) became law on February 4, 2004. Under the
Claims Act, the South African Minister for Agricute and Land Affairs (the Land Minister "), may not acquire ownership of land for restitu
purposes without a court order unless an agreehanibeen reached between the affected partiesAMbeadment Act, however, entitles the L
Minister to acquire ownership of land by way of eqriation either for claimants who do not qualiéy restitution, or, in respect of land a
which no claim has been lodged but the acquisitibwhich is directly related to or affected by aiot, the acquisition of which would prom
restitution to those entitled or would encouragerahtive relief to those not entitled. Expropoatiwould be subject to provisions of legisla
and the South African Constitution (theCbnstitution ”) which provides, in general, for just and equitatdenpensation. There is, however
guarantee that any of the Company’s privately Hetdl rights could not become subject to acquisitignthe state without the Compasy’
agreement, or that the Company would be adequatetypensated for the loss of its land rights, whiohld have a negative impact on
Company’s South African projects and thereforedreese effect on its business and financial coomwliti

Land claims have been filed over the farms Disspl®69 LR, Kirstenspruit 351 LR and Bayswater 3M® that form part of the Waterbe
prospecting right area. As the Company does nal tiwse land rights no adverse effect on the Cog'pdiusiness or financial conditior
anticipated, although the future acquisition ofsthéand rights or the negotiation of rights of asceghould a decision to mine the area be takel
be negatively affected.

Any adverse decision in respect of the Comg’s mineral rights and projects in South Africa undehe MPRDA could materially affect tr
Company’s projects in South Africa.

With the enactment of the MPRDA, the South Africaate became the sole regulator of all prospeetittgmining operations in South Africa.
prospecting and mining licences and claims gramedrms of any prior legislation became known'as ‘old order rights”All prospecting an
mining rights granted in terms of the MPRDA arewnerder rights”.The treatment of new applications and pending egfiins is uncertain a
any adverse decision by the relevant regulatoraittes under the new legislation may adverselgdftitle to the Compang’ mineral rights i
South Africa, which could stop, materially delayrestrict the Company from proceeding with its exation and development activities or
future mining operations.

A wide range of factors and principles must be mak&o account by the South African Minister of Mimal Resources when conside
applications for new order rights. These factocdude the applicart’ access to financial resources and appropriatmitsd ability to conduct tt
proposed prospecting or mining operations, therenwiental impact of the operation and, in the edggospecting rights, considerations rela
to fair competition. Other factors include consateEms relevant to promoting employment and thdas@nd economic welfare of all Sol
Africans and showing compliance with the provisioegarding the empowerment of historically disadaged persons in the mining industry.
of the Companys old order prospecting rights in respect of Prtofe@and Project 3 were first converted into neweorgrospecting rights a
subsequently, in April 2012, were superseded byiming Right. All of the Company’s current prospiag rights are new order rights.
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The assessment of some of the provisions of the D& the Mining Charter may be subjective andepehdent upon the views of the DMF
to whether the Company is in compliance. The Saaia Labour Plan, for instance, contains both dizive and qualitative goals, targets
commitments relating to the Compasybbligations to its employees and community regiglethe achievement of some of which are
exclusively within the Company’s control.

The South African Minister of Mineral Resources Itas discretion to cancel or suspend mining riginder section 47(1) of the MPRDA a
consequence of the Company’s mmmpliance with the MPRDA, the Mining Charter, teems of its Mining Right and prospecting rightsif
mining is not progressing optimally. The sectionpt@cess involves multiple, successive stages wihidhde granting the Company a reason
opportunity to show why its rights should not bex@zlled or suspended. In terms of the provisionseafion 6(2)(e)(iii) of théPromotion o
Administrative Justice Act No. 3 of 20(“ PAJA ") read with section 6 of the MPRDA, the Minister ddirect the Company to take reme
measures. If such remedial measures are not tk@hinister must again give the Company a readengftportunity to make representation
to why such remedial measures were not taken byhie. Minister must then properly consider the Conym further representations (wh
considerations must also comply with PAJA) and dahbn is the Minister entitled to cancel or suspandining right. Any such cancellation
suspension will be subject to judicial review ifstnot in compliance with the MPRDA or PAJA, oiistnot lawful, reasonable and procedut
fair under section 33(1) of the Constitution.

Failure to meet its obligations in relation toMiing Right or prospecting rights or the Mining &ter could lead to the suspension or cancell
of such rights and the suspension of the Compastyisr rights, which would have a material adveféeceon the Compang’ business, financi
condition and results of operations.

The failure to maintain or increase equity particgtion by historically disadvantaged South Africaf$1DSAs”) in the Companys prospectin
and mining operations could adversely affect ther@many’s ability to maintain its prospecting and niitg rights.

The Company is subject to a humber of South Afristatutes aimed at promoting the accelerated iatiegr of historically disadvantaged Sc
Africans, or HDSAs, including the MPRDA, the BEE tAand the Mining Charter. To ensure that s@gonomic strategies are implemented
BEE Act provides for the Codes of Good Practicetlier Minerals Industry (the Codes”) which specify empowerment targets consistent e
objectives of the BEE Act. The Mining Charter Saamel requires the mining industsycommitment of applicants in respect of owner:
management, employment equity, human resource gawelnt, procurement and beneficiation. For ownprdfy BEE groups in minir
enterprises, the Mining Charter Scorecard sets¥% 26get by December 31, 2014. The Company hasritially partnered with BEE groups
companies that were HDSA controlled at the timalbof its material projects in South Africa ate¢l of 26% at an operating or project level.

The South African government awards procurementraots, quotas, licences, permits and prospectimyraining rights based on numer
factors, including the degree of HDSA ownershipe MiPRDA contains provisions relating to the ecoroempowerment of HDSAs. One of
requirements which must be met before the DMR g#lue a prospecting right or mining right is that applicant must facilitate equ
participation by HDSAs in thprospecting and mining operations which result fittie granting of the relevant rights. As a mattiepdlicy, the
DMR requires a minimum of 26% HDSA ownership foe tirant of applications for mining rights.
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The Company has sought to satisfy the foregoingirements by partnering, at the operating compawmgl] with companies demonstrating 2
HDSA ownership. The Company has partnered withcafilVide with respect to Maseve, which owns the MjriRight to Projects 1 and 3, and
partnered with Mnombo with respect to the Waterlférgject and for the Comparsyprospecting right applications over ground adjate the
Waterberg Project. In each case, the CommaB{E partner holds a 26% interest in the operatorgpany or project. The Company believes
Africa Wide was majority owned by HDSA individudls 2002, when it first partnered with the CompaHpwever, the Compang’contractus
arrangements with Africa Wide do not currently reguAfrica Wide to maintain any minimum level of A ownership or to certify the level
such ownership to the Company. In 2007, Wesizwedqwivas then majority owned by HDSA individualsjjared 100% of the shares of Afr
Wide. On an application of the flotlwough principles, Africa Wide remained an HDSAmmany. Under the terms of the Consolida
Transaction, the Company transferred its 18.5%réstein Project 2 to Wesizwe, therefore providitigitzutable units of production and furtl
enhancing the ownership of mining assets by HDS#pamies. Under the same transaction, Anglo acq@iréenapproximately 26.9% intere
in Wesizwe. In 2011, Jinchuan Group Limited of Ghand China Africa Development Fund, with the apalo@f the DMR and notwithstandi
that the transaction resulted in Wesizwe not bemagority owned by HDSAs, acquired a thapproximately 45% interest in Wesizwe. Altho
Anglo’s interest is held for preferential dispositioratqualified BEE purchaser, HDSA individuals do aotrently own a majority of the Wesiz
equity. In April 2012, Maseve was granted a MinRight over Projects 1 and 3 by the DMR and the godithe Mining Right by the DMR, t
stated policy, is an acknowledgement of Maseve'B B&mpliance status as being acceptable to the DMBre can be no assurance when,
the transfer of Angl® interest in Wesizwe to a qualified BEE purchasgiéiroccur. Also there can be no assurance thaHB&A ownership me
not be reassessed or that the criteria for HDSA ownership nw be interpreted differently in the futureolily the direct shareholdings of Afr
Wide and its parent are considered, and otherr&etbich were considered by the DMR at the timgraht, are set aside, Maseve, solely on
through principles is below the 26% ownership level

The Company is satisfied that Mnombo is majorityned by HDSA individuals. The contractual arrangetsidretween Mnombo, the Compi
and the HDSA shareholders require the HDSA shadehslto maintain a minimum level of HSDA ownersinigMnombo of 51%. However, if
any time Mnombo becomes a company that is not fityajowned by HDSA individuals, the ownership sturet of the Waterberg Project and
prospecting right applications over ground adjatetihe Waterberg Project may be deemed not tsfgdiDSA requirements.

Subject to conditions contained in the Comparprfospecting and mining rights, the Company mayeleired to obtain approval from the DI
prior to undergoing any change in its empowermétus under the Mining Charter. In addition, if tBempany or its BEE partners are foun
be in noneompliance with the requirements of the Mining Geaand other BEE regulations, including failurerétain the requisite level
HDSA ownership, the Company may face possible suspe or cancellation of its mining rights undectgm 47 of the MPRDA. SeeRisk
Factors — Any adverse decision in respect of thezmy’s mineral rights and projects in South Africa untther MPRDA could materially affe
the Company’s projects in South Africa”.

In addition, there have been a number of propasalde at governmental level in South Africa regagdaimendments and clarifications to
methodology for determining HDSA ownership and coindf mining businesses, which create greater aitey in measuring the Compasy’
progress towards, and compliance with, its commitsieinder the Mining Charter and other BEE regoitesti If implemented, any of the
proposals could result in, among other thingsct&ricriteria for qualification as an HDSA investor

If the Company is required to increase the pergentd HDSA ownership in any of its operating comparor projects, the Compayinterest
may be diluted. In addition, it is possible thay anch transactions or plans may need to be exgatite discount to the proper economic valt
the Companys operating assets or it may also prove necessatiid Company to provide vendor financing or othigsport in respect of some
all of the consideration which may be on non-conuia¢terms. Under the terms of the Maseve Sharensld\greement, if Maseve is instruc
by the DMR to increase its HDSA ownership, any aedreosts or dilution of interests shall be borneadly by the Company and Africa Wit
notwithstanding that Africa Wide holds only 26%tbé equity.
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Currently, the South African Department of Trade &mdustry (“DTI ") is responsible for leading government action onitiyglementation ¢
BEE initiatives under the auspices of the BEE A the Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment Cotl€ood Practice (Codes of Goor
Practice "), while certain industries have their own transfoioracharters administered by the relevant govertrdepartment (in this case,
DMR). The DTI has recently proposed changes tdBBE Act which, if implemented, would provide a stard framework for the measuren
of BEE compliance across all sectors of the econdrhgre is a risk that all of the industry specifansformation charters, including the Min
Charter under which the Company has agreed tangttthe DMR and against which the Company curgemteasures its compliance through
Mining Charter Scorecard, may be superseded, iclwbase the Company would be required to compliy thi¢ criteria set forth under the B
Act and any new or revised Codes of Good Praclibe.DTI has released its proposed changes to tde<Caf Good Practice and has invite
interested persons and the public to provide contsrignDecember 4, 2012. The Company cannot prégicscope or timing of any amendmt
or modifications to the BEE Act, Codes of Good Hcacor the Mining Charter, and the impact thasthamendments or modifications may t
on its business.

If the Company is unable to achieve or maintaireitgpowered status under the Mining Charter or cgmajth any other BEE regulations
policies, it may not be able to maintain its exigtprospecting and mining rights and/or acquire @&y rights and therefore would be oblige
suspend or dispose of some or all of its operatior®&outh Africa, which would likely have a matérgaverse effect on the Compasyusines
financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in South African State royalties where any the Companys mineral reserves are located could have an adeeeffect on th
Company’s results of operations and its financiamedition.

The Mineral and Petroleum Resources Royalty Act, 200BRoyalty Act ") effectively came into operation on May 1, 2009. Rwyalty Ac
establishes a variable royalty rate regime, in White prevailing royalty rate for the year of assesnt is assessed against the gross sales
extractor during the year. The royalty rate is glted based on the profitability of the mine (é&@ge before interest and taxes) and vi
depending on whether the mineral is transferregfimed or unrefined form. The minimum royalty ré&ed.5% and the maximum royalty rate
mineral resources transferred in unrefined formosof gross sales. For mineral resources transfénreefined form the maximum royalty rate
5% of gross sales. The royalty will be a tax deitletexpense. The royalty becomes payable whemiheral resource is “transferredishich
refers to the disposal of a mineral resource, #po/t of a mineral resource, or the consumptioaftffdestruction or loss of a mineral resot
The Royalty Act allows the holder of a mining rigbtenter into an agreement with the tax autharitefix the percentage royalty that will
payable in respect of all mining operations caroadin respect of that resource for as long ae#teactor holds the right. The holder of a mit
right may withdraw from such agreement at any time.

The feasibility studies covering the Companpouth African projects made certain assumptietetad to the expected royalty rates unde
Royalty Act. If and when the Company begins earmigenue from its South African mining projectsd ahthe royalties under the Royalty /
differ from those assumed in the feasibility stgdithis new royalty could have a material and asivémpact on the economic viability of
Company’s projects in South Africa, as well astoen €ompany’s prospects, financial condition andlte®f operations.

Characteristics of and changes in the tax system$buth Africa could materially adversely affectahCompany$ business, financial conditic
and results of operations.

The Companys subsidiaries pay different types of governmetdaks in South Africa, including corporation taxgypoll taxes, VAT, sta
royalties, community royalties, various forms otids, secondary tax on dividend distributions duBouth Africa by South African subsidiar
(which was replaced by a dividend withholding taikhveffect from April 1, 2012) and interest withdalg tax with effect from July 1, 2013. T
tax regime in South Africa is subject to change.
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In February 2012, the South African government ameed a new carbon tax of R120 per tonne of cadioride emissions above cert
thresholds, which may be implemented in 2013 as&lby 10% each year until 2020.

The ruling party, the ANC, held a policy conferericeJune 2012 at which the SIMS Report commissidnethe ANC was debated. The Sl
Report includes a proposal for a super tax of 50%Iqrofits above a 15% return on investment, ahhivould apply in respect of all metals
minerals. If a super profits tax is implementeds @ompany may realise lower aftax profits and cash flows from its current miniogeration
and may decide not to pursue certain new projastsuch a tax could render these opportunitiesomaaaic.

It is also possible that the Company could becoutgest to taxation in South Africa that is not amtly anticipated, which could have a mat
adverse effect on its business, financial condiéind results of operations.

Risks Relating to the Company’s Common Shares
The Company has never paid dividends and does wrpeet to do so in the foreseeable future.

The Company has not paid any dividends since imcatipn and it has no plans to pay dividends in fihreseeable future. The Compasny’
directors will determine if and when dividends sldolbe declared and paid in the future based orCtirapanys financial position at the relevi
time. All of the Common Shares are entitled to qnad share of any dividends declared and paid.

The Company’s Common Share price has been volatileecent years

In recent years, the securities markets in theddnBitates and Canada have experienced a higholepete and volume volatility, and the mar
price of securities of many companies, particuldinlyse considered exploration or developnsage mining companies, have experienced
fluctuations in price which have not necessarilgrbeslated to the operating performance, underlgsggt values or prospects of such comps
In particular, the per share price of the Commoar&$ on the Toronto Stock Exchange fluctuated fdngh of $1.70 to a low of $0.74 and on
NYSE MKT LLC (* NYSE MKT ") from a high of US$1.72 to a low of US$0.75 durihg twelve month period ending August 31, 2012. &
can be no assurance that continual fluctuatiopsige will not occur.

The factors influencing such volatility include maeconomic developments in North America and glgbalnd market perceptions of -
attractiveness of particular industries. The patéhe Common Shares is also likely to be signiftbaaffected by shoterm changes in precic
metal prices or other mineral prices, currency erde fluctuations and the Compasyinancial condition or results of operations effected it
its earnings reports. Other factors unrelated ¢gptrformance of the Company that may have anteffethe price of the Common Shares inc
the following:

e the extent of analyst coverage available to investmncerning the business of the Company mayrhigeli if investment banks wi
research capabilities do not follow the Compangausities;

e lessening in trading volume and general marketréstein the Company’s securities may affect an stawés ability to trade significa
numbers of securities of the Company;

e the size of the Company’s public float may limi¢ thbility of some institutions to invest in the Quamy’s securities; and
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e a substantial decline in the price of the secwitiEthe Company that persists for a significantqaeof time could cause the Compasny’
securities to be delisted from an exchange, furbaucing market liquidity.

Securities clasaction litigation often has been brought againsaganies following periods of volatility in the matiprice of their securities. T
Company may in the future be the target of simiidgation. Securities litigation could result inulsstantial costs and damages and ¢
management’s attention and resources.

The Company’s growth, future profitability and alify to obtain financing may be impacted by globaldncial conditions.

Global financial conditions continue to be chareztel by extreme volatility. Following the creditisis that began in 2008, global marl
continue to be adversely impacted by the Europedn ctisis and high fuel and energy costs. Manystries, including the mining industry,
impacted by these market conditions. Global finalh@dbnditions remain subject to sudden and rapédadhdizations in response to future econc
shocks, as government authorities may have limiésturces to respond to future crises. A contimredorsened slowdown in the financ
markets or other economic conditions, including it limited to, consumer spending, employmentsiabeisiness conditions, inflation, fuel
energy costs, consumer debt levels, lack of aVailafedit, the state of the financial markets, regé rates and tax rates, may adversely affe
Companys growth and profitability. Future economic shookay be precipitated by a number of causes, inctuttie ongoing European d
crisis, a continued rise in the price of oil andestcommodities, the volatility of metal pricespgelitical instability, terrorism, the devaluatianc
volatility of global stock markets and natural digas. Any sudden or rapid destabilization of globeonomic conditions could impact
Company’s ability to obtain equity or debt finargim the future on terms favourable to the Compangt all. In such an event, the Company’
operations and financial condition could be advgrisepacted.

Future sales or issuances of equity securities abdlecrease the value of the Common Shares, dilateestors’voting power and reduce tl
Company’s earnings per share.

The Company may sell additional equity securitiessubsequent offerings (including through the s#lesecurities convertible into equ
securities) and may issue additional equity sdesrib finance operations, exploration, developmaecquisitions or other projects. The Comg
cannot predict the size of future issuances oftggecurities or the size and terms of future iesea of debt instruments or other secul
convertible into equity securities or the effe€tanmy, that future issuances and sales of the Copipaecurities will have on the market prici
the Common Shares. Any transaction involving tisgasice of previously authorized but unissued sharesecurities convertible into Comn
Shares, would result in dilution, possibly substdnto security holders. Exercises of presentlistanding share options may also result in dilt
to security holders.

The board of directors of the Company has the ailyhio authorize certain offers and sales of ddddl securities without the vote of, or pi
notice to, shareholders. Based on the need fotiadal capital to fund expected expenditures ammvin, it is likely that the Company will iss
additional securities to provide such capital. Sadditional issuances may involve the issuance sifjaificant number of Common Share
prices less than the current market price for tom@on Shares.

Sales of substantial amounts of the Compsusgcurities, or the availability of such secusifier sale, could adversely affect the prevailireyke
prices for the Company’s securities and dilute #woes’ earnings per share. A decline in the mapkiees of Companyg securities could imp:
the Company’s ability to raise additional capitabiugh the sale of securities should the Compasireléo do so.

5. OUTLOOK

As discussed above, the Company is seeking toesdioerProject Loan Facility for Maseve. Howeveedir committee approval by the Lendel
not yet in place. If credit committee approval itaned, commitment from the Lenders is expectefbltow, following which the Project Loz
Facility may advance to negotiation of definitivecdmentation. In addition, funding under the Prbleman Facility, if consummated, is expec
to be subject to certain conditions, including,hwitt limitation, that the Company secure additicelity funding, execute a concentrate taffe
agreement, acquire and maintain all requisite peramd licences and establish an agreed metalsngeggogram. Seeliquidity and Capite
Resources” for a further discussion of the propda®gject Loan Facility.
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Commencement of Phase 2 development at Projectlneti begin until complete project financing is jilace and oftake agreements ¢
executed. Phase 2 will include a second declinesacsouth of the current twin decline developmemderground lateral development, a mil
and concentrating facility and tailings impoundmarda. The box cut excavation for the south decoeess is now nearly complete and read
the turn under into underground mining.

On September 5, 2012, Maseve received notice fr@l Regarding RPM’s exercise of its 60-day righfiddt refusal to purchase the dtike o
concentrate from Project 1 on terms equivalenetms$ agreed to by Maseve with another commercfaiaer. As at the date of this MD&
formal legal agreements are in the process of bdtiaffed based on the third party indicative tedmascribed above. The indicative terms frorr
other commercial offaker do not vary substantially from the terms neden the 2009 UFS; however, no assurances cardwaded that th
agreements will be finalized on such terms orlat al

Following the completion of the 2009 UFS, the Compaompleted further drilling, metallurgical workjine design and cost estimation wi
The Company has also gained construction and peowmt experience under the Phase 1 developmentaprogurrently underway. Maj
contracts, project costing and final scheduling Ptrase 2 development are in process of final détetiron. Based on post 2009 UFS w
completed by the Company, a revised cost budgiebt@&st for inclusion in a financial model for theriders was completed in April 2012.

Some aspects of the project are currently beingedrat or below 2009 UFS level, while escalatiobégg seen in other cost areas, suc
consumable inputs, labour, construction and capijaipment. The revised peak funding estimate, wisccalculated in Rand, was publishe
April 2012 and includes both Phase 1 and Phasdtieinentirety. The revised estimate was approteigdJS$506 million (at R8 to the US$)
the construction and commissioning of Project presenting an escalation of approximately 14% sihee2009 UFS. Operating costs per tc
were estimated to have escalated approximately 24ee the 2009 UFS. These operating cost escalattimates are in keeping with inflat
rates and industry experience in South Africa sid@@9. As at November 15, 2012, the Rand has weakenapproximately R8.93 to the L
versus the 2009 UFS long term assumption of RBadS$. This has the effect of reducing the US$®denated peak funding for the project
addition, as at November 15, 2012, the Merenskkdigwice per 4E ounce is approximately US$1,30@amspared to the 3 year trailing mau
price (US$1,185 in September 2009) and the recarien price (US$1,025 in September 2009) citethén2009 UFS.

Once the required financing for Phase 2 of Prdlerst established, the Company intends to commehesd?2 development. As designed ir
2009 UFS, Phase 2 will include a second, southeimdecline access into the ore body as well abngjlconcentrating and tailings facilities
extensive underground development. Plant and fiacdonstruction and commissioning are estimatedat® two years to complete. F
commercial production at steady state is estim@t@tcur after a two year ramp-up period subseqtaethte commissioning of the plant.

The Company plans to continue working with its joienture partners, who are also providing fundiegzonduct exploration on the Waterk
and Sable projects. Since the November 9, 2011umueonent of the discovery of new PGE bearing raefé/aterberg, exploration has b
accelerated by the Company and joint venture pad@&MEC with 10 drilling rigs now active on theoject.
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6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets in conformity with IFRS requires managemenide estimates and assumptions that :
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitiesyels as income and expenses. Our accounting pslizie described in note 3 of our August
2012 unaudited quarterly condensed consolidateshdial statements.

Review of asset carrying values and impairn

In accordance with the Compasyaccounting policy, each asset or cash generatiiidgs evaluated every reporting period to deteamivhethe
there are any indications of impairment. If anytsindication exists, a formal estimate of recoviamount is performed and an impairment
is recognised to the extent that the carrying arhenoeeds the recoverable amount. The recoveratbeirst of an asset or cash generating ¢
of assets is measured at the higher of fair vase tosts to sell and value in use.

The determination of fair value less costs to seltl value in use requires management to make éstinend assumptions about expe
production, commodity prices, reserves, operatingts; closure and rehabilitation costs and futwapital expenditures. The estimates

assumptions are subject to risk and uncertaintycéi¢here is the possibility that changes in cirstamces will alter these projections, which

impact the recoverable amount of the assets. |h siicumstances some or all of the carrying valuthe assets may be further impaired ol
impairment charge reduced with the impact recoideéde income statement.

As at August 31, 2012, the Company’s market capitibn was $136 million, compared to a net asaéierof $221 million. In respect of long-
lived assets recorded in accordance with IAS 16h sas the Project 1 capitalized costs, this isidensd to be an indicator of impairment
requires an impairment assessment to be made.

Management has considered a number of factorangl&i this asset such as metal prices, projectstsdo operate, availability and cost:
finance, cost and progress of mine construction tenehs of offtake agreements. Management has concluded, bas#dsoanalysis that t
impairment has occurred in respect of Project Tenily under construction. At the time of writinget Companys market capitalization
approximately $181 million.

Stock-based compensation

We provide compensation benefits to our employdiesctors, officers and consultants through a stmation plan. The fair value of each opi
award is estimated on the date of the grant usiadtackScholes option pricing model. Expected volatilgybiased on historical volatility of ¢
share price. The riskee rate for the expected term of the option iseblaon the Government of Canada yield curve ircefiethe time of tt
grant.

Asset Retirement Obligatiol

The amounts recorded for asset retirement costbamed on estimates included in closure and retiediplans. These estimates are base
engineering studies of the work that is requiredebyironmental laws. These estimates include anngsion on the rate at which costs r
inflate in future periods. Actual costs and theitignof expenditures could differ from these estiesat

Income and Resource Tay

The determination of our future tax liabilities amdsets involves significant management estimatioth judgment involving a number
assumptions. In determining these amounts we irgetax legislation in a variety of jurisdictionschmake estimates of the expected timing ¢
reversal of future tax assets and liabilities. Vi&® anake estimates of our future earnings whickcafthe extent to which potential future
benefits may be used. We are subject to assessipesatrious taxation authorities, which may intetgex legislation in a manner different fr
our view. These differences may affect the finabant or the timing of the payment of taxes. Whechstifferences arise we make provision
such items based on our best estimate of thedunabme of these matters.
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Determination of ore reserve and mineral resourseneates

The Company estimates its ore reserves and minesalirces based on information compiled by Compétersons as defined by NI 4841
Reserves determined in this way are used in treailedion of depreciation, amortization and impaimneharges, and for forecasting the timin
the payment of close down and restoration costsishessing the life of a mine for accounting pugppsnineral resources are only taken
account where there is a high degree of confidefi@geonomic extraction. There are numerous unceiai inherent in estimating ore reser
and assumptions that are valid at the time of edton may change significantly when new informatimtomes available. Changes in the fort
prices of commodities, exchange rates, productimtscor recovery rates may change the economicsstéreserves and may, ultimately, rest
reserves being restated. Such changes in reseruklkimpact on depreciation and amortization radsset carrying values and provisions for ¢
down and restoration costs.

7. INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS)
Transition to IFRS from GAAP

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting StandBaisd confirmed that Canadian publicly accountaiterprises will be required to ad
IFRS for financial periods beginning on and aftmudary 1, 2011. The Company has adopted IFRS witidaption date of September 1, 2011
a transition date of September 1, 2010.

The Company has now completed its IFRS changeolar. The following discussion outlines the Compantransition project and IFf
transitional impacts. Notes 2 and 17 to the codatdid interim financial statements provide moreaitlein key Canadian GAAP to IFI
differences and accounting policy decisions.

IFRS Conversion Plan Completio

The Companys IFRS conversion plan addressed matters inclutiiagges in accounting policies, IT and data systesstatement of comparat
periods, organizational and internal controls amg required changes to business processes. Tddteithis process and ensure the full impa
the conversion is understood and managed reasgrhblgccounting staff attended several trainingses on the adoption and implementatic
IFRS. Through in-depth training and detailed analg$ IFRS standards, the Compasngccounting personnel obtained a thorough unchefisic
of IFRS and possesses sufficient financial repgrérpertise to support the Companyieeds. The Company has also reviewed its intemt
disclosure control processes and they did not sgguficant modification as a result of the conv@nsto IFRS. Further, the Company assesse
impact on IT and data systems and concluded there mo significant impact to applications arisingn the transition to IFRS.

IFRS 1 First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reportingstandards

Under IFRS 1 Firstime Adoption of International Financial ReportiStandards, the IFRS are applied retrospectivelyeatransition date with :
adjustments to assets and liabilities as state@ru@dnadian GAAP taken to deficit unless certaiengptions are applied. IFRS provides
certain optional exemptions and certain mandateaoegtions for first time IFRS adopters. Set fortlow are the applicable IFRS 1 optic
exemptions the Company applied in the conversiomf€anadian GAAP to IFRS.
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@)

(b)

Business Combinatior

IFRS 1 permits the Company to apply IFRS 3 Busi@ssbinations on a prospective basis only fromtithesition date. Therefol
the Company has not restated past business conaoigdad comply with IFRS 3, where control was oléai before the transiti
date.

Currency translation differenc

Retrospective application of IFRS would require tBempany to determine cumulative currency trarmtatdifferences i
accordance with IAS 21, The Effects of Changesdrelgn Exchange Rates, from the date a subsidiaggoity method invest
was formed or acquired. IFRS 1 permits cumulativeency translation gains and losses to be resegrio at the transition da
The Company elected to reset all cumulative cusra@nanslation gains and losses to zero in openetgined earnings at
Transition Date

Significant Accounting Policy Changes on Transiticio IFRS

IFRS employs a conceptual framework that is sintte€anadian GAAP; however significant differeneasst in certain matters of recogniti
measurement and disclosure. While the adoptiofr@Sl has not changed the cash flows of the Compgheyadoption resulted in changes tc
reported financial position and results of operaiof the Company. A summary of the significantoarting policy changes on transition to IF
is provided below.

@)

(b)

Foreign currency translatic

The Companys South African subsidiaries have the South AfriBamd as their functional currency. Under Cana@&RAP for
integrated foreign operations, only monetary itemese translated to Canadian dollars at the endach eeporting period at t
period end exchange rate. However under IFRS saita and liabilities of a foreign subsidiary watfunctional currency differe
from the parent’s presentation currency are cordett the parerg’ presentation currency at the period end rate thighresultin
foreign exchange differences recorded in other cehmmsive income

Under Canadian GAAP, the South African subsidiaviese considered to be integrated operations, whftdctively meant tt
entities had Canadian functional currencies. UBMBRS, these South African subsidiaries are consilér have the Rand as tt
functional currency. As a result, the foreign exxdm gain or loss on the intercompany loan to thieido subsidiaries which
considered the parent compasyiet investment in a foreign operation is recogphimitially in other comprehensive income
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on dispbof the net investment. Under Canadian GAAPgHtie or loss was recognizec
the profit or loss

Deferred Income Taxe

Under Canadian GAAP, deferred income taxes weregrgzed following the acquisition of various assétader IFRS, deferre
income taxes are not recognized on temporary diffegs that arise from transactions other than méms combination that at 1
time of the transaction affected neither the taxaimr accounting profit or loss. As a result okthifference a decrease to
deferred income tax liability and a correspondimgréase to the carrying value of property plant equipment for R56 millic
have been made on transitic
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(c) Pre-exploration cost

Under IFRS, expenditures that are incurred befoeecompany has the legal right to explore the §ipgmioperty must be expens
Canadian GAAP does not have the same restrictimretore an adjustment is required on transitioexpense prexploratior
costs which were capitalized under Canadian GAARis Taccounting policy change resulted in an in@etms deficit and

corresponding decrease in the carrying value aiure® properties on transitic

(d)  Non-controlling interes

At the date of transition, the accounting requiretmi®r noneontrolling interests differed under IFRS. UndeR& changes
ownership interest where control is maintainedrecerded through equit

Pos-Implementation

The post-implementation phase will involve continsianonitoring of changes in IFRS in future peridtibas been noted that the standsetting
bodies that determine IFRS have significant onggingjects that could impact the IFRS accountingcpes that the Company has selec
Processes are in place to ensure that potentizlgesaare monitored and evaluated. The impact ofremy IFRSs and IFRS Interpretati
Committee interpretations will be evaluated as teydrafted and published.

8. DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINAN CIAL REPORTING

The Company maintains a set of disclosure contints procedures designed to ensure that informagiguired to be disclosed in filings mi
pursuant to both SEC and Canadian Securities Adimitidors requirements are recorded, processed, atratt and reported in the man
specified by the relevant securities laws appliedablthe Company. Disclosure controls and procedunrgude, without limitation, controls a
procedures designed to ensure that informationinedjio be disclosed by an issuer in the repors ithfiles or submits under the applice
securities legislation is accumulated and commuedtdo the issues’ management, including its principal executive gnidicipal financie
officers, or persons performing similar functiors, appropriate to allow timely decisions regardiaquired disclosure. The Chief Execu
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have evatththe Companyg disclosure control procedures as of August 3122Brough inquiry, revie\
and testing, as well as by drawing upon their oglavant experience. The Chief Executive Officer #tralChief Financial Officer have conclut
that, as at August 31, 2012 the Company’s disctsantrol procedures were effective.

The Companys management, including the Chief Executive Offmed the Chief Financial Officer, is responsibledstablishing and maintaini
adequate internal control over financial reportiagg evaluating the effectiveness of the Compaimternal control over financial reporting a
each fiscal year end. Management has used the Qu@anuf Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwayn@assion (COSO) framework
evaluate the effectiveness of the Compangternal control over financial reporting as atgfist 31, 2012. Based on this evaluation, managt
has concluded that as at August 31, 2012, the Coygaternal control over financial reporting weféective.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Repont

During the year ended August 31, 2012, managenssesaed internal controls over financial reporéis@ step in their IFRS transition plan. /
result of this assessment, management determird¢hsignificant changes were required. No changee Companyg internal control o
financial reporting occurred during the year endegjust 31, 2012 that has materially affected, oremsonably likely to materially affect,
issuer’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Exemption from Section 404(b) of the Sarbal-Oxley Act

Under the Jumpstart Our Business & Startups AGBS Act”), emerging growth companies are exempt from 8acti04(b) of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, which generally requires public compani® provide an independent auditor attestationmafhagemens’ assessment of f
effectiveness of their internal control over fineaeporting. The Company qualifies as an emergjragvth company under the JOBS Act
therefore has not included an independent auditestation of managemestassessment of the effectiveness of its interatial over financit
reporting in this MD&A or in its audited annual cwlidated financial statements for the year endegust 31, 2012.

9. NYSE MKT LLC CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Companys common shares are listed on the NYSE MKT. Sedtidhof the NYSE MKT company guide permits NYSE MKiconsider th
laws, customs and practices of foreign issuergliaxing certain NYSE MKT listing criteria, and toagt exemptions from NYSE MKT listit
criteria based on these considerations. A compeekisg relief under these provisions is requiregrtivide written certification from independ
local counsel that the non-complying practice isprohibited by home country law. A descriptiontieé significant ways in which the Compasy’
governance practices differ from those followedUys. domestic companies pursuant to NYSE MKT stedwlés posted on the Compasy’
website at www.platinumgroupmetals.net and a cdpsuoh description is available by written requestde to the Company.

10. OTHER INFORMATION

Additional information relating to the Company ftive period ending August 31, 2012 may be found BDAR at www.sedar.conand ot
EDGAR at_ www.sec.gov Readers are encouraged to review the Compamydited annual consolidated financial statemfemtthe year ende
August 31, 2012 together with the notes theretwelsas the Annual Information Form for the Comparfinancial year ended August 31, 2012.

On July 10, 2012, the Company announced that isdoof directors had approved the adoption of aedtwder rights plan dated July 9, 2
subject to shareholder approval. The shareholdétgiplan is now effective and will require shatdeo ratification within six months of the d.

of the shareholder rights plan to remain in plafggproval of the shareholders rights plan is to beeg upon by shareholders at the Company’
annual general meeting on January 8, 2013.

11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The following events occurred subsequent to yedr €hese events and other noaterial subsequent events may be mentioned elsewh#his
MD&A:

e On September 7, 2012, the Company granted 3,524n0866tive stock options at a price of $0.96 parsho its employee and directors.

e On September 5, 2012, RPM, a wholly owned subsidi&Anglo, exercised its first right of refusal pairchase the offake of concentra
from Project 1.

e On September 25, 2012, the Company granted 10€@66tive stock options at a price of $1.11 perstha a consultant.
e On October 22, 2012, the Company granted 50,0Ghihe stock options at a price of $1.03 per skaan employee.

e On October 23, 2012, 150,000 incentive stock optatra price of $4.15 per share expired without@se.
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12.

On October 26, 2012, 650,000 incentive stock optitra price of $4.40 per share expired withoutase.
On October 31, 2012, the Company received US$Z@@0 JOGMEC for contribution towards the 2012 Whézg work program.
On November 5, 2012 the Company announced a signifexpansion to drilled intercepts in the areisoVaterberg discovery.

LIST OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

a) Directors: b) Officers:
R. Michael Jone R. Michael Jones (Chief Executive Offici
Frank R. Hallam (Secretar Frank R. Hallam (Chief Financial Office
lain McLean Peter C. Busse (Chief Operating Offic
Eric Carlsor Kris Begic (VP, Corporate Developmel
Barry W. Smet

Timothy Marlow
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Rule 13a-14(a) Certification
I, R. Michael Jones, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual réparForm 40-F of Platinum Group Metals Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this redoes not contain any untrue statement of a net@ct or omit to state a material fact necessa
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgta under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period cove
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the fim@rnstatements, and other financial informationluded in this report, fairly present in all maté¢
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the issuer as of, and fier periods presented in this report;

4.  The issuar'other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifie establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstiend procedures {
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportireg @efined in Exchange Act Rules 113()
and 15d-15(f)) for the issuer and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure costamid procedures, or caused such disclosure comtndl procedures to be designed unde
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the issuer, including its consolidatedsdiaries, is made known to us by otl
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal contre¢rofinancial reporting, or caused such internailtic over financial reporting to be desigi
under our supervision, to provide reasonable amssaraegarding the reliability of financial repodirand the preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectivenesshefissuels disclosure controls and procedures and preséntad report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéeport based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any e in the issues’ internal control over financial reporting thatcoed during the peric
covered by the annual report that has materiafigcedd, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe issues internal control ov
financial reporting; and

5. The issuer'other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financie
reporting, to the issuer’s auditors and the aumlitmittee of the issuer’s board of directors (oispas performing the equivalent functions):




(@)  All significant deficiencies anthterial weaknesses in the design or operatiamefal control over financial reporting wh
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the issueility to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not maérthat involves management or other employees lave a significant role in the issuer’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 23, 2012

/Isigned/,
R. Michael Jone
President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
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Rule 13a-14(a) Certification
I, Frank R. Hallam, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual réparForm 40-F of Platinum Group Metals Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this redoes not contain any untrue statement of a nst@ct or omit to state a material fact necessa
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgta under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period cove
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the fim@rnstatements, and other financial informationluded in this report, fairly present in all maté¢
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the issuer as of, and fier periods presented in this report;

4.  The issuar'other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstend procedures {
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportireg @efined in Exchange Act Rules 113()
and 15d-15(f)) for the issuer and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure costamid procedures, or caused such disclosure comtndl procedures to be designed unde
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the issuer, including its consolidatedsdiaries, is made known to us by otl
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal contre¢rofinancial reporting, or caused such internailtic over financial reporting to be desigi
under our supervision, to provide reasonable amssaraegarding the reliability of financial repodirand the preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectivenesshefiissuers disclosure controls and procedures and preséntad report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéeport based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any e in the issues’ internal control over financial reporting thatcoed during the peric
covered by the annual report that has materiafigcedd, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe issues internal control ov
financial reporting; and

5.  The issuar’other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosédsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financie
reporting, to the issuer’s auditors and the aumlitmittee of the issuer’s board of directors (oispas performing the equivalent functions):




(@)  All significant deficiencies anthterial weaknesses in the design or operatiamtefal control over financial reporting wh
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the issueility to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not maaérihat involves management or other employees véwe a significant role in the issuer’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 23, 2012

/Isigned/,
Frank R. Hallan
Chief Financial Officer and Directt




CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. 81350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of PlatinunoGp Metals Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form &0for the period ended August 31, 2012, as
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ondtite hereof (the “Report”), R. Michael Jones, President, Chief Executiveidg@ff anc
Director of the Company, certify, pursuant to 1&I€. 81350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9dGedbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSetction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2. The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations
the Company

/[signed/,
R. Michael Jone
President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
November 23, 201




CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. 81350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of PlatinunoGp Metals Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form &0for the period ended August 31, 2012, as
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ordtte hereof (the “Report”), Frank R. Hallam, Chief Financial Officer and &itor of th
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350,dmpted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@yeof 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSetction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2. The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations
the Company

//signed/,
Frank R. Hallan
Chief Financial Officer and Directt
November 23, 201




CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémdbis Annual Report on Form 40-F of Platinum @dMetals Ltd. (‘the Company9f out
report to the shareholders dated November 23, B8lafing to the consolidated statements of findrmigition as of August 31, 2012, August
2011 and September 1, 2010 and related consoliddseeiments of comprehensive loss, changes inyeguitl cash flows for the years en
August 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011.

(signed) PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, British Columbia
November 23, 201




Coffey ') mining

SPECIALISTS FROM BOARDROOM TO MINE FACE

CONSENT OF EXPERT

TO:
Platinum Group Metals Ltd.

Re: Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (the “Company”) — Consent of Qualified Person

Reference is made to the Annual Report on Form 4hé “40-F") of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (the 6@pany”)for the fiscal year end:
August 31, 2012 to be filed with the United Staesurities and Exchange Commission pursuant ttJttieed States Securities Exchange Ac
1934, as amended, and the Annual Information Fdlnen ‘AIF”") and Management’s Discussion and Analy8MD&A”) of the Company for tf
year then ended, which are incorporated by referémerein.

The undersigned hereby consents to the refereacaad the information derived from, the repotéetit‘Updated Exploration Results and Mint
Resource Estimate for the Waterberg Platinum Profgouth Africa”,with an effective date of November 5, 2012, andh® references,
applicable, to the undersigned’s name, in each @adeded in or incorporated by reference in the4 the AlIF and the MD&A..

Dated this 23 day of November 2012.

{Signed Ken Lomberg}

Kenneth Graham Lomberg,
B.Sc Hons (Geology), B.Com, M.Eng., Pr.Sci.Nat

Coffey Mining (SA) Pty Ltd (2006/030152/07), VAT Number (415 023 9327)

Block D, Somerset Office Estate, 604 Kudu Stredlers Nek 1737, Roodepoort, South Africa
Postnet Suite 160, Private Bag X09, Weltevredek Pat5, South Africa

T (+27) (11) 679 3331 F (+27) (11) 679 3272 wwwiepfcom



CONSENT OF EXPERT

Reference is made to the Annual Report on Form 4thé “40-F") of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (the 6@pany”)for the fiscal year end:
August 31, 2012 to be filed with the United Staesurities and Exchange Commission pursuant ttJttieed States Securities Exchange Ac
1934, as amended, and the Annual Information Fdlnen ‘AIF”") and Management’s Discussion and Analy8MD&A”) of the Company for tf
year then ended, which are incorporated by referémerein.

Each of the undersigned hereby consents to theerefes to, and the information derived from, theorts titled “Technical Report on Projec
Resource Cut Estimation of the Western Bushveldt Jéénture (WBJV) Located on the Western Limb af Bushveld Igneous Complex, Sc
Africa”, dated August 31, 2010Updated Technical Report (Updated Feasibility Sfudiestern Bushveld Joint Venture (Elandsfontein
Frischgewaagd)”, dated November 20, 200 Tndependent Technical Report on Project Areasd 1A of the Western Bushveld Joint Ven
(WBJV) Located on the Western Limb of the Bushvgloeous Complex, South Africa”, dated NovemberZi9, and Revised Inferred Miner
Resource Declaration War Springs (Oorlogsfonteid2)5Northern Limb Platinum Property, Limpopo Pnos#, Republic of South Africatjatec
June 18, 2009 and to the references, as applidalttee undersigned’s name, in each case, includedincorporated by reference in the BQOthe
AIF and the MD&A.

Minxcon (Pty) Ltd

By: Director

“Charles J. Mulle”
Name: Charles J. Mulle Charles J. Mulle
Title: Mr. Date: November 23, 201

Date: November 23, 201




CONSENT OF EXPERT

Reference is made to the Annual Report on Form 4thé “40-F") of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (the 6@pany”)for the fiscal year end:
August 31, 2012 to be filed with the United Staesurities and Exchange Commission pursuant ttJttieed States Securities Exchange Ac
1934, as amended, and the Annual Information Fdlnen ‘AIF”") and Management’s Discussion and Analy8MD&A”) of the Company for tf
year then ended, which are incorporated by referémerein.

The undersigned hereby consents to all refereicesit as a non-independent qualified person imooriporated by reference in the BOthe AIF
and the MD&A.

[/Isigned//
R. Michael Jones
Date: November 23, 2012




CONSENT OF EXPERT

Reference is made to the Annual Report on Form 4thé “40-F") of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (the 6@pany”)for the fiscal year end:
August 31, 2012 to be filed with the United Staesurities and Exchange Commission pursuant ttJttieed States Securities Exchange Ac
1934, as amended, and the Annual Information Fdlnen ‘AIF”") and Management’s Discussion and Analy8MD&A”) of the Company for tf
year then ended, which are incorporated by referémerein.

Each of the undersigned hereby consents to theerefes to, and the information derived from, thgoretitled “Updated Technical Repi
(Updated Feasibility Study) Western Bushveld Jolanture (Elandsfontein and Frischgewaagdgted November 20, 2009 and to the refere
as applicable, to the undersigned’s name, in easéb, éncluded in or incorporated by reference @b-F, the AIF and the MD&A..

Turnberry Projects (Pty) Ltd.

By:  Turnberry Projects (Pty) Ltd
Name: Gordon | CUNNINGHANM
Title:  Principal Process Engineer
Date: November 23, 2012

“Gordon I. Cunningham”

Gordon I. Cunningham
Date: November 23, 2012

Turnberry Projects (Pty) Ltd.

By: Turnberry Projects (Pty) Ltd
Name: Timothy V SPINDLEF

Title:  Principal Mining Engineer
Date: November 23, 2012

“Timothy Spindler”

Timothy Spindler
Date: November 23, 2012



CONSENT OF EXPERT

Reference is made to the Annual Report on Form 4thé “40-F") of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (the 6@pany”)for the fiscal year end:
August 31, 2012 to be filed with the United Staesurities and Exchange Commission pursuant ttJttieed States Securities Exchange Ac
1934, as amended, and the Annual Information Fdlnen ‘AIF”") and Management’s Discussion and Analy8MD&A”) of the Company for tf
year then ended, which are incorporated by referémerein.

Each of the undersigned hereby consents to theerefes to, and the information derived from, thgoretitled “Updated Technical Repi
(Updated Feasibility Study) Western Bushveld J¥iatture (Elandsfontein and Frischgewaagdgted November 20, 2009, and to the refere
as applicable, to the undersigned’s name, in easéb, éncluded in or incorporated by reference @b-F, the AIF and the MD&A..

Wardrop Engineering Inc.

By: Byron Stewar “ Bryon Stewa

Byron Stewar
Name

Date: November 23, 201
Title:

Date: November 23, 201



